Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

FDA/CDRH/DCC

MAY 1 2 2016



RECEIVED

Medical and Regulatory Consulting

CLEMENTI & Associates, Ltd.

K161328

919 Conestoga Road, Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010

> T (610) 527-2600 www.regulatoryaffairs.com

Traditional 510(k) Submission

Original Submission

Food and Drug Administration Center for Devices and Radiological Health Document Control Center - WO66-G609 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Silver Spring, Maryland 20993-0002

RE: Original 510(k) – Cantab Mobile

Dear Sir or Madam:

May 10, 2016

Cambridge Cognition submits this notification of intent to market Cantab Mobile as described within this Traditional 510(k) submission and includes the required elements identified in 21 CFR 807 Subpart E. Cantab Mobile is a software application intended to be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test, there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression (Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire [GDS]), and problems with performing regular activities of daily living (Activities of Daily Life Questionnaire [ADL]).

Cantab Mobile is <u>not</u> a diagnostic test. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria. The option to test or not to test is a decision that rests with the medical professional.

The content in this 510(k) submission supports the claim that Cantab Mobile is substantially equivalent to the previously approved predicate device, DANA (manufactured by AnthroTronix; K141865). Cantab Mobile and DANA are both categorized as Attention Task Performance Recorders and both are used by healthcare professionals to measure aspects of patients' cognition. In addition, Cantab Mobile and DANA are similar in terms of technological characteristics as both electronically record objective performance measurements when the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen by touching the screen. Differences in the design and performance of Cantab Mobile and DANA do not affect either the safety or effectiveness of Cantab Mobile for its intended use. The documents included in this submission (both paper and electronic formats) have been formatted in accordance with the *Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Format for Traditional and Abbreviated* 510(k) and listed on the attached page entitled "Contents of Submission". The eCopy submission is an exact duplicate of the paper copy except for the electronic-only content specified in the Contents of Submission footnotes. For ease of review, these format-specific statements are consolidated here and present in both the eCopy and paper copy.

Clementi and Associates, Ltd. will be responsible for submissions to, and authorized to receive correspondence from the FDA. Clementi and Associates, Ltd. will act as the sole authorized US Agent and all Agency communication should be maintained through Clementi.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at the telephone or email address listed directly below:

Contact person for the 510(k):

William A. Clementi, PharmD, FCP <u>or</u> Nancy D. Clementi, MD Phone: (610) 527-2600 Secure Email: bill.clementi@clempharma.net <u>or</u> nancy.clementi@clempharma.net

Sincerely,

ancy Clementi

Nancy D. Clementi, MD Chief Medical Officer US Agent for Cambridge Cognition

Encl: FDA Form 3514, Contents of Submission

Site: MDUFMA Cover Sheet

1 of 3

https://userfees.fda.gov/OA_HTML/mdufmaCScdCfgItemsPopup.jsp...

	Form Approved: OMB No. 0910-0511 Expiration Date: April 30, 2016. See Instructions for OMB Stateme
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION MEDICAL DEVICE USER FEE COVER SHEET	PAYMENT IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: (b)(4) Write the Payment Identification number or your check.
A completed cover sheet must accompany eac to fees. If payment is sent by U.S. mail or cou form with payment. Payment and mailing inst /oc/mdufma/coversheet.html	ch original application or supplement subject irier, please include a copy of this completed ructions can be found at: http://www.fda.gov
 COMPANY NAME AND ADDRESS (include name, street address, city state, country, and post office code) CAMBRIDGE COGNITION LTD Tunbridge Court Tunbridge Lane Tunbridge Court Bottisham Cambridgeshire CB25 9TU GB EMPLOYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (EIN) 	 CONTACT NAME Nancy Clementi 1 E-MAIL ADDRESS nancy.clementi@clempharma.net TELEPHONE NUMBER (include Area code) 610-5272600 FACSIMILE (FAX) NUMBER (Include Area code)
3. TYPE OF PREMARKET APPLICATION (Select are unsure, please refer to the application des http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRe /ucm345263.htm	t one of the following in each column; if you scriptions at the following web site: gulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments
[X] Premarket notification(510(k)); except for	r third [X] CDRH
 party [] 513(g) Request for Information [] Biologics License Application (BLA) [] Premarket Approval Application (PMA) [] Modular PMA [] Product Development Protocol (PDP) [] Premarket Report (PMR) [] 30-Day Notice 	 [] CBER <u>3.2 Select one of the types below</u> [X] Original Application <u>Supplement Types:</u> [] Efficacy (BLA) [] Panel Track (PMA, PMR, PDP) [] Real-Time (PMA, PMR, PDP) [] 180-day (PMA, PMR, PDP)
ARE YOU A SMALL BUSINESS? (See the in: determining this status)	structions for more information on

4/28/2016 4:13 PM

Site: MDUFMA Cover Sheet

https://userfees.fda.gov/OA_HTML/mdufmaCScdCfgItemsPopup.jsp...

[] YES, I meet the small business criteria and have [X] NO, I am not a small business submitted the required qualifying documents to FDA

4.1 If Yes, please enter your Small Business Decision Number:

5. FDA WILL NOT ACCEPT YOUR SUBMISSION IF YOUR COMPANY HAS NOT PAID AN ESTABLISHMENT REGISTRATION FEE THAT IS DUE TO FDA. HAS YOUR COMPANY PAID ALL ESTABLISHMENT REGISTRATION FEES THAT ARE DUE TO FDA?

[X] YES (All of our establishments have registered and paid the fee, or this is our first device, and we will register and pay the fee within 30 days of FDA's approval/clearance of this device.)

[] NO (If "NO," FDA will not accept your submission until you have paid all fees due to FDA. This submission will not be processed; see http://www.fda.gov/cdrh/mdufma for additional information)

6. IS THIS PREMARKET APPLICATION COVERED BY ANY OF THE FOLLOWING USER FEE EXCEPTIONS? IF SO, CHECK THE APPLICABLE EXCEPTION.

[] This application is the first PMA submitted by a qualified small business, including any affiliates	[] The sole purpose of the application is to support conditions of use for a pediatric population
[] This biologics application is submitted under	[] The application is submitted by a
section 351 of the Public Health Service Act for a	state or federal government entity for a
product licensed for further manufacturing use	device that is not to be distributed
only	commercially

7. IS THIS A SUPPLEMENT TO A PREMARKET APPLICATION FOR WHICH FEES WERE WAIVED DUE TO SOLE USE IN A PEDIATRIC POPULATION THAT NOW PROPOSES CONDITION OF USE FOR ANY ADULT POPULATION? (If so, the application is subject to the fee that applies for an original premarket approval application (PMA).

[]	YES	[X] NC
L 4	I ILS	[v] n

PAPERWORK REDUCTION ACT STATEMENT

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 18 minutes per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to the address below.

Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Office of Chief Information Officer, 8455 Colesville Road, COLE-14-14253 Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 [Please do NOT return this form to the above address, except as it pertains to comments on the burden estimate.]

8. USER FEE PAYMENT AMOUNT SUBMITTED FOR THIS PREMARKET APPLICATION :(b)(4)

Form FDA 3601 (05/13)

4/28/2016 4:13 PM

28-Apr-2016

Site: MDUFMA Cover Sheet

https://userfees.fda.gov/OA_HTML/mdufmaCScdCfgItemsPopup.jsp...

"Close Window" Print Cover sheet

3 of 3

4/28/2016 4:13 PM



Medical and Regulatory Consulting

919 Conestoga Road, Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010

May 10, 2016

T (610) 527-2600 www.regulatoryaffairs.com

Traditional 510(k) Submission

Original Submission

Food and Drug Administration Center for Devices and Radiological Health Document Control Center - WO66-G609 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Silver Spring, Maryland 20993-0002

RE: Original 510(k) - Cantab Mobile

Dear Sir or Madam:

Cambridge Cognition submits this notification of intent to market Cantab Mobile as described within this Traditional 510(k) submission and includes the required elements identified in 21 CFR 807 Subpart E. Cantab Mobile is a software application intended to be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test, there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression (Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire [GDS]), and problems with performing regular activities of daily living (Activities of Daily Life Questionnaire [ADL]).

Cantab Mobile is <u>not</u> a diagnostic test. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria. The option to test or not to test is a decision that rests with the medical professional.

The content in this 510(k) submission supports the claim that Cantab Mobile is substantially equivalent to the previously approved predicate device, DANA (manufactured by AnthroTronix; K141865). Cantab Mobile and DANA are both categorized as Attention Task Performance Recorders and both are used by healthcare professionals to measure aspects of patients' cognition. In addition, Cantab Mobile and DANA are similar in terms of technological characteristics as both electronically record objective performance measurements when the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen by touching the screen. Differences in the design and performance of Cantab Mobile for its intended use.

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDBH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

The documents included in this submission (both paper and electronic formats) have been formatted in accordance with the Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Format for Traditional and Abbreviated 510(k) and listed on the attached page entitled "Contents of Submission". The eCopy submission is an exact duplicate of the paper copy except for the electronic-only content specified in the Contents of Submission footnotes. For ease of review, these format-specific statements are consolidated here and present in both the eCopy and paper copy.

Clementi and Associates, Ltd. will be responsible for submissions to, and authorized to receive correspondence from the FDA. Clementi and Associates, Ltd. will act as the sole authorized US Agent and all Agency communication should be maintained through Clementi.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at the telephone or email address listed directly below:

Contact person for the 510(k):

William A. Clementi, PharmD, FCP or Nancy D. Clementi, MD Phone: (610) 527-2600 Secure Email: bill.clementi@clempharma.net or nancy.clementi@clempharma.net

Sincerely,

Jancy Clementi

Nancy D. Clementi, MD Chief Medical Officer US Agent for Cambridge Cognition

Encl: FDA Form 3514, Contents of Submission

Contents of Submission: 510(k) Cantab Mobile

510(k) Section ¹	Page
1. Medical Device User Fee Cover Sheet (FDA Form 3601) ²	1-1
2. CDRH Premarket Review Submission Cover Sheet (FDA Form 3514) ²	2-1
3. 510(k) Cover Letter ²	3-1
Contents of Submission	3-3
FDA Form 3674	3-4
Appointment of US Agent	3-6
Acceptance Checklist	3-8
4. Indications for Use Statement ³	4-1
5. 510(k) Summary or 510(k) Statement ³	5-1
6. Truthful and Accuracy Statement ³	6-1
7. Class III Summary and Certification (N/A)	7-1
8. Financial Certification or Disclosure Statement (N/A)	8-1
9. Declarations of Conformity and Summary Reports (N/A)	9-1
10. Executive Summary ⁴	10-1
Traceability Matrix (NMI-018)	10-20
Change Control and Validation Report (CR-NMI-004) ⁵	10-21
11. Device Description ⁴	11-1
Cantab Mobile Technical Wireframes	11-25
Cantab Mobile Managing Reports Quick Reference Guide	11-30
Demographic Adjustment of Scores (NMI-020) ^{3, 0}	11-32
Identification of Characteristics (QRM-01-001) ⁵	11-41
PALD KISK Wallagellicht Plan (QKW-02-002) ⁵ Dick Summery Pepert (QPM 02-002) ⁵	11-40
Risk Analysis (ORM-02-001) ⁵	11-55
12. Substantial Equivalence Discussion (N/A)	12-1
13 Pronosed I abeling	
Instruction for Use (NMI-013) ^{5,7}	13-1
14. Sterilization and Shelf Life (N/A)	14-1
15. Biocompatibility (N/A)	15-1
16. Software	
QA IEC 62304 Analysis	16-1
17. Electromagnetic Compatibility and Electrical Safety (N/A)	17-1
18. Performance Testing – Bench (N/A)	18-1
19. Performance Testing – Animal (N/A)	19-1
20. Performance Testing – Clinical Evaluation	
PALD STA Clinical Evaluation (NMI-054) ^{5, 8}	20-1

¹ Sections marked "N/A" are not applicable; an explanatory slip sheet is present for each N/A section in the electronic copy only. The paper copy only includes applicable section content.

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

² Sections are grouped under an "Administrative" tab in the paper copy of the submission.

³ Sections are grouped under a "Statements" tab in the paper copy of the submission.

⁴ For ease of review, cited literature is included in the electronic submission copy.

⁵ Introductory signature pages are available upon request.

⁶ References are available upon request.

⁷ The majority of references present in the IFU are included electronically in either the Executive Summary (Section 10) or Device Description (Section 11). All other references are available upon request.

⁸ Cited literature is available upon request in NMI-054. Rock et. al, 2014 is provided, however, as an appendix in the electronic submission copy.

Form Approved: OMB No. 0910-0616. Expiration Date: 2/28/2018. See PRA Statement on page 2.

		_
N	//	
7	/_	
	/=	

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Food and Drug Administration

Certification of Compliance

Under 42 U.S.C. § 282(j)(5)(B), with Requirements of ClinicalTrials.gov Data Bank (42 U.S.C. § 282(j))

(For submission with an application/submission, including amendments, supplements, and resubmissions, under §§ 505, 515, 520(m), or 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act or § 351 of the Public Health Service Act.)

2. Date of the Application/Submission Which This Certification Accompanies
td. 05/12/2016
4. Telephone and Fax Numbers
(Include country code if applicable and area code)
(Tel): (610) 527-2600
(Fax): 215-717-4698

5. For Drugs/Biologics: Include Any/All Available Established, Proprietary and/or Chemical/Biochemical/Biood/Cellular/Gene Therapy Product Name(s).

	or Devices: Include Any/A	I Common or Usual Name(s),	Classification, Trade or	Proprietary or Model Name(s)	and/or Model Number(s)
--	---------------------------	----------------------------	--------------------------	------------------------------	------------------------

Cant	ab Mobile
	Continuation Dans for #E
	Continuation Page for #5
	APPLICATION / SUBMISSION INFORMATION
. Type of	Application/Submission Which This Certification Accompanies
	D NDA ANDA BLA PMA HDE 510(k) PDP Other
Include (If numb	IND/NDA/ANDA/BLA/PMA/HDE/510(k)/PDP/ Other Number If BLA was selected in item 6, provide Supplement Number previously assigned)
. Serial N	umber Assigned to Application/Submission Which This Certification Accompanies
00000	
1	CERTIFICATION STATEMENT / INFORMATION
. Check o	only one of the following boxes (See instructions for additional information and explanation)
🖾 A.	I certify that the requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j), Section 402(j) of the Public Health Service Act do not apply because the application/submission which this certification accompanies does not reference any clinical trial.
🗌 В.	I certify that the requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j), Section 402(j) of the Public Health Service Act do not apply to any clinical trial referenced in the application/submission which this certification accompanies.
🗌 C.	I certify that the requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j), Section 402(j) of the Public Health Service Act apply to one or more of the clinical trials referenced in the application/submission which this certification accompanies and that those requirements have been met

CER	TIFICATION STATE	MENT / INFORMATIC	N (Continued)	and the state of the second state of the
 If you checked box C, in number 9, provide § 282(J)(1)(a)(i), section 402(j)(1)(a)(i) of th accompanies. (Add continuation page as not page as no	the National Clinical T e Public Health Service ecessary.)	rial (NCT) Number(s) for e Act, referenced in the	any "applicable clinical application/ submission	trial(s)," under 42 U.S.C. which this Certification
NCT Number(s):				
				Continuation Page for #10
The undersigned declares, to the best of h I understand that the failure to submit the Service Act, and the knowing submission 301 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosm Warning: A willfully and kn	her/his knowledge, the certification required of a false certification netic Act. howingly false stateme	at this is an accurate, t by 42 U.S.C. § 282(j)(under such section ar ent is a criminal offensi	rue, and complete sub 5)(B), section 402(J)(5) e prohibited acts unde e, U.S. Code, title 18,	mission of information. (B) of the Public Health or 21 U.S.C. § 331, section section 1001.
11. Name and Title of the Person who Signs N	lumber 15			
Name		Title		
Nancy D. Clementi M.D.		Chief Medical Officer, Clementi Associates Ltd.		i.
12. Address			13. Telephone a	nd Fax Numbers
Address 1 (Street address, P.O. box, comp 919 Conestoga Road	any name c/o)		(Include cou area code)	ntry code if applicable and
Address 2 (Apartment, suite, unit, building, Building 3, Suite 312	Address 2 (Apartment, suite, unit, building, floor, etc.) Building 3, Suite 312			527-2600
City Rosemont	ont PA		(Fax): 215-7	7-4698
Country USA	ZIP o 1901	r Postal Code		
14. Date of Certification 05/10/2016		15. Signature of S Representative	ponsor/Applicant/Subm a (Sign) ancy Delle	itter or an Authorized Sign
This section a	applies only to requirem	nents of the Paperwork	- V	

This section applies only to requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995.

DO NOT SEND YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE PRA STAFF EMAIL ADDRESS BELOW.

The burden time for this collection of information is estimated to average 15 minutes and 45 minutes (depending on the type of application/ submission) per response, including the time to review instructions, search existing data sources, gather and maintain the data needed and complete and review the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this information collection, including suggestions for reducing this burden to:

> Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Office of Chief Information Officer Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA) Staff PRAStaff@fda.hhs.gov

"An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB number."

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018



April 06, 2016

Appointment of US Agent

Original 510(k) Submission

Food and Drug Administration Center for Devices and Radiological Health Food and Drug Administration 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Silver Spring, Maryland 20993-0002

RE: Cambridge Cognition Ltd., 510(k) – Cantab Mobile: General Correspondence: Appointment of US Agent

Dear Sir or Madam:

Pursuant to 21 CFR Chapter 1 §312.23(a§(ix), Cambridge Cognition Ltd., Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane, Bottisham, Cambridge, CB25 9TU, United Kingdom hereby authorises Clementi and Associates, Ltd. (Clementi) to represent its interests in all matters concerning the Food and Drug Administration, as amended, related laws, and implementing regulations for the above referenced 510(k). Clementi and Associates, Ltd. will be responsible for submissions to, and authorised to receive correspondence from the FDA. Clementi and Associates, Ltd. will act as the sole authorised US Agent and all Agency communication should be maintained through Clementi.

Address:

Clementi and Associates Ltd. 919 Conestoga Road Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010

Contact person for the 510(k):

William A. Clementi, Pharm. D., FCP <u>or</u> Nancy D. Clementi M.D Phone: (610) 527-2600 Secure Email: bill.clementi@clempharma.net <u>or</u> nancy.clementi@clempharma.net

Cambridge Cognition Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane, Bottisham, Cambridge, CB25 9TU, UK t: +44 (0)1223 810700 f: +44 (0)1223 810701 info@camcog.com www.cambridgecognition.com



There is no change in the 510(k) ownership. Cambridge Cognition Ltd. (United Kingdom) continues to be the owner of Cantab Mobile.

This change is effective per the date of this letter. The information is reflected on the enclosed form FDA Form 3514.

Sincerely,

Tina Bucknall Contracts & Business Information Manager Cambridge Cognition Ltd.

Cambridge Cognition Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane, Bottisham, Cambridge, CB25 9TU, UK t: +44 (0)1223 810700 f: +44 (0)1223 810701 info@camcog.com www.cambridgecognition.com Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Appendix A

Contains Nonbinding Recommendations

Acceptance Checklist for Traditional 510(k)s

(Should be completed within 15 days of DCC receipt)

The following information is not intended to serve as a comprehensive review. FDA recommends that the submitter include this completed checklist as part of the submission.

510(k)#: K Date Received by DCC:

Lead Reviewer:

Branch:

Division:

Center/Office:

Note: If an element is left blank on the checklist, it does not mean the checklist is incomplete; it means the reviewer did not assess the element during the RTA review and that the element will be assessed during substantive review.

Preliminary Questions

Answers in the shaded blocks indicate consultation with a Center advisor is needed. (Boxes checked in this section represent FDAs preliminary assessment of these questions at the time of administrative review.)

	Yes	No	N/A
1. Is the product a device (per section 201(h) of the FD&C Act) or a combination product (per 21 CFR 3.2(e)) with a device constituent part subject to review in a 510(k)?			
If it appears not to be a device (per section 201(h) of the FD&C Act) or such a combination product, or you are unsure, consult with the CDRH Jurisdictional Officer or the CBER Product Jurisdiction Liaison to determine the appropriate action, and inform division management. <i>Provide a summary of the Jurisdictional Officer's/Liaison's determination</i> . If the product does not appear to be a device or such a combination product, mark "No."			
Comments:			
2. Is the submission with the appropriate Center?	D		
If the product is a device or a combination product with a device constituent part, is it subject to review by the Center in which the submission was received? If you believe the submission is not with the appropriate Center or you are unsure, consult with the CDRH Jurisdictional Officer or the CBER Product Jurisdiction Liaison to determine the appropriate action and inform your division management. <i>Provide a summary of the Jurisdictional Officer's/Liaison's determination</i> . If submission should not be reviewed by your Center mark "No."			
Comments:			

Traditional RTA Checklist

1

3. If a Request for Designation (RFD) was submitted for the device or combination product with a device constituent part and assigned to your center, identify the RFD # and confirm the following:		M
a) Is the device or combination product the same (e.g., design,		
formulation) as that presented in the RFD submission?		
b) Are the indications for use for the device or combination product		
identified in the 510(k) the same as those identified in the RFD submission?		
If you believe the product or the indications presented in the 510(k) have changed		
from the RFD, or you are unsure, consult with the CDRH Jurisdictional Officer or the CDEP product Iurisdiction Linicon to determine the engregation and		
inform your division management. <i>Provide summary of Invisidictional</i>		
Officer's/Liaison's determination.		
If the answer to either question above is no mark "No." If there was no RED mark		
"N/A."		
Comments:		
4. Is this device type eligible for a 510(k) submission?		
If a 510(k) does not appear to be appropriate (e.g., Class III type and PMA required,		
or Class I or II type and 510(k)-exempt), you should consult with the CDRH 510(k)		
Program Director or appropriate CBER staff during the acceptance review. If 510(k)		
is not the appropriate regulatory submission, mark No.		
Comments:	 _	
5. Is there a pending PMA for the same device with the same indications for use?		
If yes, consult division management and the CDRH 510(k) Program Director or		
appropriate CBER staff to determine the appropriate action.		
Comments:		
6. If clinical studies have been submitted, is the submitter the subject of an		
Application Integrity Policy (AIP)?		
If yes, consult with the CDRH Office of Compliance/Division of Bioresearch		
Monitoring (OC/DBM) or CBER Office of Compliance and Biologics		
Quality/Division of Inspections and Surveillance/Bioresearch Monitoring Branch		
(OCBQ/DIS/BMB) to determine the appropriate action. Check on web at		
53 htm		
If no clinical studies have been submitted, mark "N/A"		
Comments:		

- If the answer to 1 or 2 appears to be "No," then stop review of the 510(k) and issue the "Original Jurisdictional Product" letter.
- If the answer to 3a or 3b appears to be "No," then stop the review and contact the CDRH Jurisdictional Officer or CBER Office of Jurisdiction Liaison.

- If the answer to 4 is "No", the lead reviewer should consult division management and other Center resources to determine the appropriate action.
- If the answer to 5 is "Yes," then stop review of the 510(k), contact the CDRH 510(k) Staff and PMA Staff, or appropriate CBER staff.
- If the answer to 6 is "Yes," then contact CDRH/OC/DBM or CBER/OCBQ/DIS/BMB, provide a summary of the discussion with DBM or BMB Staff, and indicate their recommendation/action.

	Organizational Elements Failure to include these items should not result in an RTA designation.					
*Su pag sect sup	*Submitters including the checklist with their submission should identify the page numbers where requested information is located. Use the comments section for an element if additional space is needed to identify the location of supporting information.			*Page #		
1.	Submission contains a Table of Contents.			3-3		
2.	Each section is labeled (e.g., headings or tabs designating Device Description section, Labeling section, etc.).					
3.	All pages of the submission are numbered. All pages should be numbered in such a manner that information can be referenced by page number. This may be done either by consecutively numbering the entire submission, or numbering the pages within a section (e.g., 12-1, 12-2).					
4.	Type of 510(k) is identified (i.e., Traditional, Abbreviated, or Special) If type of 510(k) is not designated, review as a Traditional 510(k).			2-1		
Coi	Comments: Page numbering was not added to FDA forms; security permissions do not allow altering the forms in this way. The page numbering is, however, accounted for in the table of contents.					

Elements of a Complete Submission (RTA Items) (21 CFR 807.87 unless otherwise indicated) Submission should be designated RTA if not addressed

- Any "No" answer will result in a "Refuse to Accept" decision; however, FDA staff has discretion to
 determine whether missing items are needed to ensure that the submission is administratively
 complete to allow the submission to be accepted or to request missing checklist items interactively
 from submitters during the RTA review.
- Each element on the checklist should be addressed within the submission. The submitter may provide a rationale for omission for any criteria that are deemed not applicable. If a rationale is provided, the criterion is considered present (Yes). An assessment of the rationale will be considered during the review of the submission.

Ch not	eck " t inch	'Yes' uded	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is but needed.					
*Su iden the	ibmit ntify † comi	ters i the p nent	including the checklist with their submission should bage numbers where requested information is located. Use s section for an element if additional space is needed to be section of supporting information	Vas	No	NIA	* D ago #	
A.	Adn	ninis	trative	res	NO	N/A	"Page #	
	1.	All (inc	content used to support the submission is written in English cluding translations of test reports, literature articles, etc.).					
		Cor	mments:					
	2.	Sub CD <u>351</u>	omission identifies the following (FDA recommends use of the RH Premarket Review Submission Cover Sheet form [Form 4]):				2-1	
		a.	Device trade/proprietary name					
		b.	Device class and panel or Classification regulation or Statement that device has not been classified with rationale for that conclusion	Y I				
		Comments:						
	3.	Sub and guid Rec See (htt /Fo	pmission contains an Indication for Use Statement with Rx //or OTC designated (see also 21 CFR 801.109, and FDA's dance " <u>Alternative to Certain Prescription Devices Labeling</u> <u>puirements</u> .") <i>recommended <u>format</u></i> <u>p://www.fda.gov/downloads/AboutFDA/ReportsManualsForms</u> <u>rms/UCM360431.pdf).</u>				4-1	
		Cor	mments:					
	4.	Sub Ref Sun will	Summary or 510(k) Summary or 510(k) Statement. Ser to 21 CFR 807.92 and 21 CFR 807.93 for contents of 510(k) summary and Statement, respectively. Adequacy of the content of be assessed during substantive review.				5-1	
		Cor	mments:					
	5.	Sub CFI See (htt <u>ce/I</u> tific	omission contains a Truthful and Accuracy Statement per 21 R 807.87(k). <i>recommended <u>format</u> p://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidan</i> <i>HowtoMarketYourDevice/PremarketSubmissions/PremarketNo</i> <i>cation510k/ucm142707.htm</i>).				6-1	

Traditional RTA Checklist

4

Ch not	eck " t inclu	Yes' 1ded	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is but needed.				
*Su ider the ider	ıbmit ntify † comr ntify †	ters : the p nent the le	including the checklist with their submission should bage numbers where requested information is located. Use s section for an element if additional space is needed to ocation of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
	6.	Sub	omission is a Class III 510(k) Device.				
		Sel	ect "N/A" only if submission is not a Class III 510(k).			5	
		a.	See recommended <u>content</u> (http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGu idance/HowtoMarketYourDevice/PremarketSubmissions/Pre marketNotification510k/ucm142662.htm). Select "N/A" only if submission is not a Class III 510(k).				
		Co	mments:				
	7.	Sut Sel "N che	omission contains clinical data. ect "N/A" if the submission does not contain clinical data. If /A"is selected, parts a and b below are omitted from the ecklist.				
		a.	Submission includes completed Financial Certification (FDA Form 3454) or Disclosure (FDA Form 3455) information for each covered clinical study included in the submission. Select "N/A" if the submitted clinical data is not a "covered clinical study" as defined in the <u>Guidance for Industry-</u> <u>Financial Disclosures by Clinical Investigators</u> .				
		b.	Submission includes completed Certification of Compliance with requirements of ClinicalTrials.gov Data Bank (FDA Form 3674) (42 U.S.C. 282(j)(5)(B)) for each applicable device clinical trial included in the submission. Select "N/A" if the submitted clinical data is not an "applicable device clinical trial" as defined in <u>Title VIII of</u> FDAAA, Sec. 801(j)				3-4
		Con	nments: FDA form 3674 is included however, "A" is checked for Question 9	(Certifica	ation Stat	ement).	
	8.	The incl prio delo OR Stat Prio	e submission identifies prior submissions for the same device luded in the current submission (e.g., submission numbers for a or not substantially equivalent [NSE] determination, prior eted or withdrawn 510(k), Pre-Submission, IDE, PMA, etc.). tes that there were no prior submissions for the subject device. <i>or submissions (or no prior submissions) for this device should</i> <i>included in Section F (prior related submissions) of the CDRH</i>				
	Tradi	Pre	market Review Submission Cover Sheet form (Form 3514).				5

Ch no	ieck " t inch	Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is ided but needed.				
*Su ide the	ıbmit ntify comi	ters including the checklist with their submission should he page numbers where requested information is located. Use nents section for an element if additional space is needed to he location of supporting information	Vac	No	N/A	*Dage #
Iue		This information may also be included in the Cover Letter (i.e., as	105	INU	IN/A	rage #
		a statement that there were no prior submissions for the device or a listing of the number(s) of the prior submissions).				
		 a. If there were prior submissions, the submitter has identified where in the current submission any issues related to a determination of substantial equivalence from prior submissions for this device are addressed. <i>To address this criterion, it is recommended that the submission include a separate section with the prior submission number(s), a copy of the FDA feedback (e.g., letter, meeting minutes), and a statement of how or where in the submission this prior feedback was addressed. Note that adequacy of how the feedback was addressed will be assessed during the substantive review.</i> <i>Select "N/A" if the submitter states there were no prior submissions.</i> 				
		Comments:				
В.	Dev	ce Description				
	9.	The device has a device-specific guidance document, special controls document, and/or requirements in a device-specific regulation regarding device description that is applicable to the subject device. If "N/A" is selected, parts a and b below are omitted from the chacklist				
		 a. The submission addresses device description recommendations outlined in the device-specific guidance. OR The submission provides an alternative approach intended to address the applicable statutory and/or regulatory criteria. Select "N/A" if there is no applicable device-specific guidance. Select "No" if the submission does not include a rationale for any omitted information or any alternative approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how recommendations in a device-specific guidance, etc., have been addressed should be assessed during the substantive review. 				

Ch not	eck " t inclu	Yes' 1ded	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is but needed.				
*Su iden the	ıbmit ntify (comi	ters : the p nent	including the checklist with their submission should bage numbers where requested information is located. Use s section for an element if additional space is needed to	Var	NT-		*D #
lae	nuiy	ine l	beation of supporting information.	res	NO	N/A	^Page #
		D.	addresses relevant mitigation measures set forth in a special controls document or device-specific regulation applicable to the device. OR The submission uses alternative mitigation measures and				
			provides rationale why the alternative margaron measures provide an equivalent assurance of safety and effectiveness. Select " N/A " if there is no applicable special controls				
			document or device-specific regulation. Select "No" if the submission does not include a rationale for any omitted information or any alternative approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how such mitigation measures have been addressed should be assessed during the substantive review.				
		Co	mments:				
	10.	Des sub the	scriptive information is present and consistent within the mission (e.g., the device description section is consistent with device description in the labeling).				11-1
		Co	mments:	-			
	11.	The incl	e submission includes descriptive information for the device, luding the following:				11-1
		a.	A description of the principle of operation or mechanism of action for achieving the intended effect.				
		b.	A description of proposed conditions of use, such as surgical technique for implants; anatomical location of use; user interface; how the device interacts with other devices; and/or how the device interacts with the patient.				
		c.	A list and description of each device for which clearance is requested. Select "N/A" if there is only one device or model. "Device" may refer to models, part numbers, various sizes, etc.				
		d.	Submission contains representative engineering drawing(s), schematics, illustrations, photos and/or figures of the device.	1			11-25

Ch	eck " t inclu	Yes' 1ded	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is but needed				
*Su	ıhmit	ters i	including the checklist with their submission should				
ide	ntify (the p	age numbers where requested information is located. Use				
the	comi otify (nent	s section for an element if additional space is needed to	Vos	No	NI/A	*Dogo #
Iuc		пен	Submission includes a statement that engineering drawings,	105	110	IN/A	rage #
			schematics, etc. are not applicable to the device (e.g., device is a reagent and figures are not pertinent to describe the device).				
			In lieu of engineering drawings, schematics, etc. of each				
			device to be marketed, "representative" drawings, etc. may				
			the drawings, etc. provided capture the differences in design,				
			size, and other important characteristics of the various				
			models, sizes, or versions of the device(s) to be marketed.				
		Coi	mments: Only third-party hardware, on which the medical device softw	are runs	, is in co	ntact wi	th patient.
	12.	Dev acc	vice is intended to be marketed with multiple components, essories, and/or as part of a system.				
		Sele	ect " N/A " if the device is not intended to be marketed with				
		mul "N	tiple components, accessories, and/or as part of a system. If A"is selected, parts a-c below are omitted from the checklist.				
		a.	Submission includes a list of all components and accessories to be marketed with the subject device.				
		b.	Submission includes a description (as detailed in item 11a., 11b., and 11d. above) of each component or accessory.				
			Select "N/A" if the component(s)/accessory(ies) has been previously cleared, or is exempt, and the proposed indications for use are consistent with the cleared				
			indications.	1000	14147		
		c.	A 510(k) number is provided for each component or accessory that received a prior 510(k) clearance				
			And Antonia and a literation of the second s				
			A statement is provided that identifies components or accessories that have not received prior 510(k) clearance.				
		Cor	nments:				
C.	Sub	stant	ial Equivalence Discussion				10-9
	13.	Sub foll	omitter has identified a predicate device(s), including the owing information:				
		a.	Predicate device identifier provided (e.g., 510(k) number, de				

Ch	eck "	Yes'	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is				
no	t inclu	ided	but needed.				
*Su	ıbmit	ters	including the checklist with their submission should				
ide	ntify (the p	age numbers where requested information is located. Use				
the	com	nent	s section for an element if additional space is needed to				
ide	ntify (the l	ocation of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
			exempt or statement that the predicate is a preamendment device).				
			For predicates that are preamendments devices, information is provided to document preamendments status.				
			Information regarding <u>documenting preamendment status</u> is available online				
			(http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGu idance/MedicalDeviceQualityandCompliance/ucm379552.ht m).				
		b.	The identified predicate(s) is consistent throughout the submission (e.g., the predicate(s) identified in the Substantial Equivalence section is the same as that listed in the 510(k) Summary (if applicable) and that used in comparative performance testing.				
		Co	mments:				
	14.	Sub pre diff safe Act	omission includes a comparison of the following for the dicate(s) and subject device and a discussion why any ferences between the subject and predicate(s) do not impact ety and effectiveness [see section 513(i)(1)(A) of the FD&C and 21 CFR 807.87(f)]				
		See <u>Pre</u> info cha	" <u>The 510(k) Program: Evaluating Substantial Equivalence in</u> market Notifications [510(k)]" guidance document for more prmation on comparing intended use and technological practeristics.				
		a.	Indications for use				
			If there are no differences between the subject device and the predicate(s) with respect to indications and intended use, this should be explicitly stated.				
		b.	Technology, including features, materials, and principles of operation Examples of technological characteristics include, but are not limited to design, features, materials, energy source, and principle of operation.				
			FDA recommends a tabular format for comparing technological characteristics. Any characteristic that is the				

Ch not	eck " t inch	Yes' 1ded	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is but needed.				
*Su ider the ider	ibmit ntify (comi ntify (ters the p nent the b	including the checklist with their submission should bage numbers where requested information is located. Use s section for an element if additional space is needed to position of supporting information.	Ves	No	N/A	*Раде #
			same as the predicate(s) should be explicitly stated. Differences in technological characteristics should be identified and a rationale provided why they do not raise different questions of safety and effectiveness.	105		1.011	Tage #
		Co	mments:				
D.	Proj app	pose licab	d Labeling (see also 21 CFR parts 801 and 809 as le)				13-1
	15.	Sub inst	omission includes proposed package labels and labeling (e.g., fructions for use, package insert, operator's manual).				
		a.	Indications for use are stated in labeling and are identical to Indications for Use form and 510(k) Summary (if 510(k) Summary provided)				
		b.	 Labeling includes: Statements of conditions, purposes or uses for which the device is intended (e.g., hazards, warnings, precautions, contraindications) (21 CFR 801.5) <u>AND</u> Includes adequate directions for use (see 21 CFR 801.5) <u>OR</u> Submission states that device qualifies for exemption per 21 CFR 801 Subpart D 				
		Co	mments:				
	16.	Lab pac	beling includes name and place of business of the manufacturer, ker, or distributor (21 CFR 801.1)	V			
		Co	mments:				
	17.	Lat 801 FD Pre <i>Sel</i>	beling includes the prescription statement (see 21 CFR 109(b)(1)) or Rx Only symbol (see also Section 502(a) of the &C Act and FDA's guidance "Alternative to Certain scription Device Labeling Requirements"). ect "N/A" if not indicated for prescription use.				
		Co	mments:				

Ch no	eck " t inclu	Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is ided but needed.				
*Su iden the	ıbmitt ntify t comn ntify f	ters including the checklist with their submission should he page numbers where requested information is located. Use nents section for an element if additional space is needed to he location of supporting information.	Ves	No	N/A	*Раде #
	18.	The device has a device-specific guidance document, special controls document, and/or requirements in a device-specific regulation regarding labeling that is applicable to the subject device. If "N/A" is selected, parts a and b below are omitted from the checklist.				
		 a. The submission addresses labeling recommendations outlined in the device-specific guidance. OR The submission provides an alternative approach intended to address the applicable statutory and/or regulatory criteria. Select "N/A" if there is no applicable device-specific guidance. Select "No" if the submission does not include a rationale for any omitted information or any alternative approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how recommendations in a device-specific guidance, etc., have been addressed should be assessed during the substantive review. 				
		 b. The submission includes labeling information that addresses relevant mitigation measures set forth in a special controls document or device-specific regulation applicable to the device. <u>OR</u> The submission uses alternative mitigation measures and provides rationale why the alternative measures provide an equivalent assurance of safety and effectiveness. Select "N/A" if there is no applicable special controls document or device-specific regulation. Select "No" if the submission does not include a rationale for any omitted information or any alternative approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how such mitigation measures have been addressed should be assessed during the substantive review.				
		Comments:			-	
	19.	If the device is an in vitro diagnostic device, provided labeling includes all applicable information required per 21 CFR 809.10 Select "N/A" if not an in vitro diagnostic device.				

Traditional RTA Checklist

11

Ch	eck "Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is tincluded but needed				
*Su	ibmitters including the checklist with their submission should				
the	comments section for an element if additional space is needed to				
ide	ntify the location of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
	Comment:				
E.	Sterilization				
	If an in vitro diagnostic (IVD) device and sterilization is not applicable, select "N/A." The criteria in this section will be omitted from the checklist if "N/A" is selected.				
	Submission states that the device, and/or accessories, and/or components (one of the below must be checked)	are:			
	\Box Provided sterile, intended to be single-use				
	\Box Requires processing during its use-life				
	\Box Non-sterile when used (and no processing required)				
	Information regarding the sterility status of the device is not provided (box is checked, please also check one of the two boxes below)	if this			
	Sterility status not needed for this device (e.g., software-only dev	ice)			
	□ Sterility status needed or need unclear				
	This information will determine whether and what type of additional information may be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination				
	If "non-sterile when used" or "not provided and not needed" is selected, sterility-related criteria below are omitted from the checklist. If information on sterility status is not provided, and it is needed or the ne this information is unclear, select "No."	the eed for			
	The "Requires processing during its use-life" option refers to devices fall into one of the four categories below:	ing			
	 Supplied sterile and requires reprocessing prior to subsequent pat use 	tient			
	 Supplied non-sterile and requires user to process the device for in- use, as well as to reprocess the device after each use 	itial			
	Reusable medical device (single-user) reprocessed between each i	ise			
	 Single-use medical devices initially supplied as non-sterile to the u and requiring the user to process the device prior to its use 	iser,			
	Please refer to the guidance document titled " <u>Reprocessing Medical Devi</u> <u>Health Care Settings: Validation Methods and Labeling</u> " for additional information.	i <u>ces in</u>			
	Comments:		L		
	20. Assessment of the need for cleaning and subsequent disinfection				
L	Traditional RTA Checklist		l	1	2

Ch	eck "Y t includ	es"	if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is				
*Su	ıbmitte	ers ii	ncluding the checklist with their submission should				
ide	ntify th	ie pa	ge numbers where requested information is located. Use				
ide	ntify th	ents ie lo	cation of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
		ors	sterilization information.				
		a.	Identification of device, and/or accessories, and/or components that are provided sterile. Select "N/A" if no part of the device, accessories, or components is provided sterile.			V	
		b.	Identification of device, and/or accessories, and/or components that are end user sterilized or disinfected. Select "N/A" if no part of the device, accessories, or components is end user sterilized or disinfected.			V	
		c.	Identification of device, and/or accessories, and/or components that are reusable. Select "N/A" if no part of the device, accessories, or components is reusable.				
		Co	mments:	-		-	
	21.	If t ster	he device, and/or accessory, and/or a component is provided rile:				
		Sel is p	ect "N/A" if no part of the device, accessories, or components provided sterile, otherwise complete a-f below.				
		a.	Sterilization method is stated for each component (including dose for radiation sterilization)				
		b.	A description of method to validate the sterilization parameters is provided for each proposed sterilization method (e.g., half-cycle method and full citation of FDA- recognized standard, including date). <i>Note: the sterilization validation report is not required.</i>				
		c.	For devices sterilized using chemical sterilants such as ethylene oxide (EO) and hydrogen peroxide, submission states maximum levels of sterilant residuals remaining on the device and sterilant residual limits. <i>Select "N/A" if not sterilized using chemical sterilants.</i>				
		d.	Sterility Assurance Level (SAL) stated				
		e.	Submission includes description of packaging				
		f.	For products labeled "non-pyrogenic," a description of the method used to make the determination stated (e.g., limulus				

Traditional RTA Checklist

13

Ch no	neck "Y t includ	Zes" led l	if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is out needed.				
*Su	ıbmitte	ers ii	ncluding the checklist with their submission should				
ide	ntify th	ie pa	ge numbers where requested information is located. Use				
ide	ntify th	ie lo	cation of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
			amebocyte lysate [LAL]).				
			Select "N/A" if not labeled "non-pyrogenic."				
		Co	mments:				
	22.	If the second	he device, and/or accessory, and/or a component is reusable or l user sterilized or disinfected:				
		Sel are con	ect "N/A" if no part of the device, accessories, or components reusable or end user sterilized or disinfected, otherwise nplete a-d below.				
		a.	Cleaning method is provided in labeling for each device, and/or accessory, and/or component.				
			Select "N/A" if not reusable and does not need cleaning prior to disinfection or sterilization				
		b.	Disinfection method is provided in labeling for each device, and/or accessory, and/or component.				
			Select "N/A" if not disinfected (i.e., undergoes terminal sterilization) prior to use				
		c.	Sterilization method is provided in labeling for each device and/or accessory, and/or component.				
			Select "N/A" if not sterilized (i.e., undergoes disinfection) prior to use				
		d.	Device types in this submission are listed in Appendix E of the FDA's guidance " <u>Reprocessing Medical Devices in</u>				
			<u>Health Care Settings: Vandation Methods and Labernig.</u>				
			guidance represent devices posing a greater likelihood of				
			microbial transmission and represent a high risk of				
			is not included in Appendix E of the reprocessing guidance.				
			i. If device types in this submission are included in				
			Appendix E of the reprocessing guidance, the				
			submission includes protocols and test reports for validating the reprocessing instructions				
			Select " N/A " if the device type in the submission is not				
			included in Appendix E of the reprocessing guidance.				
		Co	mments:				

Ch	eck "Y	(es"	if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is				
10 *St	ihmitte	ers in	out needed. Actuality the checklist with their submission should				
ide	ntify th	ie pa	ge numbers where requested information is located. Use				
ide	ntify th	ents ie lo	cation of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
	23.	The con reg app	e device has a device-specific guidance document, special atrols document, and/or requirement in a device-specific ulation regarding sterility and/or reprocessing that is blicable to the subject device				
		lf che	<i>N/A</i> "is selected, parts a and b below are omitted from the ocklist.				
		a.	The submission addresses sterility and/or reprocessing recommendations outlined in the device-specific guidance. OR The submission provides an alternative approach intended to address the applicable statutory and/or regulatory criteria. <i>Select "N/A" if there is no applicable device-specific guidance. Select "No" if the submission does not include a rationale for any omitted information or any alternative approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how recommendations in a device-specific guidance, etc., have been addressed should be assessed during the substantive review.</i>				
		b.	The submission includes sterility and/or reprocessing information that addresses relevant mitigation measures set forth in a special controls document or device-specific regulation applicable to the device. OR The submission uses alternative mitigation measures and provides rationale why the alternative measures provide an equivalent assurance of safety and effectiveness. <i>Select "N/A" if there is no applicable special controls document or device-specific regulation. Select "No" if the submission does not include a rationale for any omitted information or any alternative approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how such mitigation measures have been addressed should be assessed during the substantive review.</i>				
		Co	mments:				
F.	Shelf	Life					
	24.	Pro	posed shelf life/ expiration date stated				

Ch	eck "Y t inclu	(es" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is ded but needed				
10	t meru	atu but ficturu.				
*Su	ıbmitte	ers including the checklist with their submission should				
the	comm	ents section for an element if additional space is needed to				
ide	identify the location of supporting information. Ye					*Page #
		OR				
		Statement that shelf-life is not applicable because of low likelihood of time-dependent product degradation				
		Comments: The device does not have a restricted shelf life; ongoing support of manufa of the Device Description for additional details.	acturer is r	equired, h	owever. S	see Section 1
	25.	For a sterile device, submission includes summary of methods used to establish that device packaging will maintain a sterile barrier for the entirety of the proposed shelf-life.				
		Select "N/A" if the device is not provided sterile.				
		Comments: See IFU (pg 1) for santizing instructions performed.				
	26.	Submission includes summary of methods used to establish that device performance is maintained for the entirety of the proposed shelf-life (e.g., mechanical properties, coating integrity, pH, osmolality, etc.).	4			
		OR				
		Statement why performance data is not needed to establish maintenance of device performance characteristics over the shelf-life period.				
		Comments: The device does not have a restricted shelf life; ongoing support of manufactu	rer is requ	ured, how	ever. See	Section 1 of
G.	Bioco	ompatibility				
	If an i sectio	in vitro diagnostic (IVD) device, select ''N/A." The criteria in this m will be omitted from the checklist if ''N/A" is selected.			•	
	Subm	ission states that there: (one of the below must be checked)				
	Ar	e direct or indirect patient-contacting components				
	□ Are no direct or indirect patient-contacting components					
	□ Information regarding patient contact status of the device is not provided (if this box checked, please also check one of the two boxes below)					
	E	Patient contact information not needed for this device (e.g., softw only device)	are-			
	[□ Patient contact information is needed or need unclear				
	This i inforr	nformation will determine whether and what type of additional nation may be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination				
	If "ar	re no" or "not provided and not needed" is selected, the biocompatie	bility-			

Ch	eck "Y	Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is					
по		ieu but neeueu.					
*Su idei	ıbmitte ntify th	ers including the checklist with their submission should be page numbers where requested information is located. Use					
the	comm	ents section for an element if additional space is needed to					
ide	ntify th	e location of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #	
	relate patien conta	a criteria below are omitted from the checklist. If information on the nt-contact status is not provided, and contact information is needed of ct status is unclear, select "No."	e or its				
	An exa direct patien passin patien	ample of a direct patient-contacting device would be an implant tha contact with patient tissues during use. An example of an indirect nt-contacting device would be fluid entering the patient's body follow ng through device/device components not in direct contact with the nt.	t has ving				
	Com	nents:					
	27.	Submission includes a list identifying each patient-contacting device component (e.g., implant, delivery catheter) and associated materials of construction for each component, including identification of color additives, if present.					
		Comments:					
	28.	Submission identifies contact classification (e.g., surface- contacting, less than 24 hour duration) for each patient- contacting device component (e.g., implant, delivery catheter).					
		Comments:					
	29.	Biocompatibility assessment of patient-contacting components					
		Test protocol (including identification and description of test article), methods, pass/fail criteria, and results provided for each completed test.					
		A statement that biocompatibility testing is not needed with a rationale (e.g., materials and manufacturing/processing are identical to the predicate).					
		Comments:					
H.	Softw	are				16-1	
	Subm	ission states that the device: (<i>one of the below must be checked</i>) es contain software/firmware					
	□ Does not contain software/firmware						

Ch no	eck "Y t inclu	Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is led but needed.				
*Su iden the iden	ıbmitte ntify th comm ntify th	No	N/A	*Page #		
	Inf (if	ormation on whether device contains software/firmware is not provid this box checked, please also check one of the two boxes below)	ded			
	E	Software/firmware information not needed for this device (e.g., surgical suture, condom)				
	۵	Software/firmware information is needed or need unclear				
	This i inforr	nformation will determine whether and what type of additional nation may be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination				
	If "do softwo softwo select	nes not contain" or "not provided and not needed" is selected, the are-related criteria below are omitted from the checklist. If informat are is not provided, and this information is needed or the need is und "No."	ion on clear,			
	Com	nents:				
	30.	Submission includes a statement of software level of concern and rationale for the software level of concern				
		Comments:				
	31.	All applicable software documentation provided based on level of concern identified by the submitter, as described in <u>Guidance</u> for the Content of Premarket Submissions for Software <u>Contained in Medical Devices</u> , or the submission includes information to establish that the submitter has otherwise met the applicable statutory or regulatory criteria through an alternative approach (i.e., the submitter has identified an alternate approach with a rationale). <i>Note: This element is also applicable to non-internally generated</i> <i>or off-the-shelf (OTS) software used in the device.</i>				
		Comments:				
I.	Elect	rical Safety and EMC				
	Electr	ical Safety:				
	Submission states that the device: (<i>one of the below must be checked</i>)					
	Do	es not require electrical safety evaluation				
	□ Inf	ormation on whether device requires electrical safety evaluation not				
	Traditional RTA Checklist 18					

Ch no	eck " t incli	Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is ided but needed.				
*Su iden the	ibmit ntify (comr	ters including the checklist with their submission should the page numbers where requested information is located. Use nents section for an element if additional space is needed to	Var	N		*D #
lae	p: p:	rovided (if this box checked, please also check one of the two boxes b	ves below)	INO	N/A	^Page #
	1	 Electrical safety information not needed for this device (e.g., surg suture, condom) 	gical			
		□ Electrical safety information needed or need unclear				
	This info	information will determine whether and what type of additional mation may be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination	L.			
	If "does not require" or "not provided and not needed" is selected, the electrical safety criteria below are omitted from the checklist. If information on electrical safety is not provided, and it is needed or the need for this information is unclear select "No"					
	Con	ments:				
	32.	Submission includes evaluation of electrical safety (e.g., per IEC 60601-1, or equivalent FDA-recognized standard, and if applicable, a device-specific standard).				
		OR Submission includes electrical safety evaluation using methods or standards that are not FDA-recognized and submission includes information to establish that the submitter has otherwise met the applicable statutory or regulatory criteria through this alternative approach (i.e., the submitter has identified alternate methods or standards with a rationale).				
		Comments:				
	EMC: Submission states that the device: (<i>one of the below must be checked</i>) Does require EMC evaluation					
	↓ In b	formation on whether device requires EMC evaluation not provided (ox checked, please also check one of the two boxes below)	(if this			
	EMC information not needed for this device (e.g., surgical suture, condom)					
		\square EMC information needed or need unclear				
	This	information will determine whether and what type of additional				

Ch	eck " t inch	Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is ided but needed				
*Su ide the	ibmit ntify (comr	ters including the checklist with their submission should the page numbers where requested information is located. Use nents section for an element if additional space is needed to		X .		÷D //
ide	infor	the location of supporting information. In the max be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination	Yes	NO	N/A	*Page #
	If "a crite prov "No.	loes not require" or "not provided and not needed" is selected, the E ria below are omitted from the checklist. If information on EMC is no ided, and it is needed or the need for this information is unclear, sele	MC ot ect			
	Com	ments:				
	33.	Submission includes evaluation of electromagnetic compatibility (e.g., per IEC 60601-1-2 or equivalent FDA- recognized standard and if applicable, a device-specific standard). OR Submission includes electromagnetic compatibility evaluation using methods or standards that are not FDA-recognized and submission includes information to establish that the submitter has otherwise met the applicable statutory or regulatory criteria through this alternative approach (i.e., the submitter has identified alternate methods or standards with a rationale)				
<u> </u>		Comments:				
T	Porf	Cormance Data Ceneral				
0.	J. Performance Data General If an in vitro diagnostic (IVD) device, select "N/A." The criteria in this section will be omitted from the checklist if "N/A" is selected. Performance data criteria relating to IVD devices is addressed in Section K.					
	Con	aments:				
	34.	Full test report is provided for each completed test. A full test report includes: objective of the test, description of the test methods and procedures, study endpoint(s), pre- defined pass/fail criteria, results summary, conclusions. <i>Full test reports provided for all completed tests/evaluations (e.g., bench evaluations, comparative performance tests, etc.). Select</i> <i>"N/A" if the submission does not include performance data.</i>				20-1
		 a. Submission includes an explanation of how the data generated from each test report supports a finding of substantial equivalence (e.g., comparison to predicate device testing, dimensional analysis, etc.). Select "N/A" if the submission does not include performance 				

Ch no	neck " t inch	Yes' 1ded	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is but needed.				
*Su	ıbmit	ters	including the checklist with their submission should				
ide the	ntify † comi	the p nent	bage numbers where requested information is located. Use s section for an element if additional space is needed to				
ide	ntify	the l	ocation of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
			data.				
		Co	mments:	-			
	35.	The con reg sub <i>If "</i> <i>che</i>	e device has a device-specific guidance document, special atrols document, and/or requirement in a device-specific ulation regarding performance data that is applicable to the ject device (N/A" is selected, parts a and b below are omitted from the cklist.				
		a.	The submission addresses performance data recommendations outlined in the device-specific guidance. OR The submission provides an alternative approach intended to address the applicable statutory and/or regulatory criteria. <i>Select "N/A" if there is no applicable device-specific</i> guidance. Select "No" if the submission does not include a rationale for any omitted information or any alternative approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how recommendations in a device-specific guidance, etc., have been addressed should be assessed during the substantive review.				
		b.	The submission includes performance data that addresses relevant mitigation measures set forth in a special controls document or device-specific regulation applicable to the device. OR The submission uses alternative mitigation measures and provides rationale why the alternative measures provide an equivalent assurance of safety and effectiveness. <i>Select "N/A" if there is no applicable special controls document or device-specific regulation. Select "No" if the submission does not include a rationale for any omitted information or any alternative approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how such mitigation measures have been addressed should be assessed during the substantive review.</i>				
		Co	mments:				

Ch	eck "	Yes'	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is				
no	t inclu	ided	but needed.				
*Su	ıbmit	ters i	including the checklist with their submission should				
ide	ntify (the p	age numbers where requested information is located. Use				
ide	ntify (the l	ocation of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
	36.	If l	iterature is referenced in the submission, submission includes:				
		Sele "N che	ect "N/A" if the submission does not reference literature. If /A"is selected, parts a and b below are omitted from the cklist.				
		Not sub sub sup	te that the applicability of the referenced article to support a stantial equivalence finding should be assessed during the stantive review; only the presence of a discussion is required to port acceptance.				
		a.	Legible reprints or a summary of each article.				
		b.	Discussion of how each article is applicable to support the substantial equivalence of the subject device to the predicate.				
		Coi	mments: The articles are not added with the intention of supporting substant	ntial equi	valence to	o the pred	dicate.
	37.	For foll	each completed aninmal study,the submission provides the owing:				
		Sele sele this are	ect "N/A" if no animal study was conducted. If "N/A"is ected, parts a-c below are omitted from the checklist. Note that section does not address biocompatibility evaluations, which assessed in Section G of the checklist.				
		a.	Submission includes a study protocol which includes all elements as outlined in 21 CFR 58.120				
		b.	Submission includes final study report which includes all elements outlined in 21 CFR 58.185				
		C.	Submission contains a statement that the study was conducted in compliance with applicable requirements in the GLP regulation (21 CFR Part 58), or, if the study was not conducted in compliance with the GLP regulation, the submission explains why the noncompliance would not impact the validity of the study data provided to support a substantial equivalence determination.				
		Cor	nments:				
K.	Perf (see	òrm also	ance Characteristics – In Vitro Diagnostic Devices Only 21 CFR 809.10(b)(12))				
	Subi	nissi	on indicates that device: (one of the below must be checked)				
	□ Is an in vitro diagnostic device						

Ch no	ieck " t incl	'Yes' uded	' if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is but needed.				
*Su iden the iden	ıbmit ntify comı ntify	ters the p nent the l	including the checklist with their submission should bage numbers where requested information is located. Use is section for an element if additional space is needed to ocation of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
	Is Is	not	an in vitro diagnostic device				
	If "i omit	s not ted f	" is selected, the performance data-related criteria below are from the checklist.				
	38.	8. Submission includes the following studies, as appropriate for the device type, including associated protocol descriptions, study results and line data:					
		a.	Precision/reproducibility				
		b.	Accuracy (includes as appropriate linearity; calibrator or assay traceability; calibrator and/or assay stability protocol and acceptance criteria; assay cut-off; method comparison or comparison to clinical outcome; matrix comparison; and clinical reference range or cutoff.				
		c.	Sensitivity (detection limits, LoB, LoD, LoQ where relevant for the device type).				
		d.	Analytical specificity				
		Co	mments:				
	39.	The con reg sub <i>If</i> "	e device has a device-specific guidance document, special atrols document, and/or requirement in a device-specific ulations regarding performance data that is applicable to the ject device. <i>N/A "is selected, parts a and b below are omitted from the</i> <i>ecklist.</i>				
		a.	The submission addresses performance data	П	Π	П	
			recommendations outlined in the device-specific guidance. OR The submission provides an alternative approach intended to address the applicable statutory and/or regulatory criteria. <i>Select "N/A" if there is no applicable device-specific</i> <i>guidance. Select "No" if the submission does not include a</i> <i>rationale for any omitted information or any alternative</i> <i>approach as outlined above. Note that the adequacy of how</i> <i>recommendations in a device-specific guidance, etc., have</i> <i>been addressed should be assessed during the substantive</i> <i>review.</i>				
		b.	The submission includes performance data that addresses				
	Tradi	tional	RTA Checklist			2	3

Ch no *Su ide: the ide:	eck " t inclu ibmit ntify t comr ntify t	Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is ided but needed. Ters including the checklist with their submission should he page numbers where requested information is located. Use nents section for an element if additional space is needed to he location of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	*Page #
		relevant mitigation measures set forth in a special controls document or device-specific regulation applicable to the device. <u>OR</u> The submission uses alternative mitigation measures and provides rationale why the alternative measures provide an equivalent assurance of safety and effectiveness. <i>Select "N/A" if there is no applicable special controls</i> <i>document or device-specific regulation. Select "No" if the</i> <i>submission does not include a rationale for any omitted</i> <i>information or any alternative approach as outlined above.</i> <i>Note that the adequacy of how such mitigation measures have</i> <i>been addressed should be assessed during the substantive</i> <i>review.</i>				
		Comments:				

Decision: Accept____ Refuse to Accept____

If Accept, notify the applicant

If Refuse to Accept, notify applicant electronically and include a copy of this checklist.

Digital Signature Concurrence Table							
Reviewer Sign-Off							
Branch Chief Sign-Off (digital signature optional)*							
Division Sign-Off (digital signature optional)*							

*Branch and Division review of checklist and concurrence with decision required. Branch and Division digital signature optional.
Please wait...

If this message is not eventually replaced by the proper contents of the document, your PDF viewer may not be able to display this type of document.

You can upgrade to the latest version of Adobe Reader for Windows®, Mac, or Linux® by visiting http://www.adobe.com/go/reader_download.

For more assistance with Adobe Reader visit http://www.adobe.com/go/acrreader.

Windows is either a registered trademark or a trademark of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. Mac is a trademark of Apple Inc., registered in the United States and other countries. Linux is the registered trademark of Linus Torvalds in the U.S. and other countries.



April 08, 2016

Premarket Notification 510(k) Statement As Required by 21 CFR 807.93]

Original 510(k) Submission Cantab Mobile

(As Required By 21 CFR 807.93)

I certify that, in my capacity as Director of Technical Operations of Cambridge Cognition Ltd., I will make available all information included in this premarket notification on safety and effectiveness within 30 days of request by any person if the device described in the premarket notification submission is determined to be substantially equivalent. The information I agree to make available will be a duplicate of the premarket notification submission, including any adverse safety and effectiveness information, but excluding all patient identifiers, and trade secret and confidential commercial information, as defined in 21 CFR 20.61.

(Signature of Certifier)

Ricky Dolphin

(Typed Name)

OB-APR-2016

(Date)

Cambridge Cognition Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane, Bottisham, Cambridge, CB25 9TU, UK t: +44 (0)1223 810700 f: +44 (0)1223 810701 info@camcog.com www.cambridgecognition.com

Cambridge Cognition Holdings plc, a company registered in England and Wales, Registered Number 04338746

CAMBRIDGE COGNITION

April 29th, 2016

Premarket Notification Truthful and Accurate Statement as Required by 21 CFR 807.87(k)]

Original 510(k) Submission Cantab Mobile

I certify that, in my capacity as Director of Technical Operations of Cambridge Cognition Ltd., I believe to the best of my knowledge, that all data and information submitted in the premarket notification are truthful and accurate and that no material fact has been omitted.

(Signature)

Ricky Dolphin (Typed Name)

(Date)

Cambridge Cognition Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane, Bottisham, Cambridge, CB25 9TU, UK t: +44 (0)1223 810700 f: +44 (0)1223 810701 info@camcog.com www.cambridgecognition.com

Cambridge Cognition Holdings plc, a company registered in England and Wales, Registered Number 04338746

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118 6-1



7. Class III Summary and Certification Statement

Cantab Mobile is not classified as a class III device. Therefore, this section is not applicable.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.



8. Financial Certification or Disclosure Statement

No clinical studies were conducted as a part of this 510(k) submission. Therefore, this section is not applicable.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.



9. Declaration of Conformity and Summary Reports

This is a traditional 510(k) submission. This section is not applicable.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

10. Executive Summary

Product Name:Cantab MobileIndication:Assess Memory in Patients Aged 50 to 90 Years



<u>Sponsor</u>

© Cambridge Cognition Limited Tunbridge Court Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridge, CB25 9TU UK Tel: +44 (0) 1223 810 700 Fax: +44 (0) 1223 810 701

Authorized US Agent

Clementi and Associates Ltd. 919 Conestoga Road Rosemont, PA 19010 Tel: 610 527-2600

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIS	ST OF	IN-TEXT TABLES	2
LIS	TOF.	ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS OF TERMS	3
1	BAC	KGROUND	4
	1.1	Information on Dementia and Relevancy of Testing	4
2	IND	ICATION(S) AND INTENDED USE	6
	2.1	Instructions for Use	6
3	DEV	ICE DESCRIPTION	7
4	VER	IFICATION, VALIDATION AND TRACEABILITY	8
5	SUB	STANTIAL EQUIVALENCE	9
	5.1	Predicate Device	9
6	CLIN	NICAL EVALUATION	10
	6.1	Introduction	10
	6.2	Objectives	10
7	RISK	KS TO HEALTH	12
	7.1	Summary	12
	7.2	Determination of Level of Concern	12
8	OVE	RALL CONCLUSIONS	13
9	LITE	ERATURE CITED	14
10	APP	ENDICES	16
	Apper	ndix A. Predicate Device Comparison (Cantab Mobile and DANA)	16
11	REF	ERENCED DOCUMENTS	19

LIST OF IN-TEXT TABLES

Table 1.	Indications for Use	.6
Table 2.	Description of Verification and Validation Activities	.8
Table 3.	Device Comparison Summary (Proposed Device vs. Predicate Device)	.9

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADAS-cog	Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale - Cognition
ADHD ADL CANTAB	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire Cambridge Neuropsychology Test Automated Battery
CAPA	Corrective and Preventative Action
DLB	Dementia with Lewy Bodies
FDS	Functional Design Specification
GDS	Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire
HD	Huntington's disease
ID IFU MCI	Identification Instructions for Use Mild Cognitive Impairment
MEDDEV NINCDS- ADRDA	Medical Device guidance document National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke - Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association
PAL PIN	Paired Associates Learning Personal Identification Number
RS	Requirements Specification
SCM	Software Configuration Management
SDLC	Software Development Life Cycle
SDS	Software Design Specification
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
SOUP	Software Of Unknown Provenance
QD	Questionable dementia
QMS	Quality Management System
VMP	Validation Master Plan

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 Information on Dementia and Relevancy of Testing

It is estimated that dementia currently affects approximately 37 million people worldwide and, as the population ages, these prevalence rates can be expected to increase substantially. In addition to the devastating personal impact that a diagnosis of dementia may have upon the lives of patients and their caregivers, there is also a financial burden. The total monetary cost of dementia in 2010 was between \$157 billion and \$215 billion (Hurd et al., 2013).

Current criteria for the diagnosis of probable AD stipulates deterioration in two or more areas of cognition including memory of sufficient magnitude to interfere with work or social function. Critically however, substantial neuropathological change may have occurred before clinically significant symptoms (Jack et al. 2010; Jansen et al. 2015) appear. Thus, commencing treatment of AD at the time of clinical diagnosis (whether with cholinergic / glutamatergic drugs, anti-amyloid deposit agents or other putative disease modifying agents) may be sub-optimal or even ineffective because of the advanced stage of neurodegeneration at that time. The identification of cognitive tests that are sensitive to early pathological changes would facilitate the diagnosis of patients in a 'prodromal' state (i.e., those in whom the pathological process is present but whose symptoms are currently sub-clinical). Such early detection would serve to maximize the potential therapeutic benefit of treatment, enhance patient quality of life and, in so doing, reduce the burden on residential and nursing care services. Consequently, a very high therapeutic and economic premium is placed on the early detection and diagnosis of AD.

The CANTAB (Cambridge Neuropsychology Test Automated Battery) PAL (Paired Associates Learning) requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on a touch sensitive computer screen. See Section 3 below for additional detail.

A series of independent studies have demonstrated that Cantab PAL measures of visuospatial associative learning and semantic memory are sensitive in detecting the earliest signs of prodromal Alzheimer's disease (up to 32 months prior to clinical diagnosis) both in memory clinic attendees (Fowler et al., 1995, Fowler et al., 1997; Fowler et al., 2002; Swainson et al., 2001; Blackwell et al., 2004) and in community dwelling cohorts of individuals classified as asymptomatic using current clinical measures (De Jager et al., 2002); De Jager et al., 2005).

Further studies using Cantab PAL have confirmed it to be of utility in early and differential diagnosis in AD on a case-by-case basis. The Cantab PAL performance of patients with mild AD was impaired relative to both demographically-matched healthy controls (Sahakian et al., 1988) and to individuals with Frontal Variant Fronto-Temporal Dementia (Lee et al, 2003). Of critical importance, Cantab PAL was also found to be relatively insensitive to major unipolar depression (only 7 percent of scores of patients with Depression and Alzheimer's disease fell within an overlapping range) (Swainson et al., 2001). This result suggests that Cantab PAL is of utility in the differential diagnosis of early AD and depression (unlike word recall tests – see O'Carroll et al., 1997). Unlike ADAS-COG, performance on Cantab PAL

was also found to correlate significantly with subsequent deterioration in global cognitive function. Furthermore, in a group of individuals with 'questionable dementia', baseline Cantab PAL results revealed an apparent subgroup of patients who performed like AD patients. In a follow up study, Blackwell et al. (2004) showed that by taking into account age and performance on one other neuropsychological test (The Graded Naming Test [McKenna & Warrington, 1980]), Cantab PAL gave a 100% distinction between patients with questionable dementia who either did or did not convert to probable AD (NINCDS-ADRDA criteria) 32 months after baseline testing (see also De Jager et al., 2002). These studies also revealed that the sensitivity (in detecting prodromal AD in a QD group) and specificity (in differentiating AD from depression) of Cantab PAL was considerably better than that of all other frequently-used tests included in the study (including ADAS-cog and Wechsler Logical Memory Delayed Passage Recall).

The accumulating evidence demonstrates the sensitivity and specificity of Cantab PAL as a tool for operationalizing the criteria for objective memory impairment in mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

2 INDICATION(S) AND INTENDED USE

The application is designed to detect episodic memory impairments in patients aged 50 to 90 years who may be experiencing MCI or dementia (Table 1). Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression (Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire [GDS]), and problems with performing regular activities of daily living (Activities of Daily Life Questionnaire [ADL]). Additional information on questionnaires is provided in the Device Description document, **Section 11** of this submission.

Indications for Use	The device is intended to be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years.
Contraindications	Patients with severe visual impairment Patients outside the indicated age range

Table 1.Indications for Use

The application provides test results that are interpretive, however, Cantab Mobile is not a diagnostic test. The output provided by the device is not diagnostic. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria. The option to test or not to test is a decision that rests with the medical professional.

2.1 Instructions for Use

The Instructions for Use (IFU) is included as a separate document in Section 13 of this submission. Please see **NMI-013** for the full Instructions for Use for Cantab Mobile.

3 DEVICE DESCRIPTION

A full Device Description is included in a separate document in Section 11 of this submission.

3.1 Summary

Cantab Mobile is software to be loaded and run on Apple iPad hardware and operating system. The software is intended to be administered by a healthcare professional to test the cognitive function of a patient. The Cantab Mobile memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test, which requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on a touch-sensitive computer screen. Two optional questionnaires are included to assess a patient's mood and ability to perform daily living activities. At the conclusion of the test, a 'thank you' screen is displayed with no information on test outcome. The healthcare professional will then be able to read or export a report, which summarizes the memory test results and also displays information on the patient's responses in the questionnaires, if these have been administered.

Cantab Mobile has been classified as a Class IIa Medical Device in accordance with:

- MEDDEV 2.1/6 January 2012
- 93/42/EEC on Medical Devices, Classification Criteria, Annex IX, Rule 10.

4 VERIFICATION, VALIDATION AND TRACEABILITY

Software development is carried out under a controlled Software Development Life Cycle within a Quality Management System. A summary of the current version of these procedures in relation to IEC 62304:2006 for Class A software systems is provided in **QA-IEC62304Analysis.** See the Software section of this submission (Section 16).

Version 1.3 is the current version of the application. The history of prior application changes and verification is reflected in the table below.

Table 2. Description of Verification and Validation Activities

 $(b)(\overline{4})$

In addition to the traceability of verification records and risk control activities provided in the above documents, traceability between requirements, functional design and software testing specifications is summarized in **NMI-018**.

Functional testing is conducted against controlled software versions using a defined test specification, which documents the criteria required for each test case to pass; the pass/fail outcome for each case is recorded in records of testing for the software version.

A revision history log of external software releases with version identification is maintained under the control of the software configuration management system.

5 SUBSTANTIAL EQUIVALENCE

5.1 **Predicate Device**

Cantab Mobile is substantially equivalent to DANA (manufactured by AnthroTronix; K141865). Cantab Mobile and DANA are both categorized as Attention Task Performance Recorders. The tests use different mobile devices; Cantab Mobile uses an Apple iPad and DANA uses a smartphone or tablet with the Android operating system. Cantab Mobile and DANA are both used by healthcare professionals to measure aspects of patients' cognition. Cantab Mobile and DANA differ in the areas of cognition measures in that Cantab Mobile assesses visuospatial episodic memory, whereas the DANA software measures reaction time (speed and accuracy). Cantab Mobile and DANA are similar in terms of technological characteristics as both electronically record objective performance measurements when the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen by touching the screen. Differences in the design and performance of Cantab Mobile and DANA do not affect either the safety or effectiveness of Cantab Mobile for its intended use.

Table 3 presents a summary of each device for comparison. A complete comparison table is provided in Appendix A.

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	DANA – AnthroTronix (Submitted September 18, 2014)				
510(k) Number	Not Yet Assigned	K141865				
Trade Name	Cantab Mobile	DANA				
Common Name:	Mobile Based Task Performance Recorder					
Classification Name:	Recorder, Attention Task Performance					
Regulatory Class:	Unclassified					
Indications for Use	Cantab Mobile is intended to be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living.	DANA provides clinicians with objective measurements of reaction time (speed and accuracy) to aid in the assessment of an individual's medical or psychological state. DANA also delivers and scores standardized psychological questionnaires.				

 Table 3.
 Device Comparison Summary (Proposed Device vs. Predicate Device)

6 CLINICAL EVALUATION

6.1 Introduction

(b) (4)

The following evidence was considered:

- 1. (b) (4)
- 2. (b)(4)

(b)(4)

6.2 Objectives

(b)(4)



7 RISKS TO HEALTH

7.1 Summary

Risk management for the device is handled under controlled procedures within a Quality Management System. These procedures are designed to meet applicable requirements of EN ISO 13485:2012 and EN ISO 14971:2012.

A tabular summary of the risk analysis and other document references are provided in **Section 11** of this submission.

7.2 Determination of Level of Concern

Cantab Mobile's level of concern is classified as minor based upon the parameters and recommendations outlined in FDA's *Guidance for the Content of Premarket Submissions for Software Contained in Medical Devices* (2005), with negative responses to all questions in Tables 1 and 2. Regarding question 3 in Table 2, the app is a screening device for use by a learned intermediary in conjunction with other investigations; its operation does not lead directly to diagnosis or choice of appropriate medical care.

8 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

Cantab Mobile is an app that runs on an iPad. It detects episodic memory impairments, in patients aged 50 to 90 years, and includes optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression and problems with performing regular activities of daily living. The Cantab tests have a 30-year history of use in a range of clinical populations, supported by over 1500 published papers. Cantab Mobile includes the Cantab PAL test, which has been developed as a way of assessing episodic memory without language barriers. A series of independent studies have demonstrated that PAL is sensitive in detecting the earliest signs of prodromal Alzheimer's disease, up to 32 months prior to clinical diagnosis, and that it is relatively insensitive to major unipolar depression. The accumulating evidence demonstrates the sensitivity and specificity of PAL as a tool for operationalizing the criteria for objective memory impairment in mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

Cantab Mobile is not a diagnostic test. The results for a patient's PAL memory test are presented to the healthcare professional as one of three traffic-light coded categories. In conjunction with other investigations, these provide information to assist the professional in their assessment of the patient.

Cantab Mobile is substantially equivalent to AnthroTronix's DANA software in that they share the intended use of providing clinicians with objective measurements of cognition. Both are mobile applications that electronically record objective performance measurements as the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen by touching the screen. Differences in the design and performance of Cantab Mobile from DANA, the predicate device, do not affect either the safety or effectiveness of Cantab Mobile for its intended use.

9 LITERATURE CITED

Blackwell AD, Sahakian BJ, Vesey R, Semple J, Robbins TW, Hodges JR. Detecting dementia: novel neuropsychological markers of preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2004;17:42-8.

de Jager CA, Milwain E, Budge MM. Early detection of isolated memory deficits in the elderly: the need for more sensitive neuropsychological tests. Psychol Med. 2002 Apr;32(3):483-91.

de Jager CA, Blackwell AD, Budge MM, Sahakian BJ. Predicting cognitive decline in healthy older adults. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2005; 13(8):735-40.

Fowler KS, Saling MM, Conway EL, Semple J, Louis WJ. Computerized delayed matching to sample and paired associate performance in the early detection of dementia. Appl Neuropsychol. 1995;2(2):72-8.

Fowler KS, Saling MM, Conway EL, Semple J, Louis WJ. Computerized neuropsychological tests in the early detection of dementia: prospective findings. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 1997;3(2):139-46.

Fowler KS, Saling MM, Conway EL, Semple J, Louis WJ. Paired associate performance in the early detection of DAT. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2002;8:58-71.

Hurd MD, Martorell P, Delavande A, Mullen KJ, Langa KM. Monetary Costs of Dementia in the United States. N Engl J Med 2013;368:1326-34.

Jack Jr CR, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, Shaw LM, Aisen PS, Weiner W, et al. Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. Lancet Neurol. 2010; Jan9(1): 119-28.

Jansen WJ, Ossenkoppele R, Knol DL, Tijms BM, Scheltens P, Verhey FR, et al. Prevalence of cerebral amyloid pathology in persons without dementia: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2015;313(19):1924-38.

Lee AC, Rahman S, Hodges JR, Sahakian BJ, Graham KS. Associative and recognition memory for novel objects in dementia: implications for diagnosis. Eur J Neurosci. 2003;18(6):1660-70.

McKenna P, Warrington EK. Testing for nominal dysphasia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1980;43(9):781-8.

O'Carroll RE, Conway S, Ryman A, Prentice N. Performance on the delayed word recall test (DWR) fails to differentiate clearly between depression and Alzheimer's disease in the elderly. Psychol Med. 1997;27(4):967-71.

Sahakian BJ, Morris RG, Evenden JL, Heald A, Levy R, Philpot MP, et al. A comparative study of visuospatial memory and learning in Alzheimer-type dementia and Parkinson's disease, Brain 1988;111:695-718.

Swainson R, Hodges JR, Galton CJ, Paykel ES, Semple J, Michael A, et al. Early detection and differential diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease and depression with neuropsychological tasks. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 200;12(4):265-80.

10 APPENDICES

Appendix A. Predicate Device Comparison (Cantab Mobile and DANA)

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	DANA - AnthroTronix				
510(k) Number	Not Yet Assigned	K141865				
Device Information: Trade Name	Cantab Mobile	DANA				
Device Information: Common Name:	Mobile Based Task Performance Recorder	Mobile Based Task Performance Recorder				
Device Information: Classification Name:	Recorder, Attention Task Performance	Recorder, Attention Task Performance				
Device Information:	Unclassified	Unclassified				
Device Class:	The device has the same intended use, indications for use, and relies on technology that does not raise new safety and effectiveness questions to DANA.	http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pd f14/k141814.pdf				
Predicate Device:	DANA (K141865)	QbTest, Qbtech AB (K122149)				
Type of Use	Prescription Use (Part 21 CRF 801 Subpart D	Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801 Subpart D)				
Submission Date:	TBD	September 18, 2014				
Submitter Information: Company:	Cambridge Cognition Limited. Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridgeshire, CB25 9TU UK	AnthroTronix, Inc. 8737 Colesville Road, Suite L203 Silver Spring, MD 20910 USA				
Design and Intended Use	Cantab Mobile is a mobile application indicated to provide clinicians with objective measurements of visuospatial episodic memory and mood to aid in the assessment of an individual's medical or psychological state.	DANA is a mobile application indicated to provide clinicians with objective measurements of reaction time (speed and accuracy) and standardized health assessments to aid in the assessment of an individual's medical or psychological state.				
	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals.	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals.				
	Cantab Mobile was developed on a mobile platform to improve the access and availability of assessments.	DANA was developed on a mobile platform to improve the access and availability of assessments.				

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	DANA - AnthroTronix			
Target population	Patients aged 50 to 90 years with concerns about their memory. Results are automatically adjusted for age, gender, education.	A wide age range from high school students to older patients with dementia.			
Anatomical site	The brain: cognitive function	The brain: cognitive function			
Test duration	The test takes approximately 10 minutes to complete.	Spectrum of tests: 5-Minute Rapid; 15- Minute Brief; 45-Minute Standard.			
Scoring and reports	Automatic scoring and instant reports	Automatic scoring and instant reports			
Where used	Cantab Mobile is software used on a tablet, therefore it can be administered in any suitable setting, e.g. a clinic or home.	DANA is software on a tablet or smartphone, therefore it can be administered anywhere.			
Energy used	 Cantab Mobile software runs on an Apple iPad, which has the following features: built-in 25-watt-hour rechargeable lithium-polymer battery; charging via power adapter or USB to computer system; up to 10 hours of use when charged. 	The DANA software runs on Android tablets and smartphones, containing a rechargeable battery, charged via power adapter or USB to computer system. The energy used is hardware-dependent.			
Human factors	Any healthcare professional can administer the test. To ensure reliable results, the iPad should be placed on a stand and the assessment should be administered in a quiet room, without disturbance. The voiceover and questionnaire texts are provided in a choice of languages.	DANA software can be self-administered by patients or administered by a health aide.			
To whom is the product marketed /target audience?	Healthcare Rehabilitation	Healthcare Education Pharmaceutical Rehabilitation Government			
Materials	N/A	N/A			
Biocompatibility	N/A	N/A			
Compatibility with the environment and other devices	N/A	N/A			
Sterility	Sterility status is not needed for this software-only device	Sterility status is not needed for this software-only device			
Safety: electrical; mechanical; chemical;	These safety issues are not applicable to this software-only device.	These safety issues are not applicable to this software-only device.			

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	DANA - AnthroTronix
thermal;		
radiation.		
To whom is the	Healthcare	Healthcare
product	Rehabilitation	Education
marketed /target		Pharmaceutical
audience?		Rehabilitation
		Government
How the device	Cantab Mobile is similar to DANA in	
differs from	terms of technological characteristics, as	
Predicate device	both electronically record objective	
	performance accuracy as the patient	
	responds to stimuli presented on the screen	
	by touching the screen. Cantab Mobile	
	differs from DANA in that it provides an	
	assessment of episodic memory, compared	
	to DANA which assesses attention. Cantab	
	Mobile also presents assessments of	
	depression and activities of daily living,	
	which are not included in DANA.	

11 REFERENCED DOCUMENTS

Traceability Matrix (NMI-018)

Change Control and Validation Report (CR-NMI-004)

Title: PALD Traceability Matrix				Page 1 of 1		
(h)(4) Test Data						
Original Research Article



Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;17:42–48 DOI: 10.1159/000074081 Accepted: June 6, 2003 Published online: October 13, 2003

Detecting Dementia: Novel Neuropsychological Markers of Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease

Andrew D. Blackwell^a Barbara J. Sahakian^a Robyn Vesey^a James M. Semple^{a,d} Trevor W. Robbins^c John R. Hodges^b

Departments of ^aPsychiatry, ^bNeurology and ^cExperimental Psychology, University of Cambridge, and ^dGlaxoSmithKline Centre for Clinical Investigation, Cambridge, UK

Key Words

Alzheimer's disease · Early detection · Neuropsychological assessment · Paired Associates Learning · Graded Naming Test

Abstract

The results of a previous study have suggested that impaired performance on one neuropsychological test, CANTAB Paired Associates Learning (PAL), may serve as a marker for preclinical Alzheimer's disease (AD). In a group of individuals with 'questionable dementia', the baseline PAL performance was found to correlate significantly with subsequent deterioration in global cognitive function over an 8-month period. The present paper reports diagnostic outcome data for the same individuals 32 months after the first assessment and evaluates the predictive diagnostic utility of baseline neuropsychological measures. Thirty-two months after joining the study, 11 of the 43 'questionable dementia' patients met the criteria for probable AD diagnosis ('converters') and 29 remained free from AD ('non-converters'). Logistic regression analysis revealed that two tests of memory, in combination, could be used to predict a later diagnosis of

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com 1420-8008/04/0172-0042\$21.00/0 Accessible online at: www.karger.com/dem

© 2004 S. Karger AG. Basel

probable AD with a high level of accuracy [$\chi^2(3) = 47.054$, p < 0.0001]. As predicted, these tests are measures of visuospatial learning (CANTAB PAL) and, also, semantic memory (Graded Naming Test). These two tests in combination appear to be highly accurate in detecting cognitive dysfunction characteristic of preclinical AD. Using these tests, a simple algorithm is described for calculating, with 100% accuracy for this sample of 40 patients, the probability that an individual with mild memory impairments will go on to receive a diagnosis of probable AD.

Copyright © 2004 S. Karger AG, Basel

(

Introduction

Current criteria for the diagnosis of probable Alzheimer's disease (AD) stipulate deterioration in 2 or more areas of cognition (including memory), of sufficient magnitude to interfere with work or social function [1]. Critically however, substantial neuropathological change may have occurred before clinically significant symptoms appear [2]. Thus, commencing treatment of AD at the time of clinical diagnosis (whether with anti-amyloid deposit

Prof. B.J. Sahakian Department of Psychiatry, University of Cambridge Box 189, Addenbrookes Hospital, Hills Road Cambridge CB2 2QQ (UK) Tel. +44 1223 331209, Fax +44 1223 336968, E-Mail adb43@cam.ac.uk agents, cholinergic drugs or putative disease-modifying agents) may be suboptimal or even ineffective because of the advanced stage of neurodegeneration at that time. The identification of cognitive tests that are sensitive to early pathological changes would facilitate the diagnosis of patients in a 'prodromal' state (i.e. those in whom the pathological process is present but whose symptoms are currently subclinical). Such early detection would serve to maximise the potential therapeutic benefit of treatment, enhance patient quality of life and, in so doing, reduce the burden on residential and nursing care services. Consequently, a very high therapeutic and economic premium is placed on the early detection and diagnosis of AD.

In attempting to identify neuropsychological tests that are sensitive to the cognitive markers of prodromal AD, it is critical to ensure that performance on such tests is not deleteriously affected by other neuropsychiatric complaints that may confuse diagnosis. Furthermore, in order to achieve maximum diagnostic sensitivity, it is important to establish that performance on such tests is necessarily subserved by brain areas directly implicated in AD neuropathogenesis. Failure to acknowledge these factors will limit the clinical utility of neuropsychological approaches to the early detection of AD [3].

The earliest pathological markers of AD, neurofibrillary tangles and neuropil threads, are first seen in the transentorhinal cortex, before neuropathology later spreads to the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus proper [4]. Converging evidence from lesion studies in humans [5] and experimental animals [6, 7] and functional neuro-imaging studies in normal volunteers [8, 9] suggests that these brain areas are necessarily involved in visuospatial associative learning. Accordingly, it is likely that a decline in the visuospatial associative learning ability may be a good candidate marker of early neuropathological abnormality.

Consistent with this hypothesis, previous studies have demonstrated that the performance of individuals with mild AD on a test of visuospatial associative learning [CANTAB Paired Associates Learning (PAL)] was impaired relative to both demographically matched healthy controls [10] and to individuals with a neuropsychiatric condition that is difficult to differentiate clinically from early AD (e.g. depression [11]). Furthermore, we have recently shown [11] that, in a group of individuals with 'questionable dementia', baseline PAL results revealed an apparent subgroup of patients who performed like AD patients. Performance on PAL was also found to correlate significantly with subsequent deterioration in global cognitive function over an 8-month period. This is consistent with the hypothesis that the PAL-impaired subgroup was suffering from prodromal AD.

The aim of the present analysis was to determine whether neuropsychological test scores could be used to accurately identify individuals who were in the preclinical phase of AD at the time of presentation to a memory clinic. The present paper reports diagnostic outcome data for individuals in the questionable-dementia group 32 months after first assessment and evaluates the prognostic utility of baseline neuropsychological measures.

Methods

All procedures were approved by the relevant local research ethics committees, and the study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki [12]. All subjects gave their written informed consent.

Subjects

Forty-three patients were invited to join the study following their referral and first consultation at a memory clinic. The sample comprised both individuals with subjective complaints of memory loss, yet showing normal performance on objective tests, as well as individuals showing objectively identifiable cognitive deficits that were restricted to memory. Performance on other tests of language and visuospatial function was within the normal range, and activities of daily life were preserved. Patient history was corroborated by a collateral source, and clinical dementia rating (based on a semi-structured interview) was 0.5 in all cases.

At baseline, all subjects were aged between 50 and 80 years (mean age = 64.83, SEM = 6.30). None of the participants were suffering from unipolar depression (DSM-IV) [13], nor did they meet criteria for probable AD (NINCDS-ADRDA) [1] or any other dementia. Participants were screened for the following exclusion criteria: extrapy-ramidal signs or hallucinations; vascular dementias; current cancer treatment (radiotherapy or chemotherapy); uncontrolled diabetes; serious head injury requiring surgical intervention. Patients having suffered cerebrovascular events (e.g. transient ischaemic attack or stroke) or epilepsy were excluded at the discretion of a senior neurologist (J.R.H.).

Neuropsychological and Diagnostic Procedures

Each subject participated in 4 periods of assessment at 8-monthly intervals after referral (baseline, 8, 16 and 24 months \pm 4 weeks). Where possible, the subjects were tested at their own home. This report is based on the data from the baseline neuropsychological assessment and subsequent diagnostic outcome data.

Assessment comprised a neuropsychological battery consisting of 20 tests, administered in 2 or 3 sessions within 3 weeks of each other, usually lasting 2 h each. Appropriate counterbalancing was implemented in order to minimise practice and order effects. As a substantial proportion of patients presenting at a memory clinic may be suffering from depression, the results of tests of attention and executive function are excluded from the present analysis. These tests have previously been shown to be impaired in depression [11], limiting their utility as a differential diagnostic tool in a clinical setting.

Early Detection of Probable Alzheimer's Disease

Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;17:42-48

Table 1. Demographic and neuropsychological performance data for converters and non-converters

Measures of global function/subject character Age, years Gender (ratio M/F) NART 1 Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale, cognitive section 1 MMSE 1 Geriatric Depression Scale 1 Tests of mnemonic function Recognition 1 Warrington Short Recognition 1	istics 4 5 6 7	Pronunciation of irregular words (predicted verbal IQ) Assessment scale of cognitive symptoms (total errors/30) Screening test for dementia (total score/30) Self-reported depression scale (depressive responses/30)	72.0 (8.94) 5:6 117.05 (7.56) 16.81 (5.11) 25.09 (1.76) 7.45 (5.89)	62.10 (8.05) 12:17 119.18 (6.84) 8.55 (3.83) 29.00 (1.22) 9.72 (5.40)	0.002 0.546 0.40 <0.001 <0.001 0.254
Age, years Gender (ratio M/F) NART 1 Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale, cognitive section 1 MMSE 1 Geriatric Depression Scale 1 Tests of mnemonic function Recognition 1 Warrington Short Recognition 1	14 15 16 17	Pronunciation of irregular words (predicted verbal IQ) Assessment scale of cognitive symptoms (total errors/30) Screening test for dementia (total score/30) Self-reported depression scale (depressive responses/30)	72.0 (8.94) 5:6 117.05 (7.56) 16.81 (5.11) 25.09 (1.76) 7.45 (5.89)	62.10 (8.05) 12:17 119.18 (6.84) 8.55 (3.83) 29.00 (1.22) 9.72 (5.40)	0.002 0.546 0.40 <0.001 <0.001 0.254
Gender (ratio M/F) 1 NART 1 Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale, cognitive section 1 MMSE 1 Geriatric Depression Scale 1 Tests of mnemonic function Recognition Warrington Short Recognition 1	14 15 16 17	Pronunciation of irregular words (predicted verbal IQ) Assessment scale of cognitive symptoms (total errors/30) Screening test for dementia (total score/30) Self-reported depression scale (depressive responses/30)	5:6 117.05 (7.56) 16.81 (5.11) 25.09 (1.76) 7.45 (5.89)	12:17 119.18 (6.84) 8.55 (3.83) 29.00 (1.22) 9.72 (5.40)	0.546 0.40 <0.001 <0.001 0.254
NART 1 Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale, cognitive section 1 MMSE 1 Geriatric Depression Scale 1 Tests of mnemonic function Recognition 1 Warrington Short Recognition 1	14 15 16 17	Pronunciation of irregular words (predicted verbal IQ) Assessment scale of cognitive symptoms (total errors/30) Screening test for dementia (total score/30) Self-reported depression scale (depressive responses/30)	117.05 (7.56) 16.81 (5.11) 25.09 (1.76) 7.45 (5.89)	119.18 (6.84) 8.55 (3.83) 29.00 (1.22) 9.72 (5.40)	0.40 <0.001 <0.001 0.254
Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale, cognitive section 1 MMSE 1 Geriatric Depression Scale 1 Tests of mnemonic function <i>Recognition</i> Warrington Short Recognition 1	15 16 17	Assessment scale of cognitive symptoms (total errors/30) Screening test for dementia (total score/30) Self-reported depression scale (depressive responses/30)	16.81 (5.11) 25.09 (1.76) 7.45 (5.89)	8.55 (3.83) 29.00 (1.22) 9.72 (5.40)	<0.001 <0.001 0.254
cognitive section 1 MMSE 1 Geriatric Depression Scale 1 Tests of mnemonic function 1 Recognition 1 Warrington Short Recognition 1	15 16 17	Assessment scale of cognitive symptoms (total errors/30) Screening test for dementia (total score/30) Self-reported depression scale (depressive responses/30)	16.81 (5.11) 25.09 (1.76) 7.45 (5.89)	8.55 (3.83) 29.00 (1.22) 9.72 (5.40)	<0.001 <0.001 0.254
MMSE 1 Geriatric Depression Scale 1 Tests of mnemonic function Recognition Warrington Short Recognition 1	16 17	Screening test for dementia (total score/30) Self-reported depression scale (depressive responses/30)	25.09 (1.76) 7.45 (5.89)	29.00 (1.22) 9.72 (5.40)	<0.001 0.254
Geriatric Depression Scale 1 Tests of mnemonic function Recognition Warrington Short Recognition 1	17	Self-reported depression scale (depressive responses/30)	7.45 (5.89)	9.72 (5.40)	0.254
Tests of mnemonic functionRecognitionWarrington Short Recognition1	8	2-choice recognition of visually presented words (e.g. lake			
Warrington Short Recognition 1	8	2-choice recognition of visually presented words (e.g. lake			
		clock) or photographs of male faces (list of 25 for each); total correct (max. = 25)			
Memory Tests for:					
Words			19.36 (3.75)	23.55(2.90)	< 0.001
Faces			19.36 (3.26)	22.89 (2.99)	< 0.001
CANTAB pattern recognition	0	2-choice recognition of abstract patterns (2 lists of 12); percentage correct	64.77 (11.98)	85.92 (10.23)	<0.001
CANTAB spatial recognition 1	0	2-choice recognition of locations of white boxes on computer screen (4 lists of 5); percentage correct	70.91 (13.93)	78.10 (10.89)	0.09
Doors test from Doors and People tests 1	9	4-choice recognition of photographs of doors (2 lists of 12); total correct (max. = 24)	12.83 (3.12)	16.31 (3.10)	0.003
CANTAB delayed matching to sample 1	10	4-choice recognition of abstract patterns sharing colour or pattern with distractors (10 trials at each delay: simultaneous, 0, 4, 12 s); total correct at 12-second delay (max. = 10)	5.27 (1.49)	6.55 (1.97)	0.048
Cued and free recall					
CANTAB PAL 1	10	Learning of 1 (2 stages), 2 (2 stages), 3 (2 stages), 6 (1 stage) and 8 (1 stage) visual pattern-location pairings; 10 presentations available at each stage (see fig. 1); number of errors made at 6-pattern stage (score accommodates attrition as in [11])	31.00 (15.21)	6.62 (8.42)	<0.001
Wechsler Logical Memory Recall 2	20	Free recall of 2 story passages immediately and after 30 min delay (25 items per story); total items recalled at 30 min delay (max. = 50)	2.36 (4.30)	16.59 (7.89)	<0.001
Semantic naming					
GNT 2	21	Naming of graded-difficulty line drawings (e.g. kangaroo, centaur); total items named (max. = 30)	19.54 (2.84)	24.62 (3.09)	< 0.001
New semantic battery naming test 2	22	Naming of line drawings from 8 semantic categories (e.g. vehicles – sledge, train; fruit – orange, cherry); total items named (max = 64)	60.55 (2.38)	62.66 (1.74)	0.004
Category fluency 2	23	Spontaneous naming of items from 3 semantic categories: animals, fruit, household items; total items named in 180 s (60 s per category)	38.36 (7.95)	53.83 (11.89)	<0.001

Neuropsychological tests included standard measures already in clinical practice and computerised tests from the CANTAB battery (www.camcog.com); see references in table 1 for a full description of the tests. Two key tests, CANTAB PAL and the Graded Naming Test (GNT), are shown in figure 1. Neuropsychological testing and a clinical diagnostic interview were administered independently by different individuals. Incident cases of probable AD were diagnosed according to NINCDS-ADRDA criteria [1] by a senior neurologist (J.R.H.) up to 32 months after baseline assessment. The results of the neuropsychological tests (other than the Mini-Mental State Examination, MMSE) were not used in the assignment of diagnostic category.

Analytical and Statistical Procedures

Measures chosen from each test were those deemed to load most heavily and specifically upon the psychological function that the test was being used to assess. Differences between group means were tested for statistical significance using one-way ANOVA or non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA as appropriate. Untransformed scores are presented in table 1. In order to decrease skew and stabilise

44

Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;17:42-48

Blackwell/Sahakian/Vesey/Semple/ Robbins/Hodges Fig. 1. a CANTAB PAL task. 1, 2, 3, 6 or 8 patterns are displayed sequentially in the available boxes (in the 8-pattern stage 2 more boxes are added). Each pattern is then presented in the centre of the display and the subject is required to touch the box in which the pattern was previously seen. If all the responses are correct, the test moves on to the next stage; an incorrect response results in all the patterns being redisplayed in their original locations, followed by another recall phase. The task terminates after 10 presentations and recall phases if all patterns have not been placed correctly. b GNT. Subjects are shown a series of 30 black-and-white drawings. Subjects are asked to name what each drawing represents, and their response is recorded. The figure shows 3 examples of naming stimuli: kangaroo, sporran, sextant.



variances some data were re-expressed prior to parametric analysis [for latencies (x = $\log_{10}(y)$; for proportions (x = 2 × arcsine \sqrt{y})]. Stepwise, feed-forward logistic regression analysis (using a likelihood ratio method) was conducted using SPSS version 10 [24].

Results

Diagnostic Outcome at 32 Months after Baseline

Thirty-two months after joining the study, 11 of the original 43 'questionable-dementia' patients met the criteria for probable AD diagnosis [1] ('converters') and 29 remained free from dementia ('non-converters'). This represents a conversion-to-AD rate of 26% over 2.7 years, comparable with conversion rates of questionable-dementia populations in previous studies [25]. Two patients were suspected to have Lewy body disease as they showed fluctuating cognitive impairment and parkinsonian-like symptoms (data from these subjects were excluded from analysis). One patient withdrew from the study prior to follow-up.

Baseline Demographic Characteristics of Converters and Non-Converters

There were no significant differences between the converters and non-converters in terms of gender ratio, affective status [17] (at entry to the study) nor estimated premorbid IQ [14] (table 1). The converters were significantly older than non-converters and, accordingly, age is included as a covariate in subsequent analyses. Converters also showed lower baseline MMSE [16] scores at entry than non-converters. However, it should be noted that the baseline MMSE scores of the converters ranged from 23 to 28, whereas those of non-converters ranged from 25 to 30. 32.5% of all questionable-dementia patients fell within a common range (i.e. 25–28), suggesting that the baseline MMSE would be of limited utility in identifying prodromal AD. Baseline MMSE scores are not included in predictive analyses as subsequent MMSE scores are used as a primary outcome measure.

Baseline Neuropsychological Test Performance of Converters and Non-Converters

The converter group performed significantly more poorly than the non-converter group on all tests of memory including: semantic naming (p < 0.01), cued and free recall (p < 0.001) and recognition (p < 0.05 for all measures except spatial recognition memory where p = 0.09).

The Utility of Neuropsychological Measures in Predicting Decline in Global Cognitive Function

A correlation matrix of baseline neuropsychological test scores and subsequent decline on MMSE over 24 months is shown in table 2. In accordance with the findings of Swainson et al. [11], the number of stages passed on CANTAB PAL was found to correlate significantly with the magnitude of global cognitive deterioration over

Early Detection of Probable Alzheimer's Disease

Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;17:42-48



Fig. 2. Age, PAL and GNT performance of subjects with 'questionable dementia' at baseline. Black data points represent the scores of individuals who subsequently went on to receive a diagnosis of AD ('converters'). White points show the baseline scores of those subjects who remained non-demented at the 32-month follow up ('non-converters').

the subsequent 2 years ($r_s = 0.37$, p < 0.05). The small but statistically significant relationships previously identified by Swainson et al. [11] between both PAL (6-pattern error score), and delayed matching-to-sample, and cognitive deterioration over an 8-month follow-up were not evident when cognitive deterioration was considered over a 24-month period.

The Utility of Baseline Neuropsychological Measures in Predicting Diagnostic Outcome at 32 Months

In order to determine which test, or combination of tests, could be used to construct a predictive diagnostic model, all baseline scores for tests of mnemonic function were entered into a multivariate logistic regression analysis (using a forward 'likelihood ratio' method), entering age as a covariate. Error at the 6-pattern stage of CANTAB PAL [12] was found to be the most predictive measure. This model (based on PAL and age alone) was highly significant [$\chi^2(2) = 34.417$, p < 0.0001] and correctly diagnosed 81.8% of the converters and 96.6% of the non-converters.

Table 2. Spearman's correlation coefficient of neuropsychological memory test performance at baseline and subsequent decline on MMSE over 2 years

Task	Correlation with global (MMSE) decline			
	r _s	р		
Global cognitive function				
ADAS-cog	-0.052	0.764	n.s.	
Mnemonic tasks				
Warrington SRMT words	0.184	0.282	n.s.	
Warrington SRMT faces	0.140	0.415	n.s.	
Pattern recognition	0.137	0.427	n.s.	
Spatial recognition	-0.235	0.168	n.s.	
Doors recognition	0.268	0.114	n.s.	
DMTS (correct 12 s delay)	0.105	0.541	n.s.	
PAL (stages passed)	0.367	< 0.05	*	
PAL (6-pattern errors)	-0.174	0.310	n.s.	
Logical memory (30 min recall)	0.173	0.314	n.s.	
GNT	0.071	0.679	n.s.	
Semantic naming	0.222	0.194	n.s.	
Category fluency	0.248	0.145	n.s.	

ADAS-cog = Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale, cognitive section; SRMT = Short Recognition Memory Test; DMTS = delayed matching to sample.

Adding a graded test of object naming (GNT) [21] to the model produces a 'perfect fit', i.e. this model perfectly distinguishes the converters and non-converters (of this sample) on the basis of their age, baseline PAL and GNT scores only. This enhanced model was also highly significant [$\chi^2(3) = 47.054$, p < 0.0001]. The PAL and GNT performance data for individual subjects are shown in figure 2.

Application of the PAL/GNT Model for the Detection of Prodromal AD in Memory-Impaired Patients

Using this model it is possible to construct a regression equation to estimate the odds (and probability) that an individual will go on to receive a diagnosis of probable AD. The regression equation is:

log odds AD (x) =

 $-115.742 + (4.254 \times age) + (6.517 \times PAL^{i}) - (13.87 \times GNT^{ii})$, where i = errors at the 6-pattern stage of CANTAB PAL and ii = total items named on the GNT(/30).

Exponentiating this term (e^x) gives the odds that the individual will develop AD. The predicted probability of

46

Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;17:42-48

Blackwell/Sahakian/Vesey/Semple/ Robbins/Hodges this individual going on to receive a diagnosis of probable AD within the next 32 months can then be calculated using the following equation:

probability of AD = $e^x/(1 + e^x)$.

Discussion

In an early report from this study [11], we showed that baseline CANTAB PAL performance correlated significantly with the degree of subsequent decline in global cognitive function in individuals with questionable dementia. With the addition of diagnostic outcome data, the present paper provides crucial confirmatory evidence that impaired performance on PAL may be used as an accurate marker of the prodrome to clinically diagnosed AD. Furthermore, with the addition of the GNT, outcome was predicted with a very high level of accuracy (100% for this sample of 40 patients).

Sensitivity of the PAL/GNT Model to AD Neuropathology

The predictive algorithm relating to findings from these two neuropsychological tests is consistent with what might be expected for functional deficits in terms of the known involvement of the medial temporal lobe and related areas in early AD. The transentorhinal region is a complex transitional area located between the entorhinal region proper and the adjacent temporal isocortex. It has been suggested [26] that damage to this site in early AD disrupts reciprocal connections with the hippocampal formation and that this disruption underlies deficits in episodic memory. By contrast, evidence suggests that deficits in semantic memory (such as object naming) may be attributable to abnormalities in the temporal neocortex [27-31]. Thus, we hypothesise that PAL and GNT are sensitive to early neurodegeneration in the transentorhinal region and the temporal neocortex proper, respectively. Accordingly, we suggest that by combining PAL and GNT, the model we have proposed is capable of maintaining diagnostic sensitivity whilst accommodating heterogeneity in the locus and spread of early AD pathology within medial temporal regions.

The validity of using PAL as a key marker for insidious AD pathology is further supported by the results of two other recent studies. Fowler et al. [32] found that impaired performance on the CANTAB PAL identified the onset of a progressive decline in memory, preceding both deterioration of performance on standard neuropsychological tasks and, ultimately, clinical diagnosis of AD.

Although, in their study, the GNT was not administered, and considering that the participants were younger and drawn from a more clinically diverse population than those participating in our investigation, the similarity of the findings is very encouraging. Furthermore, De Jager et al. [33] have recently reported that CANTAB PAL (and to a lesser extent the GNT) could be used to detect the presence of memory deficits in elderly individuals whose performance on standard screening measures (MMSE [16] and CAMCOG [34]) was well within the normal range. These results suggest that the proposed predictive algorithm incorporating PAL and GNT may be sensitive to AD even prior to the onset of subjective memory complaints (indicating the potential utility of these two tests as community-based screening tools).

Specificity of PAL as a Marker for Early AD

Our early report [11] demonstrated that CANTAB PAL performance is spared in major unipolar depression [24]. Thus, in the clinic, impaired PAL performance is unlikely to be attributable to affective disturbance. The value of PAL in the differential diagnosis of neuropsychiatric conditions is further reinforced by the findings of a recent study by Lee et al. [35]. This recent study compared PAL performance of individuals with AD with that of individuals with frontotemporal dementia. In contrast to AD, frontotemporal dementia was shown to leave the key aspects of PAL performance largely unimpaired, suggesting that PAL may also be of use in the clinical differentiation of these disorders.

Considerations and Future Directions

It could be suggested that this study was limited by a restricted sample. However, by recruiting subjects from a well-defined population at a high risk of converting to probable AD, fewer participants were needed in order to detect an acceptable number of prodromal cases. Additionally, although this study did not involve the analysis of histopathological data, the NINCDS-ADRDA criteria for probable AD have previously been shown to accurately predict the neuropathological outcome [36].

It will be important in future studies to assess the extent to which the predictive utility of the PAL/GNT model performance is maintained in wider clinical and non-clinical populations. Additionally, we look forward to evaluating the extent to which novel techniques such as benzothiazole amyloid imaging [37] can usefully complement this neuropsychological approach, both in the context of early detection and treatment evaluation.

Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;17:42-48

Early Detection of Probable Alzheimer's Disease

In summary, the results of the present investigation indicate that CANTAB PAL and the GNT are of major utility in the early and differential diagnosis of probable AD and are practical tools for use in the clinic.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Drs. T. Dening, D. Girling and C. Gregory for referring patients, R. Swainson, B. Dunn, J. Schroeder (Cambridge Cognition) for testing patients. This project was funded by an MRC LINK grant to B.J.S., J.R.H., T.W.R. and J.M.S. and completed within the MRC Centre for Behavioural and Clinical Neuroscience. A.D.B. was supported by a Programme Grant from the Wellcome Trust.

References

- 1 McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM: Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: Report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. Neurology 1984;34:939–944.
- 2 Fox NC, Warrington EK, Rossor MN: Serial magnetic resonance imaging of cerebral atrophy in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 1999;353:2125.
- 3 Bowen J, Teri L, Kukull W, McCormick W, McCurry SM, Larson EB: Progression to dementia in patients with isolated memory loss. Lancet 1997;349:763–765.
- 4 Braak H, Braak E: Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1991;82:239–259.
- 5 Smith ML, Milner B: The role of the right hippocampus in the recall of spatial location. Neuropsychologia 1981;19:781–793.
- 6 McDonald RJ, White NM: A triple dissociation of memory systems: Hippocampus, amygdala, and dorsal striatum. Behav Neurosci 1993;107:3–22.
- 7 Miyashita Y, Kameyama M, Hasegawa I, Fukushima T: Consolidation of visual associative long-term memory in the temporal cortex of primates. Neurobiol Learn Mem 1998;70:197– 211.
- 8 Owen AM, Milner B, Petrides M, Evans AC: A specific role for the right parahippocampal gyrus in the retrieval of object-location: A positron emission tomography study. J Cogn Neurosci 1996;8:588–602.
- 9 Maguire EA, Frith CD, Burgess N, Donnett JG, O'Keefe J: Knowing where things are: Parahippocampal involvement in encoding object locations in virtual large-scale space. J Cogn Neurosci 1998;10:61–76.
- 10 Sahakian BJ, Morris RG, Evenden JL, Heald A, Levy R, Philpot M, Robbins TW: A comparative study of visuospatial memory and learning in Alzheimer-type dementia and Parkinson's disease. Brain 1988;111:695–718.
- 11 Swainson R, Hodges JR, Galton CJ, Semple J, Michael A, Dunn BD, Iddon JL, Robbins TW, Sahakian BJ: Early detection and differential diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease and depression with neuropsychological tasks. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2001;12:265–280.

- 12 World Medical Association: Declaration of Helsinki: Recommendations guiding physicians in biomedical research involving human subjects. World Medical Association, 1996.
- 13 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, ed 4 (DSM-IV). Washington, APA, 1994.
- 14 Nelson HE: National Adult Reading Test (NART) Test Manual. Windsor, NFER-Nelson, 1982.
- 15 Rosen WG, Mohs RC, Davis KL: A new rating scale for Alzheimer's disease. Am J Psychiatry 1984;141:1356–1364.
- 16 Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR: 'Mini-Mental State': A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 1975;12:189–198.
- 17 Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL, Lum O, Huang V, Adey M, Leirer VO: Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: A preliminary report. J Psychiatr Res 1982;17:37–49.
- 18 Warrington EK: Camden Memory Tests. Hove, Psychology Press, 1996.
- 19 Baddeley A, Emslie H, Nimmo-Smith I: Doors and People. Bury St Edmunds, Thames Valley Test Company, 1994.
- 20 Wechsler D: Wechsler Memory Scale Revised. San Antonio, Psychological Corporation, 1987.
- 21 McKenna P, Warrington EK: Testing for nominal dysphasia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1980;43:781–788.
- 22 Bozeat S, Lambon Ralph MA, Patterson K, Garrard P, Hodges JR: Non-verbal semantic impairment in semantic dementia. Neuropsychologia 2000;38:1207–1215.
- 23 Newcombe F: Missile Wounds of the Brain. London, Oxford University Press, 1969.
- 24 SPSS Inc: SPSS for Windows, version 10.0, Chicago.
- 25 Tierney MC, Szalai JP, Snow WG, Fisher RH, Nores A, Nadon G, Dunn E, St George-Hyslop PH: Prediction of probable Alzheimer's disease in memory-impaired patients: A prospective longitudinal study. Neurology 1996;46:661– 665.
- 26 Hodges JR, Patterson K: Is semantic memory consistently impaired early in the course of Alzheimer's disease? Neuroanatomical and diagnostic implications. Neuropsychologia 1995; 33:441–459.

- 27 Damasio AR, Damasio H, Tranel D, Brandt JP: Neural regionalization of knowledge access: Preliminary evidence. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1990;55:1039–1047.
- 28 Hodges JR, Patterson K, Oxbury S, Funnell E: Semantic dementia: Progressive fluent aphasia with temporal lobe atrophy. Brain 1992;115(pt 6):1783–1806.
- 29 Pietrini V, Nertempi P, Vaglia A, Revello MG, Pinna V, Ferro-Milone F: Recovery from herpes simplex encephalitis: Selective impairment of specific semantic categories with neuroradiological correlation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1988;51:1284–1293.
- 30 Sartori G, Job R, Miozzo M, Zago S, Marchiori G: Category-specific form-knowledge deficit in a patient with herpes simplex virus encephalitis. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 1993;15:280– 299.
- Warrington EK, Shallice T: Category specific semantic impairments. Brain 1984;107:829– 854.
- 32 Fowler KS, Saling MM, Conway EL, Semple JM, Louis WJ: Paired associate performance in the early detection of DAT. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2002;8:58–71.
- 33 de Jager CA, Milwain E, Budge M: Early detection of isolated memory deficits in the elderly: The need for more sensitive neuropsychological tests. Psychol Med 2002;32:483–491.
- 34 Huppert FA, Brayne C, Gill C, Paykel ES, Beardsall L: CAMCOG – A concise neuropsychological test to assist dementia diagnosis: Socio-demographic determinants in an elderly population sample. Br J Clin Psychol 1995;34: 529–541.
- 35 Lee A, Rahman S, Hodges JR, Sahakian BJ, Graham KS: Associative and recognition memory for objects in dementia: Implications for diagnosis. Eur J Neurosci, in press.
- 36 Kosunen O, Soininen H, Paljarvi L, Heinonen O, Talasniemi S, Riekkinen PJ Sr: Diagnostic accuracy of Alzheimer's disease: A neuropathological study. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1996;91: 185–193.
- 37 Engler H, Blomqvist G, Bergstrom M, Estrada S, Sandell J, Antoni G, Langstrom B, Nordberg A, Barletta J, Klunk W, Debnath M, Holt D, Wang YM, Huang GF, Mathis C: First human study with a benzothiazole amyloid-imaging agent in Alzheimer's disease and control subjects. Neurobiol Aging 2002;23:1568.

Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;17:42-48

Blackwell/Sahakian/Vesey/Semple/ Robbins/Hodges *Psychological Medicine*, 2002, **32**, 483–491. © 2002 Cambridge University Press DOI: 10.1017/S003329170200524X Printed in the United Kingdom

Early detection of isolated memory deficits in the elderly: the need for more sensitive neuropsychological tests

C. A. DE JAGER,¹ E. MILWAIN AND M. BUDGE

From OPTIMA, Radcliffe Infirmary Trust and University of Oxford Departments of Experimental Psychology and Pharmacology, Oxford

ABSTRACT

Background. Early detection of cognitive decline in the elderly is important because this may precede progression to Alzheimer's disease. The aim of this study was to see whether sensitive neuropsychological tests could identify pre-clinical cognitive deficits and to characterize the cognitive profile of a subgroup with poor memory.

Methods. A neuropsychological test battery was administered to a community-dwelling sample of 155 elderly volunteers who were screened with CAMCOG at enrolment (mean age 74.7 years). The battery included tests of episodic memory, semantic and working memory, language and processing speed.

Results. Episodic memory test *z* scores below 1 s.D. from the cohort mean identified 25 subjects with 'non-robust' memory performance. This group was compared to the remaining 'robust memory' group with a General Linear Model controlling for age, IQ, education and gender. Test performance was significantly different in all tests for episodic and semantic memory, but not in tests for working memory, processing speed and language. CANTAB paired associates learning and spatial recognition tests identified the highest percentages of those in the 'non-robust memory' group. Processing speed partialled out the age effect on memory performance for the whole cohort, but the 'non-robust memory' group's performance was not associated with age or processing speed.

Conclusions. Sensitive neuropsychological tests can detect performance below the norm in elderly people whose performance on MMSE and CAMCOG tests is well within the normal range. Age-related decline in memory performance in a cohort of the elderly may be largely due to inclusion within the cohort of individuals with undetected pre-clinical Alzheimer's disease or isolated memory impairment.

	(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials
INTRODUCTION	
(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials	

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

Predicting Cognitive Decline in Healthy Older Adults

Celeste De Jager, Ph.D. Andrew D. Blackwell, Ph.D. Marc M. Budge, M.D. Barbara J. Sabakian, Ph.D.

Objective: Authors performed a neuropsychological determination of which individuals in a group of community-dwelling, healthy elderly volunteers would develop cognitive decline. Methods: A group of 155 volunteers reporting good memory and thinking participated in a prospective study over 4 years. Authors monitored cognitive functioning and incidence of Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI)/Alzbeimer disease (AD). Results: Baseline assessment revealed a subgroup of participants with deficits in associative learning and naming; subsequent cognitive decline was more precipitous in these individuals, who also showed higher relative risk of MCI/AD. Conclusion: Cognitive measures may be useful in community and clinical dementia screening and applicable for identifying enriched samples for trials of anti-dementia treatments. (Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2005; 13:735-740)

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

Received October 8, 2004; revised December 13, 2004; accepted March 30, 2005. From OPTIMA, University of Oxford, Dept. of Pharmacology, Oxford UK (CDJ), University of Cambridge, School of Clinical Medicine, Dept. of Psychiatry, Addenbrookes Hospital, Cambridge UK (ADB, BJS), and the Dept. of Geriatric Medicine, Australian National University Medical School, Canberra, Australia (MMB). Send correspondence and reprint requests to Barbara J. Sahakian, Ph.D., University of Cambridge, School of Clinical Medicine, Dept. of Psychiatry, Box 189, Addenbrookes Hospital, Cambridge CB2 2QQ, UK.

© 2005 American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

Applied Neuropsychology 1995; 2: 72–78 Printed in Denmark · All rights reserved Copyright © Munksgaard 1995 Applied Neuropsychology ISSN 0908-4282

Computerized delayed matching to sample and paired associate performance in the early detection of dementia

K. S. Fowler^{2,3}, M. M. Saling^{1,3}, E. L. Conway^{2,4}, J. M. Semple⁵, W. J. Louis^{2,4}

Departments of ¹Neuropsychology, ²Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Austin Hospital, ³Psychology, ⁴Medicine, The University of Melbourne, Australia, ⁵ Smith Kline Beecham Research Unit, Harlow, England

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

Key words computerised neuropsychological testing; dementia of the Alzheimer type; discriminant function analysis.

Abstract This study examined the ability of two computerized neuropsychological tests, delayed matching to sample and paired associate learning, to detect early dementia. Three groups of subjects classified by NINCDS-ADRDA criteria and standard neuropsychological tests were studied: normal controls, patients believed to be in early stages of dementia of the Alzheimer type, and a group of questionable dementia subjects who reported memory loss but performed normally on standard measures of cognition. All subjects completed the two computerized tests. The early dementia group performed at a significantly lower level than the other two groups on all standard and computerized measures. A linear discriminant function analysis of the computerized tests classified 100% of the normal controls and 87.5% of the dementia patients into the same groups as standard testing. The majority of questionable dementia subjects were classified as nondemented. The concurrent validity and test-retest reliability of the computerised tests were also investigated. It is suggested that computerized tests are useful when screening for early dementia, and that longitudinal studies are required to evaluate the comparative reliability of the tests.

Applied Neuropsychology, 1995:2:72–78 © Munksgaard, 1995. Accepted May 8, 1995.

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

CORRESPONDENCE: Michael M. Saling, School of Behavioural Sciences, Department of Psychology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria 3052, Australia

72

Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society (1997), **3**, 139–146. Copyright © 1997 INS. Published by Cambridge University Press. Printed in the USA.

Computerized neuropsychological tests in the early detection of dementia: Prospective findings

KYLIE S. FOWLER, 2,3 MICHAEL M. SALING, 1,3 ELIZABETH L. CONWAY, 2,4 JAMES M. SEMPLE, 5 and WILLIAM J. LOUIS 2,4

¹Department of Neuropsychology, Austin Hospital, Heidelberg, Victoria 3084, Australia

²Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Austin Hospital, Heidelberg, Victoria 3084, Australia

³Department of Psychology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria 3052, Australia

⁴Department of Medicine, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria 3052, Australia

⁵Clinical Pharmacology Unit, SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceuticals, Harlow, U.K.

(RECEIVED November 9, 1995; ACCEPTED April 25, 1996)

Abstract

This longitudinal study examines the sensitivity of 2 computerized neuropsychological tests, delayed matching to sample and paired associate learning, to early dementia of the Alzheimer type (DAT). Normal controls, patients in the early stages of DAT, and individuals with questionable dementia (QD) were studied. At 6 and 12 months after initial presentation, almost half of the QD group exhibited lower scores on the computerized subtests, maintaining their scores on standard testing. Over the same period NC subjects maintained their performance levels, while DAT patients continued to deteriorate. Linear discriminant function analyses of the computerized subtests at 6 and 12 months correctly classified 100% of the early DAT patients. Eighty-four and 79 percent of normal controls were correctly classified at 6 and 12 months respectively. Further development of these subtests for the detection of early dementia and the documentation of ongoing change in DAT is warranted. The findings are discussed in terms of the special sensitivity of these tests to the neuropathology of Alzheimer's Disease. (*JINS*, 1997, *3*, 139–146.)

Keywords: Computerized neuropsychological testing, Dementia of the Alzheimer type, Questionable dementia, Discriminant function analysis, Hippocampus




Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society (2002), **8**, 58–71. Copyright © 2002 INS. Published by Cambridge University Press. Printed in the USA. DOI: 10.1017.S1355617701020069

Paired associate performance in the early detection of DAT

KYLIE S. FOWLER, 2,3 MICHAEL M. SALING, 1,3 ELIZABETH L. CONWAY, 2,4 JAMES M. SEMPLE, 5 and WILLIAM J. LOUIS 2,4

¹Department of Neuropsychology, Austin Hospital, Victoria, Australia

²Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Austin Hospital, Victoria, Australia

³Department of Psychology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria, Australia

⁴Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria, Australia

⁵Clinical Pharmacology Unit, SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceuticals, Harlow, UK

(RECEIVED December 10, 1999; REVISED December 4, 2000; ACCEPTED December 5, 2000)

Abstract

Subjects underwent longitudinal neuropsychological assessment in order to retrospectively determine which measures of cognitive function best predicted later development of dementia of the Alzheimer type (DAT). Three groups of subjects were studied: normal controls, patients with early DAT, and questionable dementia subjects (QD). All subjects were assessed using a battery of standard neuropsychological measures and two subtests from the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB), paired associate learning and delayed matching to sample. A structured interview was also used to elicit a profile of the subject's daily functioning. Subjects were assessed every 6 months for 2 years. At the 6 month assessment, almost half of the QD group exhibited significant deterioration in scores on the computerized paired associate learning subtest, while maintaining their scores on standard measures. At the conclusion of the study, all of this QD subgroup fulfilled the NINCDS–ADRDA criteria for probable DAT pertaining to significant cognitive and functional deterioration. Performance on the CANTAB paired associate learning subtest identified the onset of progressive memory deterioration in a subgroup of QD subjects. In almost all cases this was well before significant deterioration was noted on standard neuropsychological measures. Paired associate learning performance may therefore be a valuable tool for the early, preclinical detection and assessment of DAT. (*JINS*, 2002, *8*, 58–71.)

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, Questionable dementia, Neuropsychology, CANTAB, Hippocampus



Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

The NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL of MEDICINE

SPECIAL ARTICLE

Monetary Costs of Dementia in the United States

Michael D. Hurd, Ph.D., Paco Martorell, Ph.D., Adeline Delavande, Ph.D., Kathleen J. Mullen, Ph.D., and Kenneth M. Langa, M.D., Ph.D.

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

From RAND, Santa Monica, CA (M.D.H., P.M., A.D., K.J.M.); the National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA (M.D.H.); the Network for Studies on Pensions, Aging, and Retirement, Tilburg, the Netherlands (M.D.H.); the University of Essex, Essex, United Kingdom (A.D.); and the Division of General Medicine, Veterans Affairs Ann Arbor Center for Clinical Management Research, and the Institute for Social Research and the Institute for Healthcare Policy and Innovation, University of Michigan (K.M.L.) - both in Ann Arbor. Address reprint requests to Dr. Hurd at the Center for the Study of Aging, RAND, 1776 Main St., Santa Monica, CA 90401, or at mhurd@ rand.org.

N Engl J Med 2013;368:1326-34. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMsa1204629 Copyright © 2013 Massachusetts Medical Society. Dementia affects a large and growing number of older adults in the United States. The monetary costs attributable to dementia are likely to be similarly large and to continue to increase.

METHODS

In a subsample (856 persons) of the population in the Health and Retirement Study (HRS), a nationally representative longitudinal study of older adults, the diagnosis of dementia was determined with the use of a detailed in-home cognitive assessment that was 3 to 4 hours in duration and a review by an expert panel. We then imputed cognitive status to the full HRS sample (10,903 persons, 31,936 personyears) on the basis of measures of cognitive and functional status available for all HRS respondents, thereby identifying persons in the larger sample with a high probability of dementia. The market costs associated with care for persons with dementia were determined on the basis of self-reported out-of-pocket spending and the utilization of nursing home care; Medicare claims data were used to identify costs paid by Medicare. Hours of informal (unpaid) care were valued either as the cost of equivalent formal (paid) care or as the estimated wages forgone by informal care-givers.

RESULTS

The estimated prevalence of dementia among persons older than 70 years of age in the United States in 2010 was 14.7%. The yearly monetary cost per person that was attributable to dementia was either \$56,290 (95% confidence interval [CI], \$42,746 to \$69,834) or \$41,689 (95% CI, \$31,017 to \$52,362), depending on the method used to value informal care. These individual costs suggest that the total monetary cost of dementia in 2010 was between \$157 billion and \$215 billion. Medicare paid approximately \$11 billion of this cost.

CONCLUSIONS

Dementia represents a substantial financial burden on society, one that is similar to the financial burden of heart disease and cancer. (Funded by the National Institute on Aging.)

N ENGLJ MED 368;14 NEJM.ORG APRIL 4, 2013

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH to New England Journal of Medicine Downloaded from neim.org on March 17, 2016. For personal use only, we other uses without permission.

EMENTIA, A CHRONIC DISEASE OF AGing characterized by progressive cognitive decline that interferes with independent functioning,¹ affects a large and growing number of older adults in the United States.^{2,3} Citing the growing effect of dementia on patients, families, and the health care and longterm care systems, President Barack Obama signed the National Alzheimer's Project Act into law in January 2011. One goal of the law is to improve the ability of the federal government to track the monetary costs incurred by individuals and public programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, that result from dementia.⁴

Accurately identifying the monetary costs attributable to dementia is challenging. First, persons with dementia are likely to have more coexisting chronic health problems than those without dementia, because they tend to be older and because certain diseases (e.g., stroke and depression) are more common in persons with dementia.5 Thus, adjusting for the presence of these coexisting conditions is important in estimating the costs due to dementia alone, as opposed to the total costs for the population with dementia. Second, informal caregiving, the unpaid care provided by family and friends, in the form of assistance with activities of daily living (ADLs), is an important component of the support required by those with dementia,⁶ yet it is unclear how to attribute a monetary cost to an informal caregiver's time.7

Given the aging of the population and the concomitant rise in the prevalence of dementia, the current uncertainty regarding the costs associated with dementia, and the recent focus of the federal government on developing a coordinated plan to address the growing effects of dementia, we sought to determine its monetary costs in the Health and Retirement Study (HRS).

METHODS

STUDY DESIGN

The HRS is a nationally representative longitudinal survey of persons 51 years of age or older that began in 1992.⁸ Because the HRS lacks a direct measure of dementia status, a subset of 856 HRS respondents underwent a detailed in-home clinical assessment for dementia, 3 to 4 hours in duration, as part of the Aging, Demographics, and

Memory Study (ADAMS), a nationally representative study of dementia in the United States.^{2,9}

We used data on cognition and functional limitations from the HRS survey itself to estimate a three-category, ordered probit model¹⁰ of the probability that an ADAMS respondent had dementia, had cognitive impairment but not dementia, or was aging normally. These data on cognition and functional limitations were available for all HRS respondents, not just the ADAMS respondents. For self-respondents, the HRS assesses cognitive function using a modified version of the Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status (TICS), a validated cognitive screening instrument designed for population-based studies.¹¹⁻¹⁴ For respondents represented by a proxy in the HRS, cognitive function was assessed with the use of the Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IOCODE), a validated instrument consisting of 16 questions that address the respondent's memory and ability to function independently.14,15 See the Supplementary Appendix, available with the full text of this article at NEJM.org, for details on these variables (Table S1 in the Supplementary Appendix) and for additional details on other data, methods, and results.

The HRS assesses whether respondents have limitations in the ability to perform six ADLs (eating, transferring [e.g., from a bed to a chair], toileting, dressing, bathing, and walking across a room) and five instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs; preparing meals, grocery shopping, making telephone calls, taking medications, and managing money).16 We estimated the probability model over the ADAMS subsample using data from prior HRS interviews. To explain cognitive status, we used the variables of age, educational level, sex, ADL limitations, IADL limitations, and scores on TICS items (identification of the current date, backward counting from 20, subtracting by serial 7s, word naming, identification of the current U.S. president, immediate word recall, and delayed word recall) from the HRS interview immediately preceding the ADAMS assessment, and changes in ADL limitations, in IADL limitations, and in scores on TICS items from the two preceding HRS surveys. For HRS respondents represented by a proxy, a similar model was estimated with the use of the IOCODE.

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/b(Dev FDE) and for Medicine of Medicine

The NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL of MEDICINE

To assess the within-sample fit of the model, we assigned a cognitive status of dementia if the fitted probability of dementia was greater than the fitted probability of normal aging or of cognitive impairment but not dementia. On the basis of this assignment, the within-sample fit was good: the specificity for dementia was 89.8% and the sensitivity was 77.9%. Overall, 85.7% of cases were correctly classified. We conducted a further validation by making out-of-sample predictions of dementia status for a subset of ADAMS respondents who were reassessed several years after the initial assessment. On follow-up, progression to dementia was found in 14.9% of respondents; our model predicted 13.9%. We then used this statistical model to estimate the probability of dementia for all HRS respondents older than 70 years of age in five HRS surveys (spanning the period from 2000 through 2008). See the Supplementary Appendix for further analyses of model performance.

MEASURES OF COST OF CARE

Out-of-Pocket Spending

The HRS asks respondents about health care utilization and coverage, and whether they have incurred any out-of-pocket health care expenses for the following services or items: nursing home stays, hospital stays, medical visits, outpatient surgery, home health care, special services (e.g., outpatient rehabilitation), prescription drugs, and dental services. Total annual out-of-pocket spending and spending according to type of care were computed for each year in the study period. All spending measures were converted to 2010 dollars with the use of the medical care Consumer Price Index.

Spending by Medicare

Information on Medicare spending is available for HRS respondents who have agreed to linkage of their Medicare claims records and who were enrolled in fee-for-service plans (approximately 70% percent of persons in our study population). These records have enrollment information and data on total annual payments by Medicare for durable-medical-equipment purchases, skilled nursing-facility care, hospice care, inpatient care, outpatient care, care provided by home health agencies, and care provided by noninstitutional providers of medical care.

Net Nursing Home Spending

We used the self-reported number of nights spent in a nursing home and nightly nursing home fees to estimate total nursing home spending, distinguishing fees according to state of residence and distinguishing between rates paid by Medicaid¹⁷⁻²³ and those paid by other third parties.²⁴ We reduced total nursing home spending by 8% because a portion of nursing home fees cover food and housing; such costs have to be paid whether or not someone has dementia and are therefore not attributable to dementia.

Formal and Informal Home Care

Information on the receipt of in-home assistance by persons with limitations in ADLs or IADLs was used to generate the average number of hours of care provided to persons at home. Caregiving is classified as "informal" when the caregiver is a relative or an unpaid nonrelative with no agency affiliation. All other care, whether obtained through an agency or provided by someone hired directly, is classified as "formal."²⁵ The methods used to calculate total hours of care have been described in earlier work⁶ and are briefly summarized in the Supplementary Appendix.

To estimate the monetary value of formal care, we used 2010 average hourly rates charged by home health agencies in the respondent's state of residence.²⁴ We used two approaches to estimate the monetary cost of informal care. The "replacement cost" approach values care by using the cost of an equivalent service purchased in the market through a home health agency.7 The "forgone wage" approach bases the valuation on the labor-market income forgone because of time spent on caregiving. For employed caregivers, we used the market wages reported by respondents in each HRS survey. Because most caregivers are not employed, we used average wages for persons with similar demographic characteristics (sex and, when reported, age and educational level). To account for the fact that many caregivers are elderly and out of the work force, we scaled down the imputed wages by multiplying by the rate of labor-force participation in the same demographic group, an approach that recognizes that many caregivers would not work even if they were not providing caregiving services. Our method estimates the loss of income and productive services to the market economy.

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov.or.301-796-8118

It does not measure the loss of well-being associated with alternative uses of caregiver time.

ESTIMATION OF THE COST ATTRIBUTABLE TO DEMENTIA

Persons with dementia have more coexisting conditions than those without dementia, conditions that by themselves lead to greater costs. To isolate the costs attributable to dementia, we estimated multivariate regression models that related a given cost component to the imputed probability of dementia, to coexisting conditions (stroke, diabetes, heart disease, hypertension, lung disease, cancer, psychiatric problems, and arthritis), and to demographic characteristics (age, household income, educational level, sex, and marital status). For details of these analyses, see Tables S6 through S10 in the Supplementary Appendix. We interpreted the estimated coefficient for the probability of dementia as the increase in costs associated with a change in the probability of dementia from 0 to 1.0, holding coexisting conditions and demographic characteristics constant.

We estimated two measures of the cost attributable to dementia. The first includes costs for care purchased in the market and is equal to the sum of the estimated increases in cost associated with dementia for out-of-pocket spending, Medicare spending, nursing home spending, and spending on in-home care. These estimates come from the multivariate models discussed above. The second measure adds in the monetary value of time spent by unpaid caregivers that is attributable to dementia, calculated as either the replacement cost or the cost of forgone wages.

RESULTS

PROBABILITY OF DEMENTIA

The average predicted probability of dementia, stratified according to personal and household characteristics, is shown in Table 1. Nonwhite race or ethnic group, female sex, single status, older age, lower educational level, and lower household income were associated with an increased likelihood of dementia (P<0.001 for all comparisons). Persons with one or more limitations in ADLs or IADLs were also more likely to have dementia, as were those who had a history of stroke or who had heart disease or a psychiatric condition (P<0.001 for all comparisons). However, per-

sons who had a history of cancer were less likely to have dementia (P<0.001). The cost implications of these differences in demographic characteristics and coexisting conditions suggest the necessity of accounting for them in attributing costs to dementia.

ESTIMATED COST PER PERSON WITH DEMENTIA

Estimates of the yearly per-person costs attributable to dementia, both with and without adjustment for coexisting conditions and demographic characteristics, are shown in Table 2. Dementia was associated with a cost of \$33,329 for care purchased in the market (95% confidence interval [CI], \$24,223 to \$42,434). That is, someone with a probability of dementia of 1.0 would be expected to incur \$33,329 more in health care costs than someone whose probability of dementia was zero, when costs were aggregated over all payers. Adjustment for coexisting conditions and demographic characteristics reduced the cost estimate to \$28,501 (95% CI, \$20,881 to \$36,122), a reduction of approximately 14%. The adjustments reduced attributable out-of-pocket spending and costs for formal home care and nursing home care by 3 to 18%, but the adjustments reduced attributable Medicare costs by 47%. On the basis of adjusted values, the most important attributable cost was for nursing home care (approximately \$13,900), followed by out-of-pocket spending (approximately \$6,200), formal home care (approximately \$5,700), and Medicare (approximately \$2,700).

The monetary value of informal home care attributable to dementia did not vary substantially when controlled for coexisting conditions and demographic characteristics. However, it varied by a factor of more than 2 when calculated on the basis of the replacement cost as compared with the cost of forgone wages.

After adjustment for coexisting conditions and demographic characteristics, the attributable yearly cost per person, including both the cost of care purchased in the marketplace and the cost of informal care, was \$41,689 (95% CI, \$31,017 to \$52,362) when the valuation of forgone wages was used and \$56,290 (95% CI, \$42,746 to \$69,834) when the valuation of replacement cost was used. Calculating the value of informal home care in terms of forgone wages yielded an estimate of the cost of unpaid caregiving that was

N ENGLJ MED 368;14 NEJM.ORG APRIL 4, 2013

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DDP (2016) For personal use only. No other uses without permission. Downloaded from nejm.org on March 17, 2016. For personal use only. No other uses without permission. Copyright © 2013 Massachusetts Medical Society. All rights reserved. The NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL of MEDICINE

31% of the total cost; calculating the value of age and an annual population cost of \$109 bilinformal home care in terms of the replacement cost yielded an estimate of 49%. age and an annual population cost of \$159 billion to \$215 billion when the estimat-

ESTIMATED TOTAL COSTS

Estimates of the total cost of dementia to the U.S. economy now and in the future are shown in Table 3. To estimate these costs, we combined the adjusted cost per person with dementia shown in Table 2 with prevalence rates from ADAMS and population projections from the U.S. Census. For 2010, this estimation yielded a prevalence of 14.7% in the population older than 70 years of

age and an annual population cost of \$109 billion for care purchased in the market, with a cost of \$159 billion to \$215 billion when the estimated monetary value of informal care was included. By 2040, assuming that prevalence rates and cost per person with dementia remain the same, our estimates suggest that these costs will more than double because of the aging of the population. Although the ability to pay these costs will be ameliorated somewhat by a growing population, they are still expected to increase by 79% when calculated per adult (with adults defined as persons 18 years of age or older).

Table 1. Probability of Dementia According to the Characteristics of the Study Population.*					
Characteristic	Distribution	Probability of Dementia (95% CI)	P Value for Comparison with Reference Group		
	percent				
Race or ethnic group†					
White	86.7	0.097 (0.093–0.101)	Reference group		
Hispanic	4.4	0.168 (0.149–0.187)	<0.001		
Other	8.9	0.184 (0.170–0.199)	<0.001		
Sex					
Female	60.7	0.121 (0.116–0.127)	Reference group		
Male	39.3	0.088 (0.082–0.093)	<0.001		
Marital status					
Married	45.9	0.065 (0.061–0.069)	Reference group		
Unmarried	54.1	0.145 (0.138–0.151)	<0.001		
Age					
71–74 yr	23.3	0.028 (0.026–0.031)	Reference group		
75–79 yr	31.7	0.049 (0.045–0.053)	<0.001		
80–84 yr	24.1	0.130 (0.123–0.137)	<0.001		
85–89 yr	14.2	0.203 (0.192–0.215)	<0.001		
≥90 yr	6.7	0.385 (0.365–0.406)	<0.001		
Educational level					
Less than high-school graduate	32.2	0.159 (0.151–0.167)	Reference group		
High-school graduate	33.1	0.103 (0.096–0.110)	<0.001		
Some college or more	34.7	0.066 (0.060–0.071)	<0.001		
Household income					
<\$15,000	28.3	0.183 (0.174–0.191)	Reference group		
\$15,000-\$29,999	31.8	0.104 (0.098–0.110)	<0.001		
\$30,000–\$44,999	17.4	0.069 (0.063–0.074)	<0.001		
\$45,000–\$59,999	8.7	0.062 (0.054–0.070)	<0.001		
\$60,000–\$74,999	4.6	0.049 (0.041–0.058)	<0.001		
≥\$75,000	9.3	0.041 (0.035–0.046)	<0.001		

N ENGLJ MED 368;14 NEJM.ORG APRIL 4, 2013

Table 1. (Continued.)			
Characteristic	Distribution percent	Probability of Dementia (95% CI)	P Value for Comparison with Reference Group
Limitations in ADLs or IADLs			
No	65.1	0.042 (0.040–0.044)	Reference group
Yes	34.9	0.231 (0.222–0.240)	<0.001
Coexisting conditions			
None	6.4	0.091 (0.079–0.103)	Reference group
Stroke	13.5	0.182 (0.169–0.195)	<0.001
Diabetes	19.1	0.106 (0.099–0.114)	0.602
Heart disease	35.9	0.118 (0.112–0.124)	<0.001
Hypertension	62.3	0.106 (0.102–0.111)	0.235
Lung disease	11.8	0.104 (0.093–0.114)	0.407
Cancer	19.7	0.088 (0.081–0.096)	<0.001
Psychiatric condition	14.6	0.187 (0.174–0.201)	<0.001
Arthritis	69.6	0.107 (0.103–0.112)	0.615

* Data are based on a total of 31,936 person-years. For each characteristic, such as sex and marital status, the probability of dementia was calculated from the regression of the predicted probability of dementia on indicator variables for the categories taken by that characteristic, such as "male" and "female" in the case of sex and "unmarried" and "married" in the case of marital status. P values reflect the null hypothesis that the probability of dementia is the same as that for the reference group. CI denotes confidence interval.

† Race or ethnic group was reported by respondents in the Health and Retirement Study.

DISCUSSION

We used nationally representative data to document comprehensively the incremental increase in costs attributable to dementia that arise from market transactions for goods and services as well as the costs of unpaid caregiving. We found that dementia leads to total annual societal costs of \$41,000 to \$56,000 per case, with a total cost of \$159 billion to \$215 billion nationwide in 2010. Our calculations suggest that the aging of the U.S. population will result in an increase of nearly 80% in total societal costs per adult by 2040.

The main component of the costs attributable to dementia is the cost for institutional and home-based long-term care rather than the costs of medical services — the sum of the costs for nursing home care and formal and informal home care represent 75 to 84% of attributable costs. Our estimate places dementia among the diseases that are the most costly to society. The cost for dementia care purchased in the marketplace (\$109 billion) was similar to estimates of the direct health care expenditures for heart disease (\$96 billion in 2008, or \$102 billion in 2010 dollars) and significantly higher than the direct health care expenditures for cancer (\$72 billion in 2008, or \$77 billion in 2010 dollars).²⁶ These costs do not include the costs of informal care, which are likely to be larger for dementia than for heart disease or cancer.

Although the costs attributable to dementia reported here are large, they are considerably smaller than those reported by the Alzheimer's Association,²⁷ which has estimated that in 2010 the monetary costs alone were \$172 billion (2010 dollars) as compared with our estimate of \$109 billion. There are several reasons for this higher estimate. It is likely that the cost per case reported by the Alzheimer's Association is higher because it was estimated on the basis of a sample from a more severely impaired population (persons identified in the Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey as having dementia). The higher cost is also based on a significantly larger estimate of the prevalence of dementia.27 The national prevalence of dementia used by the Alzheimer's Association is derived from a study of

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID ar CDRH-FOISTATUS Ofda hhs.gov.or.301-796-8118

The NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL of MEDICINE

Table 2. Yearly Cost per Person Attributed to Dementia, in 2010 Dollars.			
Variable	Yearly Cost per Person (95% CI)		
	Unadjusted dolla	Adjusted for Demographic Characteristics and Coexisting Conditions ars	
Care purchased in marketplace			
Total out-of-pocket spending	6,838 (4,854–8,821)	6,194 (4,522–7,866)	
Total Medicare spending	5,226 (3,086–7,365)	2,752 (1,116–4,389)	
Net formal home care	6,888 (4,775–9,000)	5,678 (3,739–7,618)	
Nursing home care (excluding payments by Medicare and out-of-pocket spending)	14,377 (10,016–18,739)	13,876 (9,769–17,983)	
Total	33,329 (24,223–42,434)	28,501 (20,881–36,122)	
Informal home care			
Caregiving time valued according to replacement cost	30,839 (23,578–38,099)	27,789 (21,112–34,466)	
Caregiving time valued according to cost of forgone wages	14,591 (10,910–18,273)	13,188 (9,636–16,740)	
Grand total			
Care purchased in marketplace plus caregiving time valued according to replacement cost	64,168 (48,406–79,928)	56,290 (42,746–69,834)	
Care purchased in marketplace plus caregiving time valued according to cost of forgone wages	47,920 (35,433–60,406)	41,689 (31,017–52,362)	

Table 3. Projected Total and Per-Person Annual Monetary Costs of Dementia in the United States, in 2010 Dollars.*

Cost and Year	Care Purchased in Marketplace	Total Cost According to Valuation of Cost of Informal Care	
		Replacement Cost (95% CI)	Cost of Forgone Wages (95% Cl)
Total cost (billions of \$)			
2010	109 (86–132)	215 (171–259)	159 (126–192)
2020	129 (102–156)	255 (204–306)	189 (150–228)
2030	183 (145–221)	361 (289–434)	267 (212–322)
2040	259 (204–314)	511 (408–615)	379 (300–457)
Total per-person cost (\$)			
2010	464 (416–511)	915 (825–1006)	678 (610–746)
2020	498 (445–550)	983 (882–1083)	728 (652–804)
2030	640 (569–712)	1,264 (1,128–1,400)	936 (833–1,039)
2040	831 (733–929)	1,641 (1,455–1,826)	1,215 (1,074–1,356)

* Confidence intervals, estimated with the use of bootstrapping, account for the sampling error in estimates of the effect of dementia on spending and in the prevalence of dementia but treat population projections as nonrandom. Per-person costs are total population costs divided by the number of persons 18 years of age or older.

three Chicago neighborhoods.²⁸ The diagnostic estimate of the prevalence of dementia in the IADLs (a criterion that was used in ADAMS), a the costs of coexisting conditions.²⁷ factor that probably led to the substantially higher

criteria for dementia used in that study did not Chicago study.²⁹ Finally, the cost estimate from require the presence of a limitation in ADLs or the Alzheimer's Association was not adjusted for

Our analysis has several potential weaknesses.

First, as with all clinical assessments, the ADAMS diagnosis is subject to classification error, but a prior study that validated the ADAMS diagnostic methods with the use of neuropathological findings³⁰ and a meta-analysis of 27 studies of the incidence of dementia³¹ suggest that the ADAMS approach achieves a diagnostic accuracy that is similar to that achieved by a reference standard for clinical evaluation. Second, we imputed dementia status to the entire HRS population rather than obtaining an actual clinical diagnosis for each respondent. Nonetheless, both the within-sample performance of the imputation model and the close correspondence between out-of-sample predictions based on our model and the follow-up assessments in ADAMS increase our confidence in the validity of our model. Furthermore, estimates of out-of-pocket spending based only on the ADAMS clinical assessments were similar to those reported here, but the ADAMS estimates had larger standard errors, reflecting its smaller sample.32 Third, self-reported costs of care may be subject to inaccuracies. Fourth, we were not able to include attributable costs paid by Medigap policies. However, a rough estimate indicates that these costs are small and would not materially change our conclusions. Fifth, the

costs of informal care are a major contributor to costs — vet attribution is difficult. For this reason, we presented a range of estimates. Sixth, regarding our cost forecasts, we assumed that the real cost per case of dementia will remain constant. Although the costs of health care services have increased faster than the rate of inflation, the majority of costs attributable to dementia are related to the informal and formal care provided to address limitations in ADLs and IADLs, and much of that care is provided by low-wage workers. Wages in the lower part of the wage distribution have been stable or have even decreased in real terms, so we believe our assumption is reasonable. Finally, we could not conduct a detailed assessment of attributable costs according to payer because we lacked a linkage to Medicaid records. From the perspective of public policy, such information would be valuable.

The views expressed are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the position or policy of the Department of Veterans Affairs or the U.S. government.

Supported by a grant from the National Institute on Aging (R01AG030155). The Health and Retirement Study is conducted by the Institute for Social Research at the University of Michigan, with grants from the National Institute on Aging (U01 AG09740) and the Social Security Administration.

Disclosure forms provided by the authors are available with the full text of this article at NEJM.org.

REFERENCES

1. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 4th ed., text rev. (DSM-IV-TR). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association, 2000.

2. Plassman BL, Langa KM, Fisher GG, et al. Prevalence of dementia in the United States: the Aging, Demographics, and Memory Study. Neuroepidemiology 2007; 29:125-32.

3. Brookmeyer R, Gray S, Kawas C. Projections of Alzheimer's disease in the United States and the public health impact of delaying disease onset. Am J Public Health 1998;88:1337-42.

4. Draft: national plan to address Alzheimer's disease. Chicago: National Alzheimer's Association, 2012 (http://www.alz .org/documents_custom/National_Plan_ to_Address_Alzheimers.pdf).

5. Barnes DE, Yaffe K. The projected impact of risk factor reduction on Alzheimer's disease prevalence. Lancet Neurol 2011;10:819-28.

6. Langa KM, Chernew M, Kabeto M, et al. National estimates of the quantity and cost of informal caregiving for the elderly with dementia. J Gen Intern Med 2001;16: 770-8.

7. Abraham KG, Mackie C. Home production. In: Abraham KG, Mackie C, eds. Beyond the market: designing nonmarket accounts for the United States. Washington, DC: National Academies Press, 2005: 55-78.

8. Juster F, Suzman R. An overview of the Health and Retirement Study. J Hum Resour 1995;30:Suppl:S7-S56.

9. Langa KM, Plassman BL, Wallace RB, et al. The Aging, Demographics and Memory Study: study design and methods. Neuroepidemiology 2005;25:181-91.

10. Johnston J, DiNardo J. Econometric methods. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1997.
11. Brandt J, Spencer M, Folstein M. The Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status. Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol 1988;1:111-7.

12. Welsh KA, Breitner JCS, Magruder-Habib KM. Detection of dementia in the elderly using the Telephone Screening of Cognitive Status. Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol 1993;6:103-10.

13. Plassman BL, Newman T, Welsh K, Breitner J. Properties of the Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status: application in epidemiological and longitudinal studies. Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol 1994;7:235-41.

14. Ofstedal MB, Fisher GG, Herzog AR. Documentation of cognitive functioning measures in the Health and Retirement Study. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Survey Research Center, 2005 (http:// hrsonline.isr.umich.edu/sitedocs/userg/ dr-006.pdf).

15. Jorm AF. A short form of the Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE): development and cross-validation. Psychol Med 1994;24:145-53. [Erratum, Psychol Med 1995;25:437.]
16. Fonda S, Herzog AR. Documentation of physical functioning measured in the Health and Retirement Study and the Asset and Health Dynamics among the Oldest Old Study. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Survey Research Center, 2004 (http://hrsonline.isr.umich.edu/sitedocs/ userg/dr-008.pdf).

17. The State Long-Term Health Care Sector 2003: characteristics, utilization, and government funding. American Health care Association, 2004 (http://www.ahcancal .org/research_data/trends_statistics/ Documents/State_Long-Term_Health_ Care_Sector_2003.pdf).

18. The State Long-Term Health Care Sector 2004: characteristics, utilization, and government funding. American Health Care Association, 2005 (http://www .ahcancal.org/research_data/trends_ statistics/Documents/State_Long-Term_

Health_Care_Sector_2004.pdf). **19.** BDO Siedman, Eljay, American Health Care Association. A report on shortfalls in Medicaid funding for nursing home

N ENGLJ MED 368;14 NEJM.ORG APRIL 4, 2013

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID 7,2016 For Personal of Medicine Bownloaded from netmorg on March 17,2016 For Personal use only. We officer uses without permission.

care. September 2007 (http://www.ahcancal .org/research_data/funding/Documents/ 2007%20Medicaid%20Shortfall%20Report .pdf).

20. Eljay, American Health Care Association. A report on shortfalls in Medicaid funding for nursing home care. October 2008 (http://www.ahcancal.org/research_ data/funding/Documents/2008%20 Medicaid%20Shortfall%20Report.pdf).

21. Idem. A report on shortfalls in Medicaid funding for nursing home care. November 2009 (http://www.ahcancal.org/ research_data/funding/Documents/ 2009%20Medicaid%20Shortfall%20 Report.pdf).

22. *Idem.* A report on shortfalls in Medicaid funding for nursing home care. December 2010 (http://www.ahcancal.org/research _data/funding/Documents/2010%20 Medicaid%20Shortfall%20Report.pdf).

23. Grabowski DC, Feng Z, Intrator I, Mor V. Recent trends in state nursing home payment policies. Health Aff (Millwood) Suppl Web Exclusives 2004;W4-363– W4-73.

24. Market survey of long-term care costs. Westport, CT: MetLife, 2010 (http://www .metlife.com/assets/cao/mmi/publications/ studies/2010/mmi-2010-market-survey-long -term-care-costs.pdf).

25. Norgard TM, Rodgers WL. Patterns of in-home care among elderly black and white Americans. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 1997;52(Special no.):93-101.

26. Total expenses and percent distribution for selected conditions by type of service: United States, 2008 — Medical Expenditure Panel Survey: household component data. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2012.

27. Alzheimer's Association. 2010 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 2010;6:158-94.

28. Hebert LE, Scherr PA, Bienias JL, Bennett AD, Evans DA. Alzheimer disease in

the US population: prevalence estimates using the 2000 census. Arch Neurol 2003; 60:1119-22.

29. Wilson RS, Weir DR, Leurgans SE, et al. Sources of variability in estimates of the prevalence of Alzheimer's disease in the United States. Alzheimers Dement 2011;7: 74-9.

30. Plassman BL, Khachaturian AS, Townsend JJ, et al. Comparison of clinical and neuropathologic diagnoses of Alzheimer's disease in three epidemiologic samples. Alzheimers Dement 2006;2:2-11.

31. Brookmeyer R, Evans D, Hebert L, et al. National estimates of the prevalence of Alzheimer's disease in the United States. Alzheimers Dement 2011;7:61-73.

32. Delavande A, Hurd MD, Martorell F, Langa KM. Dementia and out-of-pocket spending on health care services. Alzheimers Dement 2013;9:19-29.

Copyright © 2013 Massachusetts Medical Society.

SPECIALTIES AND TOPICS AT NEJM.ORG

Specialty pages at the Journal's website (NEJM.org) feature articles in cardiology, endocrinology, genetics, infectious disease, nephrology, pediatrics, and many other medical specialties. These pages, along with collections of articles on clinical and nonclinical topics, offer links to interactive and multimedia content and feature recently published articles as well as material from the NEJM archive (1812–1989).

Questions Contact FDA/CDR The New Freinard Journal of Medicine Downloaded from nerm.org on March 17, 2016 For personal use only. No other uses without permission.



Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018 NIH Public Access

Author Manuscript

Lancet Neurol. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2010 February 10.

Published in final edited form as:

Lancet Neurol. 2010 January ; 9(1): 119. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70299-6.

Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's

pathological cascade

Clifford R Jack Jr, David S Knopman, William J Jagust, Leslie M Shaw, Paul S Aisen, Michael W Weiner, Ronald C Petersen, and John Q Trojanowski

Department of Radiology (C R Jack Jr MD) and Department of Neurology (D S Knopman MD, R C Petersen MD), Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA; School of Public Health and Helen Wills Neuroscience Institute, University of California, Berkeley, CA, USA (W J Jagust MD); Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, and Institute on Aging, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA (L M Shaw PhD, J Q Trojanowski PhD); Department of Neurosciences, University of California-San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA (P S Aisen MD); and Veterans Affairs and University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA (M W Weiner MD)

Abstract

Currently available evidence strongly supports the position that the initiating event in Alzheimer's disease (AD) is related to abnormal processing of β -amyloid (A β) peptide, ultimately leading to formation of A β plaques in the brain. This process occurs while individuals are still cognitively normal. Biomarkers of brain β -amyloidosis are reductions in CSF A β_{42} and increased amyloid PET tracer retention. After a lag period, which varies from patient to patient, neuronal dysfunction and neurodegeneration become the dominant pathological processes. Biomarkers of neuronal injury and neurodegeneration are increased CSF tau and structural MRI measures of cerebral atrophy. Neurodegeneration is accompanied by synaptic dysfunction, which is indicated by decreased fluorodeoxyglucose uptake on PET. We propose a model that relates disease stage to AD biomarkers in which A β biomarkers become abnormal first, before neurodegenerative biomarkers and cognitive symptoms, and neurodegenerative biomarkers become abnormal later, and correlate with clinical symptom severity.

Introduction

As recently as 2 to 3 decades ago, a compartmentalised model of Alzheimer's disease (AD) was widely accepted. The view at that time was that people either had AD pathological changes, in which case they had dementia, or they did not have such changes and were cognitively

Correspondence to: Clifford R Jack, Department of Radiology, Mayo Clinic, 200 First Street SW, Rochester, MN 55905, USA, jack.clifford@mayo.edu. Contributors

All authors contributed equally to the preparation of this paper.

Conflicts of interest

CRJ is an investigator in clinical trials sponsored by Pfizer and Baxter, and consults for Elan and Lilly. DSK has served on a data and safety monitoring board for Lilly, has been a consultant for GlaxoSmithKline, and receives grant funding for clinical trials by Baxter, Elan, and Forest. WJJ has consulted for Genentech, Synarc, Elan Pharmaceuticals, Ceregene, Schering Plough, Merck & Co, and Lilly. LMS has consulted for Pfizer. PSA has consulted for Elan, Wyeth, Eisai, Neurochem, Schering-Plough, Bristol-Myers-Squibb, Lilly, Neurophase, Merck, Roche, Amgen, Genentech, Abbott, Pfizer, Novartis, and Medivation, has stock options with Medivation and Neurophase, and has received grant support from Pfizer, Baxter, and Neuro-Hitech. MWW has been on the scientific advisory boards for the Alzheimer's Study Group, Bayer Schering Pharma, Lilly, CoMentis, Neurochem, Eisai, Avid, Aegis, Genentech, Allergan, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Forest, Pfizer, McKinsey, Mitsubishi, and Novartis, has received travel funding from Nestlé, honoraria from BOLT International, commercial research support from Merck and Avid, and has stock options in Synarc and Elan. RCP has been a chair, member of the safety monitoring committee, and consultant for Elan, has chaired a data monitoring committee for Wyeth, and has been a consultant for GE Healthcare. JQT has received lecture honoraria from Wyeth, Pfizer, and Takeda.

normal. In the meantime, a revised view of the disease has been developed, in which both AD pathological processes and clinical decline occur gradually, with dementia representing the end stage of many years of accumulation of these pathological changes. An additional feature of the current view of AD is that these changes begin to develop decades before the earliest clinical symptoms occur.

Biomarkers, both chemical and imaging, are indicators of specific changes that characterise AD in vivo. Evidence suggests that these AD biomarkers do not reach abnormal levels or peak simultaneously but do so in an ordered manner. Measurement of these biomarkers in longitudinal observational studies is now commonplace, enabling investigators to establish the correct ordering of the relevant biomarkers and their relationships to clinical symptoms.

For biomarkers of AD to be used effectively for disease staging, the time-dependent ordering of biomarkers must be thoroughly understood. This is particularly true since the introduction of clinical trials of disease-modifying therapies in which disease biomarkers play an increasingly important part both as outcome measures and as inclusion criteria. We will review the five most well validated AD biomarkers. We then propose a hypothetical model of the time-dependent ordering of onset and maxima of these biomarkers. The purpose of this paper is to offer this model as a conceptual construct within which research studies from different disciplines can relate to one another through a common framework. The model suggests a series of testable hypotheses from which a clearer picture of the time-dependent trajectories of AD biomarkers relative to clinical disease stage and to each other can be derived.

AD clinical features and pathological changes

Dementia is the clinically observable result of the cumulative burden of multiple pathological insults in the brain. Most elderly patients with dementia have multiple pathological changes underlying their dementia; however, the most common pathological substrate is AD.^{1,2}

The clinical disease stages of AD have been divided into three phases. First is a presymptomatic phase in which individuals are cognitively normal but some have AD pathological changes. To some extent, labelling these individuals as having pre-symptomatic AD is a hypothesis rather than a statement of fact, because some of these individuals will die without ever expressing clinical symptoms.3⁻⁵ The hypothetical assumption is that an asymptomatic individual with pathological changes that are indicative of AD would ultimately have become symptomatic if he or she lived long enough. Second is a prodromal phase of AD, commonly referred to as mild cognitive impairment (MCI),⁶ which is characterised by the onset of the earliest cognitive symptoms (typically deficits in episodic memory) that do not meet the criteria for dementia. The severity of cognitive impairment in the MCI phase of AD varies from the earliest appearance of memory dysfunction to more widespread dysfunction in other cognitive domains. The final phase in the evolution of AD is dementia, defined as impairments in multiple domains that are severe enough to produce loss of function.

Recent recommendations have suggested redefining research criteria for AD by labelling individuals with memory impairment plus accompanying biomarker evidence of AD as having early AD.⁷ These investigators propose eliminating the distinction between pre-dementia (ie, MCI) and dementia, but this is not uniformly accepted because the label "dementia" serves a practical role in clinical practice. A clinical diagnosis of dementia is a clear indication to both the patient and family that the patient has a disorder that precludes independent living and has a decidedly worse prognosis than do milder forms of cognitive impairment, and implies that he or she is on an inevitable course toward complete loss of independence.

The concept of using biomarkers for early diagnostic purposes has a long history, with many studies showing that AD biomarkers can be used to predict conversion from MCI to AD. These

Page 3

prediction studies show that individuals destined to develop AD can be identified earlier in the disease course by use of the MCI designation with the addition of imaging and CSF biomarkers to enhance diagnostic specificity.^{8–13} However, at present, the clinical diagnosis of AD requires the presence of dementia.¹⁴

A widely accepted assumption is that AD begins with abnormal processing of amyloid precursor protein (APP), which then leads to excess production or reduced clearance of β -amyloid (A β) in the cortex.¹⁵ All known forms of autosomal-dominant AD involve genes that either encode APP itself, or encode protease subunits (PS1 and PS2) that are involved in the cleavage of A β from APP to generate amyloidogenic A β peptides. By unknown mechanisms, but possibly as a result of the toxic effects of A β oligomers,16 one or more forms of A β leads to a cascade characterised by abnormal tau aggregation, synaptic dysfunction, cell death, and brain shrinkage.17

The abnormal protein deposits that characterise AD pathologically are well known: A β plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) formed by hyperphosphorylated tau. Neurodegeneration is as important as these hallmark pathological lesions of AD, and manifests as atrophy, neuron loss, and gliosis, which are routinely noted in research post-mortem examinations. Although the loss of synapses also is highly significant for the clinical manifestations of AD, this is difficult to assess without the use of labour-intensive morphometric methods, so it is not routinely measured in most AD research centres. Neurodegeneration and NFT deposition are both neuronal processes and occur in roughly the same topographic distribution. A β plaques are extracellular and occur in a different, but to some degree overlapping, topographic distribution from NFT and neurodegenerative pathological changes.

Clinical symptoms are more closely related to NFTs than to plaque formation.18,19 However, the most direct pathological substrate of clinical symptoms is neurodegeneration, and most specifically synapse loss.²⁰ Recent autopsy data have confirmed that gross cerebral atrophy (indicating the loss of synapses and neurons), and not A β or NFT burden, is the most proximate pathological substrate of cognitive impairment in AD.⁵

Panel: Imaging and CSF biomarker categories in Alzheimer's disease

Brain Aβ-plaque deposition

- CSF Aβ₁₋₄₂
- PET Aβ imaging

Neurodegeneration

- CSF tau
- Fluorodeoxyglucose-PET
- Structural MRI
- $A\beta = \beta$ -amyloid.

Biomarkers of AD

Biomarkers are variables (physiological, biochemical, anatomical) that can be measured in vivo and that indicate specific features of disease-related pathological changes. We have used the term "biomarker" to denote both imaging and biospecimen (ie, CSF) measures. We will focus on the five most widely studied biomarkers of AD pathology, based on the current literature: decreased CSF $A\beta_{42}$, increased CSF tau, decreased fluorodeoxyglucose uptake on PET (FDG-PET), PET amyloid imaging, and structural MRI measures of cerebral atrophy.

Page 4

Each of these five biomarkers is well validated enough to be used in currently active therapeutic trials and large multisite observational studies. Other potential AD biomarkers are summarised elsewhere,21,22 and are not discussed here. We briefly review the evidence supporting the position that each of these biomarkers is an in vivo indicator of a specific aspect of AD pathology (panel).

Biomarkers of Aβ-plaque deposition

Both CSF A β_{42} and amyloid PET imaging are biomarkers of brain A β plaque deposition. Nearly all patients who have a clinical diagnosis of AD have positive amyloid imaging studies. 23^{-25} Excellent correspondence has been seen between Pittsburgh compound B (PiB) binding and fibrillar A β deposition in the brain (or cerebral vasculature) in most,²⁶,27 but not all,28 patients who have undergone ante-mortem PiB-PET imaging and autopsy. PiB specifically binds to fibrillar A β , and not to soluble A β or to diffuse plaques. $26^{,27}$ Low concentrations of CSF A β^{42} correlate with both the clinical diagnosis of AD and A β neuropathology at autopsy. $^{29-31}$ Nearly 100% concordance is present between abnormally low CSF A β_{42} and positive PiB amyloid imaging findings in patients who have undergone both tests. $^{32-35}$ The evidence therefore strongly supports the notion that both amyloid imaging and low CSF A β_{42} are valid biomarkers of brain A β -plaque load.

Biomarkers of neurodegeneration

CSF tau is an indicator of tau pathological changes and associated neuronal injury. Although phosphotau might be a more specific indicator of AD, concentrations of both phosphotau and total tau increase in AD.³⁶ Increased CSF tau is not specific for AD, but does correlate with clinical disease severity, with higher concentrations associated with greater cognitive impairment in individuals on the normal-MCI-AD cognitive spectrum.³⁷ In general, increases in CSF tau seem to indicate neuronal damage, and are seen in ischaemic and traumatic brain injury.^{38,39} In AD, increased tau in the CSF is thought to occur as a direct result of tau accumulation in neurons, particularly axons; this disrupts neuronal activity and causes release into the extracellular space of cytoskeletal elements, including tau, which then appear in the CSF.40,41 Increased CSF tau correlates with the presence of NFTs at autopsy.⁴² Of note, for reasons that remain elusive, similar increases in CSF tau are not seen in pure tauopathies such as progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP) and corticobasal degeneration (CBD), despite the fact that the brains of patients with CBD often show far more tau accumulation than do the brains of patients with AD at autopsy.^{43,44} This might suggest that extracellular A β plaques have an effect on the clearance of tau released from degenerating neurons in AD, that different species of pathological tau are involved in AD versus CBD and PSP, or that other factors render tau more readily diffusible and less degradable in AD versus CBD and PSP.45

FDG-PET is used to measure net brain metabolism, which, although including many neural and glial functions, largely indicates synaptic activity.^{46,47} Brain glucose metabolism measured with FDG-PET is highly correlated with post-mortem measures of the synaptic structural protein synaptophysin.⁴⁸ In the context of AD, decreased FDG-PET uptake is an indicator of impaired synaptic function. FDG-PET studies in patients with AD show a specific topographic pattern of decreased glucose uptake in a lateral temporal-parietal and posterior cingulate, precuneus distribution.⁴⁹ Correction for cortical atrophy in patients with AD leaves metabolism still diminished.⁵⁰ Greater decreases in FDG uptake correlate with greater cognitive impairment along the continuum from normal cognitive status to MCI to AD dementia.⁵¹ Combined imaging and autopsy studies show good correlation between the antemortem FDG-PET diagnosis of AD and post-mortem confirmation.⁵² In cognitively normal elderly individuals, correlations are seen between decreased FDG-PET uptake and both low CSF Aβ and increased CSF tau.⁵³ Together, these data indicate that FDG-PET uptake is a valid indicator of the synaptic dysfunction that accompanies neurodegeneration in AD.

Page 5

Structural MRI can provide measures of cerebral atrophy, which is caused by dendritic pruning and loss of synapses and neurons.⁵⁴ Volumetric or voxel-based measures of brain atrophy show a strong correlation between the severity of atrophy and the severity of cognitive impairment in patients along the continuum from normal cognitive status to AD dementia.⁵⁵ Thus, rates of neuronal and synaptic loss indicated by the progressive rate of brain atrophy correlate with rates of cognitive decline.⁵⁶ Atrophy on MRI is not specific for AD, but the degree of atrophy correlates well with Braak staging at autopsy.^{57–59} Additionally, the topographic distribution of atrophy on MRI maps well onto Braak's staging of NFT pathology in patients who have undergone ante-mortem MRI and post-mortem AD staging.⁶⁰

Temporal ordering of biomarker abnormalities

A crucial element of biomarker-based staging of AD is the notion of temporal ordering of different biomarkers. The model that we propose, which relates pathological stage to AD biomarkers, is based on a largely biphasic view of disease progression.^{61,62} In this model, biomarkers of A β deposition become abnormal early, before neurodegeneration and clinical symptoms occur. Biomarkers of neuronal injury, dysfunction, and neurodegeneration become abnormal later in the disease. Cognitive symptoms are directly related to biomarkers of neurodegeneration rather than biomarkers of A β deposition. We examine evidence to support these time-dependent assumptions, beginning with evidence that biomarker abnormalities typically precede clinical symptoms.

Biomarker abnormalities precede clinical symptoms

Approximately 20-40% of cognitively normal elderly people have evidence of significant brain Aβ-plaque deposition, either from amyloid imaging or CSF A β_{42} concentrations. $\overline{^{37,63-66}}$ These data on Aß imaging and CSF biomarkers are in agreement with autopsy studies that also show an AD pathological burden sufficient to meet criteria for a diagnosis of AD in roughly the same proportion of cognitively normal elderly individuals.^{3–5} These data support the principle that the presence of Aβ-plaque deposition alone, even in substantial quantities, is not sufficient to produce dementia, and that abnormalities in biomarkers of AB deposition precede clinical/ cognitive symptoms.^{67–71} This principle is clearly illustrated by data from the individual in figure 1B who was cognitively normal with no evidence of atrophy on MRI, but had a highly abnormal PiB study. Calculated rates from serial PiB imaging studies indicate that $A\beta$ -plaque accumulation in individuals destined to become demented might begin as much as two decades before the manifestation of clinical symptoms.⁶² We note that both Aβ deposition and NFTs can be present in individuals with no symptoms. However, the presence of NFTs in asymptomatic individuals tends to be confined to the entorhinal cortex, Braak stage I-II, whereas NFTs in symptomatic individuals are far more widespread.^{3-5,72} By contrast, Aβplaque deposition can be widespread in clinically asymptomatic individuals.

There is strong evidence that MRI, FDG-PET, and CSF tau biomarkers are already abnormal in patients who are in the MCI phase of AD.^{37,51,73–75} Abnormalities in neurodegenerative AD biomarkers also precede the appearance of the first cognitive symptoms. Of the three neurodegenerative biomarkers, evidence that FDG-PET abnormalities precede any cognitive symptoms in individuals who later progress to AD is probably the strongest.^{76,77} However, rates of atrophy on MRI do become abnormal in cognitively normal individuals who later progress to AD.^{8–80} Thus, the available data strongly support the conclusion that abnormalities in both A β and neurodegenerative biomarkers precede clinical symptoms.

Aβ biomarker abnormalities precede neurodegenerative biomarker abnormalities

The rate of MRI atrophy on serial imaging studies is greatest in patients with a clinical diagnosis of AD, least in cognitively normal individuals, and intermediate in those with a clinical

Page 6

diagnosis of MCI. By contrast, rates of change in PiB retention over time are just slightly greater than zero for all these three clinical groups, and do not differ by clinical group.⁶² Thus, in patients who are rapidly declining clinically (ie, patients with AD) MRI rates map well onto simultaneous cognitive deterioration, whereas rates of change in PiB do not.^{62,81} Similarly, CSF AB does not change significantly over time in patients with AD. Rates of brain atrophy correlate well with pathological indices of NFTs and other neurodegenerative changes, but do not correlate with severity of AB deposition at autopsy.82 Cognitively normal individuals with positive A β imaging studies might have normal structural MRI studies, implying that a substantial AB load can accumulate with no immediate effect on gross brain structure or cognition (figure 1).⁸³ In a modelling study inferring cause and effect, Mormino and colleagues⁸⁴ found that the direct substrate of memory impairment was hippocampal atrophy on MRI, and not Aβ deposition as measured by PiB imaging. Frisoni and colleagues⁸⁵ also placed amyloid deposition before MRI changes in the sequence of events. These findings support the conclusion that an abnormality in biomarkers of A β -plaque deposition is an early event that nears a plateau before the appearance of both atrophy on MRI and cognitive symptoms, and remains relatively static thereafter. By contrast, abnormalities in neurodegenerative biomarkers on MRI accelerate as symptoms appear, and then parallel cognitive decline.

Neurodegenerative biomarkers are temporally ordered

Available evidence suggests that FDG-PET changes might precede MRI changes.77,86,87 Up to this point, we have discussed the temporal ordering of AD biomarkers from the perspective of which biomarker becomes abnormal earlier during the progression of AD. However, the order in which the dynamic range of biomarkers approaches its maximum is also relevant to the discussion of biomarker ordering. MRI and CSF tau correlate well with cognition if individuals who span the entire cognitive spectrum (controls, MCI, and AD) are combined. However, among patients with MCI or AD alone, correlations with measures of general cognition are strong with structural MRI, but are not significant with CSF tau.⁸⁸ These data are consistent with studies indicating that CSF tau does not change appreciably over time in cognitively impaired patients.89,90 Furthermore, although both MRI and CSF tau are predictive of future conversion from MCI to AD, the predictive power of structural MRI is greater.91 These findings imply that the correlations between cognition and CSF tau weaken as patients progress into the mid and late stages of the clinical AD spectrum. Conversely, structural MRI measures of atrophy retain a highly significant correlation with observed clinical impairment in both the MCI and dementia phases of AD. Moreover, rates of atrophy on MRI are significantly greater in patients with AD than in cognitively normal elderly individuals.⁹² This body of literature implies that MRI atrophy is a later event in AD progression, preceded by abnormalities in CSF tau and FDG-PET, and that MRI retains a closer correlation with cognitive symptoms later in disease progression than does CSF tau.

Use of biomarkers to stage AD in vivo

Autopsy studies have been, and will continue to be, essential in uncovering the biological basis of the clinical symptoms in AD. However, by definition, autopsy studies are unable to provide clinical–histological correlations during life, when pathological changes actually occur, resulting in an inability to isolate relationships between time-dependent histological changes and clinical/cognitive consequences. This point underlies the value of using biomarkers in the staging of disease.

On the basis of the evidence presented above, we propose the use of specific AD biomarkers for disease staging in vivo. The disease model and biomarker staging are shown in figure 2, which embodies the following set of principles. First, the biomarkers become abnormal in a temporally ordered manner as the disease progresses. Second, $A\beta$ -plaque biomarkers are

dynamic early in the disease, before the appearance of clinical symptoms, and have largely reached a plateau by the time clinical symptoms appear. Third, biomarkers of neuronal injury, dysfunction, and degeneration are dynamic later in the disease and correlate with clinical symptom severity. Fourth, MRI is the last biomarker to become abnormal; however, MRI retains a closer relationship with cognitive performance later into the disease than other biomarkers. ^{88,91} Fifth, none of the biomarkers is static; rates of change in each biomarker change over time and follow a non-linear time course, which we hypothesise to be sigmoid shaped. Non-linearity has been clearly shown in MRI studies, in which atrophy rates accelerate as patients approach clinical dementia.93,94 A sigmoid shape as a function of time implies that the maximum effect of each biomarker varies over the course of disease progression.95 Comprehensive biomarker-based staging of disease in an individual at a given point in time should be possible from measures of the magnitude and slope (ie, rate of change) of several different biomarkers (figure 3). Sixth, anatomical information from imaging biomarkers provides crucial disease-staging information. Similar to NFT accumulation, cerebral atrophy, for example, begins in medial temporal limbic areas and spreads from there to adjacent limbic and paralimbic areas and later to the isocortical association cortex.⁹⁶ Therefore, at a given timepoint, different brain areas will be at different stages. In any given area of an individual's brain there might be an amyloid phase, a neuronal dysfunction phase, etc, and this will occur in an anatomical order (figure 4). This implies an advantage for imaging biomarkers over fluid biomarkers, because imaging can resolve the different phases of the disease both temporally and anatomically. Finally, a feature of this biomarker model of AD is the presence of a lag phase of unknown duration between A β -plaque formation and the neurodegenerative cascade. Between-patient variation in the lag period between AB deposition and the neurodegenerative cascade is probably an indication of differences in Aß processing, in the effects of abnormal Aβ processing on neuronal injury, and differences in brain resilience or cognitive reserve.⁹⁷ Other pathological changes, particularly cerebrovascular, a-synuclein, and TAR DNA-binding protein 43 proteinopathy mechanisms, also contribute significantly to between-individual variations in clinical disease expression.98

Clinical trials

Our proposed model has implications for clinical trials. For example, it is rational to select patients for inclusion in trials of anti-A β therapies on the basis of biomarker evidence of the presence of A β in the brain by use of either amyloid PET imaging or CSF A β_{42} . Although biomarkers of neurodegeneration correlate with clinical and pathological severity, they are not specific for AD and thus should not take precedence over AB biomarkers as inclusion criteria for patients in anti-amyloid therapeutic trials (although an Aβ biomarker might be combined with MRI volumetrics to provide an indication of disease stage). Conversely, change in Aß load over time has little relation to change in cognition in natural history studies. In addition, evidence of therapeutic plaque removal in patients who already have dementia does not seem to correlate with a change in the trajectory of cognitive deterioration (at least, not in every case examined).⁹⁹ Measures of the neurodegenerative portion of the cascade (eg, CSF tau, FDG-PET, or structural MRI) should therefore be used in therapeutic trials as evidence of therapeutic modification of the neurodegenerative aspect of the AD pathological process. Therapeutic modification of the slopes of clinical outcome measures is a common outcome metric used in clinical trials. A consideration in the use of biomarkers as co-primary outcome measures is the fact that the slopes (rates of change over time) of different biomarkers vary over the course of the disease (figure 3). Ultimately, a combination of biomarkers might be needed in clinical trials to select appropriate participants and to follow disease progression.

Caveats

We have attempted to integrate the five most thoroughly validated biomarkers of AD pathology into a model that is supported by currently available data. We have used a best-fit approach, realising that every published observation cannot neatly fit into our (or any other) single idealised model of disease progression. The proposed biomarker model represents a model of typical disease progression. We certainly do not preclude the existence of individual deviations from this generic model.

Page 8

Although we have used the available evidence to support our model relating biomarkers to disease stage in AD, we recognise that some of the proposed relationships take the form of hypotheses rather than statements of fact. For example, although A β imaging and CSF A β are denoted as occurring simultaneously (figure 2, figure 3, and figure 5), it might be that one precedes or plateaus earlier than the other. The same logic applies to the timing relationships between FDG-PET and CSF tau. We have superimposed these curves in the current model not because there is good evidence to suggest that the curves should be identical, but because there is not good evidence at present to show that they are different. We also acknowledge that temporal ordering among the neurodegenerative biomarkers might ultimately differ from that in our proposed model.¹⁰⁰ For example, recent data from Fagan and colleagues⁶⁸ suggest that MRI atrophy might precede increases in CSF tau.

We recognise that well-validated biomarkers do not currently exist for some important features of the disease. This includes reliable chemical biomarkers of specific toxic oligomeric forms of soluble A β and imaging measures of soluble A β or diffuse plaques. We are therefore not in a position to include in our model important mechanistic features such as the role of toxic A boligometric species and the timing of their appearance. The absence of PET ligands that specifically measure the burden of NFTs and other tau abnormalities also constitutes a serious gap in our current armamentarium of imaging biomarkers. Another shortcoming is the absence of a widely accepted biomarker for microglial activation. PET imaging ligands and the magnetic resonance spectroscopy metabolite myo-inositol have been proposed as potential biomarkers of glial activation;^{101,102} however, neither is widely used for this purpose at present. Thus, our biomarker model of disease is just that-a model of the stages of disease that can be assessed with currently validated biomarkers, and not a comprehensive model of all pathological processes in AD. In this context, we acknowledge that all biomarker information about disease is limited by the inevitable filter imposed by detection sensitivity and measurement precision. Clearly, an in vivo measure is unlikely to be as sensitive to the underlying pathology as a detailed autopsy examination would be.

An observation that does not fit our model is that of Braak and Braak,72 who concluded that stage I–II (entorhinal) NFT changes precede isocortical A β changes, leading to the conclusion that NFT accumulation is the initiating event in AD.¹⁰³ However, the following observations contradict this conclusion: (1) the genetics data in early-onset AD, which implicate disordered A β metabolism as the initiating event; (2) the fact that the final pathological picture is identical between late-onset and early-onset AD cases; and (3) the fact that the major genetic risk factor of late-onset AD (*APOE* ε 4) is implicated in disordered trafficking of A β peptide.¹⁰⁴

Observations that will need to be incorporated into future revisions of this model relate to evidence of disordered glucose uptake in cognitively normal young and middle-aged *APOE* £4 carriers up to decades before disease-related clinical symptoms would be expected to appear. ^{105,106} No consensus exists on the interpretation of these observations at this point. These findings could be neurodevelopmental in origin or early indicators of AD.^{107,108}

Conclusions

Our main objective was to provide a framework for hypothesis testing that relates temporal changes in AD biomarkers to clinical disease stage and to each other. The temporal relationships among the biomarkers and with clinical disease stage constitute an array of testable hypotheses. For example, carriers of APOE E4 have an earlier age of onset of dementia than non-carriers, 109 and we hypothesise that APOE $\varepsilon 4$ carriers will have a leftward (earlier in time) shift of both the AB-plaque and neurodegenerative biomarker cascades relative to noncarriers (figure 5).¹¹⁰ We also hypothesise that modifiers of the relationship between A β pathological changes and their downstream effect on cognition might alter the lag time between Aβ-plaque deposition and cognitive decline (figure 5). For example, the cognitive decline curve might shift closer to the A β curve (to the left) in individuals with comorbidities (eg, vascular disease), whereas the cognitive decline curve would shift away from the amyloid curve (to the right) in individuals with enhanced cognitive reserve.⁹⁷ Similarly, as yet undiscovered neuroprotective genes might shift the cognitive decline curve to the right, away from the amyloid curve, whereas genes that amplify the effect of AB dysmetabolism on the neurodegenerative cascade might shift the cognitive decline curve closer to the amyloid curve. For example, recent genome-wide association studies have identified new susceptibility loci involving CR1, CLU, and PICALM genes.111,112 Clusterin (apolipoprotein J) seems to regulate the toxicity and solubility of Aß and might modify its clearance at the blood-brain barrier.111 CR1 might also modify AB clearance.112 PICALM might be related to AD through a role in altering synaptic vesicle cycling or APP endocytosis.111 Finally, we anticipate that other diagnostic modalities (eg, functional MRI connectivity)113-115 will be added to this biomarker staging model as they mature.

Search strategy and selection criteria

References for this paper were identified through searches of PubMed between 1984 and October, 2009, with combinations of the search terms "Alzheimer's disease", "dementia", "MCI", "imaging", "PET", "PiB", "amyloid imaging", "MRI", and "biomarker". Articles were also identified through searches of the authors' own files. Only papers published in English were reviewed.

Acknowledgments

CRJ receives research support from the National Institute on Aging (US National Institutes of Health grant AG11378). DSK and RCP receive National Institute on Aging funding (AG16574 and MCSA AG06786). JQT receives funding from the Alzheimer's Disease Center (AG10124). We thank Nick C Fox and Prashanthi Vemuri for advice, and Denise A Reyes for the figures.

References

- 1. Schneider JA, Arvanitakis Z, Bang W, Bennett DA. Mixed brain pathologies account for most dementia cases in community-dwelling older persons. Neurology 2007;69:2197–2204. [PubMed: 17568013]
- White L, Small BJ, Petrovitch H, et al. Recent clinical-pathologic research on the causes of dementia in late life: update from the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 2005;18:224– 227. [PubMed: 16306244]
- Knopman DS, Parisi JE, Salviati A, et al. Neuropathology of cognitively normal elderly. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2003;62:1087–1095. [PubMed: 14656067]
- 4. Price JL, Morris JC. Tangles and plaques in nondemented aging and "preclinical" Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 1999;45:358–368. [PubMed: 10072051]
- Savva GM, Wharton SB, Ince PG, Forster G, Matthews FE, Brayne C. Age, neuropathology, and dementia. N Engl J Med 2009;360:2302–2309. [PubMed: 19474427]

- 6. Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J Intern Med 2004;256:183–194. [PubMed: 15324362]
- 7. Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, et al. Research criteria for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: revising the NINCDS-ADRDA criteria. Lancet Neurol 2007;6:734–746. [PubMed: 17616482]
- Chetelat G, Desgranges B, de la Sayette V, Viader F, Eustache F, Baron JC. Mild cognitive impairment: can FDG-PET predict who is to rapidly convert to Alzheimer's disease? Neurology 2003;60:1374– 1377. [PubMed: 12707450]
- Jack CR Jr, Petersen RC, Xu YC, et al. Prediction of AD with MRI-based hippocampal volume in mild cognitive impairment. Neurology 1999;52:1397–1403. [PubMed: 10227624]
- Yuan Y, Gu ZX, Wei WS. Fluorodeoxyglucose-positron-emission tomography, single-photon emission tomography, and structural MR imaging for prediction of rapid conversion to Alzheimer disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment; a meta-analysis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2009;30:404–410. [PubMed: 19001534]
- 11. Mattsson N, Zetterberg H, Hansson O, et al. CSF biomarkers and incipient Alzheimer disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment. JAMA 2009;302:385–393. [PubMed: 19622817]
- 12. Jagust WJ, Haan MN, Eberling JL, Wolfe N, Reed BR. Functional imaging predicts cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuroimaging 1996;6:156–160. [PubMed: 8704290]
- Visser PJ, Verhey F, Knol DL, et al. Prevalence and prognostic value of CSF markers of Alzheimer's disease pathology in patients with subjective cognitive impairment or mild cognitive impairment in the DESCRIPA study: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Neurol 2009;8:619–627. [PubMed: 19523877]
- McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM. Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. Neurology 1984;34:939–944. [PubMed: 6610841]
- Hardy J, Selkoe DJ. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. Science 2002;297:353–356. [PubMed: 12130773]
- Klein WL, Stine WB Jr, Teplow DB. Small assemblies of unmodified amyloid beta-protein are the proximate neurotoxin in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 2004;25:569–580. [PubMed: 15172732]
- Oddo S, Caccamo A, Tran L, et al. Temporal profile of amyloid-β (Aβ) oligomerization in an in vivo model of Alzheimer disease. A link between Aβ and tau pathology. J Biol Chem 2006;281:1599– 1604. [PubMed: 16282321]
- Gomez-Isla T, Hollister R, West H, et al. Neuronal loss correlates with but exceeds neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 1997;41:17–24. [PubMed: 9005861]
- Bennett DA, Schneider JA, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Arnold SE. Neurofibrillary tangles mediate the association of amyloid load with clinical Alzheimer disease and level of cognitive function. Arch Neurol 2004;61:378–384. [PubMed: 15023815]
- 20. Terry RD, Masliah E, Salmon DP, et al. Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. Ann Neurol 1991;30:572–580. [PubMed: 1789684]
- Hampel H, Burger K, Teipel SJ, Bokde AL, Zetterberg H, Blennow K. Core candidate neurochemical and imaging biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement 2008;4:38–48. [PubMed: 18631949]
- Shaw LM, Korecka M, Clark CM, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ. Biomarkers of neurodegeneration for diagnosis and monitoring therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2007;6:295–303. [PubMed: 17347655]
- Klunk WE, Engler H, Nordberg A, et al. Imaging brain amyloid in Alzheimer's disease with Pittsburgh compound-B. Ann Neurol 2004;55:306–319. [PubMed: 14991808]
- 24. Rowe CC, Ng S, Ackermann U, et al. Imaging beta-amyloid burden in aging and dementia. Neurology 2007;68:1718–1725. [PubMed: 17502554]
- 25. Edison P, Archer HA, Hinz R, et al. Amyloid, hypometabolism, and cognition in Alzheimer disease: an [¹¹C]PIB and [¹⁸F]FDG PET study. Neurology 2007;68:501–508. [PubMed: 17065593]
Jack et al.

- Ikonomovic MD, Klunk WE, Abrahamson EE, et al. Post-mortem correlates of in vivo PiB-PET amyloid imaging in a typical case of Alzheimer's disease. Brain 2008;131:1630–1645. [PubMed: 18339640]
- 27. Bacskai BJ, Frosch MP, Freeman SH, et al. Molecular imaging with Pittsburgh compound B confirmed at autopsy: a case report. Arch Neurol 2007;64:431–434. [PubMed: 17353389]
- Rosen RF, Ciliax BJ, Wingo TS, et al. Deficient high-affinity binding of Pittsburgh compound B in a case of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2009 published online Aug 19. DOI:10.1007/ s00401-009-0583-3.
- Clark CM, Xie S, Chittams J, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau and beta-amyloid: how well do these biomarkers reflect autopsy-confirmed dementia diagnoses? Arch Neurol 2003;60:1696–1702. [PubMed: 14676043]
- Strozyk D, Blennow K, White LR, Launer LJ. CSF Aβ 42 levels correlate with amyloidneuropathology in a population-based autopsy study. Neurology 2003;60:652–656. [PubMed: 12601108]
- Schoonenboom NS, van der Flier WM, Blankenstein MA, et al. CSF and MRI markers independently contribute to the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 2008;29:669–675. [PubMed: 17208336]
- Fagan AM, Mintun MA, Mach RH, et al. Inverse relation between in vivo amyloid imaging load and cerebrospinal fluid Aβ₄₂ in humans. Ann Neurol 2006;59:512–519. [PubMed: 16372280]
- Jagust WJ, Landau SM, Shaw LM, et al. Relationships between biomarkers in aging and dementia. Neurology 2009;73:1193–1199. [PubMed: 19822868]
- Grimmer T, Riemenschneider M, Forstl H, et al. Beta amyloid in Alzheimer's disease: increased deposition in brain is reflected in reduced concentration in cerebrospinal fluid. Biol Psychiatry 2009;65:927–934. [PubMed: 19268916]
- Tolboom N, van der Flier WM, Yaqub M, et al. Relationship of cerebrospinal fluid markers to ¹¹C-PiB and ¹⁸F-FDDNP binding. J Nucl Med 2009;50:1464–1470. [PubMed: 19690025]
- 36. Buerger K, Ewers M, Pirttila T, et al. CSF phosphorylated tau protein correlates with neocortical neurofibrillary pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Brain 2006;129:3035–3041. [PubMed: 17012293]
- Shaw LM, Vanderstichele H, Knapik-Czajka M, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker signature in Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative subjects. Ann Neurol 2009;65:403–413. [PubMed: 19296504]
- Hesse C, Rosengren L, Andreasen N, et al. Transient increase in total tau but not phospho-tau in human cerebrospinal fluid after acute stroke. Neurosci Lett 2001;297:187–190. [PubMed: 11137759]
- Ost M, Nylen K, Csajbok L, et al. Initial CSF total tau correlates with 1-year outcome in patients with traumatic brain injury. Neurology 2006;67:1600–1604. [PubMed: 17101890]
- 40. Arai H, Terajima M, Miura M, et al. Tau in cerebrospinal fluid: a potential diagnostic marker in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 1995;38:649–652. [PubMed: 7574462]
- 41. Blennow K, Wallin A, Agren H, Spenger C, Siegfried J, Vanmechelen E. Tau protein in cerebrospinal fluid: a biochemical marker for axonal degeneration in Alzheimer disease? Mol Chem Neuropathol 1995;26:231–245. [PubMed: 8748926]
- 42. Tapiola T, Overmyer M, Lehtovirta M, et al. The level of cerebrospinal fluid tau correlates with neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Neuroreport 1997;8:3961–3963. [PubMed: 9462474]
- Bian H, Van Swieten JC, Leight S, et al. CSF biomarkers in frontotemporal lobar degeneration with known pathology. Neurology 2008;70:1827–1835. [PubMed: 18458217]
- 44. Grossman M, Farmer J, Leight S, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid profile in frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 2005;57:721–729. [PubMed: 15852395]
- Ballatore C, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ. Tau-mediated neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 2007;8:663–672. [PubMed: 17684513]
- 46. Schwartz WJ, Smith CB, Davidsen L, et al. Metabolic mapping of functional activity in the hypothalamo-neurohypophysial system of the rat. Science 1979;205:723–725. [PubMed: 462184]
- 47. Attwell D, Laughlin SB. An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2001;21:1133–1145. [PubMed: 11598490]

Jack et al.

- Rocher AB, Chapon F, Blaizot X, Baron JC, Chavoix C. Resting-state brain glucose utilization as measured by PET is directly related to regional synaptophysin levels: a study in baboons. Neuroimage 2003;20:1894–1898. [PubMed: 14642499]
- Jagust W, Reed B, Mungas D, Ellis W, Decarli C. What does fluorodeoxyglucose PET imaging add to a clinical diagnosis of dementia? Neurology 2007;69:871–877. [PubMed: 17724289]
- 50. Ibanez V, Pietrini P, Alexander GE, et al. Regional glucose metabolic abnormalities are not the result of atrophy in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 1998;50:1585–1593. [PubMed: 9633698]
- Minoshima S, Giordani B, Berent S, Frey KA, Foster NL, Kuhl DE. Metabolic reduction in the posterior cingulate cortex in very early Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 1997;42:85–94. [PubMed: 9225689]
- Hoffman JM, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Hanson M, et al. FDG PET imaging in patients with pathologically verified dementia. J Nucl Med 2000;41:1920–1928. [PubMed: 11079505]
- Petrie EC, Cross DJ, Galasko D, et al. Preclinical evidence of Alzheimer changes: convergent cerebrospinal fluid biomarker and fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography findings. Arch Neurol 2009;66:632–637. [PubMed: 19433663]
- Bobinski M, de Leon MJ, Wegiel J, et al. The histological validation of post mortem magnetic resonance imaging-determined hippocampal volume in Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 2000;95:721–725. [PubMed: 10670438]
- Jack CR Jr, Petersen RC, O'Brien PC, Tangalos EG. MR-based hippocampal volumetry in the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 1992;42:183–188. [PubMed: 1734300]
- Fox NC, Scahill RI, Crum WR, Rossor MN. Correlation between rates of brain atrophy and cognitive decline in AD. Neurology 1999;52:1687–1689. [PubMed: 10331700]
- 57. Jack CR Jr, Dickson DW, Parisi JE, et al. Antemortem MRI findings correlate with hippocampal neuropathology in typical aging and dementia. Neurology 2002;58:750–757. [PubMed: 11889239]
- Silbert LC, Quinn JF, Moore MM, et al. Changes in premorbid brain volume predict Alzheimer's disease pathology. Neurology 2003;61:487–492. [PubMed: 12939422]
- 59. Braak H, Braak E. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol 1991;82:239–259. [PubMed: 1759558]
- Whitwell JL, Josephs KA, Murray ME, et al. MRI correlates of neurofibrillary tangle pathology at autopsy: a voxel-based morphometry study. Neurology 2008;71:743–749. [PubMed: 18765650]
- Ingelsson M, Fukumoto H, Newell KL, et al. Early Aβ accumulation and progressive synaptic loss, gliosis, and tangle formation in AD brain. Neurology 2004;62:925–931. [PubMed: 15037694]
- Jack CR Jr, Lowe VJ, Weigand SD, et al. Serial PIB and MRI in normal, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: implications for sequence of pathological events in Alzheimer's disease. Brain 2009;132:1355–1365. [PubMed: 19339253]
- 63. Mintun MA, Larossa GN, Sheline YI, et al. [¹¹C]PIB in a nondemented population: potential antecedent marker of Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2006;67:446–452. [PubMed: 16894106]
- Aizenstein HJ, Nebes RD, Saxton JA, et al. Frequent amyloid deposition without significant cognitive impairment among the elderly. Arch Neurol 2008;65:1509–1517. [PubMed: 19001171]
- 65. Peskind ER, Li G, Shofer J, et al. Age and apolipoprotein E*4 allele effects on cerebrospinal fluid beta-amyloid 42 in adults with normal cognition. Arch Neurol 2006;63:936–939. [PubMed: 16831961]
- 66. Bouwman FH, Schoonenboom NS, Verwey NA, et al. CSF biomarker levels in early and late onset Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 2009;30:1895–1901. [PubMed: 18403055]
- Fagan AM, Roe CM, Xiong C, Mintun MA, Morris JC, Holtzman DM. Cerebrospinal fluid tau/betaamyloid(42) ratio as a prediction of cognitive decline in nondemented older adults. Arch Neurol 2007;64:343–349. [PubMed: 17210801]
- 68. Fagan AM, Head D, Shah AR, et al. Decreased cerebrospinal fluid Aβ (42) correlates with brain atrophy in cognitively normal elderly. Ann Neurol 2009;65:176–183. [PubMed: 19260027]
- 69. Li G, Sokal I, Quinn JF, et al. CSF tau/Aβ₄₂ ratio for increased risk of mild cognitive impairment: a follow-up study. Neurology 2007;69:631–639. [PubMed: 17698783]

Jack et al.

- Gustafson DR, Skoog I, Rosengren L, Zetterberg H, Blennow K. Cerebrospinal fluid beta-amyloid 1–42 concentration may predict cognitive decline in older women. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2007;78:461–464. [PubMed: 17098843]
- Stomrud E, Hansson O, Blennow K, Minthon L, Londos E. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers predict decline in subjective cognitive function over 3 years in healthy elderly. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2007;24:118–124. [PubMed: 17622715]
- 72. Braak H, Braak E. Frequency of stages of Alzheimer-related lesions in different age categories. Neurobiol Aging 1997;18:351–357. [PubMed: 9330961]
- Chetelat G, Desgranges B, De La Sayette V, Viader F, Eustache F, Baron JC. Mapping gray matter loss with voxel-based morphometry in mild cognitive impairment. Neuroreport 2002;13:1939–1943. [PubMed: 12395096]
- 74. Ewers M, Buerger K, Teipel SJ, et al. Multicenter assessment of CSF-phosphorylated tau for the prediction of conversion of MCI. Neurology 2007;69:2205–2212. [PubMed: 18071141]
- 75. Sluimer JD, Bouwman FH, Vrenken H, et al. Whole-brain atrophy rate and CSF biomarker levels in MCI and AD: a longitudinal study. Neurobiol Aging. 2008 published online Aug 7. DOI:10.1016/ j neurobiolaging.2008.06.016.
- 76. de Leon MJ, Convit A, Wolf OT, et al. Prediction of cognitive decline in normal elderly subjects with 2-[¹⁸F]fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose/poitron-emission tomography (FDG/PET). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:10966–10971. [PubMed: 11526211]
- 77. Jagust W, Gitcho A, Sun F, Kuczynski B, Mungas D, Haan M. Brain imaging evidence of preclinical Alzheimer's disease in normal aging. Ann Neurol 2006;59:673–681. [PubMed: 16470518]
- Fox NC, Warrington EK, Rossor MN. Serial magnetic resonance imaging of cerebral atrophy in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 1999;353:2125. [PubMed: 10382699]
- 79. Jack CR Jr, Shiung MM, Gunter JL, et al. Comparison of different MRI brain atrophy rate measures with clinical disease progression in AD. Neurology 2004;62:591–600. [PubMed: 14981176]
- 80. Kaye JA, Swihart T, Howieson D, et al. Volume loss of the hippocampus and temporal lobe in healthy elderly persons destined to develop dementia. Neurology 1997;48:1297–1304. [PubMed: 9153461]
- Engler H, Forsberg A, Almkvist O, et al. Two-year follow-up of amyloid deposition in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Brain 2006;129:2856–2866. [PubMed: 16854944]
- Josephs KA, Whitwell JL, Ahmed Z, et al. Beta-amyloid burden is not associated with rates of brain atrophy. Ann Neurol 2008;63:204–212. [PubMed: 17894374]
- Jack CR Jr, Lowe VJ, Senjem ML, et al. ¹¹C PiB and structural MRI provide complementary information in imaging of Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment. Brain 2008;131:665–680. [PubMed: 18263627]
- Mormino EC, Kluth JT, Madison CM, et al. Episodic memory loss is related to hippocampal-mediated beta-amyloid deposition in elderly subjects. Brain 2009;132:1310–1323. [PubMed: 19042931]
- Frisoni GB, Lorenzi M, Caroli A, Kemppainen N, Nagren K, Rinne JO. In vivo mapping of amyloid toxicity in Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2009;72:1504–1511. [PubMed: 19398705]
- De Santi S, de Leon MJ, Rusinek H, et al. Hippocampal formation glucose metabolism and volume losses in MCI and AD. Neurobiol Aging 2001;22:529–539. [PubMed: 11445252]
- 87. Reiman EM, Uecker A, Caselli RJ, et al. Hippocampal volumes in cognitively normal persons at genetic risk for Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 1998;44:288–291. [PubMed: 9708558]
- Vemuri P, Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, et al. MRI and CSF biomarkers in normal, MCI, and AD subjects: diagnostic discrimination and cognitive correlations. Neurology 2009;73:287–293. [PubMed: 19636048]
- Sunderland T, Wolozin B, Galasko D. Longitudinal stability of CSF tau levels in Alzheimer patients. Biol Psychiatry 1999;46:750–755. [PubMed: 10494442]
- 90. Bouwman FH, van der Flier WM, Schoonenboom NS, et al. Longitudinal changes of CSF biomarkers in memory clinic patients. Neurology 2007;69:1006–1011. [PubMed: 17785669]
- 91. Vemuri P, Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, et al. MRI and CSF biomarkers in normal, MCI, and AD subjects: predicting future clinical change. Neurology 2009;73:294–301. [PubMed: 19636049]

- 92. Fox NC, Freeborough PA. Brain atrophy progression measured from registered serial MRI: validation and application to Alzheimer's disease. J Magn Reson Imaging 1997;7:1069–1075. [PubMed: 9400851]
- 93. Chan D, Janssen JC, Whitwell JL, et al. Change in rates of cerebral atrophy over time in early-onset Alzheimer's disease: longitudinal MRI study. Lancet 2003;362:1121–1122. [PubMed: 14550701]
- 94. Ridha BH, Barnes J, Bartlett JW, et al. Tracking atrophy progression in familial Alzheimer's disease: a serial MRI study. Lancet Neurol 2006;5:828–834. [PubMed: 16987729]
- Wahlund LO, Blennow K. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers for disease stage and intensity in cognitively impaired patients. Neurosci Lett 2003;339:99–102. [PubMed: 12614904]
- 96. Whitwell JL, Przybelski SA, Weigand SD, et al. 3D maps from multiple MRI illustrate changing atrophy patterns as subjects progress from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. Brain 2007;130:1777–1786. [PubMed: 17533169]
- 97. Stern Y. Cognitive reserve and Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2006;20:S69–S74. [PubMed: 16917199]
- 98. Nelson PT, Abner EL, Schmitt FA, et al. Modeling the association between 43 different clinical and pathological variables and the severity of cognitive impairment in a large autopsy cohort of elderly persons. Brain Pathol. 2008 published online Nov 19. DOI:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2008.00244.x.
- Holmes C, Boche D, Wilkinson D, et al. Long-term effects of Aβ₄₂ immunisation in Alzheimer's disease: follow-up of a randomised, placebo-controlled phase I trial. Lancet 2008;372:216–223. [PubMed: 18640458]
- 100. Petersen RC. Alzheimer's disease: progress in prediction. Lancet Neurol 2010;9:4–5. [PubMed: 20083022]
- 101. Edison P, Archer HA, Gerhard A, et al. Microglia, amyloid, and cognition in Alzheimer's disease: an [¹¹C](R)PK11195-PET and [¹¹C]PIB-PET study. Neurobiol Dis 2008;32:412–419. [PubMed: 18786637]
- 102. Ross BD, Bluml S, Cowan R, Danielsen E, Farrow N, Tan J. In vivo MR spectroscopy of human dementia. Neuroimaging Clin N Am 1998;8:809–822. [PubMed: 9769343]
- 103. Duyckaerts C, Hauw JJ. Prevalence, incidence and duration of Braak's stages in the general population: can we know? Neurobiol Aging 1997;18:362–369. 89–92. [PubMed: 9380250]
- 104. Corder EH, Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, et al. Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science 1993;261:921–923. [PubMed: 8346443]
- 105. Reiman EM, Chen K, Alexander GE, et al. Functional brain abnormalities in young adults at genetic risk for late-onset Alzheimer's dementia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004;101:284–289. [PubMed: 14688411]
- 106. Scarmeas N, Habeck CG, Stern Y, Anderson KE. APOE genotype and cerebral blood flow in healthy young individuals. JAMA 2003;290:1581–1582. [PubMed: 14506116]
- 107. Ghebremedhin E, Schultz C, Braak E, Braak H. High frequency of apolipoprotein E ε4 allele in young individuals with very mild Alzheimer's disease-related neurofibrillary changes. Exp Neurol 1998;153:152–155. [PubMed: 9743577]
- 108. Reiman EM, Chen K, Liu X, et al. Fibrillar amyloid-beta burden in cognitively normal people at 3 levels of genetic risk for Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106:6820–6825. [PubMed: 19346482]
- 109. Roses AD. Apolipoprotein E affects the rate of Alzheimer disease expression: beta-amyloid burden is a secondary consequence dependent on APOE genotype and duration of disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1994;53:429–437. [PubMed: 8083686]
- Drzezga A, Grimmer T, Henriksen G, et al. Effect of APOE genotype on amyloid plaque load and gray matter volume in Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2009;72:1487–1494. [PubMed: 19339712]
- 111. Harold D, Abraham R, Hollingworth P, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and PICALM associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet 2009;41:1088–1093. [PubMed: 19734902]
- 112. Lambert JC, Heath S, Even G, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and CR1 associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet 2009;41:1094–1099. [PubMed: 19734903]

- 113. Buckner RL, Snyder AZ, Shannon BJ, et al. Molecular, structural, and functional characterization of Alzheimer's disease: evidence for a relationship between default activity, amyloid, and memory. J Neurosci 2005;25:7709–7717. [PubMed: 16120771]
- 114. Sperling RA, Laviolette PS, O'Keefe K, et al. Amyloid deposition is associated with impaired default network function in older persons without dementia. Neuron 2009;63:178–188. [PubMed: 19640477]
- 115. Buckner RL, Sepulcre J, Talukdar T, et al. Cortical hubs revealed by intrinsic functional connectivity: mapping, assessment of stability, and relation to Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 2009;29:1860– 1873. [PubMed: 19211893]



Figure 1. Illustration of biomarker staging of Alzheimer's disease

Three elderly individuals are placed in order from left to right by use of our proposed biomarker staging scheme. (A) A cognitively normal individual with no evidence of A β on PET amyloid imaging with PiB and no evidence of atrophy on MRI. (B) A cognitively normal individual who has no evidence of neurodegenerative atrophy on MRI, but has significant A β deposition on PET amyloid imaging. (B) An individual who has dementia and a clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease, a positive PET amyloid imaging study, and neurodegenerative atrophy on MRI. A β = β -amyloid. PiB=Pittsburgh compound B.





Figure 2. Dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade

A β is identified by CSF A β_{42} or PET amyloid imaging. Tau-mediated neuronal injury and dysfunction is identified by CSF tau or fluorodeoxyglucose-PET. Brain structure is measured by use of structural MRI. A β = β -amyloid. MCI=mild cognitive impairment.

Jack et al.

Page 18



Figure 3. Staging Alzheimer's disease with dynamic biomarkers

Disease stage based on biomarkers is described by the magnitude of the biomarker abnormality and its rate of change at a given point in time (*t*). This is illustrated by the following terms: A (*t*)=magnitude of the A β plaque biomarker at time *t*; S^A(*t*)=slope of the A β plaque function at time *t*; N(*t*)=tau-mediated neuron injury at time *t*; S^N(*t*)=slope of N(*t*); M(*t*)=MRI at time *t*; S^M(*t*)=slope of M(*t*). A β = β -amyloid.





Figure 4. Anatomical imaging information

For simplicity in other figures, imaging biomarkers have been shown as individual curves. However, anatomical variation exists in the time courses within each imaging mode. For example, in FDG-PET, one would expect abnormalities to appear in the following order: precuneus/posterior cingulate, lateral temporal, and frontal lobe much later. Similarly, in structural MRI, one would expect abnormalities to appear in the following order: medial temporal, lateral temporal, and frontal lobe later. FGD=fluorodeoxyglucose.



Figure 5. Modulators of biomarker temporal relationships

(A,B) Relative to a fixed age (here, 65 years), the hypothesised effect of *APOE* ϵ 4 is to shift β -amyloid plaque deposition and the neurodegenerative cascade both to an earlier age compared with ϵ 4 non-carriers. (C) The hypothesised effect of the presence of different diseases and genes on cognition: C⁻=cognition in the presence of comorbidities (eg, Lewy bodies or vascular disease) or risk amplification genes; C⁺=cognition in patients with enhanced cognitive reserve or protective genes; C₀=cognition in individuals without comorbidity or enhanced cognitive reserve.



HHS Public Access

JAMA. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2015 June 30.

Published in final edited form as:

JAMA. 2015 May 19; 313(19): 1924-1938. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.4668.

Prevalence of Cerebral Amyloid Pathology in Persons Without Dementia:

A Meta-analysis

Corresponding Author: Willemijn J. Jansen, MSc, Department of Psychiatry and Neuropsychology, School for Mental Health and Neuroscience, Alzheimer Center Limburg, Maastricht University, PO Box 616, 6200 MD, Maastricht, the Netherlands (willemijn.jansen@maastrichtuniversity.nl) and Pieter Jelle Visser, MD, PhD (pj.visser@maastrichtuniversity.nl).. ARTICLE INFORMATION

Authors/Amyloid Biomarker Study Group members include the byline authors as well as the following individuals: Pauline Aalten, PhD; Dag Aarsland, MD, PhD; Daniel Alcolea, MD; Myriam Alexander, PhD; Ina S. Almdahl, MD; Steven E. Arnold, MD; Inês Baldeiras, PhD; Henryk Barthel, MD, PhD; Bart N. M. van Berckel, MD, PhD; Kristen Bibeau, PhD; Kaj Blennow, MD, PhD; David J. Brooks, MD, PhD; Mark A. van Buchem, MD, PhD; Vincent Camus, MD, PhD; Enrica Cavedo, MSc; Kewei Chen, PhD; Gael Chetelat, PhD; Ann D. Cohen, PhD; Alexander Drzezga, MD, PhD; Sebastiaan Engelborghs, MD, PhD; Anne M. Fagan, PhD; Tormod Fladby, MD, PhD; Adam S. Fleisher, MD, MAS; Wiesje M. van der Flier, PhD; Lisa Ford, MD; Stefan Förster, MD, PhD; Juan Fortea, PhD; Nadia Foskett, MD, PhD; Kristian S. Frederiksen, MD, PhD; Yvonne Freund-Levi, MD, PhD; Giovanni B. Frisoni, MD; Lutz Froelich, MD, PhD; Tomasz Gabryelewicz, MD, PhD; Kiran Dip Gill, PhD; Olymbia Gkatzima, MSc; Estrella Gómez-Tortosa, MD, PhD; Mark Forrest Gordon, MD; Timo Grimmer, MD, PhD; Harald Hampel, MD, PhD; Lucrezia Hausner, MD, PhD; Sabine Hellwig, MD; Sanna-Kaisa Herukka, MD, PhD; Helmut Hildebrandt, PhD; Lianna Ishihara, PhD; Adrian Ivanoiu, MD, PhD; WilliamJ. Jagust, MD; Peter Johannsen, MD, PhD; Ramesh Kandimalla, PhD; Elisabeth Kapaki, MD, PhD; Aleksandra Klimkowicz-Mrowiec, MD, PhD; William E. Klunk, MD, PhD; Sebastian Köhler, PhD; Norman Koglin, PhD; Johannes Kornhuber, MD; Milica G. Kramberger, MD, PhD; Koen Van Laere, MD, PhD, DrSc; Susan M. Landau, PhD; Dong Young Lee, MD, PhD; Mony de Leon, EdD; Viviana Lisetti, MSc; Alberto Lleó, MD, PhD; Karine Madsen, MD, PhD; Wolfgang Maier, MD, PhD; JanMarcusson, MD, PhD; Niklas Mattsson, MD, PhD; Alexandre de Mendonça, MD, PhD; Olga Meulenbroek, PhD; Philipp T. Meyer, MD, PhD; Mark A. Mintun, MD, MD; Vincent Mok, MD; José Luis Molinuevo, MD, PhD; Hanne M. Møllergård, PhD; John C. Morris, MD; Barbara Mroczko, MD, PhD; Stefan Van derMussele, PhD; Duk L. Na, MD, PhD; Andrew Newberg, MD, PhD; Agneta Nordberg, MD, PhD; Arto Nordlund, PhD; Gerald P. Novak, MD; George P. Paraskevas, MD, PhD; Lucilla Parnetti, MD, PhD; Gayan Perera, PhD; Oliver Peters, MD; Julius Popp, MD; Sudesh Prabhakar, MD, PhD; Gil D. Rabinovici, MD; Inez H. G. B. Ramakers, PhD; Lorena Rami, MSc; Catarina Resende de Oliveira, MD, PhD; Juha O. Rinne, MD, PhD; Karen M. Rodrigue, PhD; Eloy Rodríguez-Rodríguez, MD, PhD; Catherine M. Roe, PhD; Uros Rot, MD, PhD; Christopher C. Rowe, MD, PhD; Eckart Rüther, MD, PhD; Osama Sabri, MD, PhD; Páscual Sanchez-Juan, MD, PhD; Isabel Santana, MD, PhD; Marie Sarazin, MD, PhD; Johannes Schröder, MD, PhD; Christin Schütte, MSc; Sang W. Seo, MD, PhD; Femke Soetewey, MSc; Hilkka Soininen, MD, PhD; Luiza Spiru, MD, PhD; Hanne Struyfs, MSc; Charlotte E. Teunissen, PhD; Magda Tsolaki, MD, PhD; Rik Vandenberghe, MD, PhD; Marcel M. Verbeek, PhD; Victor L. Villemagne, MD, PhD; Stephanie J. B. Vos, PhD; Linda J. C. vanWaalwijk van Doorn, MSc; Gunhild Waldemar, MD, DMsc; Anders Wallin, MD, PhD; Åsa K. Wallin, MD, PhD; Jens Wiltfang, MD, PhD; David A. Wolk, MD; Marzena Zboch, MD, PhD; Henrik Zetterberg, MD, PhD.

Supplemental content at jama.com

Author Affiliations: Author affiliations are listed at the end of this article.

Authors/Group Information: Members of the Amyloid Biomarker Study Group are listed at the end of the article.

Author Contributions: Ms Jansen and Dr Visser had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Study concept and design Jansen, Ossenkoppele, Verhey, Visser.

Acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data All authors.

Drafting of the manuscript Jansen, Visser.

Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: All authors.

Statistical analysis Jansen, Knol, Visser.

Administrative, technical, or material support All authors.

Study supervision Visser.

Conflict of Interest Disclosures: All authors have completed and submitted the ICMJE Form for Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest.

Disclaimer: Any views expressed in this publication represent the personal opinions of the authors and not those of their respective employers.

Correction: This article was corrected online May 19, 2015, to fix curves in Figure 3C.

Willemijn J. Jansen, MSc, Rik Ossenkoppele, PhD, Dirk L. Knol, PhD, Betty M. Tijms, PhD, Philip Scheltens, MD, PhD, Frans R. J. Verhey, MD, PhD, Pieter Jelle Visser, MD, PhD, and Amyloid Biomarker Study Group

Department of Psychiatry and Neuropsychology, School for Mental Health and Neuroscience, Alzheimer Center Limburg, Maastricht University, Maastricht, the Netherlands (Jansen, Verhey, Visser); Department of Neurology and Alzheimer Center, VU University Medical Center, Neuroscience Campus Amsterdam, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (Ossenkoppele, Tijms, Scheltens, Visser); Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, VU University Medical Center, Neuroscience Campus Amsterdam, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (Ossenkoppele); Department of Neurology, Memory and Aging Center, University of California, San Francisco (Ossenkoppele); Helen Wills Neuroscience Institute, University of California, Berkeley (Ossenkoppele); Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (Knol)

Abstract

IMPORTANCE—Cerebral amyloid- β aggregation is an early pathological event in Alzheimer disease (AD), starting decades before dementia onset. Estimates of the prevalence of amyloid pathology in persons without dementia are needed to understand the development of AD and to design prevention studies.

OBJECTIVE—To use individual participant data meta-analysis to estimate the prevalence of amyloid pathology as measured with biomarkers in participants with normal cognition, subjective cognitive impairment (SCI), or mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

DATA SOURCES—Relevant biomarker studies identified by searching studies published before April 2015 using the MEDLINE and Web of Science databases and through personal communication with investigators.

STUDY SELECTION—Studies were included if they provided individual participant data for participants without dementia and used an a priori defined cutoff for amyloid positivity.

DATA EXTRACTION AND SYNTHESIS—Individual records were provided for 2914 participants with normal cognition, 697 with SCI, and 3972 with MCI aged 18 to 100 years from 55 studies.

MAIN OUTCOMES AND MEASURES—Prevalence of amyloid pathology on positron emission tomography or in cerebrospinal fluid according to AD risk factors (age, apolipoprotein E [*APOE*] genotype, sex, and education) estimated by generalized estimating equations.

RESULTS—The prevalence of amyloid pathology increased from age 50 to 90 years from 10% (95% CI, 8%-13%) to 44% (95% CI, 37%-51%) among participants with normal cognition; from 12% (95% CI, 8%-18%) to 43% (95% CI, 32%-55%) among patients with SCI; and from 27% (95% CI, 23%-32%) to 71% (95% CI, 66%-76%) among patients with MCI. *APOE*- ϵ 4 carriers had 2 to 3 times higher prevalence estimates than noncarriers. The age at which 15% of the participants with normal cognition were amyloid positive was approximately 40 years for *APOE* ϵ 4¢ carriers, 50 years for ϵ 2 ϵ 4 carriers, 55 years for ϵ 3 ϵ 4 carriers, 65 years for ϵ 3 ϵ 3 carriers. Amyloid positivity was more common in highly educated participants but not associated with sex or biomarker modality.

CONCLUSIONS AND RELEVANCE—Among persons without dementia, the prevalence of cerebral amyloid pathology as determined by positron emission tomography or cerebrospinal fluid findings was associated with age, *APOE*genotype, and presence of cognitive impairment. These findings suggest a 20- to 30-year interval between first development of amyloid positivity and onset of dementia.

Alzheimer disease (AD) is the most common cause of dementia, with a worldwide prevalence of about 25 million in 2010, expected to be doubled by 2030 because of increased life expectancy.¹ The earliest recognizable pathological event in AD is cerebral amyloid- β aggregation.² This pathology may be present up to 20 years before the onset of dementia.^{3,4} Novel research criteria for AD in individuals without dementia emphasize the presence of amyloid pathology to define the first stage of the disease.^{5,6}

Prevalence estimates of amyloid pathology in persons without dementia are needed to better understand the development of AD and to facilitate the design of AD prevention studies. Initiation of treatment for AD in the predementia phase, when neuronal damage is still limited, may be crucial to have clinical benefit.⁷ Neuropathological studies have reported prevalences of amyloid pathology in nondemented individuals ranging between 10% and 60%.^{8,9} Studies that assessed amyloid pathology in nondemented individuals during life using biomarkers in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) or on positron emission tomography (PET) also showed large variability in prevalence estimates (10%-70%).¹⁰⁻¹³ This variability may have resulted from small sample sizes, differences in study design, and participant selection.

The aim of this study was to estimate the prevalence of amyloid pathology as assessed by biomarkers in nondemented individuals with an individual participant metaanalysis. We estimated the prevalence in participants with normal cognition, subjective cognitive impairment (SCI), and mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and investigated the relation with known risk factors for AD-type dementia, including age, sex, education, and *APOE* genotype. We also tested the association of biomarker modality and recruitment strategies with prevalence estimates and compared age-specific estimates of amyloid positivity in participants with normal cognition with the prevalence of AD-type dementia in the general population.

Methods

To identify relevant biomarker studies, the MEDLINE and Web of S c ience databases were searched for studies published before April 2015. The search terms used for PET studies were *PET* and (*Pittsburgh* or *PiB* or *florbetapir* or *AV-45* or *florbetaben* or *flutemetamol*) and (*amyloid* or *abeta*). The search terms used for CSF studies were (*CSF* or *cerebrospinal fluid*) and (*amyloid* or *abeta*). Titles and abstracts were reviewed and relevant studies were retrieved. Searches were restricted to articles published in the English language. Studies were included if amyloid biomarker data for participants without dementia were reported and an a priori defined cutoff for amyloid abnormality was used. Studies that included participants with neurological, psychiatric, or other diseases that might affect the central nervous system were excluded. We also asked partners from 2 European multicenter

Page 4

collaborative projects, BIOMARKAPD and EMIF-AD, to provide unpublished data (Figure 1).

As most published studies did not provide prevalence estimates according to age and other risk factors, we asked study contact persons to provide participant-level data or tabulated data according to 10-year age categories and unpublished data if available. Tabulated data were converted to participant-level data with the average age in the age category. The quality of primary articles from each study was systematically assessed using relevant criteria from the STROBE¹⁴ and QUADAS¹⁵ guidelines (eTable 1 in the Supplement). All participants gave written informed consent to participate. Studies were approved by the local ethics committees of the participating centers.

Data Collection and Operationalization

Information on study procedures was extracted from the publication or requested from the study contact person and used to create a common set of variables.

Cognitive Status, *APOE*, **Sex, and Education**—Normal cognition was defined as normal scores on cognitive tests, the absence of cognitive complaints for which medical help was sought, or both. Subjective cognitive impairment was defined as presence of a cognitive complaint with presentation at a health care facility but normal cognition on tests. Mild cognitive impairment was defined according to published criteria.^{16,17} These include a decline in memory or another cognitive domain reported by the patient, informant, or both and objectively verified by neuropsychological testing, in combination with no or minimal impairment in activities of daily living and not meeting criteria for dementia. Mild cognitive impairment was subclassified as amnestic MCI or nonamnestic MCI when possible. Information on *APOE*- ε 4 carrier status (yes/no), *APOE* genotype, and years of education was retrieved. To describe the association of *APOE* genotype with age, we reported for each genotype the age at which 15% of the participants with normal cognition were amyloid positive as a proxy for first appearance of abnormal amyloid.

Setting and Recruitment—The study setting was classified as clinical if patients presented with cognitive complaints at a health care facility; research if patients were asked to participate in research by recruitment through advertisements or from other hospital departments; population-based if a random sample of the general population was included; or mixed if participants were recruited from a combination of settings.

Amyloid Assessment—Measurement details documented included amyloid tracer and assessment via visual scales or quantitative measures for PET studies and assay used to measure amyloid- β_{1-42} levels for CSF studies. Positron emission tomography and CSF biomarkers were dichotomized as negative (normal) or positive (abnormal) according to study-specific cutoffs. (See eTables 2 and 3 in the Supplement for measurement details.) For participants who had both PET and CSF amyloid measures, we selected the first amyloid measure in time.

Comparison With Prevalence of AD-Type Dementia—Age- and *APOE*-specific prevalence data of AD-type dementia were obtained through a meta-analysis or from

published lifetime risk data for AD-type dementia¹⁸ as described in the eMethods in the Supplement.

Number Needed to Screen—To use the prevalence estimates in selecting participants at risk for amyloid positivity for AD prevention studies, numbers needed to screen to identify 1 amyloid-positive participant were calculated as described in the footnote of eTable 6 in the Supplement.

Statistical Analysis

We conducted a meta-analysis with individual participant data, in which original research data were sought directly from study contact persons, combined, and reanalyzed centrally. Generalized estimating equations (GEEs) were used to estimate the prevalence and odds ratios (ORs). Generalized estimating equations allow for analysis of binary correlated data such that participant-level data on the prevalence from all studies could be modeled while simultaneously accounting for the clustering of participants within studies. We assumed a logit link function for binary outcome with an exchangeable correlation structure to account for within-study correlation. Analyses were performed using SPSS version 20.0 (IBM) with the genlin command. They were conducted using the total study population unless specified otherwise.

The main analyses were performed with cognitive status (normal cognition, SCI, MCI), age, sex, education, and *APOE*- ϵ 4 genotype as independent variables. Age was entered as a continuous measure centered at the median. Educational level was dichotomized at the median (high, \geq 14 years, vs moderate to low, <14 years). Secondary analyses tested associations with biomarker modality, MCI subtype, published vs unpublished studies, setting, and recruitment strategy while adjusting for cognitive status, age, and *APOE*- ϵ 4 carrier status. We tested 2-way and 3-way interactions between variables and age as a quadratic term, and these were retained in the equation in case of a significant Wald statistic as indicated in table footers and figure legends. Analyses were repeated using natural cubic splines with knots at ages 50, 60, 70, and 80 years, but this did not improve the model. Estimated probabilities and 95% confidence intervals from the GEE analyses were used in tables. Probabilities estimated by GEE were compared with the observed probabilities in 5-year age groups.

The extent of between-study variability was investigated in several ways. In the total sample, the random intercept variance related to study was estimated in a random-effects analysis with the independent variables age, APOE- ε 4 carrier status, cognitive status, and interactions using the xtmelogit function from Stata version 12.0 (Stata-Corp). This variance was expressed as an intraclass correlation coefficient. In diagnostic and APOE subgroups, heterogeneity within 5-year age strata was assessed with the I^2 statistic¹⁹ from a random-effects meta-analysis in Stata version 12.0. An I^2 statistic value greater than 50% was considered indicative for substantial heterogeneity.¹⁹ Center variability across the age range was visualized by plotting the prevalence for studies with more than 50 participants.

Significance level was set at P < .05 in 2-sided tests, uncorrected for multiple comparisons. When associations changed after correcting for multiple comparisons with the Bonferroni

Page 6

method, this was mentioned in the text or table. R version 3.1.2 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) and GraphPad Prism version 6.0 (GraphPad Software) were used for graphs with estimated probabilities and 95% confidence intervals from the GEE analyses.

Results

The literature search resulted in 7578 publications; amyloid was assessed by PET in 890 and by CSF in 6688. From these, 599 were selected for full-text review. We identified 47 studies from the European multicenter projects (Figure 1). A total of 91 unique studies met inclusion criteria; the authors of 55 studies agreed to share data. Contact persons from 54 studies provided participant-level data and 1 provided tabulated data (n = 137). Of the 36 studies for which contact persons refused or did not reply, 31 were selected through the literature search and 5 from the European multicenter studies. Characteristics of the 31 excluded published studies did not differ from those of the 55 included studies (eTable 4 in the Supplement).

Study Characteristics

Of the selected studies, 45 were single-center and 10 were multicenter studies. (eTable 5 in the Supplement shows detailed study information.) Forty-one studies provided data for participants with normal cognition, 20 for patients with SCI, and 47 for patients with MCI. Of the MCI studies, 8 classified patients with MCI as amnestic MCI or nonamnestic MCI, 10 studies only included patients with amnestic MCI, and all other studies used a broad MCI definition or did not specify MCI subtype. Information on *APOE*- ε 4 carrier status was provided by 41 studies and information on *APOE* genotype by 37 studies. All studies but 1 specified the sex of the participants. Information on years of education was available from 44 studies. Studies contributing data for participants with normal cognition were performed in a research setting in 95% (n = 39, selection through advertisements in 15, from hospitals in 10, and from other or unknown sources in 14) and a mixed setting in 5% (n = 2). Forty-six of the studies (98%) that included patients with SCI or MCI were performed in a clinical setting.

Amyloid-PET data were provided by 29 studies. Of these, 22 studies used [¹¹ C]Pittsburgh compound-B (PiB), 9 [¹⁸F]florbetapir, 2 [¹⁸F]florbetaben, and 1 [¹⁸F]flutemetamol, including 5 that used multiple tracers. Eleven studies assessed the PET images by visual scales whereas 16 studies used quantitative assessment and 2 studies used both methods. Cerebrospinal fluid amyloid- β_{1-42} data were provided by 31 studies. The Innotest enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (Fujirebio Europe) was used for CSF analysis in 29 studies and the xMAP Luminex assay in 2 studies. Two studies (1111 participants) provided data on both PET and CSF amyloid measures. Primary studies were assessed with the quality rating c riteria, and typic ally met all c riteria, although bias could not be assessed in 37 publications and participant flow remained unclear in 2 publications (eTable 1 in the Supplement).

Participant Characteristics

We included 7583 participants from 55 studies, of whom 2914 (38%) had normal cognition, 697 (9%) SCI, and 3972 (52%) MCI. Amyloid positivity was assessed with PET for 2370 participants (31%; 1346 normal cognition, 35 SCI, 989 MCI) and with CSF for 5213 participants (69%; 1568 normal cognition, 662 SCI, 2983 MCI). Baseline characteristics according to cognitive status are shown in Table 1. Participants with missing *APOE* data did not differ in amyloid positivity and sex from participants with *APOE* data but more often had limited education (63%) compared with participants who had these data available (48%, $\chi = 62.5$, P < .001). Participants with missing sex or education data did not differ in amyloid positivity, sex or education, and *APOE*- ε 4 carrier status from participants with these data.

Prevalence of Amyloid Positivity

Estimated probabilities of amyloid positivity according to cognitive status, *APOE*- ε 4 status, and age are displayed in **Figure 2**, **Figure 3**A and B, and **Table 2**. Observed prevalence estimates are shown in **Table 3**. The difference between the observed and predicted prevalence rates was less than 10% in more than 90% of the comparisons indicating good model fit. Amyloid positivity was about twice as common in patients with MCI compared with participants with normal cognition (mean difference, 25% [95% CI, 22% to 28%]; *P* < .001) or SCI (mean difference, 23% [95% CI, 14% to 32%]; *P* < .001), while it did not differ between participants with normal cognition and SCI (mean difference, 2% [95% CI, -6% to 10%]; *P* = .62). Amyloid positivity increased with age in all diagnostic groups.

APOE-ɛ4 carriers had 10% to 40% higher absolute prevalence estimates than noncarriers in each diagnostic group (Table 2, Figure 3A and B). At the median age of 70 years, the prevalence estimates were different between all *APOE* genotypes in participants with normal cognition, except for those of the ɛ2ɛ4 and ɛ3ɛ4 genotypes, which did not differ from each other (mean difference ɛ4ɛ4 vs ɛ3ɛ4, 38% [95% CI, 22% to 53%]; P < .001, vs ɛ2ɛ4, 28% [95% CI, 7% to 49%]; P = .008, vs ɛ3ɛ3, 60% [95% CI, 44% to 75%]; P < .001, vs ɛ2ɛ3, 73% [95% CI, 58% to 87%]; P < .001; mean difference ɛ3ɛ4 vs ɛ2ɛ4, 9% [95% CI, -1% to 20%]; P = .08, vs ɛ3ɛ3, 22% [95% CI, 18% to 26%]; P < .001, vs ɛ2ɛ3, 35% [95% CI, 29% to 40%]; P < .001; mean difference ɛ3ɛ4 vs ɛ3ɛ3, sv ɛ2ɛ3, 13% [95% CI, 31% to 57%]; P < .001; mean difference ɛ3ɛ3 vs ɛ2ɛ3, 13% [95% CI, 8% to 17%]; P < .001) (Figure 3C).

After correction for multiple comparisons, $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 4$ and $\varepsilon 4\varepsilon 4$ showed no statistically significant difference (P = .08). None of the 10 participants with $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 2$ were amyloid positive. *APOE* genotype was associated with the age at onset of amyloid positivity. For example, the age at which 15% of the participants with normal cognition were amyloid positive was approximately 40 years for $\varepsilon 4\varepsilon 4$ carriers, 50 years for $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 4$ carriers, 55 years for $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 4$ carriers, 65 years for $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 3$ carriers, and 95 years for $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 3$ carriers. In patients with SCI, prevalence of amyloid pathology according to *APOE* genotype was similar to participants with normal cognition in all age groups (mean difference, 1% [95% CI, -11% to 12%]; P = . 92). In patients with MCI, the prevalence differed between genotypes at the median age of 70 years, while again the $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 4$ and $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 4$ genotypes was not statistically significant (mean

JAMA. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2015 June 30.

Author Manuscript

Page 8

difference $\varepsilon 4\varepsilon 4$ vs $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 4$, 23% [95% CI, 17% to 29%]; P < .001, vs $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 4$, 33% [95% CI, 14% to 51%]; P = .001, vs $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 3$, 54% [95% CI, 47% to 60%]; P < .001, vs $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 3$, 64% [95% CI, 57% to 71%]; P < .001; mean difference $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 4$ vs $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 4$, 10% [95% CI, -9% to 28%]; P = .31, vs $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 3$, 31% [95% CI, 25% to 37%]; P < .001, vs $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 3$, 41% [95% CI, 34% to 48%]; P < .001; mean difference $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 4$ vs $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 3$, 21% [95% CI, -1% to 43%]; P = .06, vs $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 3$, 31% [95% CI, 9% to 53%]; P = .005; mean difference $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 3$ vs $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 3$, 10% [95% CI, 6% to 14%]; P < .001) (Figure 3D).

Patients with MCI and the APOE $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 2$ genotype were not included in the analysis because of the small sample size (n = 5, of whom 1 was amyloid positive). The prevalence of amyloid pathology in patients with MCI at age 70 years was 89% (95% CI, 81%-94%) for $\varepsilon 4\varepsilon 4$ carriers, 66% (95% CI, 60%-72%) for $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 4$ carriers, 57% (95% CI, 35%-76%) for $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 4$ carriers, 35% (95% CI, 31%-40%) for $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 3$ carriers, and 25% (95% CI, 19%-32%) for $\varepsilon 2\varepsilon 3$ carriers. **Table 4** shows the ORs for amyloid positivity of the *APOE* genotypes relative to the $\varepsilon 3\varepsilon 3$ genotype at age 70 years for participants with normal cognition and MCI.

The prevalence of amyloid pathology at the mean age was 5% higher (95% CI, 1% to 8%; P = .005) in participants with an education above the median (n = 2530) than in those with education below the median (n = 2415) regardless of cognitive status, age, and *APOE*- ε 4 carrier status (eFigure 1 in the Supplement). There was no significant association with or interaction between sex and any of the risk factors for amyloid positivity (mean difference, 1% [95% CI, -1% to 3%]; P = .52).

Comparison With Prevalence of AD-Type Dementia

The age-related increase in amyloid positivity in participants with normal cognition paralleled age-specific AD-type dementia prevalence estimates, with an intervening period of about 20 years (**Figure 4**A). Similarly, *APOE* genotype–specific estimates of amyloid positivity paralleled *APOE* genotype–specific lifetime risks of AD-type dementia with a difference of 25 to 30 years (Figure 4B).

Number Needed to Screen

The numbers of participants needed to screen (NNS) to identify 1 amyloid-positive person are displayed according to age, cognitive status, and *APOE* genotype in eTable 6 in the Supplement. The NNS varied from 1.0 (95% CI, 1.0-1.1), for persons with normal cognition or MCI who were older than 70 years with the *APOE* $\varepsilon 4\varepsilon 4$ genotype, to 16.7 (95% CI, 11.1-25.0), for persons with normal cognition aged 50 years without an *APOE*- $\varepsilon 4$ allele. If *APOE* genotype is unknown, participants need to be screened for this first. The number of participants for whom *APOE* genotyping needs to be performed to find 1 participant with that particular *APOE* genotype who is amyloid positive varied between 3.5 (95% CI, 2.8-4.3), for persons with normal cognition aged 90 years without an *APOE*- $\varepsilon 4$ allele, to 89.6 (95% CI, 64.5-129.0), for persons with normal cognition aged 50 years with the *APOE* $\varepsilon 4\varepsilon 4$ genotype.

Assessment of Study-Related Heterogeneity

In the total study population, the intraclass correlation coefficient for study-related random intercept variance was 0.085, indicating minor heterogeneity among studies. Within age, *APOE*- ε 4, and diagnostic subgroups, heterogeneity was not substantial according to the *I*² statistic, except for 2 of 54 subgroups (50%-60% in age group 65-69 years of SCI *APOE*- ε 4 carriers and in age group 75-79 years of MCI *APOE*- ε 4 noncarriers) (eTable 7 in the Supplement).

Visual inspection of variability in prevalence estimates across age in studies with at least 50 participants also indicated that between-study variability was small (eFigure 2 in the Supplement).

Post Hoc Analyses

The biomarker used to assess amyloid positivity was not associated with prevalence (mean difference, 0% [95% CI, -7% to 8%]; P = .87) for participants with normal cognition or MCI (n = 6885). Patients with SCI were excluded because amyloid was measured with PET in only 5% of participants. While adjusting for *APOE*- ε 4 carrier status and age, amyloid prevalence at the mean age was higher in patients with amnestic MCI (n = 1405) than in patients with nonamnestic MCI (n = 225, 58% [95% CI, 48% to 67%] vs 47% [95% CI, 35% to 60%], mean difference, 11% [95% CI, 0% to 21%]; P = .03) and higher in patients with nonamnestic MCI than in participants with normal cognition (n = 2289, mean difference, 15% [95% CI, 2% to 28%]; P = .03). The prevalence did not differ between amnestic MCI (n = 1405) and MCI patients diagnosed using a broad or unspecified definition of MCI (n = 1487, mean difference, 3% [95% CI, -6% to 13%]; P = .51). Prevalence estimates did not differ for published and unpublished studies (eTable 8 in the Supplement). The prevalence in participants with normal cognition recruited via advertisements (n = 1868) was similar to that of participants recruited from hospital departments (n = 305, mean difference, 4% [95% CI, -13% to 21%]; P = .96).

Discussion

This amyloid biomarker study including individuals without dementia provides prevalence estimates of amyloid pathology over an age range of 18 to 100 years for persons with normal cognition, SCI, and MCI. The age at onset of amyloid positivity was associated with cognitive status and the *APOE* genotype. At age 90 years, about 40% of the *APOE*- ϵ 4 noncarriers and more than 80% of *APOE*- ϵ 4 carriers with normal cognition were amyloid positivity was associated with education but not with sex or biomarker modality. The age-related prevalence of amyloid positivity in participants with normal cognition paralleled the age-related prevalence of AD-type dementia in the general population in an *APOE* genotype–specific way with a time lag of 20 to 30 years.

Patients with MCI had 20% to 30% higher prevalence estimates of amyloid positivity than those with normal cognition or SCI, supporting the view that MCI is a risk state for AD.¹⁶ Cognitively normal and SCI groups did not differ in amyloid positivity, suggesting that the presence of SCI in a memory clinic population might not be associated with an increased

Page 10

risk for AD. Previous studies in other settings showed inconsistent results regarding differences in amyloid positivity between cognitively normal and SCI participants,^{20,21} indicating that further research is needed on this. Patients with nonamnestic MCI had lower prevalence estimates of amyloid positivity than patients with amnestic MCI but higher than participants with normal cognition. This suggests that both amnestic MCI and nonamnestic MCI are associated with an increased risk for AD and that this risk is higher for patients with amnestic MCI. The observation that a substantial number of patients with MCI were not amyloid positive, even at older age, suggests that the MCI phenotype does not always have AD as underlying pathology. Possible non-AD causes in MCI may be hippocampal sclerosis, mild depression, or vascular damage.

Age was a risk factor for amyloid positivity, which is in line with the finding that age is an important risk factor for postmortem amyloid load²² and for AD-type dementia,²³ as also shown in Figure 4A. The prevalence of amyloid positivity in participants with normal cognition aged 50 to 60 years was somewhat higher than found in an earlier population-based study that was not included in our analysis.²⁴ This could relate to differences in recruitment strategy and assessment.

Relative to the *APOE*- ε 3 allele, the *APOE*- ε 4 risk allele was associated with a greater risk for amyloid positivity and de creased age at onset, while the *APOE*- ε 2 allele had the opposite associations. This is similar to the relation of *APOE* genotype with the risk for ADtype dementia and age at onset of AD-type dementia as reported in clinical studies^{25,26} and the *APOE* genotype–specific lifetime risk for AD as shown in Figure 4B. The high prevalence of amyloid positivity in participants with normal cognition and MCI with ε 2 ε 4 in the present study indicates that the detrimental relation of amyloid positivity with ε 4 outweighs the protective association with ε 2, in line with clinical AD studies.²⁷ The OR for amyloid pathology of the *APOE* genotypes relative to the ε 3 ε 3 genotype was similar to the OR for AD-type dementia in case-control studies.^{18,27} The strong association of the *APOE* genotype with amyloid positivity emphasizes *APOE* as an important target for treatment studies.^{28,29}

Highly educated participants had a higher prevalence of amyloid pathology than those with less formal education. This may seem in contrast with the finding that high education level is associated with a lower risk for AD-type dementia³⁰ but is in agreement with the cognitive reserve hypothesis.³¹ According to this hypothesis, nondemented individuals with a high level of education have a greater cognitive reserve such that they can sustain more amyloid pathology before developing dementia. Education itself was not associated with the extent of pathology at postmortem examination³² but might modify the relationship between AD pathology and expression of dementia,³³ resulting in higher amyloid positivity prevalence in nondemented highly educated participants. An alternative explanation would be that highly educated persons with amyloid pathology may be overrepresented in study participation or clinical care seeking due to self-selection bias.

Our finding that the prevalence of amyloid positivity was the same for men and women is in line with a previous neuropathological study showing no difference in neuritic and diffuse plaque load between men and women.³⁴ This finding is also in agreement with another

Page 11

earlier study,³⁵ as is our finding that there was no interaction between sex and *APOE*- ϵ 4 carrier status on amyloid positivity.

Although PET and CSF are thought to measure different types of amyloid- β ,³⁶ we did not find differences in amyloid positivity estimates for PET and CSF biomarkers. This is in line with published high concordance rates of 84% to 92% between the 2 biomarkers.^{37,38} Also, high levels of agreement have been reported for studies that provided more than 50 participants to our study in whom amyloid was assessed with both PET and CSF.^{39,40}

We pooled data from a large number of studies, and this may have introduced bias because of differences in the methods underlying amyloid assessment, cutoff definition, participant selection, diagnostic criteria, and other aspects of study design. However, in the total study sample; in age, *APOE*, and diagnostic subgroups; and on visual inspection of study-specific prevalences over age, there was limited evidence for study-related heterogeneity, which supports the pooling of data from different studies (eFigure 2 and eTable 7 in the Supplement). Moreover, the Alzheimer's Association Quality Control program for CSF biomarkers reported that overall concordance for diagnostic classification was high between centers despite analytical variance.⁴¹ We also explored the association of a number of study characteristics with the prevalence in post hoc analyses, but no relation was found. An advantage of participant-level analysis over aggregated pooling is that the power to detect subgroup effects is increased,⁴² while the risk for ecological bias is decreased.⁴³

A limitation of this study is that our participants with normal cognition were mostly recruited via advertisements, making this sample vulnerable to self-selection bias⁴⁴ and restricting generalizability to the general population. Participants with SCI and MCI were mostly recruited from clinical settings, rendering them dissimilar from these individuals in the general population. Participants with significant comorbid disorders are usually excluded from participation, and studies often used standardized cognitive screens, which also affects generalizability. Although MCI was not classified as amnestic or non-amnestic for most participants, our findings indicate that we mostly included amnestic MCI patients because the prevalence estimates in amnestic MCI patients did not differ from those with a broad or unspecified definition of MCI. Still, patients with nonamnestic MCI had a lower prevalence than patients with amnestic MCI, suggesting that this is an important distinction to make in future research. Moreover, our prevalence estimates are based on cross-sectional data. The life-time risk for individuals without dementia to develop amyloid pathology will be higher than the cross-sectional estimate at any age because amyloid-positive persons may die or progress to dementia at follow-up.

This study has several implications for understanding the development of AD. The observation that key risk factors for AD-type dementia are also risk factors for amyloid positivity in cognitively normal persons provides further evidence for the hypothesis that amyloid positivity in these individuals reflects early AD. Further support for this hypothesis comes from other studies that show that amyloid positivity in nondemented individuals is associated with memory impairment, cognitive decline, increased amyloid deposition and brain atrophy rates, and mortality.⁴⁵⁻⁴⁸ Our study also indicates that development of AD pathology can start as early as age 30 years, depending on the *APOE* genotype. Comparison

with prevalence and lifetime risk estimates of AD-type dementia suggests a 20- to 30-year interval between amyloid positivity and dementia, implying that there is a large window of opportunity to start preventive treatments. Still, the exact interval between the onset of amyloid positivity and onset of AD-type dementia needs to be assessed by long-term follow-up studies because not all persons with amyloid pathology will become demented during their lifetime,⁴⁹ and not all individuals with a clinical diagnosis of AD-type dementia have amyloid pathology. Because of the uncertainty about whether and when an amyloid-positive individual without dementia will develop dementia, amyloid positivity in these individuals should not be equated with impending clinical dementia but rather be seen as a risk state. Our prevalence rates can be used as an inexpensive and noninvasive approach to select persons at risk for amyloid positivity.

Conclusions

Among persons without dementia, the prevalence of cerebral amyloid pathology as determined by PET imaging or CSF findings was associated with age, *APOE* genotype, and presence of cognitive impairment. These findings suggest a 20- to 30-year interval between first development of amyloid positivity and onset of dementia.

Supplementary Material

Refer to Web version on PubMed Central for supplementary material.

Acknowledgments

Dr Scheltens reported having received grants from GE Healthcare, Piramal, and Merck, paid to his institution. Dr Verhey reported having received compensation as a speaker and consultant for Nutricia Advanced Medical Food. Dr Visser reported having received grants from EU/EFPIA Innovative Medicines Initiative Joint Undertaking, EU Joint Programme-Neurodegenerative Disease Research (JPND), ZonMw, and Bristol-Myers Squibb; having served as member of the advisory board of Roche Diagnostics; and having received nonfinancial support from GE Healthcare. Dr Aarsland reported having received research support or honoraria from Astra-Zeneca, H. Lundbeck, Novartis Pharmaceuticals, and GE Health. Dr Alexander reported being an employee of Roche Products. Dr Barthel reported having received speaker and consultant honoraria as well as travel expenses from Piramal Imaging (Berlin) and personal fees from Siemens Healthcare. Dr Bibeau reported being a share-holding employee of GlaxoSmithKline. Dr Blennow reported having received personal fees (advisory board) from Roche Diagnostics, IBL International, Novartis, and Eli Lilly. Dr Brooks reported having served as consultant for GE Healthcare. Dr Camus reported having received grants from the French Ministry of Health. Dr Chen reported having received grants from the National Institutes of Health (NIH). Dr Drzezga reported having received speaker honoraria and consulting fees from GE Healthcare, AVID/Lilly, and Piramal. Dr Fagan reported having received grants from NIH, Fred Simmons and Olga Mohan, and Charles and Joanne Knight Alzheimer's Research Initiative of the Washington University Knight Alzheimer's Disease Research Center; having received personal fees from IBL International, Roche, and AbbVie; and having a patent, 6,465,195 B2, "Predictive diagnostic for Alzheimer's disease," issued and a patent, PCT/US09/050255, "A risk factor and new therapeutic target for Alzheimer's disease," pending. Dr Fladby reported having a patent "Methods and compositions for monitoring phagocytic activity," PCT/US2011/062233, pending. Dr Fleisher reported having been a full-time employee of the Banner Alzheimer's Institute; being a full-time employee of Eli Lilly; maintaining a voluntary faculty appointment at the University of California, San Diego; having been a member of data and safety monitoring boards for Merck, Pfizer, and the National Institute of Aging (NIA); having received grant funding from NIA and Avid Radiopharmaceutical; and having been a consultant for Eli Lilly, Grifols, Avid Radiopharmaceuticals, and Siemens Imaging. Dr van der Flier reported having received grants from Boehringer Ingelheim, Piramal Imaging, and Roche. Dr Förster reported having received personal fees (consultancy) from Piramal, Bayer, and GE. Dr Foskett reported being a full-time employee of Roche Prod and holding Roche shares and share options. Dr Frisoni reported having received grants and/or personal fees from Lilly, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Bayer, Lundbeck, Elan, AstraZeneca, Pfizer, Taurx, Wyeth, GE, Baxter, Avid, Roche, Piramal, and the Alzheimer's Association. Dr Gill reported having received grants from the Indian Council of Medical Research, New Delhi, India. Dr Gordon reported being a salaried employee of Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals. Dr Grimmer reported having received personal fees from Eli Lilly. Dr

Jansen et al.

Hampel reported having received grants, personal fees, and/or nonfinancial support from Boehringer-Ingelheim, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Elan, Novartis, Eisai, Pfizer, sanofi-aventis, Roche Pharmaceuticals and Diagnostics, GE Healthcare, Avid, Eli Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals, Jung-Diagnostics, and Cytox and having a patent, "Method for predicting whether subjects with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) will develop Alzheimer's disease," pending; a patent, "3-Hydroxykynurenin im Serum als diagnotischer Marker für die Demenz vom Alzheimer-Typ," pending; a patent, "Neurodegenerative markers for psychiatric conditions," pending; a patent, "Ratio AB42/40 im Plasma in der Früh- und Differentialdiagnose der Alzheimer Krankheit," pending; a patent "Liquordiagnostisches in vitro Verfahren zur Diagnose von Demenz Erkrankungen und neuroinflammatorischen Erkrankungen," pending; and a patent, "In vitro Verfahren zur Diagnose von neurodegenerativen Erkrankungen," pending. Dr Hellwig reported having received grants from GE Healthcare and Medical Faculty, University of Freiburg. Dr Ishihara reported being an employee and shareholder of GlaxoSmithKline. Dr Jagust reported having received personal fees from Banner Alzheimer Institute/Genentech, Synarc/Bioclinica, and Novartis. Dr Kandimalla reported having received grants from the Indian Council of Medical Research, India. Dr Kapaki reported having received grants from the European Union (European Regional Development Fund [ERDF]) and Greek national funds through the Operational Program "Competitiveness and Entrepreneurship" of the National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF) Research Funding Program: Joint Programming Neurodegenerative Disease, "Biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease." Dr Klunk reported being a co-inventor of the amyloid imaging tracer PiB and, as such, having a financial interest in the license agreement. (PiB intellectual property is owned by the University of Pittsburgh, and GE Healthcare holds a license agreement with the University of Pittsburgh based on the PiB technology described in this article. Dr Klunk receives "inventors share" payments from the University of Pittsburgh based on income from that license.) Dr Koglin reported having received personal fees from employment at Piramal Imaging, who is marketing Neuraceq (florbetaben F18) as an amyloid-beta PET imaging agent. Dr Kornhuber reported having received grants from German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF): Kompetenznetz Demenzen (01GI0420) and German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF): The Frontotemporo-Lobar Degeneration Consortium (FTDL-C), 01G11007A and having a patent, PCT/EP2004/003963, "Diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease," issued; a patent, EP 1811304 A1, "Large AB-peptide binding particles (LAPS) in diagnosis and therapy of Alzheimer's dementia," issued; a patent, WO2007/082750 A1, "Immunoglobulin-bound Ab-peptides and immunoglobulins-binding Ab-peptides in diagnosis and therapy of Alzheimer's dementia," issued; a patent, EP 2437067A2, "Methods of differentially diagnosing dementias," issued; and a patent, "New formulations for diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease," pending. Dr Van Laere reported having received grants from Merck, Janssen Pharmaceuticals, and GE Healthcare. Dr Landau reported having received grants from NIH and personal fees from Biogen Idec, Genentech, and Synarc. Dr Lleo reported having received grants from Instituto de Salud Carlos III (Fondo de Investigación Sanitario, PI10/01878; PI13/01532; PI11/2425; PI11/3035 and the CIBERNED program). Dr Madsen reported having received grants from the Lundbeck Foundation, Danish Medical Research Council, and Rigshospitalet. Dr Meyer reported having received money from GE Healthcare for an ongoing research study (IIT). Dr Mintun reported being an employee of Avid Radiopharmaceuticals, a wholly owned subsidiary of Eli Lilly. Dr Morris reported having received grants from NIH (P50AG005681, P01AG003991, P01AG026276, U19AG032438). Dr Mroczko reported having received grants and personal fees from the Leading National Research Centre (KNOW), Medical University of Bialystok, Poland. Dr Novak reported being an employee of Janssen Research and Development and holding stock in the same. Dr Paraskevas reported having received grants from European Union (European Regional Development Fund [ERDF]) and Greek national funds through the Operational Program "Competitiveness and Entrepreneurship" of the National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF) Research Funding Program: Joint Programming Neurodegenerative Disease, "Biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease." Dr Peters reported having received grants and/or personal fees from Lilly, Roche, Genentech, Lundbeck, Affiris, Piramal, Novartis, and Trx-Pharmaceuticals. Dr Popp reported having received grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation. Dr Rabinovici reported having received grants from Avid Radiopharmaceuticals and personal fees from GE Healthcare and Piramal. Dr Rinne reported having received grants from Sigrid juselius Foundation and Turku University Hospital clinical grants. Dr Rot reported having received grants from JPND BIOMARKAPD. Dr Rowe reported having received grants from Avid Radiopharmaceuticals, Piramal Imaging, AstraZeneca, GE Healthcare, Avid/Lilly, Navidea, CSIRO, NHMRC, Alzheimer's Association, and an anonymous foundation and having had a patent licensed for PET image processing. Dr Sabri reported having received grants and/or personal fees from Piramal Imaging, Bayer Healthcare, and Siemens Healthcare. Dr Sarazin reported having received personal fees from Novartis (lecture) and Allianz (lecture). Dr Soininen reported having received grants from the Academy of Finland, European Union 7ThFP 601055 VPH-DARE, Kuopio University Hospital VTR, and University of Eastern Finland. Dr Teunissen reported being a member of the international advisory board at Innogenetics and Roche; having received free kit-reagents for experiments from IBL, Innogenetics, Mesoscale Discovery, Invitrogen, Euroimmun, and FluidX; and having research contracts at Probiodrug, IBL, and Abbott. Dr Vandenberghe reported having received clinical trial agreements with GEHC, Merck, Forum, and Roche; grants from Research Foundation-Flanders (FWO) and KU Leuven; and nonfinancial support from GEHC. Dr Verbeek reported having served on an advisory board for Roche. Dr Waldemar reported being a board member of the Lundbeck Foundation. Dr Anders Wallin reported having received speakers' bureau fees from Esai and Triolab and serving on the advisory board for Nutrica and Esai. Dr Wolk reported having received personal fees from GE Healthcare and Piramal Pharma and grants from Avid Radiopharmaceuticals. The authors received compensation (ie, salary) as employees of their respective organizations. No other disclosures were reported.

Funding/Support: The research leading to these results has received support from the Innovative Medicines Initiative Joint Undertaking under EMIF grant agreement No. 115372, resources of which are composed of financial contribution from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013) and EFPIA companies' in-kind contribution. BIOMARKAPD is an EU Joint Programme-Neurodegenerative Disease Research (JPND) project. The project is supported through national funding organizations under the aegis of JPND (http:// www.jpnd.eu). In the Netherlands, this is ZonMw. The DESCRIPA study was funded by the European Commission within the 5th framework program (QLRT-2001-2455). The EDAR study was funded by the European Commission as part of the 6th framework programme (contract No. 37670). This research was performed within the framework of the Center for Translational Molecular Medicine (CTTM) (http://www.ctmm.nl), project LeARN (grant 02N-101). The AIBL study was funded in part by the study partners (Australian Commonwealth Scientific Industrial and Research Organization [CSIRO], Edith Cowan University [ECU], Mental Health Research Institute [MHRI], Alzheimer's Australia [AA], National Ageing Research Institute [NARI], Austin Health, CogState, Hollywood Private Hospital, Sir Charles Gardner Hospital). The study also received support from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) and the Dementia Collaborative Research Centres program (DCRC2), as well as ongoing funding from the Science and Industry Endowment Fund (SIEF). Data collection and sharing for this project was funded by the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) (National Institutes of Health grant U01 AG024904) and the US Department of Defense ADNI (W81XWH-12-2-0012), ADNI is funded by the National Institute on Aging and the National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering and through generous contributions from the following: Alzheimer's Association; Alzheimer's Drug Discovery Foundation; BioClinica; Biogen Idec; Bristol-Myers Squibb Company; Eisai; Elan Pharmaceuticals; Eli Lilly; F. Hoffmann-La Roche and its affiliated company Genentech; GE Healthcare; Innogenetics; IXICO; Janssen Alzheimer Immunotherapy Research & Development; Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceutical Research & Development; Medpace; Merck; Meso Scale Diagnostics; NeuroRx Research; Novartis Pharmaceuticals; Pfizer; Piramal Imaging; Servier; Synarc; and Takeda Pharmaceutical. The Canadian Institutes of Health Research is providing funds to support ADNI clinical sites in Canada. Private sector contributions are facilitated by the Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (http://www.fnih.org). The grantee organization is the Northern California Institute for Research and Education, and the study is coordinated by the Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study at the University of California, San Diego. ADNI data are disseminated by the Laboratory for Neuro Imaging at the University of Southern California. The Dementia Competence Network (DCN) has been supported by a grant from the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF): Kompetenznetz Demenzen (01GI0420). Additional funding related to the randomized clinical trials came from Janssen-Cilag and Merz Pharmaceuticals. The latter funds were exclusively used for personnel, pharmaceuticals, blistering and shipment of medication, and monitoring and as capitation fees for recruiting centers. Funding source for the Chandigarh study is the Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR), India. Funding for the St Louis contribution was provided by the National Institute on Aging (P50 AG005681, P01 AG003991, and P01 AG026276); Fred Simmons and Olga Mohan, and the Charles and Joanne Knight Alzheimer's Research Initiative of the Washington University Knight Alzheimer's Disease Research Center. The Tours study received financial support of the French Ministry of Health grant PHRC-N 2008 1004 and the EC-FP6-project DiMI, LSHB-CT-2005-512146. The Caen study was funded by Agence Nationale de la Recherche, Programme Hospitalier de Recherche Clinique, Région Basse Normandie, and Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (Inserm). The research leading to the Munich contribution to the Mattsson multicenter study has received funding from the program "Investissements d'avenir" (ANR-10-IAIHU-06). The study from Pittsburgh was supported by National Institutes of Health grants (P50 AG005133, R37 AG025516, P01 AG025204). The New York contributions to the Mattsson multicenter study were in part supported by P30 AG008051, R01 AG13616, R01 AG022374, and R01 AG12101. Data from Brescia in this article were collected by Translational Outpatient Memory Clinic (TOMC) working group at IRCCS Fatebenefratelli in Brescia, Italy. Contributors to the TOMC are G. Amicucci, S. Archetti, L. Benussi, G. Binetti, L. Bocchio-Chiavetto, C. Bonvicini, E. Canu, F. Caobelli, E. Cavedo, E. Chittò, M. Cotelli, M. Gennarelli, S. Galluzzi, C. Geroldi, R. Ghidoni, R. Giubbini, U. P. Guerra, G. Kuffenschin, G. Lussignoli, D. Moretti, B. Paghera, M. Parapini, C. Porteri, M. Romano, S. Rosini, I. Villa, R. Zanardini, and O. Zanetti. The JPND Project is supported in Italy by the Italian Ministry of Health. The assembling of the TU Munich data set was supported in part by the German research foundation (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft) (HE 4560/1-2, DR 445/3-1 and DR 445/4-1 to A.D.), and by a KKF grant for clinical research of the Technische Universität München (to A.D. and T.G.). The Florbetaben phase 2 study from which data were derived for this multicenter evaluation was sponsored by Bayer Healthcare/Piramal Imaging (Berlin, Germany). This work was supported by the University of Antwerp Research Fund; the Alzheimer Research Foundation (SAO-FRA); the Research Foundation Flanders (FWO); the Agency for Innovation by Science and Technology (IWT); the Belgian Science Policy Office Interuniversity Attraction Poles (IAP) program; and the Flemish Government-initiated Methusalem excellence grant.

Role of the Funder/Sponsor: The sponsors had no role in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and decision to submit the manuscript for publication. The authors' respective organizations were given the opportunity to review the manuscript for medical and scientific accuracy as well as intellectual property considerations.

Additional Contributions: We acknowledge Gabriel Miltenberger-Miltényi and André Janeiro (Institute of Molecular Medicine, Lisbon) for quantification of CSF biomarkers assembled in the Lisbon contribution. Neither individual was compensated for the contribution besides salary. Multicenter studies involved in this project

included the following: European Medical Information Framework–Alzheimer Disease (EMIF-AD); Biomarkers for Alzheimer Disease and Parkinson Disease (BIOMARKAPD); Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI); Australian Imaging, Biomarkers & Lifestyle (AIBL) study; Avid Pharmaceuticals multicenter study for the AV45-A17 Study Group; Development of Screening Guidelines and Clinical Criteria for Predementia AD (DESCRIPA) study; German Dementia Competence Network (DCN); European Beta Amyloid Oligomers in the Early Diagnosis of AD and as Marker for Treatment Response (EDAR) study; Florbetaben (FBB) Phase 2 multicenter study; Leiden Alzheimer-Research Nederland (LeARN) project; Mattsson et al (2009) multicenter study; Multicenter study by UK Hospitals and University Hospital of Turku. Part of the data used in preparation of this article were obtained from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) database (http:// adni.loni.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/how_to_apply/ ADNI_Acknowledgement_List.pdf. Additional information is available in the Supplement.

Affiliations of Authors/Amyloid Biomarker Study Group

Department of Psychiatry and Neuropsychology, School for Mental Health and Neuroscience, Alzheimer Center Limburg, Maastricht University, Maastricht, the Netherlands (Aalten, Köhler, Ramakers, Vos); Department of Neurology and Alzheimer Center, VU University Medical Center, Neuroscience Campus Amsterdam, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (van der Flier); Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, VU University Medical Center, Neuroscience Campus Amsterdam, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (van Berckel); Department of Neurology, Memory and Aging Center, University of California, San Francisco (Rabinovici); Helen Wills Neuroscience Institute, University of California, Berkeley (Jagust, Landau); Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (van der Flier); Center for Age-Related Medicine, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway (Aarsland); Neurology Department, Hospital de Sant Pau, Barcelona, Spain (Alcolea, Fortea, Lleó); Roche Products, Welwyn Garden City, United Kingdom (Alexander, Foskett, Perera); Department of Neurology, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway (Almdahl, Fladby, Møllergård); Department of Neurology, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia (Arnold, Wolk); Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Hospital Center University of Coimbra, Portugal (Baldeiras, Resende de Oliveira, Santana); Department of Nuclear Medicine, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany (Barthel, Sabri); GlaxoSmithKline, Worldwide Epidemiology, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina (Bibeau); Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology, Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg, Mölndal, Sweden (Blennow, Nordlund, A. Wallin, Zetterberg); Division of Neuroscience, Medical Research Council Clinical Sciences Centre, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom (Brooks); Department of Radiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, the Netherlands (van Buchem); CHRU de Tours, CIC INSERM1415, INSERM U930, and Université Francois Rabelais de Tours, Tours, France (Camus); Laboratory of Epidemiology, Neuroimaging and Telemedicine, IRCCS San Giovanni di Dio Fatebenefratelli, Brescia, Italy (Cavedo, Frisoni); Sorbonne University, University Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris 06, Institut de la Mémoire et de la Maladie d'Alzheimer (IM2A) and Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle épinière (ICM), UMR S 1127, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpétrière Paris and CATI Multicenter Neuroimaging Platform, Paris, France (Cavedo); Banner Alzheimer's Institute, Phoenix, Arizona (Chen, Fleisher); Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (Inserm), U1077, Caen, France (Chetelat); University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania (Cohen, Klunk); Department of Nuclear Medicine, University of Cologne,

Page 16

Cologne, Germany (Drzezga); Reference Center for BiologicalMarkers of Dementia (BIODEM), University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium (Engelborghs, Van der Mussele, Soetewey, Struyfs); Knight Alzheimer's Disease Research Center, Department of Neurology, Washington University School of Medicine, St Louis, Missouri (Fagan, Morris, Roe); Eli Lilly, Indianapolis, Indiana (Fleisher); Department of Neurosciences, University of California, San Diego (Fleisher); Janssen Research and Development, Titusville, New Jersey (Ford, Novak); Department of Nuclear Medicine, Technischen Universitaet München, Munich, Germany (Förster); Memory Clinic, Danish Dementia Research Center, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark (Johannsen); Department of Geriatrics, Institution of NVS, Section of Clinical Geriatrics, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden (Freund-Levi); Department of Geriatric Psychiatry, Central Institute of Mental Health, Medical Faculty Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany (Froelich, Hausner); Department of Neurodegenerative Disorders, Mossakowski Medical Research Centre Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland (Gabryelewicz); Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Department of Biochemistry, Research Block-A, Chandigarh, India (Gill, Kandimalla): Third Department of Neurology, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece (Gkatzima, Tsolaki); Department of Neurology, Fundación Jiménez Díaz, Madrid, Spain (Gómez-Tortosa); Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Ridgefield, Connecticut (Gordon); Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Klinikum rechts der Isar der Technischen Universitaet München, Munich, Germany (Grimmer); AXA Research Fund and UPMC ChairSorbonne Universités, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris 06, Institut de la Mémoire et de la Maladie d'Alzheimer and INSERM U1127, Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle épinière (ICM), Département de Neurologie, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpétrière, Paris, France (Hampel); Department of Psychiatry, Alzheimer Memorial Center and Geriatric Psychiatry Branch, Ludwig-Maximilian University, Munich, Germany (Hampel); Center of Geriatrics and Gerontology, University Hospital Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany (Hellwig); Center for Neurology, Hospital of Bremen-Ost, Bremen, Germany (Hildebrandt, Schütte); GlaxoSmithKline, Worldwide Epidemiology, Epidemiology, Genetic Epidemiology and Neurology, United Kingdom (Ishihara); Memory Clinic and Neurochemistry Laboratory, Saint Luc University Hospital, Institute of Neuroscience, Université catholique de Louvain, Brussels, Belgium (Ivanoiu); Radiation Oncology, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia (Kandimalla); First Department of Neurology, Neurochemistry Unit and Cognitive and Movement Disorders Clinic, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Eginition Hospital, Athens, Greece (Kapaki, Paraskevas); Jagiellonian University College of Medicine, Krakow, Poland (Klimkowicz-Mrowiec); Piramal Imaging, Berlin, Germany (Koglin); Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Friedrich-Alexander University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany (Kornhuber); Center for Cognitive Impairments, University Medical Centre Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia (Kramberger, Rot); Laboratory for Cognitive Neurology and Alzheimer Research Centre KU Leuven, Catholic University Leuven, Leuven, Belgium (Vandenberghe); Department of Neuropsychiatry, Seoul National University, College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea (Lee); School of Medicine, Center for Brain Health, New York University, New York (de Leon); Section of Neurology, Center for Memory Disturbances, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy (Lisetti, Parnetti); Neurobiology Research Unit, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark (Madsen);

Page 17

Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University of Bonn, German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE), Bonn, Germany (Maier); GeriatricMedicine, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Linköping, Linköping, Sweden (Marcusson); Institute of Molecular Medicine and Faculty of Medicine, University of Lisbon, Portugal (de Mendonça); Department of Geriatric Medicine, Radboud Alzheimer Center, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, the Netherlands (Meulenbroek); Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany (Meyer); Avid Radiopharmaceuticals, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (Mintun); Lui CheWoo Institute of Innovative Medicine, Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China (Mok); Alzheimer's Disease and Other Cognitive Disorders Unit, IDIBAPS, Clinic University Hospital, Barcelona, Spain (Molinuevo, Rami); Department of Neurodegeneration Diagnostics, Leading National Research Centre in Bialystok (KNOW), Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland (Mroczko); Department of Neurology, Samsung Medical Center, Sungkyunkwan University School of Medicine, Seoul, Korea (Na, Seo); Myrna Brind Center of Integrative Medicine, Thomas Jefferson University and Hospital, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (Newberg); Dept NVS, Center for Alzheimer, Translational Alzheimer Neurobiology, Karolinska Institutet, and Geriatric Medicine, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden (Nordberg); Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry, Kings College London, London, United Kingdom (Perera); Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Charité Berlin, German Center for Neurodegenrative Diseases (DZNE), Berlin, Germany (Peters); Department of Psychiatry, Service of Old Age Psychiatry and Department of Clinical Neurosciences, Leenaards Memory Centre, University Hospital of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland (Popp); Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Department of Neurology, Nehru Hospital, Chandigarh, India (Prabhakar); Turku PET Centre and Division of Clinical Neurosciences Turku, University of Turku and Turku University Hospital, Turku, Finland (Rinne); Center for Vital Longevity, University of Texas at Dallas (Rodrigue); Neurology Service, Universitary Hospital Marqués de Valdecilla, IDIVAL, Santander, Spain (Rodríguez-Rodríguez, Sanchez-Juan); Department of Nuclear Medicine and Centre for PET, Austin Health, Melbourne, Australia (Rowe, Villemagne); Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Medical Center, Georg-August University, Göttingen, Germany (Rüther, Wiltfang); Neurologie de la Mémoire et du Langage, Centre Hospitalier Sainte-Anne, Université Paris 5, Paris, France (Sarazin); Sektion Gerontopsychiatrie, Universität Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany (Schröder); Department of Neurology, University of Eastern Finland and Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland (Herukka, Soininen); Department of Geriatrics-Gerontology-Gerontopsychiatry, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania (Spiru); Neurochemistry Laboratory and Biobank, Department of Clinical Chemistry, Neuroscience Campus Amsterdam, VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (Teunissen); Departments of Neurology and Laboratory Medicine, Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud Alzheimer Center, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, the Netherlands (Verbeek, van Waalwijk van Doorn); Danish Dementia Research Center, Department of Neurology, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Denmark (Frederiksen, Waldemar); Clinical Memory Research Unit, Clinical Sciences Malmö, Lund University, Lund, Sweden (Mattsson, Å. K. Wallin); Alzheimer

Center, Wroclaw Medical University, Scinawa, Poland (Zboch); UCL Institute of Neurology, Queen Square, London, United Kingdom (Zetterberg); Memory Clinic and LANVIE-Laboratory of Neuroimaging of Aging, University Hospitals, and University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland (Frisoni); Department of Imaging and Pathology, Catholic University Leuven, Leuven, Belgium (Van Laere).

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Dementia: a public health priority. Apr 27. 2015 http://www.who.int/ mental_health/publications/dementia_report_2012/en/
- Bateman RJ, Xiong C, Benzinger TL, et al. Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer Network. Clinical and biomarker changes in dominantly inherited Alzheimer's disease. N EnglJ Med. 2012; 367(9):795– 804. [PubMed: 22784036]
- Jack CR Jr, Holtzman DM. Biomarker modeling of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron. 2013; 80(6):1347– 1358. [PubMed: 24360540]
- Fagan AM, Xiong C, Jasielec MS, et al. Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer Network. Longitudinal change in CSF biomarkers in autosomal-dominant Alzheimer's disease. Sci Transl Med. 2014; 6(226):226ra30.
- Sperling RA, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, et al. Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2011; 7(3):280– 292. [PubMed: 21514248]
- Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, et al. Advancing research diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease: the IWG-2 criteria. Lancet Neurol. 2014; 13(6):614–629. [PubMed: 24849862]
- 7. Sperling RA, Jack CR Jr, Aisen PS. Testing the right target and right drug at the right stage. Sci Transl Med. 2011; 3(111):111–33.
- Murayama S, Saito Y. Neuropathological diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease. Neuropathology. 2004; 24(3):254–260. [PubMed: 15484705]
- Bennett DA, Schneider JA, Bienias JL, Evans DA, Wilson RS. Mild cognitive impairment is related to Alzheimer disease pathology and cerebral infarctions. Neurology. 2005; 64(5):834–841. [PubMed: 15753419]
- Lin Y-T, Cheng J-T, Yao Y-C, et al. Increased total TAU but not amyloid-beta(42) in cerebrospinal fluid correlates with short-term memory impairment in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2009; 18(4):907–918. [PubMed: 19749420]
- Rowe CC, Ellis KA, Rimajova M, et al. Amyloid imaging results from the Australian Imaging, Biomarkers and Lifestyle (AIBL) study of aging. Neurobiol Aging. 2010; 31(8):1275–1283. [PubMed: 20472326]
- Randall C, Mosconi L, de Leon M, Glodzik L. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease in healthy elderly. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2013; 18:1150–1173. [PubMed: 23747874]
- Klunk WE. Amyloid imaging as a biomarker for cerebral β-amyloidosis and risk prediction for Alzheimer dementia. Neurobiol Aging. 2011; 32(suppl 1):S20–S36. [PubMed: 22078170]
- Vandenbroucke JP, von Elm E, Altman DG, et al. STROBE Initiative. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE): explanation and elaboration. Epidemiology. 2007; 18(6):805–835. [PubMed: 18049195]
- Whiting P, Rutjes AW, Reitsma JB, Bossuyt PM, Kleijnen J. The development of QUADAS: a tool for the quality assessment of studies of diagnostic accuracy included in systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2003; 3:25. [PubMed: 14606960]
- Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J Intern Med. 2004; 256(3):183– 194. [PubMed: 15324362]
- Winblad B, Palmer K, Kivipelto M, et al. Mild cognitive impairment: beyond controversies, towards a consensus: report of the International Working Group on Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Intern Med. 2004; 256(3):240–246. [PubMed: 15324367]

Jansen et al.

- Genin E, Hannequin D, Wallon D, et al. APOE and Alzheimer disease: a major gene with semidominant inheritance. Mol Psychiatry. 2011; 16(9):903–907. [PubMed: 21556001]
- Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ. 2003; 327(7414):557–560. [PubMed: 12958120]
- Chételat G, Villemagne VL, Bourgeat P, et al. Australian Imaging Biomarkers and Lifestyle Research Group. Relationship between atrophy and beta-amyloid deposition in Alzheimer disease. Ann Neurol. 2010; 67(3):317–324. [PubMed: 20373343]
- Amariglio RE, Becker JA, Carmasin J, et al. Subjective cognitive complaints and amyloid burden in cognitively normal older individuals. Neuropsychologia. 2012; 50(12):2880–2886. [PubMed: 22940426]
- Bennett DA, Schneider JA, Arvanitakis Z, et al. Neuropathology of older persons without cognitive impairment from two community-based studies. Neurology. 2006; 66(12):1837–1844. [PubMed: 16801647]
- Matthews F, Brayne C. Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study Investigators. The incidence of dementia in England and Wales: findings from the five identical sites of the MRC CFA Study. PLoS Med. 2005; 2(8):e193. [PubMed: 16111436]
- 24. Jack CR Jr, Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, et al. Age-specific population frequencies of cerebral βamyloidosis and neurodegeneration among people with normal cognitive function aged 50-89 years: a cross-sectional study. Lancet Neurol. 2014; 13(10):997–1005. [PubMed: 25201514]
- 25. Morris JC, Roe CM, Xiong C, et al. APOE predicts amyloid-beta but not tau Alzheimer pathology in cognitively normal aging. Ann Neurol. 2010; 67(1):122–131. [PubMed: 20186853]
- 26. Suri S, Heise V, Trachtenberg AJ, Mackay CE. The forgotten APOE allele: a review of the evidence and suggested mechanisms for the protective effect of APOE ε2. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2013; 37(10 pt 2):2878–2886. [PubMed: 24183852]
- Farrer LA, Cupples LA, Haines JL, et al. APOE and Alzheimer Disease Meta Analysis Consortium. Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 1997; 278(16):1349–1356. [PubMed: 9343467]
- Liao F, Hori Y, Hudry E, et al. Anti-ApoE antibody given after plaque onset decreases Aβ accumulation and improves brain function in a mouse model of Aβ amyloidosis. J Neurosci. 2014; 34(21):7281–7292. [PubMed: 24849360]
- 29. Boehm-Cagan A, Michaelson DM. Reversal of apoE4-driven brain pathology and behavioral deficits by bexarotene. J Neurosci. 2014; 34(21):7293–7301. [PubMed: 24849361]
- Evans DA, Hebert LE, Beckett LA, et al. Education and other measures of socioeconomic status and risk of incident Alzheimer disease in a defined population of older persons. Arch Neurol. 1997; 54(11):1399–1405. [PubMed: 9362989]
- Stern Y. Cognitive reserve and Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2006; 20(3)(suppl 2):S69–S74. [PubMed: 16917199]
- Serrano-Pozo A, Qian J, Monsell SE, Frosch MP, Betensky RA, Hyman BT. Examination of the clinicopathologic continuum of Alzheimer disease in the autopsy cohort of the National Alzheimer Coordinating Center. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2013; 72(12):1182–1192. [PubMed: 24226270]
- 33. Roe CM, Mintun MA, Ghoshal N, et al. Alzheimer disease identification using amyloid imaging and reserve variables: proof of concept. Neurology. 2010; 75(1):42–48. [PubMed: 20603484]
- Barnes LL, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Schneider JA, Evans DA, Bennett DA. Sex differences in the clinical manifestations of Alzheimer disease pathology. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005; 62(6):685– 691. [PubMed: 15939846]
- 35. Jack CR Jr, Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, et al. Age, sex, and APOE ε4 effects on memory, brain structure, and β-amyloid across the adult life span [published online March 16, 2015]. JAMA Neurol. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.4821.
- Schöll M, Wall A, Thordardottir S, et al. Low PiB PET retention in presence of pathologic CSF biomarkers in Arctic APP mutation carriers. Neurology. 2012; 79(3):229–236. [PubMed: 22700814]

Jansen et al.

- Zwan M, van Harten A, Ossenkoppele R, et al. Concordance between cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers and [11C]PIB PET in a memory clinic cohort. J Alzheimers Dis. 2014; 41(3):801–807. [PubMed: 24705549]
- Palmqvist S, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, et al. Accuracy of brain amyloid detection in clinical practice using cerebrospinal fluid β-amyloid 42: a cross-validation study against amyloid positron emission tomography. JAMA Neurol. 2014; 71(10):1282–1289. [PubMed: 25155658]
- Landau SM, Lu M, Joshi AD, et al. Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. Comparing positron emission tomography imaging and cerebrospinal fluid measurements of β-amyloid. Ann Neurol. 2013; 74(6):826–836. [PubMed: 23536396]
- Fagan AM, Mintun MA, Mach RH, et al. Inverse relation between in vivo amyloid imaging load and cerebrospinal fluid Abeta42 in humans. Ann Neurol. 2006; 59(3):512–519. [PubMed: 16372280]
- Mattsson N, Andreasson U, Persson S, et al. Alzheimer's Association QC Program Work Group. CSF biomarker variability in the Alzheimer's Association quality control program. Alzheimers Dement. 2013; 9(3):251–261. [PubMed: 23622690]
- Debray TP, Moons KG, Abo-Zaid GM, Koffijberg H, Riley RD. Individual participant data metaanalysis for a binary outcome: one-stage or two-stage? PLoS One. 2013; 8(4):e60650. [PubMed: 23585842]
- 43. Thomas D, Radji S, Benedetti A. Systematic review of methods for individual patient data metaanalysis with binary outcomes. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014; 14:79. [PubMed: 24943877]
- 44. Brodaty H, Mothakunnel A, de Vel-Palumbo M, et al. Influence of population versus convenience sampling on sample characteristics in studies of cognitive aging. Ann Epidemiol. 2014; 24(1):63– 71. [PubMed: 24211070]
- Hedden T, Oh H, Younger AP, Patel TA. Meta-analysis of amyloid-cognition relations in cognitively normal older adults. Neurology. 2013; 80(14):1341–1348. [PubMed: 23547267]
- van Harten AC, Visser PJ, Pijnenburg YA, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid Aβ42 is the best predictor of clinical progression in patients with subjective complaints. Alzheimers Dement. 2013; 9(5):481– 487. [PubMed: 23232269]
- 47. Vos SJ, Xiong C, Visser PJ, et al. Preclinical Alzheimer's disease and its outcome: a longitudinal cohort study. Lancet Neurol. 2013; 12(10):957–965. [PubMed: 24012374]
- 48. Villemagne VL, Burnham S, Bourgeat P, et al. Australian Imaging Biomarkers and Lifestyle (AIBL) Research Group. Amyloid β deposition, neurodegeneration, and cognitive decline in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Neurol. 2013; 12(4):357–367. [PubMed: 23477989]
- Savva GM, Wharton SB, Ince PG, Forster G, Matthews FE, Brayne C. Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study. Age, neuropathology, and dementia. N EnglJ Med. 2009; 360(22):2302–2309. [PubMed: 19474427]

Jansen et al.

Page 21



Figure 1.

Flow Diagram of Literature Search and Study Selection

^a The European Medical Information Framework–Alzheimer Disease (EMIF-AD) and Biomarkers for Alzheimer Disease and Parkinson Disease (BIOMARKAPD) projects.

Page 22



Figure 2.

Association of Age With Prevalence Estimates of Amyloid Positivity According to Cognitive Status

The prevalence estimates were generated from generalized estimating equations. The model included age and cognitive status as predictors. Shading indicates 95% CIs; SCI, subjective cognitive impairment; MCI, mild cognitive impairment.

Jansen et al.

```
Page 23
```



Figure 3.

Association of Age With Prevalence Estimates of Amyloid Positivity According to Cognitive Status and Apolipoprotein E (*APOE*) Genotype The model for the analyses in panels A and B included age, cognitive status, *APOE*- ϵ 4

status, an interaction between age and cognitive status, and an interaction between age and *APOE*- ε 4 status as predictors. The models for the analyses in panels C and D included age, cognitive status, *APOE* genotype, an interaction between age and cognitive status, an interaction between age and *APOE* genotype, and an interaction between cognitive status and *APOE* genotype as predictors. In panel C, none of the 10 participants with ε 2 ε 2 were amyloid positive, and no 95% confidence interval is provided for this group. In panel D, data of participants with ε 2 ε 2 are not shown because of the small sample size (n = 5). Shading indicates 95% CIs; SCI, subjective cognitive impairment; MCI, mild cognitive impairment.

Page 24



Figure 4.

Comparison of the Prevalence of Amyloid Positivity With the Prevalence of and Lifetime Risks for Alzheimer Disease–Type Dementia

The prevalence estimates in panel A were estimated from a meta-analysis of 14 studies (eMethods in the Supplement). The prevalence estimates in panel B of amyloid positivity in participants with normal cognition are plotted against published lifetime risks for Alzheimer disease (AD)–type dementia by *APOE* genotype (adapted from Genin et al¹⁸).

Page 25

Table 1

Baseline Study Participant Characteristics

Charactrerstic	Normal Cognitiin (n = 2914)	SCI (n = 697)	MCI (n = 3972)
Age	(n = 2914)	(n = 697)	(n = 3971)
Mean (SD), y	66.8 (13.2)	64.2 (8.0)	70.2 (8.7)
Age groups, No. (%), y			
<40	140 (4.3)	1 (0.1)	1 (0.0)
40-44	28 (1.0)	3 (0.4)	10 (0.3)
45-49	80 (2.7)	12 (1.7)	31 (0.8)
50-54	178 (6.1)	48 (6.9)	113 (2.8)
55-59	258 (8.9)	158 (22.7)	349 (8.8)
60-64	361 (12.4)	170 (24.4)	541 (13.6)
65-69	530 (18.2)	126 (18.1)	763 (19.2)
70-74	567 (19.5)	103 (14.8)	333 (22.2)
75-79	380 (13.0)	56 (8.0)	745 (18.8)
80-84	263 (9.0)	16 (2.3)	385 (9.7)
85-89	102 (3.5)	4 (0.6)	131 (3.3)
≥90	27 (0 9)	0	19 (0.5)
Sex, No. (%)	(n = 2796)	(n = 697)	(n = 3972)
Female	1537 (55.0)	348 (49.9)	1339 (46.3)
Male	1259 (45.0)	349 (50.1)	2133 (53.7)
Education	(n = 2280)	(n = 364)	(n = 2926)
Mean (SD), y	14.6 (3.6)	12.1 (4 3)	12.5 (4.4)
Education by category, No. (%)	(n = 2280)	(n = 539)	(n = 3099)
<14 y	815 (35.7)	356 (66.0)	1854 (59.8)
≥14 y	1465 (64.3)	183 (34.0)	1245 (40.2)
MMSE score ^a	(n = 2592)	(n = 693)	(n = 3910)
Mean (SD)	29.0 (1.3)	28.4 (1 5)	26.8 (2.5)
Assessment by PET biomarker	1346 (46.2)	35 (5.0)	989 (24.8)

JAMA. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2015 June 30.

Page 26

Charactrerstic	Normal Cognitiin (n = 2914)	SCI (n = 697)	MCI (n = 3972)
Assessment by CSF biomarker	1568 (53.8)	662 (95.0)	2983 (75.2)
Bromarker abnormal. No. (%)			
Anylold PET	326 (24.4)	8 (22.8)	523 (52.9)
CSF β amyloid	415 (26.5)	144 (21.8)	1513 (50.7)
APOE-E4 carrier status. No. (%)	(n = 2289)	(n = 533)	(n = 3118)
APOE-ɛ4 negative	1614 (70.5)	322 (60.4)	1650 (52.9)
APOE-E4 Positive	675 (29.5)	211 (39 6)	1468 (47.1)
APOE genotype, No. (%)	(n = 2130)	(n = 533)	(n = 2837)
ε2ε2	10 (0 5)	1 (0.2)	5 (0.2)
ε2ε3	255 (12.0)	49 (9.2)	211 (7.4)
ε2ε4	41 (1 9)	13 (2.4)	62 (2.2)
ε3ε3	1228 (57.7)	272 (51.0)	1267 (44.7)
ε3ε4	531 (24.9)	178 (33.4)	991 (34.9)
ε4ε4	65 (3 1)	20 (3.8)	301 (10.6)

Abbreviations: APOE, apolipoprotein E; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; MMSE, Mini Mental State Examination; PET, positron emission tomography; SCI, subjective cognitive impairment.

^aRange 0-30. with 30 as the best Score.

JAMA. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2015 June 30.

Author Manuscript
Jansen et al.

Table 2

Prevalence Estimates of Amyloid Positivity According to Age, Cognitive Status, and APOE-E4 Carrier Status^a

	Normal Cognition, %(95%CI)			<u>SCI, % (95% CI)</u>			<u>MCI, % (95% CI)</u>			
Age, y	Total	APOE-€4−	<i>АРОЕ-</i> ε4+	Total	APOE-E4-	<i>АРОЕ-</i> ε4+	Total	APOE-E4-	<i>АРОЕ-</i> ε4+	
50	10.4	5.7	14.9	11.6	3.9	10.6	26.9	18.7	40.0	
	(8.1-13.3)	(3.6-8.9)	(10.2-21.2)	(7 3-17.8)	(1.9-7.8)	(6.2-17.5)	(22.5-31.7)	(14.2-24.2)	(33.2-47.2)	
55	12.9	7.6	20.9	14.2	5.6	16.1	31.8	22.2	47.9	
	(10.3-16.0)	(5.2-11.0)	(15.5-27.5)	(9 3-21.2)	(3.1-10.0)	(10.4-24.0)	(27.5-36.4)	(17.8-27.3)	(41.7-54.2)	
60	15.8	10.0	28.6	17.4	8.0	23.7	37.1	26.1	55.9	
	(12.9-19 1)	(7.4-13 5)	(22.9-35.1)	(11.6-25.2)	(4.9-12.7)	(16.9-32.2)	(32.9-41.6)	(21.9-30.7)	(50.5-61.2)	
65	19.2	13.2	37.8	21.1	11.2	33.5	42.8	30.4	63.6	
	(16.0-22 9)	(10.4-16.6)	(32.0-43.9)	(14.4-29.7)	(7.6-16 3)	(25.9-42.5)	(38.7-47.1)	(26.5-34.6)	(59.0-68.0)	
70	23.1	17.1	47.9	25.3	15.5	45.0	48.7	35.1	70.7	
	(19.5-27 2)	(14.1-20.6)	(42.2-53.7)	(17.7-34.3)	(11.3-20.9)	(36.9-53.4)	(44.5-53.0)	(31.3-39.2)	(66.6-74.4)	
75	27.6	21.9	58.2	30.0	21.2	57.1	54.6	40.1	76.9	
	(23.4-32 3)	(18.4-25.9)	(52.3-63.8)	(21.4-40.3)	(16.1-27.3)	(48.7-65.1)	(50.2-59.0)	(35.9-44.6)	(73.1-80.2)	
80	32.6	27.7	67.8	35.2	28.1	71.5	60.4	45.4	82.1	
	(27.6-38.0)	(23.0-32.9)	(61.6-73.5)	(25.6-46.2)	(21.5-35.8)	(63.0-78.8) ^b	(55.7-65.0)	(40.2-50.7)	(78.5-85.2)	
85	38.0	34.2	76.2	40.8	36.3	74.0	66.0	50.7	86.3	
	(32.2-44 2)	(27.7 41.4)	(69.8-81.6)	(30.3-52.3)	(27.3-46.4)	(65.5-81.0) ^b	(60.3-70.7)	(44.3-57.1)	(32.9-89.2)	
90	43.8 (37.0-50.7)	41.5 (32.7-50.8)	82.9 (76.6-87.7)	43.1 (32.2-54.7) ^b	39.9 (29.7-51.0) ^b		71.1 (65.7-75.9)	56.1 (48.3-63.5)	89.1 (85.9-91.7) ^b	

Abbreviations; APOE, apolipoprotein E; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; SCI, subjective cognitive impairment.

^{*a*} The prevalence estimates were generated from generalised estimating equations. Amyloid positivity in the total group was modeled using age and cognitive status as predictors. Amyloid positivity according to APOE- ε 4 status was modeled with age, cognitive status, APOE- ε 4 status, an interaction between age and cognitive status, and an interaction between age and APOE- ε 4 status. Table 3 displays the number of participants and observed probabilities of amyloid positivity per age subgroup. Mo estimate was provided if the 5-year range around the indicated column age included no participants.

 b No participants available with the exact age; prevalence estimated at nearest age.

JAMA. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2015 June 30.

Author Manuscript

Jansen et al.

Table 3

	Normal Co	gnition		SCI			MCI		
Age Group	Total	APOE-e4-	APOE-e4+	Total	APOE-e4-	APOE-e4+	Total	APOE-e4-	APOE-e4+
47 5-52.4 y	13.2	7.9	17.2	19.2	0.0	0.0	25.0	19.4	44.4
	(15/114)	(5/63)	(5/29)	(5/26)	(0/8)	(0/8)	(16/64)	(7/36)	(8/18)
52 5-57.4 y	15.3	6.9	23.1	10.6	8 3	7.3	26.6	22.0	53.8
	(38/249)	(8/116)	(15/65)	(12/113)	(4/48)	(3/41)	(78/293)	(24/109)	(42/78)
57 5-62.4 y	12.1	10.0	26.1	16.9	5 2	35.2	39.1	30.4	51.4
	(36/296)	(16/160)	(12/46)	(29/171)	(5/96)	(19/54)	(181/463)	(58/191)	(95/185)
62 5-67.4 y	22.6	13.4	40.6	16.8	4 5	30.4	45.5	27.7	67.1
	(110/485)	(31/232)	(54/133)	(24/143)	(3/66)	(14/46)	(303/666)	(74/267)	(171/255)
67 5-72.4 y	24.1	17.1	40.7	26.0	16.1	42.9	54.5	35.0	77.1
	(128/53C)	(50/292)	(55/135)	(32/123)	(9/56)	(12/28)	(461/845)	(104/297)	(272/353)
72 5-77.4 y	32.2	23.3	61.3	44.0	25.0	59.3	57.2	44.4	79.1
	(164/510)	(70/301)	(65/106)	(33/75)	(7/28)	(16/27)	(494/864)	(154/347)	(250/316)
77 5-82.4 y	42.0 (111/264)	35.1 (60/171)	65.5 (36/55)	31.8 (7/22)	33.3 (3/9)		62.1 (323/520)	49.2 (117/238)	86.9 (153/176)
82 5-87.4 y	49.0 (103/210)	41.7 (55/132)	76.5 (39/51)	57.1 (8/14)	50.0 (4/8)		60.3 (135/224)	51.4 (57/111)	81.9 (59/72)
87 5-92.4 y	51.0 (25/49)	42.9 (15/35)	87.5 (7/8)				61.4 (35/57)	58.5 (24/41)	1000 (7/7)

Observed Probabilities of Amyloid Positivity^a

Abbreviations: APOE, apolipoprotein E; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; SCI, subjective cognitive impairment.

 a Data are observed probabilities in % (No amyloid positive/No. total subgroup). No estimates were provided if the age group included <5 participants.

JAMA. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2015 June 30.

Jansen et al.

Table 4

Odds Ratios for the Association Between APOE Genotype and Amyloid Positivity at Age 70 Years^a

	APOE Genoty	ne			
	E3E3	ε2ε3	ε2ε4	ε3ε4	ε4ε4
Normal cognition					
OR (95% CI)	1 [Reference]	0 34 (0.23-0.51)	4.29 (2.67-6.90)	2.94 (2.34-3.70)	18.76 (5.47-64.37)
P value		<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
No amyloid positive (%)	275 (22.4)	22 (8.6)	17 (41.5)	213 (40.1)	45 (69.2)
MCI					
OR (95% CI)	1 [Reference]	0 59 (0.48-0.73)	2.38 (0.98-5.81)	3.52 (2.73-4.55)	14.50 (8.14-25.81)
P value		<.001	.06	<.001	<.001
No. amyloid positive (%)	490 (38.7)	57 (27.0)	35 (56.5)	666 (67.2)	261 (86.7)

Abbreviations: APOE, apolipoprotein E: OR, odds ratio; MCI, mild cognitive impairment.

^{*a*} The ORs were generated from generalized estimating equations separately in participants with normal cognition and MCI. The models included age, *APOE* genotype, an interaction between age and *APOE* genotype, and a quadratic age term in the normal cognition model as predictors. *P* values represent the significance of the OR for amyloid positivity compared with the $\varepsilon_3\varepsilon_3$ genotype. The $\varepsilon_2\varepsilon_2$ genotype was excluded because of the small number of participants in this group.

JAMA. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2015 June 30.

_

European Journal of Neuroscience, Vol. 18, pp. 1660 1670, 2003

Associative and recognition memory for novel objects in dementia: implications for diagnosis

Andy C. H. Lee,¹ Shibley Rahman,² John R. Hodges,^{1,3} Barbara J. Sahakian² and Kim S. Graham¹ ¹MRC Cognition and Brain Sciences Unit, 15 Chaucer Road, Cambridge CB2 2EF,UK ²Department of Psychiatry, and ³University Neurology Unit, University of Cambridge, Addenbrooke's Hospital, Hills Road, Cambridge, UK

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, frontotemporal dementia, human, semantic dementia, perirhinal cortex, perception

Abstract

It has been demonstrated that patients with dementia of the Alzheimer's type show particular difficulties with a task that measures memory for object locations [R. Swainson *et al.* (2001) *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* **12**, 265–80]. The present study followed on from this report by asking whether the deficits seen in dementia of the Alzheimer's type were specific to this condition, or whether they would also be seen in another common neurodegenerative syndrome, frontotemporal dementia. To investigate this important issue, we examined memory for object–location pairs and visual recognition memory for novel patterns using two tests, the Paired Associates Learning and Matching to Sample tasks, from the Cambridge Neuropsychological Testing Automated Battery. The performance of a subset of the patients with dementia of the Alzheimer's type described by Swainson *et al.*, selected on the basis of age and education, was compared with matched groups of frontal variant frontotemporal dementia, semantic dementia and control subjects. In contrast to the patients with dementia of the Alzheimer's type, who showed significant impairment on both memory tests, the two frontotemporal dementia groups did not perform significantly poorer compared with control subjects on nearly all memory measures, other than 'memory score' from the paired associates learning task. These findings confirm that tests of episodic memory, especially for the location of objects in space, may be useful in the early diagnosis and differentiation of dementia of the Alzheimer's type.

Introduction	(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials
(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials	
	-
Correspondence: Dr A. Lee, as above.	
Keceived 2 April 2003, revised 27 June 2003, accepted 1 July 2003	

Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 1980, 43, 781-788

Testing for nominal dysphasia

PAT MCKENNA AND ELIZABETH K WARRINGTON

From the National Hospital for Nervous Diseases, London

SUMMARY In this paper we have described the construction of a graded naming test that makes the distinction between object and proper names. This distinction was prompted by a single case study of a patient who showed a specific naming impairment for a particular class of proper names. Naming vocabulary was found to be highly correlated with other measures of verbal intelligence and we have discussed the use of the graded naming test as a tool for clinical assessment and diagnosis. The results of the naming test of the left hemisphere group showed that category-specific naming impairment along the object/proper name distinction is relatively uncommon in any gross form. Object naming was most impaired in patients with lesions of the temporal lobe.

A reduced efficiency in retrieving the name of an object can be the first and only indication of impaired language functioning. This alone makes a sensitive test of naming ability essential for a clinician who wishes to detect the abnormality before it becomes merely a statement of the obvious.

Verbal abilities vary considerably from individual to individual in the general population so it is not unreasonable to assume that naming ability does also. Measures of general vocabulary level correlate highly with other measures of verbal and nonverbal intelligence¹ and it is probable that naming vocabulary skills may be similarly correlated. To date, tests for naming deficits have been based on global measures of current naming ability, such as number of failures or latencies of responses² without taking into account the possible effects of individual variations in optimal levels of functioning. The significance of an individual's present level of performance may be lost unless it can be considered in the context of his other cognitive skills. For example, if one accepts the commonly held view that less frequent items are more vulnerable to word-finding difficulties than better-established well-practised items²⁻⁴ then an individual with an extensive naming vocabulary who develops mild word-finding difficulties may continue to function with no obvious abnormality when presented with items that are common and of high frequency in the context of his own vocabulary. The aim of the present study was to develop a naming test with

Address for reprint requests: Dr EK Warrington, The National Hospital for Nervous Diseases, Queen Square, London WC1N 3BG.

items of graded difficulty which allows for individual differences in naming ability.

Evidence of category specificity in the cerebral organisation of language is beginning to emerge from recent studies of language disorders. Selective comprehension deficits and selective naming deficits that are category-specific have now been reported.5-7 In a recent study, McKenna and Warrington⁸ described a patient whose only intact naming competence was for the proper name class, countries. In the present study two major semantic categories were selected-object names and proper names. The choice of these particular categories was prompted by our previous single case study⁸ and by the observations of a further patient who had a selective impairment for one class of proper names in an otherwise intact naming vocabulary. We report the neurological and psychological investigations of this patient in Appendix 1.

In the present study we describe the construction of two graded naming tests, for object names and proper names respectively. These tests were standardised on a group of 100 normal subjects, and subsequently a group of 46 patients with localised left hemisphere lesions were tested. The aims of our investigations were threefold:

(1) To examine the relationship between intelligence and naming ability in a normal population with a view to developing a clinically more useful test.

(2) To explore the incidence of specific naming deficits in the object and proper name categories in patients with left hemisphere lesions; and

(3) To obtain further evidence for the anatomical correlates of naming deficits.

Accepted 13 March 1980

781

782

Construction and standardisation of the naming tests

Collection of item pool

Object and proper name items to meet the following criteria were collected:

(1) Items should be sufficiently distinctive to be presented in photographic or pictorial form (for example "sandpaper," "vinegar" would not be suitable).

(2) That the particular responses required should be immediately recognisable from the visual stimulus as being the single response desired, for example a drawing of a "crowd" or "coast" would be too open to misinterpretation and could invoke many responses, such as "people," "mob," "meeting," and "land," "shore," "seaside," etc.

(3) That the visual representation of the items as well as the verbal concept should be well known. This proved particularly difficult to achieve in choosing proper names, for example most authors, however famous, are unknown pictorially.

(4) That there should be stability over time such that the items have "staying power." Therefore many contemporary personalities were not considered suitable.

Following these criteria as closely as possible, a pool of 66 proper names and 61 object names were collected for standardisation.

Measures of intelligence

Obviously the most satisfactory measure of intelligence would have been a comprehensive IQ test such as the WAIS but time factors rendered such a project untenable. As a compromise the Vocabulary and Picture Completion subtests of the WAIS were given. These were chosen on the grounds that they are the verbal and performance scale subtests that correlate most highly with the full scale IQ. Also included were the Nelson and Schonell reading tests⁹ on the grounds that previous studies¹⁰ ¹¹ had shown these to be good indicators of level of intellectual functioning in normal subjects.

Procedure

One hundred volunteers ranging in age from 18 to 76 years acted as subjects. The great majority of these were patients with extracerebral diseases at the National Hospital. Only subjects who had been educated in the normal English system were included. The tests were given in one session, the WAIS subtests being followed by the reading tests and then the 61 object name items and the 66 proper name items.

Selection of test items

From the results obtained for the 61 object names and the 66 proper names, items that were too easy



Fig 1 Control subjects: distribution of scores on the Object Names Test and Proper Names Test.

or too hard to produce good discrimination between the subjects were eliminated, as were items producing ambiguous responses (see criteria (II) for item selection). Thirty object name items and 30 proper name items were selected from the remainder to form two tests of graded difficulty (see Appendix II). The results of the 100 volunteer normal subjects on these two 30-item tests are shown in fig 1.

Results of standardisation

The correlations (product-moment) between each measure of intelligence and each score on the two naming tests are given in table 1.

It has already been established that scores on the WAIS Vocabulary and the Nelson and Schonell reading tests are highly intercorrelated¹⁰ ¹¹ and the present study has shown high correlations between

	Object names	Proper names
WAIS vocabulary	0.72	0.67
Picture Completion	0.45	0.41
Nelson reading	0.73	0.70
Schonell reading	0.69	0.64

Par McKenna and Elizabeth K Warrington

Testing for nominal dysphasia

	Object name score	SE	Proper name score	SE
Vocabulary score	$4.32 + (0.38 \times \text{Obj.})$	1.6	$7.55 + (0.26 \times \text{Prop})$	1.7
Nelson score	$-9.55+(1.83\times Obj.)$	7.4	$-2.19+(1.3 \times Prop)$	7.7
Schonell score	$61.95 + (1.40 \times \text{Obj.})$	6.32	$74.06 + (0.95 \times \text{Prop})$	6.71

these tests and the two naming tests. Thus it is clear that spoken vocabulary, naming vocabulary and reading vocabulary are closely related functions. The nonverbal measure of intelligence, Picture Completion, correlated less highly with the two naming tests. The following regression equations were therefore computed in order to predict WAIS vocabulary scaled scores, Nelson reading scores and Schonell reading scores from scores on the naming tests. The standard error for each regression equation is also given.

The means and standard deviations of the scores on the WAIS subtests, reading tests and naming tests are given in table 2. It must be noted that these measures in the present group of normal subjects are shifted upwards from the scores obtained by the population tested by Wechsler and it is therefore not appropriate to normalise the naming test scores on the same scale, that is with a mean of 10 and standard deviation of 3. Nevertheless, tables for naming scores and their intelligence test equivalents can be derived from the above regression equations (for example see Appendix III).

Subjects

The experimental group consisted of 46 patients with unilateral cerebral lesions of the left hemisphere (established by computed tomography or other radiological investigations). Thirty-two of these patients had well-localised space-occupying lesions and the remaining 14 had vascular lesions considered to be restricted to the left hemisphere. Forty of these patients were referred from the National Hospital for Nervous Diseases, the remaining six from the London and Brook Hospitals. Again, only patients over 18 years of age and educated in this country were included. This group of patients with left hemisphere lesions was tested according to the procedure described for the normal subject in the standardisation of the two naming tests. The control subjects, consisting of 100 normal subjects, are described in the previous section.

Results

Group comparisons

The results of the left hemisphere group and the control group were compared using a t-test (see table 2). It is clear that the left hemisphere lesion

) $7 \cdot 4 -2 \cdot 19 + (1 \cdot 3 \times \text{Prop})$ $7 \cdot 7$ $6 \cdot 32 \quad 74 \cdot 06 + (0 \cdot 95 \times \text{Prop})$ $6 \cdot 71$ group is significantly impaired on all these tasks. The question arises as to whether their impairment on the two naming tests merely reflects a generally lowered level of cognitive functioning or whether this group of patients as a whole has nominal deficits independent of their other cognitive deficits. Analysis of covariance¹² partialling out the effects of group differences on WAIS vocabulary, Nelson and Schonell reading

WAIS vocabulary, Nelson and Schonell reading scores were computed (table 3). The results showed that the left hemisphere group is significantly poorer in both object and proper naming abilities than the control group even allowing for their impairment in other verbal abilities.

In both the control group and the left hemisphere group the proper names test is significantly harder than the object names test (t=5.78, df 99, p<.001 and t=2.91, df 45, p<.01 respectively). A two-way ANOVA on the results of the two naming tests in the two groups confirmed the significant difference in test difficulty (F=33.1 df 1,144, p<.001) and confirmed the significant difference in group ability

Table 2Means and standard deviations for controland left hemisphere lesion subjects on all tests andt-test data for comparison groups

		Control group $(N = 100)$	LH lesion group $(N = 46)$	't' test (sig level)
Object names	Mean	22.54	15.15	5.44
•	(sd)	(4.3)	(7.15)	(p < 0.001)
Proper names	Mean	20.32	13.28	4.48
•	(sd)	(5.8)	(7.06)	(p < 0.001)
WAIS vocab	Mean	12.83	10.00	3.99
	(sd)	(2.25)	(3.73)	(p < 0.001)
Pict com	Mean	11.95	10.07	3.04
	(sd)	(2.39)	(2.65)	(p < 0.01)
Nelson	Mean	31.75	22.24	3.14
	(sd)	(10.78)	(14.21)	(p < 0.01)
Schonell	Mean	93·57 ́	73.76	4.14
	(sd)	(8.73)	(34.66)	(p <0·001

Table 3Comparison of left hemisphere group andcontrols on the naming tests using analyses of covariance

Covariate	Tests	(<i>F</i>)	Significance
Vocabulary	Object names	23.9	p < 0.001
Vocabulary	Proper names	7.6	p < 0.01
Nelson	Object names	33.8	p < 0.001
Nelson	Proper names	16.8	p < 0.001
Schonell	Object names	21.7	p < 0.001
Schonell	Proper names	13.6	p <0.001

784

(F=54.5, df 1, 144, p < .001). There was no evidence for any difference between left hemisphere and control groups in the pattern of object and proper naming abilities since the groups x test interaction was totally insignificant (F=0). The correlation (product moment) between the two naming tests in the control group and in the left hemisphere lesion group was 0.74 and 0.81 respectively. No single patient in the left hemisphere lesion group had an object/ proper name discrepancy score exceeding that obtained by any control subject.



Fig 2 Percentage of control and left hemisphere subjects passing each item of the Object Names Test and Proper Names Test.

Item analysis

The 30 items of each naming test were ordered according to item difficulty for the control group and the percentage correct per item for the control group and the left hemisphere lesion group are

Pat McKenna and Elizabeth K Warrington

shown in fig 2. The left hemisphere group scores are parallel with those of the control group but are at a lower level of competence. The finding that these curves appear parallel suggests that there are no qualitative differences between normal and impaired naming skills. For each subject the naming test results were re-analysed to compare performance on the easy (first 15) items and hard (second 15) items and for each naming test a two-way ANOVA was computed (groups x item difficulty). For neither the object names test nor the proper names test was there a significant groups x item difficulty interaction term (F=140, df 1,144 NS and F=0.51, df 1,144, NS respectively), which provides some confirmation that there is no differential effect of item difficulty in the left hemisphere lesion group.

Within hemisphere group comparisons

Since many of the patients in the left hemisphere lesion group did not have a lesion restricted to a single lobe, an inclusive classification was adopted (for example a temporal/parietal lesion case would be allotted to both the temporal and parietal subgroups). However, in order to compare these lesion subgroups with each other, a partially exclusive grouping was adopted, that is the patients with temporal-parietal lesions were excluded from both the temporal and parietal subgroups in computing the significance of the difference between the temporal and parietal subgroups and, similarly, patients with fronto-temporal lesions were excluded from both the temporal and frontal subgroups for the temporal frontal comparison. Thus, for each subgroup comparison the computation is based on two non-overlapping subgroups. This method of analysis has the additional advantage of, to some extent, taking into account a difference in the distribution of size of lesion in each of the three major subgroups. The mean scores and standard deviations for the resulting subgroups are given in table 4 together with the *t*-tests and their significances for the group comparisons. The temporal group is significantly impaired relative to both the parietal and frontal subgroups on the object names test. On the proper names test the temporal subgroups obtained the lowest mean score but the difference between the subgroups does not reach significance.

Discussion

In this paper we have described the construction and standardisation of a graded-difficulty naming test based on a category distinction of object and proper names. The evidence that naming ability is an intelligence-related skill will be discussed and

Testing for nominal dysphasia

	Temporals (temp. + temp. frontals) ($N = 10$)	vs	Parietal (N = 8	s (parietals)	+ front-par.)	
Object names				t	Significance	
Mean	12.4		17.5			
sd	7.6		7.6	2.60	< 0.02	
Proper names						
Mean	11.0		14.6			
sd	6.5		8.2	1.43	N S.	
	Temporals (temp. $+$ temp-parietal) ($N = 10$)	vs	Frontal (N = 1	(frontals + 6)	front-par.)	
Object names	······································			1	Significance	
Mean	10.6		16.7	-		
sd	6.9		5.6	4.16	< 0.001	
Proper names						
Mean	10.9		13.5			
. d	6.0		7.0	1.69	NS	

 Table 4
 Comparison of left hemisphere lesion subgroups: mean scores, standard deviations and significance level on the object names and proper names tests

the relevance of this relationship for clinical assessment will be considered.

It was shown that performance on the naming tests correlates highly in normal subjects with spoken vocabulary as measured by the standard vocabulary subtest of the WAIS and with reading vocabulary as measured by the Schonell and Nelson. Furthermore these three tests are generally accepted as robust indices of general intelligence level in normal subjects. The implications of these findings in the clinical context are obvious-in testing for nominal dysphasia it must be helpful to obtain a measure of an individual's present level of functioning on an ordinal scale. This can now be achieved by using a test of graded difficulty. To date, the identification of a minimal or even a mild degree of nominal dysphasia is largely a matter of clinical judgement. However, the present test enables a predicted score on the reading and vocabulary tests to be computed from the score obtained on the naming test. Thus a naming score is converted to a percentile measure, for example for any naming score an equivalent vocabulary scaled score can be computed from the regression equation. This value can be accepted as an indication of the patient's present nominal abilities which can then be compared with other test scores and with a clinical estimate of the patient's premorbid intelligence.

It is hoped that in mild cases of nominal dysphasia a quantitative measure may be illuminating and that in more severe cases of nominal dysphasia where the deficit is obvious a quantitative statement may add to the value of a case description. In addition these naming tests provide a tool for monitoring improvement or deterioration of this language skill in any individual patient.

It has previously been reported by Weisenburg and McBride,¹³ Rochford and Williams³ and Newcombe

et al^2 that high frequency names are less vulnerable to word finding difficulties than are low frequency names. The present results confirm these findings. The performance of the left hemisphere lesion group was depressed but qualitatively similar to that of the control group. There was no differential effect in the left hemisphere group of task difficulty. This was an expected finding which supports the generally accepted view that low frequency items are especially vulnerable to nominal difficulties and reinforces the clinical necessity of a naming test which is graded in difficulty.

Comparison of performance on the object and proper names provided little or no evidence of category specificity in the left hemisphere lesion group as a whole. The groups x tests interaction was totally insignificant and indeed in no single case was there a striking impairment or preservation of object or proper names. The single case study reported in Appendix I, considered in the perspective of these group data, highlights the rarity of the incidence of highly circumscribed and selective deficits in a neurological population. This patient was shown to have a very small lesion due to a minor stroke from which she recovered rapidly. It should be noted that the majority of subjects of this study had larger and more incapacitating lesions.

Finally, as our population were not chosen on the criterion of the presence of aphasia, consideration of the anatomical correlates of nominal dysphasia becomes viable. A number of previous studies have emphasised the association of temporal lobe lesions and nominal dysphasia.¹⁴ Coughlan and Warrington¹⁵ found that although nominal skills were impaired in all lesion groups, the temporal lobe group was significantly more impaired than either the frontal or the parietal lesion groups. The present study replicates this finding and we conclude that although

786

an integrity of many areas of the left hemisphere is necessary for intact naming skills, word retrieval processes are subserved in the main by structures in the left temporal lobe. It is possible that failure to take into account the problem of task difficulty has led to the opposite view that nominal problems have little or no localising significance.¹⁶

APPENDIX 1

A single case study of a category-specific naming deficit for names of people. Case report

GBL (Hospital No. A81818), a 55 year old secondary school teacher was admitted to the National Hospital in May 1975 for investigation of intermittent visual disturbances and poor memory. On examination she was found to have a right upper quadrantic field defect. There were no other neurological signs and in particular her language functions appeared normal. Gamma scan was normal but computed tomography showed a small infarct in the region of the posterior temporal branch of the middle cerebral artery of the left hemisphere (fig 3). Psychological findings GBL was tested on the WAIS and obtained a verbal IQ of 130 and a performance IQ of 116. On a recognition test (2 choice) for written words she scored 44/50 which is within the average range (scaled score 10)* and on a comparable memory test for faces she scored 48/50 which is within the superior range (scaled score 15)*. Her reading and spelling were entirely normal. On routine testing verbal comprehension, object naming and verbal fluency appeared entirely normal. On the Oldfield naming test she responded quickly and scored 26/26 correct. In contrast on a test of naming well-known personalities her performance was quite impaired: she named only three out of 20 photo-

*Normalised scores Mean 10, SD 3, Warrington, unpublished.

APPENDIX II

Objects		
1 Kangaro	0	
2 Scarecrow	N	
3 Buoy		
4 Thimble		
5 Handcuff	ŝ	
6 Tweezers		
7 Corkscrev	w	
8 Sporran-		
9 Tassel		
10 Sundial -		
11 Chopsticl	ks	
12 Periscope		
13 Boar		
14 Blinkers		

Pat McKenna and Elizabeth K Warrington

graphs (scaled score 3)* in spite of having no difficulty in identifying all but two of them by description. (For example, when shown a photograph of Mr Heath, she responded "Conservative, was Prime Minister, organist, comes from the South Coast".) This apparently selective and circumscribed difficulty in identifying people by name was investigated further.

GBL was asked to name the author of 20 wellknown books all of which she had read, for example "Who wrote Pride and Prejudice?"; she scored 7/20. Similarly, she was asked to name from their description 20 political and national leaders. She claimed knowledge of all these personalities but she was only able to name nine of them correctly. She did not appear to have comparable difficulty in naming places (towns) on a map. She succeeded in identifying 16 of 20 European towns and 12 of 12 English towns.

Her ability to generate proper names from specific categories appeared to parallel her naming difficulties. She was able to produce 22 town names in 60 seconds but only two political or national leaders and only three English prime ministers in the same time limit. She did rather better with authors, producing nine in the 60 seconds. However, when names of specific people were not required, her performance was very much better; she generated 19 girls names and 14 surnames in separate 60 second periods.

We argue from these results that GBL has a nominal deficit affecting one particular class of proper nouns, (names of people) whilst another class of proper nouns, (names of towns), was spared. Whether naming was from a visual representation or from a verbal description did not appear to affect the severity of the deficit. In conclusion we suggest that GBL provides a further example of a categoryspecific naming deficit.

Proper names

1	Hitler
2	Fiffel Tower
2	Henry VIII
3	
4	Italy
5	Queen Victoria — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —
6	Napoleon
7	Mona Lisa
8	Ghandi
9	Joan of Arc
10	Eros
11	L Armstrong —
12	Lawrence of Arabia
13	S America
14	Tai Mahal
	1 41 17141141

Testing for nominal dysphasia

Ob	jects
15	Monocle
16	Turtle
17	Trampoline
18	Bellows
19	Shuttlecock
20	Anteater
21	Pagoda
22	Radius
23	Leotard
24	Mitre
25	Yashmak
26	Sextant
27	Centaur
28	Cowl
29	Tutu
30	Retort

Proper names 15 Elizabeth I 16 F Nightingale 17 Mao Tse Tung 18 Shakespeare 19 Castro 20 Canute 21 Harold 22 Kremlin 23 Lincoln 24 Lenin 25 Rasputin 26 Trotsky 27 Parthenon 28 Disraeli 29 Marx 30 Virginia Woolf

APPENDIX III

Prediction of vocabulary from naming scores Objects (vocab= $4.32 \pm (0.38 \times \text{object})$

$Objects (vocab - 4.52 + (0.58 \times 00)ect)$ Objs	Vocab
30	16
29	······································
28	15
27	
26	
25	14
24	
23	13
22	
21	
20	12
19	
18	
17	11
16	10
15	10
13	
12	9
10	-
9	8
8	
7	7
6	
5	
4	6
3	-
2	5
0	4

Proper (vocab = $7.55 + (0.26 \times \text{proper})$

Proper	Vocab
30	
29	15
28	
27	
26	
25	14
24	
23	
22	
21	13
20	
19	
18	12
17	
16	
15	
14	11
13	
12	
11	
10	
9	10
8	
7	
6	9
5	
4	
3	
2	8
1	
0	

787

788

We thank the physicians and surgeons of the National Hospital for Nervous Diseases and the Brook Hospital for permission to test patients under their care. We are grateful to Professor RW Gilliatt for permission to study GBL and to report our findings. We wish to thank Dr Alan M Whiteley who prepared the brain diagram. We are also grateful to Dr RTC Pratt and Dr T Shallice for their helpful comments in the preparation of this manuscript. We would particularly like to thank Dr Hazel Nelson for her invaluable advice in this investigation.

References

- 1 Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Manual. New York: Psychological Corporation, 1955.
- 2 Newcombe F, Oldfield RC, Wingfield A. Objectnaming by dysphasic patients. *Nature* 1965; 207: 1217-8.
- 3 Rochford G, Williams M. Studies in the development and breakdown of the use of names. Part IV: The effects of word-frequency. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat 1965; 28:407-13.
- 4 Wiegel-Crump C, Koenigsknecht RA. Tapping the lexical store of the adult aphasic: Analysis of the improvement made in word retrieval skills. *Cortex* 1973; 9:410–7.
- 5 Goodglass H, Klein B, Carey P, Jones KJ. Specific semantic word categories in aphasia. Cortex 1966; 2:74-89.

Pat McKenna and Elizabeth K Warrington

- 6 Yamadori A, Albert ML. Word category aphasia. Cortex 1973; 9:112-25.
- 7 Warrington EK. The selective impairment of semantic memory. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology 1975; 27:636-57.
- 8 McKenna P, Warrington EK. Category-specific naming presentation: A single case study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat 1978; 41:571-4.
- 9 Schonell FJ, Schonell FE. Diagnostic and attainment testing. Edinburgh: Oliver and Boyd, 1950.
- 10 Nelson HE, McKenna P. The use of current reading ability in the assessment of dementia. British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology 1975; 14:259-67.
- 11 Nelson HE, O'Connell A. Dementia: the estimation of premorbid intelligence levels using the new adult reading test. *Cortex* 1978; 14:234-44.
- 12 Winer BJ. Statistical principles in experimental design, 1970.
- 13 Weisenburg T, McBride K. Aphasia: A clinical and psychological study. New York: Commonwealth Fund, 1935.
- 14 Hecaen H, Angelergues R. Localization of symptoms in aphasia, In: De Reuck AVS, O'Connor M, eds. Disorders of Language. London: Churchill, 1964.
- 15 Coughlan AK, Warrington EK. Word-comprehension and word-retrieval in patients with localised cerebral lesions. *Brain* 1978; **101**:163-85.
- 16 Goldstein K. Language and language disturbances. New York: Grune and Stratton, 1948.
- 17 Goodglass H, Kaplan E. The assessment of aphasia and related disorders. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, 1972.

Psychological Medicine, 1997, 27, 967–971. Copyright © 1997 Cambridge University Press

BRIEF COMMUNICATION

Performance on the delayed word recall test (DWR) fails to differentiate clearly between depression and Alzheimer's disease in the elderly

R. E. O'CARROLL,¹ S. CONWAY, A. RYMAN AND N. PRENTICE

From the Department of Psychology, University of Stirling; and MRC Brain Metabolism Unit, Royal Edinburgh Hospital, Morningside Park, Edinburgh

ABSTRACT

Background. The differential diagnosis of early dementia of the Alzheimer's type from depression in the elderly is often made difficult by the presence of significant memory impairment in depressed patients. The Delayed Word Recall test (DWR) was developed to facilitate the early diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. The DWR involves: (a) repeated elaborate encoding of ten separate words; (b) a filled delay; (c) delayed free recall. A recognition memory test has also been recently developed. The available evidence suggests impressive sensitivity and specificity when the DWR has been used to separate patients with early Alzheimer's disease from very well matched controls.

Methods. In the present study, the DWR was evaluated with regard to its ability to separate a group of 50 patients with early Alzheimer's disease from 50 elderly patients with major depression in a between-subjects experimental design.

Results. For both free recall and recognition indices, the between-group overlap was large. Using recommended cut-off scores for the detection of Alzheimer's disease, 44% of the depressed patients would have been misclassified as demented based on their free recall scores, and 48% of the depressed patients would have been misclassified on the basis of their recognition scores.

Conclusion. We conclude that the DWR is not specific enough to clearly distinguish patients with early Alzheimer's disease from elderly patients with major depression.

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

INTRODUCTION (b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

¹ Address for correspondence: Dr R. E. O'Carroll, Department of Psychology, University of Stirling, Stirling FK9 4LA.

967
Original Research Article



Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2001;12:265-280

Accepted: November 8, 2000

Early Detection and Differential Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease and Depression with Neuropsychological Tasks

R. Swainson^a J.R. Hodges^b C.J. Galton^b J. Semple^{a,d} A. Michael^e B.D. Dunn^a J.L. Iddon^f T.W. Robbins^c B.J. Sahakian^a

Departments of ^aPsychiatry, ^bNeurology and ^cExperimental Psychology, University of Cambridge, ^dSmithKline Beecham Ltd., Addenbrooke's Centre for Clinical Investigation, Cambridge, ^eWest Suffolk Hospital, Bury St. Edmunds, and ^fCeNeS Pharmaceuticals PLC, Histon, Cambridge, UK

Key Words

Early detection · Alzheimer's disease · Depression · Neuropsychological assessment · Differential diagnosis · Neural and pharmacotherapeutic implications

Abstract

The development of novel treatments for Alzheimer's disease (AD), aimed at ameliorating symptoms and modifying disease processes, increases the need for early diagnosis. Neuropsychological deficits such as poor episodic memory are a consistent feature of early-in-thecourse AD, but they overlap with the cognitive impairments in other disorders such as depression, making differential diagnosis difficult. Computerised and traditional tests of memory, attention and executive function were given to four subject groups: mild AD (n = 26); questionable dementia (QD; n = 43); major depression (n = 37) and healthy controls (n = 39). A visuo-spatial associative learning test accurately distinguished AD from depressed/control subjects and revealed an apparent subgroup of QD patients who performed like AD patients. QD patients' performance correlated with the degree of subsequent global cognitive decline. Elements of contextual and cued recall may account for the task's sensitivity and specificity for AD.

Copyright © 2001 S. Karger AG, Basel

KARGER Fax + 41 61 306 12 34

www.karger.com

E-Mail karger@karger.ch

1420-8008/01/0124-0265\$17.50/0 Accessible online at: www.karger.com/journals/dem

© 2001 S. Karger AG. Basel

Introduction

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

Department of Psychiatry, University of Cambridge Box 189, Addenbrooke's Hospital, Hills Road Cambridge CB2 2QQ (UK), Tel. +44 1223 331209

Fax +44 1223 336968, E-Mail jenny.hall@msexc.addenbrookes.anglox.nhs.uk

Dr. B.J. Sahakian

11. DEVICE DESCRIPTION

Product Name:	Cantab Mobile
Indication:	Assess Memory in Patients Aged 50 to 90 Years



<u>Sponsor</u>

© Cambridge Cognition Limited Tunbridge Court Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridge, CB25 9TU UK Tel: +44 (0) 1223 810 700 Fax: +44 (0) 1223 810 701

<u>United States Agent</u> Clementi and Associates Ltd. 919 Conestoga Road Rosemont, PA 19010

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIS	ST OF IN-T	EXT TABLES	2
LIS	ST OF IN-T	EXT FIGURES	2
1	DEVICE	DESCRIPTION	3
	1.1 Pat	ient Data Entry	4
	1.2 Me	mory Test	4
	1.3 Qu	estionnaire(s)	6
	1.4 Rep	oort Manager	7
	1.4.1	Description	7
	1.4.2	What Is Reported	8
	1.5 Dev	vice Classification	9
2	SPECIFI	CATIONS	10
	2.1 Fur	actional Requirements	10
	2.2 Dev	vice Safety Characteristics and Risks	12
3	LITERA	FURE CITED	13
4	APPEND	ICES	14
	Appendix	A. Cantab Mobile Self Assessment Scale	14
	Appendix	B. Examples of Cantab Mobile PAL Test Patterns and Layout	15
	Appendix	C. Mood Assessment (GDS)	16
	Appendix	D. Functional Assessment (ADL)	
	Appendix	E. Example Reports	21
5	REFERE	NCED DOCUMENTS	24

LIST OF IN-TEXT TABLES

Table 1.	Cantab Mobile's End-User Roles and Requirements Specifications	.10
Table 2.	Description of Cantab Mobile's Functional Specifications	.11

LIST OF IN-TEXT FIGURES

Figure 1.	iPad with App Icon at Top Left	3
Figure 2.	Data Entry Screen	4
Figure 3.	Pattern Appears in Box	5
Figure 4.	Patient Chooses Box	6
Figure 5.	GDS Rating Scale and Format	7
Figure 6.	Report Manager	8

1 DEVICE DESCRIPTION

Cantab Mobile is software to be loaded and run on Apple iPad hardware and operating system (Figure 1). Below is a list of possible device accessories:

- The iPad¹ is an essential accessory
- Disposable iPad Sleeve (see also **Instructions for Use [Section 13]**) for cleaning recommendations)
- iPad stand
- A iPad battery charger is also supplied with the iPad

Figure 1. iPad with App Icon at Top Left



Cantab Mobile does not have a restricted shelf-life. Ongoing support of the manufacturer is required, however, and is detailed below.

The medical device software must be updated when new releases are made available. The iPad operating system should also be kept up to date. Both may be achieved automatically. The iPad battery should be charged as required. No calibration is necessary.

Ongoing support by the manufacturer is required. The app must be able to confirm periodically with the manufacturer that it is licensed, and be updated as required over time.

¹ Cantab Mobile is not authorized for use on the iPad mini or the iPad 1 (the first generation iPad). Do not install the app on these devices.

The test is not susceptible to environmental influences within the defined environment for its administration. We instruct that physicians must always administer the tests in a quiet, peaceful environment, with the iPad volume level set so that the patient can clearly hear instructions being given. For patients with impaired hearing, additional support may need to be provided to ensure they can correctly hear and understand the instructions during the test, e.g. use headphones.

A technical wireframe, or mobile app screen blueprint, of Cantab Mobile is a supportive document that presents the skeletal framework, interface elements, and navigational flow (See Cantab Mobile Wireframes).

1.1 Patient Data Entry

Prior to the PAL test itself, the healthcare professional administering the test enters patient data (patient ID, date of birth, gender, educational background etc.).² This is used in assessing the patient's performance against a set of normative data.

Figure 2. Data Entry Screen

Patient Detai	ls	
Patient I.D.:	Full name or identifier	
D.O.B.:	dd/mm/yyyy	
Gender:	Female Male	Run Test
Education:	Select Education	
Language:	English (UK)	
Self Assess:	On Off	

1.2 Memory Test

Cantab Mobile provides an optional patient self assessment of memory (Self Assess enabled on the data entry screen). If this assessment is enabled, the patient will rate his/her memory prior to taking Cantab PAL. The patient is presented a rating scale against which they rate their memory as above average (left of center), average (center), or below average (right of center) (See Appendix A). Comparing self-rated memory with the objective

2 Patient details must be entered correctly. Incorrect patient details can lead to incorrect reporting of patient impairment.

measure of memory, provided by Cantab PAL, can reveal any discrepancies between actual and perceived memory ability.

The Cantab Mobile memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test previously used on other hardware platforms. The Cantab PAL requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on a touch-sensitive computer screen. The patterns were all created to be bold, brightly colored, abstract and with no cultural context See Appendix B for examples of patterns used.

Patterns are presented in six boxes around the edge of the screen (See Figure 3). The patterns disappear from the screen, leaving empty boxes and, after a brief delay, the same patterns are presented sequentially in the middle of the screen and the patient is required to touch the box in which they previously saw that pattern appear. (Figure 4)




Cantab Mobile Traditional 510(k) Cambridge Cognition Limited 2016 All Rights Reserved

Figure 4. Patient Chooses Box



If the patterns' locations are not recalled correctly, this is identified to the patient via audio prompts and pattern presentation and recall is repeated. This process continues until the task is completed successfully, at which point the next task is started, or repeated failures by the patient to recall the locations correctly cause the test to end. The whole test consists of a series of such tasks with increasing levels of difficulty.

The patient's responses are recorded by screen touches. The number of errors that they make are recorded and their performance is graded using algorithms derived from a normative database ^{(b) (4)}

1.3 Questionnaire(s)

Cantab Mobile additionally includes optional questionnaires. Questionnaires operate by presenting a series of questions to the patient, with clearly labeled response boxes that the patient may touch in order to answer each question (Figure 5). Ratings scales administered (depending on patient performance, and if not disabled by the healthcare professional) comprise:

- 1. GDS Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire (See Appendix C)
- 2. ADL Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire (See Appendix D)

The GDS rating scale in the app is the shorter version of GDS including 15 questions, the GDS-15 (Almeida and Almeida 1999), which is based on the GDS described by Yesavage and colleagues (Yesavage et al 1983): The GDS rating scale comprises a series of questions, each presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force, two buttons below to allow the patient to respond 'yes' and 'no' (or equivalent in the language in force). A progress bar gives an approximate indication of progress through the questions and

a button with a backward arrow allows the user to return to the preceding question (if any) and choose again. See Figure 5 below for an example of a GDS-15 rating scale question and its format, as it is presented in the app.





Administration of the ADL rating scale comprises a series of questions, each presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force³, with the introductory text given above the question and buttons below to allow the patient to choose from the responses permitted for the question. A progress bar gives an approximate indication of progress through the questions and a button with a backward arrow allows (except on questions 1 and 11) the user to return to the preceding question and choose again.



3 The entire user interface respects the text direction (left-to-right or right-to-left) of the language in force including the backward arrow button and progress bar



1.5 Device Classification

The device is presently classified IIa under EU directive 93/42/EEC. It is standalone software that could be regarded as allowing monitoring of vital physiological processes (MEDDEV 2.1/6 section 3.1.1).

(b) (4) 2 SPECIFICATIONS



2.2 Device Safety Characteristics and Risks

Risk management for the device is handled under controlled procedures within a Quality Management System. These procedures are designed to meet applicable requirements of EN ISO 13485:2012 and EN ISO 14971:2012.

Identification of characteristics of the device that could impact on safety are documented in **QRM-01-001**. Risk analysis was conducted according to a risk analysis plan referencing controlled procedures, namely **QRM-02-002**, and the conclusion of the risk analysis process is documented in report **QRM-02-003**.

The summary of all points of the risk analysis is provided in **QRM-02-001**.

3 LITERATURE CITED

Almeida OP, Almeida SA. Short versions of the geriatric depression scale: a study of their validity for the diagnosis of a major depressive episode according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 1999;14(10):858-65..

Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL, Lum O, Huang V, Adey MB, et al. Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: A preliminary report. Journal of Psychiatric Research 1983;17:37-49.

4 APPENDICES

(b) (4)



Appendix C. Mood Assessment (GDS)

The Mood Assessment (GDS) is automatically administered. Cantab PAL performance is not a conditional factor in administering the Mood Assessment.

Are you basically satisfied with your life?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Have you dropped many of your activities and interests?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you feel that your life is empty?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you often get bored?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Are you in good spirits most of the time?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Are you afraid that something bad is going to happen to you?

□ Yes □ No

Do you feel happy most of the time?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you often feel helpless?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you prefer to stay at home, rather than going out and doing new things?

 \Box Yes

 \Box No

Do you feel you have more problems with memory than most?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you think it is wonderful to be alive now?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you feel pretty worthless the way you are now?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you feel full of energy?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you feel that your situation is hopeless?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you think that most people are better off than you are?

 \Box Yes

 \Box No

Appendix D. Functional Assessment (ADL)

This test is automatically administered after Cantab PAL if the patient's Cantab PAL performance has indicated that they fall in the "Investigate" category

Part 1:

In the past 3 months, were you able to:

Do your own shopping?

 \Box Yes

- □ Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Prepare meals?

 \Box Yes

- □ Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Write checks, pay bills, or use an ATM case machine?

 \Box Yes

- □ Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- □ No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Travel by car or public transport?

□ Yes

- \Box Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Carry out housework, laundry or home repairs?

 \Box Yes

- \Box Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Do hobbies such as a card games or crosswords?

 \Box Yes

- \Box Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Follow the story of a TV program, book or movie?

 \Box Yes

- \Box Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Keep track of current events in the news or the media?

 \Box Yes

- □ Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Remember appointments or important dates such as birthdays?

 \Box Yes

- \Box Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

Remember to take your medication?

 \Box Yes

- □ Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
- \Box No, I could not do it
- \Box I did not try

<u>Part 2:</u>

Can you:

See well enough to recognize someone across the street (wearing glasses or contact lenses if necessary?)

 \Box Yes \Box No

Hear what people are saying when they are speaking at a normal volume?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Walk up and down a set of stairs without help?

□ Yes □ No (b) (4) Device Description

(b) (4) Device Description

(b) (4) Device Description

5 REFERENCED DOCUMENTS

Cantab Mobile Technical Wireframes Cantab Mobile Managing Reports Quick Reference Guide Demographic Adjustment of Scores (NMI-020) Identification of Characteristics (QRM-01-001) PALD Risk Management Plan (QRM-02-002) Risk Summary Report (QRM-02-003) Risk Analysis (QRM-02-001)

Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

Management Approval : Owner

Name:	Ian Cartland	Role:	Project Manager
Signature:		Date:	

Management Approval : Additional

Name:	Jenny Barnett	Role:	Requirements Representative (Science)
Signature:		Date:	

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the document is approved for use.

Quality Assurance Approval

Name:	Ricky Dolphin	Role:	Nominated Delegate Quality Manager	
Signature:		Date:		
Document History				
------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------	----------------------	---
Version	Date released for approval	Developer Initials	Reviewer Initials	Changes from Previous Version
4.0	29 May 2015	IC	JB	Revisions for multi-domain mode and from review. Updated document template.

QRM-01-001 v4.0 : This is a version of a Cambridge Cognition controlled document with all content removed that does not pertain to the operation of standard (STA) Cantab Mobile.

Guidelines on Identifying Medical Device Characteristics that could Impact on Safety Extracted from EN ISO 14971:2012 Annex C

C1. General

Sub clause 4.2 requires that the manufacturer identify those characteristics of the medical device that could affect safety. Consideration of these characteristics is an essential step in identifying the hazards of the medical device as required in 4.3. One way of doing this is to ask a series of questions concerning the manufacture, intended users, intended use, reasonably foreseeable misuse, and ultimate disposal of the medical device. If one asks these questions from the point of view of all the individuals involved (e.g., users, maintainers, patients, etc.), a more complete picture can emerge of where the hazards can be found. The following questions can aid the reader in identifying all the characteristics of the medical device that could affect safety.

The list is not exhaustive, or representative of all medical devices, and the reader is advised to add questions that can have applicability to the particular medical device and to skip questions that are not relevant to the particular medical device. The reader is also advised to consider each question not only on its own but also in relation to others.

Hazar d ID No	C.2 Questions	Applicable Y/N
1	C.2.1: What is the intended use and how is the medical device to be used? The medical device is designed to detect episodic memory impairments in patients aged 50-90 who may be experiencing mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or dementia. Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living. The device is used by the patient, under supervision by medical staff. The patient simply follows the audio instructions produced by the device, touching the screen to provide their answers when prompted.	Yes
	Cantab Mobile is not a diagnostic test. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria.	
2	C.2.2: Is the medical device intended to be implanted?	No
3	C.2.3: Is the medical device intended to be in contact with the patient or other persons?Only the third-party hardware on which the medical device software runs is in contact with the patient.	No
4	C.2.4: What materials or components are utilized in the medical device or are used with, or are in contact with, the medical device? None	No

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.

© Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2015. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

Page 3 of 7

QRM-01-001 v4.0 : This is a version of a Cambridge Cognition controlled document with all content removed that does not pertain to the operation of standard (STA) Cantab Mobile.

Hazar d ID No	C.2 Questions	Applicable Y/N
5	C.2.5: Is energy delivered to or extracted from the patient?	No
6	C.2.6: Are substances delivered to or extracted from the patient?	No
7	C.2.7: Are biological materials processed by the medical device for subsequent re-use, transfusion or transplantation?	No
8	C.2.8: Is the medical device supplied sterile or intended to be sterilized by the user, or are other microbiological controls applicable?	No
9	C.2.9: Is the medical device intended to be routinely cleaned and disinfected by the user?	No
10	C.2.10: Is the medical device intended to modify the patient environment?	No
11	C.2.11: Are measurements taken? The device does not have a measuring function in the sense of Annex VII paragraph 5 of MDD and MEDDEV 2.1/5. The patient's responses (screen touches) are logged in order to calculate test scores. The patient's test scores are compared with algorithms derived from a normative database of at least several hundred individuals collected during academic research in the UK, which takes into account their age, gender and level of education.	Yes
12	C.2.12: Is the medical device interpretive? The medical device is interpretive. The output provided by the device is not diagnostic. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria.	Yes
13	C.2.13: Is the medical device intended for use in conjunction with other medical devices, medicines or other medical technologies?	No
14	C.2.14: Are there unwanted outputs of energy or substances?	No
15	C.2.15: Is the medical device susceptible to environmental influences? The test is not susceptible to environmental influences within the defined environment for its administration.	No

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.

© Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2015. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

Page 4 of 7

QRM-01-001 v4.0 : This is a version of a Cambridge Cognition controlled document with all content removed that does not pertain to the operation of standard (STA) Cantab Mobile.

Hazar d ID No	C.2 Questions	Applicable Y/N
16	C.2.16: Does the medical device influence the environment?	No
17	C.2.17: Are there essential consumables or accessories associated with the medical device? The iPad is an essential accessory and, if needed, headphones. In the interests of hygiene we also recommend wiping the touch screen of the iPad with a standard alcohol disinfectant disposable wipe between each patients use. Alternatively a disposable iPad sleeve may be employed and discarded after each use.	Yes
18	C.2.18: Is maintenance or calibration necessary? The medical device software must be updated when new releases are made available. The iPad operating system should also be kept up to date. Both may be achieved automatically. The iPad battery should be charged as required. No calibration is necessary.	Yes
19	C2.19: Does the medical device contain software? The medical device is stand-alone software.	Yes
20	C.2.20: Does the medical device have a restricted shelf life?	No
21	C.2.21: Are there any delayed or long-term use effects?	No
22	C.2.22: To what mechanical forces will the medical device be subjected? None directly as it is stand-alone software.	No
23	C.2.23: What determines the lifetime of the medical device? Ongoing support by the manufacturer is required. The app must be able to confirm periodically with the manufacturer that it is licensed, and be updated as required over time.	Yes
24	C.2.24: Is the medical device intended for single use?	No
25	C.2.25: Is safe decommissioning or disposal of the medical device necessary?	No
26	C.2.26: Does installation or use of the medical device require special training or special skills? Installation and operation are straightforward, using a standard mobile device touch interface. The Instructions for Use (IFU) clearly and fully describe correct operation for both the physician and the patient.	Νο

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.

© Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2015. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

Page 5 of 7

QRM-01-001 v4.0 : This is a version of a Cambridge Cognition controlled document with all content removed that does not pertain to the operation of standard (STA) Cantab Mobile.

Hazar d ID No	C.2 Questions	Applicable Y/N
27	C.2.27: How will information for safe use be provided?	Mar
	All required information is contained within the IFU.	Yes
28	C.2.28: Will new manufacturing processes need to be established or introduced?	No
29	C.2.29: Is successful application of the medical device critically dependent on human factors such as the user interface?	See sub- items below
	C.2.29.1: Can the user interface design features contribute to use error?	
29.1	Patient details must be entered correctly. Incorrect patient details can lead to incorrect reporting of patient impairment.	Yes
29.2	C.2.29.2: Is the medical device used in an environment where distractions can cause use error? The test is not susceptible to environmental influences within the defined environment for its administration. We instruct that physicians must always administer the tests in a quiet, peaceful environment, with the iPad volume level set so that the patient can clearly hear instructions being given.	No
	For patients with impaired hearing, additional support may need to be provided to ensure they can correctly hear and understand the instructions during the test, e.g. use headphones.	
29.3	C.2.29.3: Does the medical device have connecting parts or accessories? The only required accessory is the iPad itself (see.C.2.17). A charger is also supplied with the iPad and required for use only between patient testing sessions.	Yes
	C.2.29.4: Does the medical device have a control interface?	
29.4	The control interface is basic and is not accessed by the patient. It is accessed by the physician to synchronise the device and enable or disable test options.	Yes
	C.2.29.5: Does the medical device display information?	
29.5	The patient simply follows the instructions that they hear and touch the screen to provide their answers in response to the test stimuli presented.	Yes
	C.2.29.6: Is the medical device controlled by a menu?	
29.6	The control interface is basic and is not accessed by the patient. It is accessed by the physician to synchronise the device and enable or disable test options.	Yes

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2015. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

QRM-01-001 v4.0 : This is a version of a Cambridge Cognition controlled document with all content removed that does not pertain to the operation of standard (STA) Cantab Mobile.

Hazar d ID No	C.2 Questions	Applicable Y/N
29.7	 C.2.29.7: Will the medical device be used by persons with special needs? Cantab Mobile is not suitable for individuals with severe visual impairment or those outside the indicated age range. The option to test or not to test is a decision that rests with the medical professional. Testing is supervised by a medical professional. A substantial number of peer reviewed publications describe the use of PAL in patients with cognitive impairment, and of the other tests included in Cantab Mobile in relevant populations. 	Yes
29.8	C.2.29.8: Can the user interface be used to initiate user actions? See C.2.29.1.	Yes
30	C.2.30: Does the medical device use an alarm system?	No
31	C.2.31: In what way(s) might the medical device be deliberately misused? Maintenance may be neglected. Instructions may not be followed correctly, e.g. entry of incorrect patient data.	Yes
32	C.2.32: Does the medical device hold data critical to patient care? Temporarily, the device holds patient report data prior to its transfer to the	Yes
33	C.2.33: Is the medical device intended to be mobile or portable? The medical device is software intended to run on a mobile device.	Yes
34	C.2.34: Does the use of the medical device depend on essential performance?	No

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2015. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

e oopyngne oambnuge ooginaam ze ro. An ngnis reserved. An addemarks adknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.



Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

Management A	Approval	:	Owner
--------------	----------	---	-------

Name:	lan Cartland	Role:	Project Manager
Signature:		Date:	

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA) indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the document is approved for use.

Quality Assurance Approval

Name:	Ricky Dolphin	Role:	Nominated Delegate Quality Manager
Signature:		Date:	



	Boodmont infotory				
Version	Date released for approval	Developer Initials	Reviewer Initials	Changes from Previous Version	
1.0	15/Jul/2011	High Edge	HHR	New Document	
2.0	14/Jun/2015	IC	RD	Updated year of referenced regulations. Corrected description for multi-domain mode.	

Document History



Cantab Mobile

1. Purpose and scope

This Risk Management Plan describes the activities undertaken to assess the risks associated with **Cantab Mobile** This plan complies with the requirements of EN ISO 14971:2012 Medical Devices – Application of risk management to medical devices.

2. Introduction

Cantab Mobile is medical device software, for assessment of cognition in a healthcare environment. Refer to PTF-001-001 for an overview of the device.

3. Risk Management Plan

This Risk Management Plan has been developed in accordance with the requirements of EN ISO 14971:2012, **SOP QRM-01**, Risk Management File and **SOP QRM-02**, Risk Management Process.

The plan is divided into two phases:

- Description of the intended use of the device and identification of the characteristics that could affect the safety of the device to patients, carers and the environment. Annex C of EN ISO 14971:2012 will be used to identify the device characteristics that could impact on safety.
- ii) Identification of known or foreseeable hazards using as a guide, Annex E of EN ISO 14971:2012. For each hazard identified, its risk potential will be estimated based on the severity and occurrence likelihood identified in this plan and **SOP QRM-02**, **Risk Management Process** and the actions taken to reduce the risk(s) identified.



On completion of the above analyses the Project Manager will review the actions to ensure that the risk control measures are appropriate for reducing the risk(s) to an acceptable level. If any residual risk has a 'high' level of concern, the Project Manager will ensure that the medical benefits of the device outweigh the residual risks. A Risk Summary Report will be prepared and added to the Risk Management File.

4. Responsibilities

The Project Manager is responsible for:

- Ensuring a Risk Management File is prepared for each project undertaken by the company;
- Assembling a Risk Management Team for the project with inputs from personnel having the appropriate knowledge and skills.

The Quality Manager has overall responsibility for the Risk Management Process.

The Risk Management Team will consist of, as a minimum, the Project Manager and the Quality Manager.

5. Risk estimation

The occurrence of the hazard shall be evaluated according to the following:

	Occurrence of the Hazard				
Ranking	Selection	Meaning			
1	Remote	So unlikely, occurrence is not expected			
2	Rare	Unlikely. Feasible but unlikely in common use			
3	Occasional	Shall occur relatively infrequently. May occur under			
		certain conditions			
4	Frequent	Can expect to occur with some regularity. Testing			
		shows occurrence is predictable.			
5	Continuously occurring	Shall occur on a regular basis. Known performance			
		litigation.			

The severity of the harm shall be evaluated according to the following and estimated based on the most likely type of injury to the end user.

	Severity of the harm				
Ranking	Selection	Meaning			
1	None	No adverse health consequence. Could cause minor nuisance or inconvenience to end user			
2	Limited	Transient, self limiting illness or injury. Could cause temporary discomfort.			
3	Moderate	Significant impairment, but temporary/reversible			
4	Severe	Serious injury, permanent impairment, irreversible.			
5	Life threat	Life threatening, death could occur			



The risk shall be evaluated using the following table:

0		SEVERITY				
C	LEVEL	1	2	3	4	5
U	5	М	М	Н	Н	Н
R	4	М	М	М	Н	Н
R	3	L	М	М	Н	Н
	2	L	L	М	М	М
C	1	L	L	M	М	М
E						

6. Level of concern

High:

If operation of the device directly affects the patients and/operator so that failures or latent flaws could result in <u>death or serious injury</u> to the patient and/or operator. Also considered 'high' if the device indirectly affects the patient and/or operator (e.g. through the action of care provider) such that incorrect or delayed information could result in death or serious injury of the patient and/or operator.

Medium:

If the operation of the device directly affects the patient and/or operator so that failures or latent design flaws could result in <u>non-serious injury to the patient and/or operator</u>. Also considered 'medium' if the device indirectly affects the patient and/or operator (e.g. through the action of a care provider) where incorrect or delayed information could result in non-serious injury to the patient and/or operator.

Low:

If failures or latent design flaws would <u>not be expected to result in any injury</u> to the patient and/or operator.



Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

Management Approval : Owner

Name:	lan Cartland	Role:	Project Manager
Signature:		Date:	

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the document is approved for use.

Quality Assurance Approval

Name:	Ricky Dolphin	Role:	Nominated Delegate Quality Manager
Signature:		Date:	

Document History					
Version	Date released for approval	Developer Initials	Reviewer Initials	Changes from Previous Version	
5.0	29 May 2015	IC	RD	Updated for v6.0 of the Risk Analysis. Updated document template.	

1. Purpose

The purpose of this document is to review the Risk Management Plan and the associated documents to determine their compliance with the requirements of EN ISO 14971:2012 Medical Devices – Application of Risk Management to Medical Devices.

2. Introduction

The Risk Management Plan is divided into two phases:

- Description of the intended use of the device and identification of the characteristics that could affect the safety of the device to patients, carers and the environment. Annex C of EN ISO 14971:2012 will be used to identify the device characteristics that could impact on safety.
- ii) Identification of known or foreseeable hazards, using as a guide, Annex E of EN ISO 14971:2012. For each hazard identified, its risk potential will be estimated based on the severity and occurrence likelihood identified in the Risk Management Plan and SOP QRM-02, Risk Management Process and the actions taken to reduce the risk(s) identified.

On completion of the above analyses the Project Manager will review the actions to ensure that the risk control measures are appropriate for reducing the risk(s) to an acceptable level. If any residual risk has a 'high' level of concern, the Project Manager will ensure that the medical benefits of the device outweigh the residual risks.

3. Review of medical device characteristics that could impact on safety

QRM-01-001 v4.0 addresses the characteristics that could impact on safety identified in EN ISO 14971:2012, Annex C.

4. Review of hazards

All hazards identified in **QRM-02-001** v6.0 have an acceptable level of concern hence no reports are required to demonstrate that medical benefits of the device outweigh the residual risks.

5. Conclusion

This report confirms that the hazards associated with Cantab Mobile have been identified and the risks associated with each hazard estimated and evaluated. The methods for mitigating these risks have been identified. On completion of this Risk Management Process all residual risks have an acceptable level of concern.

This Risk Management Plan will be reviewed as a result of any negative post market feedback.

INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF GERIATRIC PSYCHIATRY Int. J. Geriat. Psychiatry 14, 858–865 (1999)

SHORT VERSIONS OF THE GERIATRIC DEPRESSION SCALE: A STUDY OF THEIR VALIDITY FOR THE DIAGNOSIS OF A MAJOR DEPRESSIVE EPISODE ACCORDING TO ICD-10 AND DSM-IV

OSVALDO P. ALMEIDA^{1*} AND SHIRLEY A. ALMEIDA² ¹Associate Professor of Psychiatry of Old Age, University of Western Australia ²Consultant Old Age Psychiatrist, Santa Casa Medical School of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

ABSTRACT

Objective. To determine the validity of short Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) versions for the detection of a major depressive episode according to ICD-10 criteria for research and DSM-IV.

Design. Cross-sectional evaluation of depressive symptoms in a sample of elderly subjects with short GDS versions. Different GDS cutoff points were used to estimate the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value and negative predictive value for the diagnosis of major depressive episode. Internal consistency of the scales was estimated with the Cronbach's alpha coefficient.

Setting. Mental Health Unit for the Elderly of 'Santa Casa' Medical School in São Paulo, Brazil.

Participants. Sixty-four consecutive outpatients aged 60 or over who met criteria for depressive disorder (current or in remission). Subjects with severe sensory impairment, aphasia or Mini-Mental State score lower than 10 were excluded from the study.

Measurements. ICD-10 Checklist of Symptoms, GDS with 15, 10, 4 and 1 items, Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS), ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for research and DSM-IV diagnostic criteria.

Results. The use of the cutoff point 4/5 for the GDS-15 produced sensitivity and specificity rates of 92.7% and 65.2% respectively, and positive and negative predictive values of 82.6% and 83.3% respectively when ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for major depressive episode were used as the 'gold standard'. Similarly, rates of 97.0%, 54.8%, 69.6% and 94.4% were found when DSM-IV was the comparing diagnostic criteria. Sensitivity, specificity and positive and negative predictive values for the cutoff point 6/7 were 80.5%, 78.3%, 86.8% and 69.2% according to ICD-10, and 84.8%, 67.7%, 73.7% and 80.8% respectively according to DSM-IV. Intermediate values were found for the cutoff point 5/6. The best fit for GDS-10 was the cutoff point 4/5, which produced a sensitivity rate of 80.5%, specificity of 78.3%, positive predictive value of 86.8% and negative predictive value of 60.2% according to ICD-10 diagnosis of a major depressive episode. Similarly, rates of 84.8%, 67.7%, 73.7% and 80.8% were found when DSM-IV criteria for major depression were used. GDS-4 cutoff point of 2/3 was associated with a sensitivity rate of 80.5%, specificity of 78.3%, positive predictive value of 86.8% and negative predictive value of 69.2% when compared to ICD-10. Again, rates of 84.8%, 67.7%, 73.7% and 80.8% respectively were found when the criteria used were based on DSM-IV. GDS-1 had low sensitivity (61.0% and 63.6% for ICD-10 and DSM-IV respectively) and negative predictive value (56.7% and 67.6% for ICD-10 and DSM-IV respectively), suggesting that this question is of limited clinical utility in screening for depression. GDS-15 (rho = 0.82), GDS-10 (rho = 0.82) and GDS-4 (rho = 0.81) scores were highly correlated with subjects' scores on the MADRS. Reliability coefficients were 0.81 for GDS-15, 0.75 for GDS-10 and 0.41 for GDS-4.

Conclusion. GDS-15, GDS-10 and GDS-4 are good screening instruments for major depression as defined by both the ICD-10 and DSM-IV. The shorter four- and one-item versions are of limited clinical value due to low reliability and failure to monitor the severity of the depressive episode. General practitioners may benefit from the systematic use of short GDS versions to increase detection rates of depression among the elderly. Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

KEY WORDS depression; GDS; short versions; assessment; screening; diagnosis; ICD-10; DSM-IV; validity; reliability

*Correspondence to: Professor O. P. Almeida, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Science of the University of Western Australia, Queen Elisabeth II Medical Centre, Perth, WA 6009, Australia. Fax: 61-8-9346-3828. e-mail: osvalm@cyllene.uwa.edu.au Contract/grant sponsor: Brazilian Research Council (CNP_).

CCC 0885 6230/99/010858 08\$17.50 Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Received 11 November 1998 Accepted 20 April 1999

VALIDITY OF SHORT GDS

Depression is a common and disabling disorder in later life. Epidemiological surveys indicate that 1-16% of the elderly are clinically depressed (Copeland et al., 1987; Kay et al., 1985; Livingston et al., 1990; Roberts et al., 1997). In addition, these subjects are significant users of medical services (Koenig and Kuchibhatla, 1998) and are at increased risk of suicide (Cattel and Jolley, 1996; Conwell et al., 1996; Draper, 1996). These factors make depression one of the most relevant medical problems among the elderly. However, depressive symptoms often go unrecognized by both patients and medical professionals (Koenig et al., 1988; Rabins, 1996; Williams-Russo, 1996), causing unnecessary suffering to those who are untreated, burden to the families and increased financial costs to society (Gurland et al., 1997; Lebowitz et al., 1997).

Many factors contribute to make the detection of depression in older adults particularly difficult. These include the presence of concurrent medical illness, social isolation, insidious onset of symptoms and the occasional absence of obvious depressed mood (Lebowitz *et al.*, 1997; Berger *et al.*, 1998; Gallo *et al.*, 1997). In fact, the presence of clinically significant symptoms that do not fulfil criteria for a depressive disorder is very common in this age group (Koenig and Blazer, 1996) and the identification of such cases very often depends on the use of systematic assessments.

The Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) (Yesavage et al., 1983) is one of the most widely used instruments for the screening of depression in later life (see Stiles and McGarrahan, 1998 for review). Short forms of the GDS with 1, 4, 10, 15 and 20 questions (as opposed to the 30 questions of the original version) are also available (van Marwijk et al., 1995). Their use in clinical practice is even more attractive, as they can substantially reduce administration time. Test-retest reliability indexes for the short versions are usually acceptable (van Marwijk et al., 1995; Lyness et al., 1997; Shah et al., 1996), but their validity for diagnosis of depression according to current diagnostic criteria has not yet been established.

The present study was designed to evaluate the validity of the GDS-15, 10, 4 and 1 for the diagnosis of a major depressive episode according to the ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for research (WHO, 1993) and the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th edition (DSM-IV) (APA, 1994).

Subjects were selected from the outpatient clinic for the elderly (UNID) of the Department of Mental Health of 'Santa Casa' Medical School of São Paulo, Brazil. The characteristics of this service have been published elsewhere (Almeida et al., 1998). Briefly, UNID provides medical diagnosis and treatment to a socially deprived segment of the elderly population of the central area of the city of São Paulo. The registration of patients in the unit includes both self and medical referral. For the present study, we recruited 64 consecutive referrals of subjects aged 60 or over who fulfilled ICD-10 criteria for the diagnosis of depressive disorder (current or in remission). Subjects with severe hearing or visual impairment, aphasia or a Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975) score lower than 10 were not included. All subjects were informed about the aims of the study and, after giving their consent, were asked to answer a number of questions assessing sociodemographic features such as age, sex, marital status, place of birth, years of schooling, employment status and family income per capita.

METHODS

Subjects were then asked to answer the questions of the GDS-15, Brazilian version. Questions were read aloud to all subjects, so that illiterate patients could also be evaluated. The scores for the GDS-10, GDS-4 and GDS-1 were estimated according to van Marwijk et al. (1995). The details about the construction of the Brazilian version of the GDS have been described elsewhere (Almeida and Almeida, 1999). In summary, all scale items were converted to Portuguese and back to English by independent translators. The English version was then compared to the original and minor adjustments were made to ensure that the Brazilian scale was an accurate translation of the original. The test-retest reliability of the scale was assessed in a sample of 51 subjects. Weighted kappa for the 15and 10-item GDS was 0.64 and 0.60 respectively, but only 0.37 and 0.06 for the GDS-4 and GDS-1.

The ICD-10 Symptom Checklist for Mental Disorders (Janca *et al.*, 1994) was used to investigate the presence or absence of specific symptoms necessary to fulfil criteria for a depressive disorder. Symptoms were rated according to the information obtained from both the patient and a qualified informant (spouse or children for most cases). This checklist of symptoms was then used to reach the diagnosis of major depressive episode or dysthymia according to ICD-10 diagnostic

Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Int. J. Geriat. Psychiatry 14, 858 865 (1999)

860

criteria for research and DSM-IV. Finally, the Montgomery-Åsberg, Rating Scale (MADRS) (Montgomery and Asberg, 1979; Dratcu *et al.*, 1987) was used as a supplementary measure of validity.

Data analysis

The data were analysed using the statistical package 'Stata', version 5. Likelihood ratio analysis of contingency tables was used in the investigation of categorical data, the statistical result being distributed as chi-squared (χ^2). Sensitivity and specificity rates, as well as positive and negative predictive values, were estimated from 2×2 tables. One-way analysis of variance was used to estimate score differences among patients with mild, moderate and severe depression. This analysis was followed by *post-hoc* multiple comparisons using the Scheffé method. Kappa statistic was determined as a measure of agreement between ICD-10 and DSM-IV for the diagnosis of major depressive episode. Kappa values indicate if the agreement between measures is poor (< 0.20), fair (0.21-0.40), moderate (0.41-0.60), good (0.61-0.80) or very good (0.81-1.00). Spearman correlation coefficients were calculated as a measure of association between GDS total scores for the questionnaires with 4, 10 and 15 items, as well as between MADRS and GDS scores. The internal consistency (reliability) of the various short versions of the GDS was measured using Cronbach's alpha coefficient. Ninety-five per cent confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for groups' means, kappa (CI_{μ}) , Spearman correlation coefficients (CI_{Sp}) and for alpha values (CI_{alpha}).

RESULTS

Sixty-four subjects were recruited between March and May 1998. Fifty-four were women (84.4%). Subjects' mean age was 67.45 (CI = 65.98-68.92) and their average monthly income was approximately US\$ 256.20 (CI = 163.80-348.50). Twentyfive (39.1%) were currently married and eight (12.5%) were unable to read or write. Subjects' mean MMSE score was 25.30 (CI = 24.33-26.26).

Forty-one (64.1%) and thirty-three (51.6%) subjects fulfilled criteria for major depressive episode according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV respectively. Agreement between the two diagnostic

Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

systems was 87.5%, with a kappa value of 0.75 ($CI_{\kappa} = 0.59-0.91$). Subjects were then further classified for severity of symptoms according to ICD-10 guidelines. Thirteen (20.3%) met criteria for mild, 16 (25.0%) for moderate and 12 (18.7%) for severe depressive episode. Another two patients fulfilled ICD-10 criteria for dysthymia. Seven subjects (10.9%) fulfilled criteria for dysthymia according to DSM-IV.

The mean GDS-15 score for the whole sample was 7.27 (CI = 6.32-8.21), with values ranging from 0 to 15. Scores varied significantly according to the degree of severity of the depressive episode (F = 27.71, df = 3, p < 0.001). Fig. 1 shows mean GDS-15 scores and the respective 95% confidence intervals for subjects with severe (N = 12), moderate (N = 16), mild (N = 13) and no depression (N = 23) according to ICD-10. Scheffé analyses for multiple comparisons showed that patients with severe depression scored on average 3.69 (CI = 0.93 - 6.45, p = 0.004), 4.69 (CI = 1.80 - 6.45)7.59, p < 0.001) and 7.96 (CI = 5.38–10.53, p < 0.001) more points than subjects with moderate, mild and no depression respectively. Table 1 displays mean score differences for patients with no, mild, moderate and severe depression for both the GDS and MADRS.

Table 1. Mean score differences between levels of depression severity according to ICD-10 using the GDS-15, GDS-10, GDS-4 and MADRS

	No depression	Mild	Moderate
GDS-15			
Mild	3.26(0.005)		
Moderate	4.27(<0.001)	1.00(0.766)	
Severe	7.96(<0.001)	4.69 (<0.001)	3.69(0.004)
GDS-10			
Mild	2.31(0.003)		
Moderate	2.87 (< 0.001)	0.57(0.841)	
Severe	5.17(<0.001)	2.86(<0.001)	2.29(0.008)
GDS-4			
Mild	1.01(0.010)		
Moderate	1.34 (< 0.001)	0.33(0.770)	
Severe	2.00(<0.001)	0.99(0.036)	0.67(0.224)
MADRS			
Mild	8.40(<0.001)		
Moderate	12.10(<0.001)	3.70(0.245)	
Severe	21.12(<0.001)	12.72(<0.001)	9.02(<0.001)

Note: Numbers in brackets represent p values for alpha = 0.05 (two-tailed values).

Int. J. Geriat. Psychiatry 14, 858 865 (1999)

VALIDITY OF SHORT GDS



Fig. 1. GDS-15 total scores for subjects with severe, moderate, mild and no depression according to ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for research. Dark lines indicate mean scores. Boxes represent 95% confidence intervals of the mean

Table 2 shows the percentage of patients with depression who answered the 15 GDS questions according to the depressive pattern. Question 2 was the most sensitive GDS-15 item for the detection of depression according to ICD-10 (82.9%) and DSM-IV (84.8%). Table 3 shows sensitivity and

specificity rates, as well as positive and negative predictive values, for different GDS cutoff points for the diagnosis of a major depressive episode according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV. The use of just one question ('Are you basically satisfied with your life?') to ascertain the presence of depression was

Table 2. Questions included in the GDS-15 and the percentage of patients fulfilling criteria for a major depressive episode according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV who scored within the depression range

	ICD-10 (%)	DSM-IV (%)
Are you basically satisfied with your life? ^{10,4,1}	61.0	63.6
Have you dropped many of your activities and interests? ^{10,4}	82.9	84.8
Do you feel that your life is empty?	73.2	75.8
Do you often get bored?	75.6	75.8
Are you in good spirits most of the time? ¹⁰	63.4	60.6
Are you afraid that something bad is going to happen to you?	51.2	60.6
Do you feel happy most of the time? ^{10,4}	68.3	72.7
Do you feel helpless? ¹⁰	65.8	72.7
Do you prefer to stay at home, rather than going out and doing new things? ^{10,4}	70.7	72.7
Do you feel you have more problems with your memory than most?	58.5	60.6
Do you think it is wonderful to be alive?	24.4	24.2
Do you feel pretty worthless the way you are now? ¹⁰	48.8	54.5
Do you feel full of energy? ¹⁰	56.1	60.6
Do you feel that your situation is hopeless?	43.9	51.5
Do you think that most people are better off than you are? ¹⁰	63.4	63.6

Note: The numbers 10, 4 and 1 at the side of the questions indicate the items included in the GDS-10, GDS-4 and GDS-1 respectively.

Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

O. P. ALMEIDA AND S. A. ALMEIDA

Table 3. Performance of the versions of the GDS at different cutoff points for the detection of a major depressive episode according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV

	ICD-10	DSM-IV
GDS-15 cutoff point 4/5		
Sensitivity	92.7	97.0
Specificity	65.2	54.8
Positive predictive value	82.6	69.6
Negative predictive value	83.3	94.4
GDS-15 cutoff point 5/6		
Sensitivity	85.4	90.9
Specificity	73.9	64.5
Positive predictive value	85.3	73.2
Negative predictive value	73.9	86.9
GDS-15 cutoff point 6/7		
Sensitivity	80.5	84.8
Specificity	78.3	67.7
Positive predictive value	86.8	73.7
Negative predictive value	69.2	80.8
GDS-10 cutoff point 3/4		
Sensitivity	92.7	97.0
Specificity	65.2	54.8
Positive predictive value	82.6	69.6
Negative predictive value	83.3	94.4
GDS-10 cutoff point 4/5		
Sensitivity	80.5	84.8
Specificity	78.3	67.7
Positive predictive value	86.8	73.7
Negative predictive value	69.2	80.8
GDS-4 cutoff point 2/3		
Sensitivity	80.5	84.8
Specificity	78.3	67.7
Positive predictive value	86.8	73.7
Negative predictive value	69.2	80.8
GDS-1		
Sensitivity	61.0	63.6
Specificity	91.3	80.6
Positive predictive value	92.6	77.8
Negative predictive value	56.7	67.6

associated with poor sensitivity and negative predictive values, suggesting that this is not a useful strategy to investigate the presence of depression in clinical practice.

Total scores for the 15-, 10- and 4-item GDS were highly correlated. Spearman correlation coefficients were 0.99 ($CI_{Sp} = 0.99-1.00$), 0.95 ($CI_{Sp} = 0.93-0.97$) and 0.96 ($CI_{Sp} = 0.93-0.97$) for the association between GDS-15 and GDS-10, GDS-15 and GDS-4, and GDS-10 and GDS-4 respectively. Similarly, Spearman coefficients were

estimated to explore the association between the total score on the MADRS and GDS-15 (rho = 0.82, CI_{Sp} = 0.72–0.89), GDS-10 (rho = 0.82, CI_{Sp} = 0.72–0.89) and GDS-4 (rho = 0.81, CI_{Sp} = 0.70–0.88). The internal consistency of the short GDS versions was estimated by Cronbach's alpha. Reliability coefficients were 0.81 (CI_{alpha} = 0.73–0.87) for GDS-15, 0.75 (CI_{alpha} = 0.65–0.83) for GDS-10 and 0.41 (CI_{alpha} = 0.13–0.61) for GDS-4.

DISCUSSION

A large number of depression rating scales are currently available for use in clinical and research settings. They all claim to assess the clinical concept of 'depression', although their constructs vary considerably (Snaith, 1993). The choice of a scale should be based on a number of factors, such as its ability to detect cases, assess the severity of symptoms, be sensitive to change over time and indicate when the patient has recovered. Age and cultural factors should not interfere significantly with the performance of the scale. In addition, the scale should be quick to administer and simple to rate.

The Geriatric Depression Rating Scale (GDS) has been widely used in both clinical and research settings (Montorio and Izal, 1996). The scale has been translated to various languages and is available in many Asian (Liu *et al.*, 1998), European (Bach *et al.*, 1996; Clement *et al.*, 1997; Gottfries *et al.*, 1997) and Latin American countries (Baker and Espino, 1997). This suggests that the GDS may produce consistent results across different cultures. Short versions of the scale have been introduced with the aim of saving time with its application (Sheikh and Yesavage, 1986).

The GDS with 15 items has been used in various settings, including the community (Dunn and Sacco, 1989; Ingram, 1996), general practice (van Marwijk *et al.*, 1995; Lyness *et al.*, 1997) and geriatric units (Shah *et al.*, 1996, 1997; Herrmann *et al.*, 1996). The internal consistency of the GDS-15 has been evaluated by a few studies. Most have reported reliability values around 0.80 (van Marwijk *et al.*, 1995; Liu *et al.*, 1998; D'Ath *et al.*, 1994), which is in line with our findings. These results indicate that the questions included in the GDS-15 assess depression in a coherent and useful way. The GDS-10 has also shown good internal consistency in this study (alpha = 0.75) and others (van Marwijk *et al.*, 1995). The use of the shorter

Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Int. J. Geriat. Psychiatry 14, 858 865 (1999)

four-item version, however, seems less reliable (alpha = 0.41).

The usefulness of short GDS versions will also depend on their capacity to identify cases of depression in the elderly. For screening purposes one should favour GDS cutoff points that yield high levels of sensitivity and negative predictive values. The use of cutoff points of 4/5 (non-case/ case) for the GDS-15, 3/4 for GDS-10 and 2/3 for GDS-4 produced robust results. However, this occurred at the expense of relatively low specificity and positive predictive values, which suggests that the use of higher cutoff points may be more accurate for the diagnosis of a depressive episode. Herrmann et al. (1996) suggested that the optimal cutoff score for the GDS-15 was 5/6. This produced sensitivity and specificity rates of 85% and 74% respectively (Herrmann et al., 1996). Their results are very similar to those found in the present study, but are in contrast to the cutoff point of 2/3proposed by van Marwijk et al. (1995). In common with Herrmann et al. (1996), we recruited patients from a specialized mental health unit for the elderly, whereas van Marwijk et al. (1995) selected their sample from a general medical practice. Psychiatric services are more likely to deal with more severe cases of depression and, as a consequence, select samples of patients that produce higher GDS scores-this may move cutoff points upwards. Another important difference between this and the study by van Marwijk et al. (1995) is that they used the Diagnostic Interview Schedule (DIS) as their gold standard for the diagnosis of depression. Recent reports suggest that the DIS may produce a substantial number of false positive cases (Regier et al., 1998), which would explain the lower GDS cutoff points found by van Marwijk et al. (1995).

Severity of symptoms in this study was measured in two different ways: ICD-10 definition of mild, moderate and severe depression, and total score on the MADRS. GDS scores increased with illness severity, as defined by both the ICD-10 and MADRS. However, score differences between mild and moderate cases, according to ICD-10 definition, were not statistically significant. There are two possible explanations for these findings: (1) the ICD-10 definition of mild and moderate depression is not clinically meaningful, and (2) short GDS versions are not sensitive enough to detect differences between mild and moderate cases of depression. The ICD-10 definition of illness severity is based solely on the number of symptoms present during the mental state evaluation. This is

KEYPOINTS

- Short GDS scales are quick to apply and simple to rate
- The short forms of the GDS with 10 and 15 items are reliable screening instruments for major depression according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV. Their regular use in medical practice is likely to increase the detection of clinically significant depressive symptoms in older adults
- Different cutoff points are likely to be useful for clinical and research purposes
- The total scores on the GDS with 10 and 15 items are reliable measures of the severity of the depressive episode

clearly an unsatisfactory approach, as it fails to assess the severity of specific symptoms. The same applies to the scores of the GDS. Interestingly, however, GDS scores for all short versions (excluding the GDS-1) were highly correlated with the MADRS, which is a well-accepted measure of severity of symptoms (Maier et al., 1988). Therefore, in practical terms, GDS scores are indicative of illness severity even though the scale does not evaluate symptom severity. GDS-15 scores below 5 seem to indicate the absence of clinically significant depressive symptoms. There is, then, a great deal of overlap between scores indicative of mild and moderate depression according to ICD-10. Tentative scores of 5-7 and 8-9 on the GDS-15 may be used for mild and moderate depression respectively. Scores of 10 or more indicate the presence of a severe depressive episode. In addition, if GDS scores can be used as an indication of the severity of illness, one would expect the scale to monitor change over time reliably. Unfortunately, there are not as yet enough data to support this hypothesis. Finally, shorter GDS versions (GDS-10 or lower) may be less helpful in assessing illness severity, as the limits between mild, moderate and severe depression become increasingly less clear with the reduction of GDS items.

In summary, our results show that the 15- and 10-item GDS can reliably detect the presence of a major depressive episode among older adults. Shorter versions are less reliable and informative. The total score on the GDS-15 indicates illness severity, although the scale does not assess the

Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Int. J. Geriat. Psychiatry 14, 858 865 (1999)

severity of specific symptoms. Short GDS scales are quick to apply and simple to rate. Their regular use in general medical practice should be encouraged as a means of increasing professional and public awareness of depression among the elderly, and as an effective way of identifying subjects with significant depressive symptoms.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

O. P. Almeida was partially supported by a grant from the Brazilian Research Council (CNPq). We are grateful to Leonete F. Arruda for secretarial assistance. We also thank patients and their relatives for their cooperation with the study.

REFERENCES

- Almeida, O. P. and Almeida, S. A. (1999) Reliability of the Brazilian version of the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS), short form (Portuguese). Arq. Neuropsiquiatr.
- Almeida, O. P., Garrido, R. and Tamai, S. (1998) Unit for the elderly of the Department of Mental Health of 'Santa Casa de São Paulo' (UNID): Clinical characteristics of outpatients (Portuguese). J. Bras. Psiquiat. 47, 291 296.
- American Psychiatric Association (1994) *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM IV)*, 4th edn. American Psychiatric Press, Washington.
- Bach, M., Nikolaus, T., Öster, P. and Schlierf, G. (1996) Depression in the elderly: The Geriatric Depression Scale (German). Zeitschr. Gerontol. Geriatr. 28, 42–46.
- Baker, G. M. and Espino, D. V. (1997) A Spanish version of the Geriatric Depression Scale in Mexican-American elders. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiat.* 12, 21 25.
- Berger, A. K., Small, B. J., Forsell, Y., Winblad, B. and Bäckman, L. (1998) Preclinical symptoms of major depression in very old age: A prospective longitudinal study. Am. J. Psychiat. 155, 1039–1043.
- Cattel, H. and Jolley, D. J. (1996) One hundred cases of suicide in elderly people. *Brit. J. Psychiat.* 166, 451 547.
- Clement, J. P., Nassif, R. F., Leger, J. M. and Marchan, F. (1997) Development and contribution to the validation of a short French version of the Geriatric Depression Scale (French). *Encephale* 23, 91 99.
- Conwell, Y., Duberstein, P. R., Cox, C., Herrmann, J., Forbes, N. and Caine, E. (1996) Relationships of age and axis I diagnoses in victims of completed suicide: A psychological autopsy study. *Am. J. Psychiat.* 153, 1001–1008.
- Copeland, J. R. M., Dewey, M. E., Wood, N., Searle, R., Davidson, I. A. and McWilliam, C. (1987) Range of

mental illnesses amongst the elderly in the community: Prevalence in Liverpool using AGECAT. *Brit. J. Psychiat.* **150**, 815–823.

- D'Ath, P., Katona, P., Mullan, E., Evans, S. and Katona, C. (1994) Screening, detection and management of depression in elderly primary care attenders. I: The acceptability and performance of the 15 item Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS15) and the development of short versions. *Fam. Pract.* 11, 260 266.
- Draper, B. (1996) Attempted suicide in old age. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiat. 11, 577 587.
- Dratcu, L., Ribeiro, L. C. and Calil, H. M. (1987) Depression assessment in Brazil: The first application of the Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale. *Brit J. Psychiat.* **150**, 797–800.
- Dunn, V. K. and Sacco, W. P. (1989) Psychometric evaluation of the Geriatric Depression Scale and the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale using an elderly community sample. *Psychol. Aging* 4, 125–126.
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E. and McHugh, P. R. (1975) 'Mini-Mental State': A practical method for grading the cognitive scale of patients for the clinician. J. Psychiatr. Res. 12, 189–198.
- Gallo, J. J., Rabins, P. V., Lyketsos, C. G., Tien, A. Y. and Anthony, J. C. (1997) Depression without sadness: Functional outcomes of nondysphoric depression in later life. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* **45**, 570–578.
- Gottfries, G. G., Noltorp, S. and Norgaard, N. (1997) Experience with a Swedish version of the Geriatric Depression Rating Scale in primary case centres. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiat.* **12**, 1029–1034.
- Gurland, B. J., Katz, S. and Chen, J. (1997) The subjective burden of depression. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiat.* **5**, 188–191.
- Herrmann, N., Mittman, N., Silver, I. L., Shulman, K. I., Busto, U. A., Shear, N. H. and Naranjo, C. A. (1996) A validation study of the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) short form. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiat.* 11, 457–460.
- Ingram, F. (1996) The Short Geriatric Depression Scale: A comparison with the standard form in independent older adults. *Clin. Gerontol.* **16**, 49 56.
- Janca, A., Üstün, T. B., van Drimmelen, J., Dittmann, V. and Isaac, M. (1994) *ICD 10 Symptom Checklist for Mental Disorders, version 1.1.* WHO, Geneva.
- Kay, D. W. K., Henderson, A. S., Scott, R., Wilson, J. and Rickwood, D. (1985) Dementia and depression among the elderly living in the Hobart community: The effect of the diagnostic criteria on the prevalence rates. *Psychol. Med.* 5, 771–788.
- Koenig, H. G. and Blazer, D. G. (1996) Minor depression in later life. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiat. 4(Suppl. 1), 14 21.
- Koenig, H. G. and Kuchibhatla, M. (1998) Use of health services by hospitalized ill depressed elderly patients. *Am. J. Psychiat.* **155**, 871–877.
- Koenig, H. G., Meador, K. G., Cohen, H. J. and Blazer, D. G. (1988) Detection and treatment of depression in

Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Int. J. Geriat. Psychiatry 14, 858 865 (1999)

VALIDITY OF SHORT GDS

older mentally ill hospitalised patients. *Int. J. Psychiat. Med.* **18**, 17–31.

- Lebowitz, B. D., Pearson, J. L., Schneider, L. S., Reynolds, CF 3rd, Alexopoulos, G. S., Bruce, M. L., Conwell, Y., Katz, I. R., Meyers, B. S., Morrison, M. F., Mossey, J., Niederehe, G. and Parmelee, P. (1997) Diagnosis and treatment of depression in late life: Consensus statement update. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 278, 1186 1190.
- Liu, C. Y., Lu, C. H., Yu, S. and Yang, Y. Y. (1998) Correlations between scores on Chinese versions of long and short forms of the Geriatric Depression Scale among elderly Chinese. *Psychol. Rep.* 82, 211–214.
- Livingston, G., Hawkins, A., Graham, N., Blizard, B. and Mann, A. (1990) The Gospel Oak study: Prevalence rates of dementia, depression and activity limitation among elderly residents in inner London. *Psychol. Med.* **20**, 137 146.
- Lyness, J. M., Noel, T. K., Cox, C., King, D. A., Conwell, Y. and Caine, E. D. (1997) Screening for depression in elderly primary care patients: A comparison of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression Scale and the Geriatric Depression Scale. *Arch. Int. Med.* 157, 449 454.
- Maier, W., Heuser, I., Philipp, M., Frommberger, U. and Demuth, W. (1988) Improving depression severity assessment: II. Content, concurrent and external validity of three observer depression scales. J. Psy chiatr. Res. 22, 13 19.
- Montgomery, S. A. and Asberg, M. (1979) A new depression scale designed to be sensitive to change. *Brit. J. Psychiat.* **134**, 382–389.
- Montorio, I. and Izal, M. (1996) The Geriatric Depression Rating Scale: A review of its development and utility. *Int. Psychogeriat.* **8**, 103–112.
- Rabins, P. V. (1996) Barriers to diagnosis and treatment of depression in elderly patients. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiat. 4(Suppl. 1), 79 83.
- Regier, D. A., Kaelber, C. T., Rae, D. S., Farmer, M. E., Knauper, B., Kessler, R. C. and Norquist, G. S. (1998)

Limitations of diagnostic criteria and assessment instruments for mental disorders: Implications for research and policy. *Arch. Gen. Psychiat.* **55**, 109 115.

- Roberts, R. E., Kaplan, G. A., Shema, S. J. and Strawbridge, W. J. (1997) Does growing old increase the risk of depression? *Am. J. Psychiat.* 154, 1384 1390.
- Shah, A., Herbert, R., Lewis, S., Mahendran, R., Platt, J. and Bhattacharyya, B. (1997) Screening for depression among acutely ill geriatric inpatients with a short Geriatric Depression Scale. Age Ageing 26, 217–221.
- Shah, A., Phongsathorn, V., Bielawska, C., and Katona, C. (1996) Screening for depression among geriatric inpatients with short versions of the Geriatric Depression Scale. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiat.* **11**, 915–918.
- Sheikh, J. I. and Yesavage, J. A. (1986) Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS): Recent evidence and development of a shorter version. *Clin. Gerontol.* 5, 165 173.
- Snaith, P. (1993) What do depression rating scales measure? Brit. J. Psychiat. 163, 293 298.
- Stiles, P. G. and McGarrahan, J. F. (1998) The Geriatric Depression Scale: A comprehensive review. J. Clin. Geropsychol. 4, 89 110.
- van Marwijk, H. W. J., Wallace, P., De Bock, G. H., Hernans, J. O., Kptein, A. A. and Mulder, J. D. (1995) Evaluation of the feasibility, reliability and diagnostic value of shortened versions of the geriatric depression scale. *Brit. J. Gen. Pract.* **45**, 195–199.
- Williams-Russo, P. (1996) Barriers to diagnosis and treatment of depression in primary care settings. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiat. 4(Suppl. 1), 84–90.
- World Health Organization (1993) The ICD 10 Classi fication of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Diag nostic Criteria for Research. WHO, Geneva.
- Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M. and Leirer, V. O. (1983) Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: A preliminary report. J. Psychiat. Res. 17, 37–49.

Copyright © 1999 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Int. J. Geriat. Psychiatry 14, 858 865 (1999)

J. psychiat. Res., Vol. 17, No. 1, pp. 37-49, 1983. Printed in Great Britain. 0022-3956/83/010037-13 \$03.00/0 © 1983 Pergamon Press Ltd.

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A GERIATRIC DEPRESSION SCREENING SCALE: A PRELIMINARY REPORT

JEROME A. YESAVAGE, T. L. BRINK

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Stanford University of Medicine, Stanford, CA 94305, U.S.A.

TERENCE L. ROSE

Veteran's Administration Medical Center, Palo Alto, CA 94304, U.S.A.

OWEN LUM

Geriatric Treatment Team, Santa Clara County Mental Health

VIRGINIA HUANG, MICHAEL ADEY and VON OTTO LEIRER

Veteran's Administration Medical Center, Palo Alto, CA 94304, U.S.A.

(Received 25 January 1982; revised 28 June 1982)

Summary—A new Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) designed specifically for rating depression in the elderly was tested for reliability and validity and compared with the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRS-D) and the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale (SDS). In constructing the GDS a 100-item questionnaire was administered to normal and severely depressed subjects. The 30 questions most highly correlated with the total scores were then selected and readministered to new groups of elderly subjects. These subjects were classified as normal, mildly depressed or severely depressed on the basis of Research Diagnostic Criteria (RDC) for depression. The GDS, HRS-D and SDS were all found to be internally consistent measures, and each of the scales was correlated with the subject's number of RDC symptoms. However, the GDS and the HRS-D were significantly better correlated with RDC symptoms than was the SDS. The authors suggest that the GDS represents a reliable and valid self-rating depression screening scale for elderly populations.

INTRODUCTION

MOST EXISTING depression rating scales have been developed and validated in younger populations and their applicability with older persons has not yet been demonstrated. The scale described in this article was specifically designed to measure depression in the aged, primarily as a screening instrument, and validated within this population.

MEASURING DEPRESSION IN THE AGED

The need for a geriatric depression scale is obvious. Between 5 and 20% of the 20 million aged Americans are estimated to be depressed (GURLAND, 1976). Although one could apply existing general psychiatric depression scales to this population, the aged present unique problems for clinicians and researchers interested in the study and treatment of depression (SALZMAN and SHADER, 1978).

A major problem is the confusion of dementia with depression in the elderly. The syndrome of "pseudodementia", with psychomotor retardation and passive refusal to
38 J. A. YESAVAGE, T. L. BRINK, T. L. ROSE, O. LUM, V. HUANG, M. ADEY and VON O. LEIRER

respond appropriately to cognitive tests is depression mistaken for dementia (WELLS, 1979; JARVIK, 1976). Depression in the elderly often is accompanied by subjective experiences of memory loss and cognitive impairment (KAHN *et al.*, 1975), symptoms seen less frequently in the young.

Conversely, somatic symptoms which are usually a key to diagnosis of depression in the young are less useful in the elderly. For instance, sleep disturbances are a common symptom of endogenous depression; but such disturbances are also common in the nondepressed elderly (COLEMAN *et al.*, 1981), while rare in younger persons not suffering from depression. A host of other examples include the normal decline of sexual function, constipation, and the aches and pains associated with arthritis in the aged.

The high prevalence of somatic complaints among the elderly and their unique cognitive complaints present both a problem and an opportunity in screening for depression in the elderly. The problem is that most existing scales are heavily loaded toward measuring the somatic symptoms of depression. Although somatic complaints are clearly part of major depressive disorders, this will not necessarily be the case in milder forms of depression. Moreover, to the extent one is interested in screening for depression rather than formal diagnosis or description, discrimination between depressed and nondepressed persons or between different degrees of depression would seem to be the primary concern. For this reason it may be necessary to weight somatic symptoms of depression less heavily than psychological symptoms having greater discriminative power. On the other hand, the unique cognitive complaints of the elderly may present an opportunity to devise screening instruments with enhanced discriminative power in the elderly.

Another problem in the assessment of geriatric depression and other disorders experienced by the aged is that the elderly are typically more resistant to psychiatric evaluation than younger patients (SALZMAN and SHADER, 1978; WELLS, 1979). Consequently, one needs to design the items comprising a scale to fit this population; questions appropriate for use with the young may not be appropriate for the old. For example, questions about sexuality often make the elderly defensive, and yet they are included on many existing scales. Other questions may pose problems of patient acceptance as well as leading to problems of interpretation (BLUMENTHAL, 1975). For example, questions about suicidal intent, whether life is worth living, or whether one is hopeful about the future obviously have different meaning in those reaching the end of their lifespan. Of course these problems of patient resistance and unique interpretation can probably be dealt with adequately if an experienced interviewer administers the depression scale, and the scale is designed to elicit more open-ended responses from the patient in an atmosphere fostering good rapport. However, in designing a self-rating depression scale for the aged, these issues need to be adequately addressed in the scale's initial development.

It is also essential to provide a simple, easily understood format in the development of a geriatric depression scale. Several of the self-rating scales presently available may be too difficult for the elderly to complete by themselves. For example, Zung's (1965) self-rating scale for depression uses a four-point scale that is likely to be more confusing than a yes/no format, because it involves a greater number of choices and subtle discriminations that must be made by the person.

The scale reported here was designed to avoid most of these problems associated with

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A GERIATRIC DEPRESSION SCREENING SCALE

the measurement of geriatric depression by developing the scale with the aged in mind and by selecting items for the scale based on their performance within this population. Questions that proved to have inadequate power to discriminate depressed from nondepressed elderly were not incorporated into the scale while uniquely discriminating items that might not be as useful with younger groups were included. Furthermore, a yes/no format was used in order to make the scale a simple one that could be used in nearly all instances as a self-rating scale and one that would be acceptable to patient and physician alike.

EXISTING DEPRESSION SCALES

There are numerous depression rating scales currently available. These have been subject to several reviews (CARROLL *et al.*, 1973; KOCHANSKY, 1979; MCNAIR, 1979; HEDLUND and VIEWEG, 1979) and include: Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRS-D), Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale (SDS), Beck Depression Inventory, Phenomena of Depression Scale, Grading Scale for Depressive Reactions, Psychiatric Judgment of Depression Scale, NIMH Collaborative Depression GDS, SAD-GLAD, Verdum Depression Rating Scale, CES-D, SCL-90 Profile of Mood States, and the MMPI Depression Scale.

These scales represent a mixture of observer-rated and self-rating scales. In some cases the same scale may also have been designed to function in either manner or an observerrated measure of depression has been adapted for use as a self-rating scale. CARROLL et al.'s (1973) adaptation of the HRS-D represents an example of the latter approach. A problem with adapting a scale from one format to the other, however, is that questions which may have been acceptable to respondents in an interview setting where good rapport is established by the interviewer may no longer be accepted by the respondent when the same questions are asked using a self-rating scale. We have found this to be the case, for example, with Carroll et al.'s scale; mildly depressed subjects dislike the disease-oriented questions and have difficulty with questions which assume they are in a hospital setting.

However, the primary problem with these depression scales is that they were not originally designed for use with the elderly and rarely have they been properly validated in this population. There are some exceptions. There has been an attempt to validate the SDS in the aged, but the ability of the SDS to discriminate nondepressed from depressed elderly was found to be limited (ZUNG and GREEN, 1973). Zung suggested using a classification criterion of 40 for depression; although this would correctly identify 88% of depressives, it leads to the false identification of normal elderly as being depressed in 44% of the cases. Other comprehensive reviews suggest that there are still no better criteria that would reduce the number of false positives associated with the SDS (CARROLL *et al.*, 1973; CARROLL, 1978). Thus, although this represents the best validation efforts in this population to date, the SDS still has limitations as a geriatric depression screening device.

Despite the virtual absence of studies aimed at validating existing depression scales within elderly populations, these scales may prove to be useful even though they were not originally designed with the aged in mind. For this reason two of the existing scales were included in the present research. Their inclusion also was desirable so that comparisons between the GDS with currently existing measures could be made. The present research

40 J. A. YESAVAGE, T. L. BRINK, T. L. ROSE, O. LUM, V. HUANG, M. ADEY and VON O. LEIRER

was not aimed, however, at demonstrating the superiority of the proposed scale over those currently available. Indeed, the enormous number of existing scales would make this a tremendous undertaking. Rather, existing scales were included in order to provide additional information about the convergent validity of the GDS and to enable tentative norms for the GDS to be compared to those for other, more extensively researched measures.

The first of these was the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression or HRS-D (HAMILTON, 1960). It was intended to be a measure of treatment outcome rather than as a screening device. Unlike the GDS it is designed to be completed by an experienced observer after a 30 min clinical interview which assays most phenomena associated with "endogenous" depression, e.g. insomnia, decreased libido, loss of appetite (LYERLY, 1978). The HRS-D is probably the most widely accepted clinical interview for depression. It has been shown to be a rapidly learned and reliable measure (HAMILTON, 1967) capable of distinguishing between different degrees of depression (CARROLL *et al.*, 1973; BIGGS *et al.*, 1978; KNESEVICH *et al.*, 1977) and to be one of the few scales available that is also useful as a diagnostic instrument (SCHNURR *et al.*, 1976).

The other scale included in the present research was the Zung Self-Rating Scale for Depression or SDS (ZUNG, 1965). It was administered because of its popularity and the availability of norms for elderly subjects. The SDS has been found to be internally consistent with split-half reliability coefficients in the range of 0.73–0.79. However, validity coefficients have shown greater variability across studies; correlations with the HRS-D have ranged from 0.22 to 0.95 (HEDLUND and VIEWEG, 1979). Although quite widely used among clinicians and researchers working psychiatry, the SDS has recently come under criticism as both a research measure and clinical screening device (CARROLL et al., 1973).

Two studies were conducted in the process of developing and validating the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS). In the first study, a large pool of items were constructed and then tested for the extent to which they appeared to measure depression in the aged. In the second subject, a subset of these items were selected, readministered to a new sample of subjects, and validated against an independent criterion of depression. The latter study also provided a basis for comparing properties of the GDS to other existing measures of depression due to the inclusion of the SDS and HRS-D. These studies will be discussed in turn. Finally, after describing the results of these studies, a number of recent investigations aimed at demonstrating the performance of the GDS in more specific elderly populations will be discussed.

STUDY ONE: ITEM SELECTION

Methods

A team of clinicians and researchers involved in geriatric psychiatry selected 100 questions believed to have potential for distinguishing elderly depressives from normals. In choosing these questions care was taken to include material covering a wide variety of topics relevant to depression, such as somatic complaints, cognitive complaints, motivation, future/past orientation, self-image, losses, agitation, obsessive traits, and mood itself. A yes/no format was chosen for ease of administration since our experience

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A GERIATRIC DEPRESSION SCREENING SCALE

with the SDS indicated that a range of possibilities often confused elderly patients. Questions also were phrased in a format that would not alarm patients or make them overly defensive. We thought that these features of the scale would maximize its use as a self-rating instrument of depression in the elderly.

After selecting these items for inclusion in the questionnaire, it was administered in its self-rating form to 47 subjects. The subjects were either normal elderly living in the community with no complaints of depression and no history of mental illness, or subjects hospitalized for depression. Both male and female patients were included from a number of hospitals in Santa Clara County California. All subjects were over 55 years old.

Results

Data analysis was based on the rationale that the 100 item scale should have *prima facia* validity for depression and that those items which correlated best with the total score would be most likely to measure depression. The 30 items (Table 1) correlated highest and most significantly with the total score were chosen for inclusion in the GDS. The median correlation among these items was 0.675 (range = 0.47-0.83). For the 100-item, the median correlation was 0.51 (range = -0.07 to 0.83).

TABLE 1. GERIATRIC DEP	RESSION SCALE
------------------------	---------------

1.	Are you basically satisfied with your life?	yes / no
2.	Have you dropped many of your activities and interests?	yes / no
3.	Do you feel that your life is empty?	yes / no
4.	Do you often get bored?	yes / no
5.	Are you hopeful about the future?	yes / no
6.	Are you bothered by thoughts you can't get out of your head?	yes / no
7.	Are you in good spirits most of the time?	yes / no
8.	Are you afraid that something bad is going to happen to you?	yes / no
9.	Do you feel happy most of the time?	yes / no
10.	Do you often feel helpless?	yes / no
11.	Do you often get restless and fidgety?	yes / no
12.	Do you prefer to stay at home, rather than going out and doing new things?	yes / no
13.	Do you frequently worry about the future?	yes / no
14.	Do you feel you have more problems with memory than most?	yes / no
15.	Do you think it is wonderful to be alive now?	yes / no
16.	Do you often feel downhearted and blue?	yes / no
17.	Do you feel pretty worthless the way you are now?	yes / no
18.	Do you worry a lot about the past?	yes / no
19.	Do you find life very exciting?	yes / no
20.	Is it hard for you to get started on new projects?	yes / no
21.	Do you feel full of energy?	yes / no
22.	Do you feel that your situation is hopeless?	yes / no
23.	Do you think that most people are better off than you are?	yes / no
24.	Do you frequently get upset over little things?	yes / no
25.	Do you frequently feel like crying?	yes / no
26.	Do you have trouble concentrating?	yes / no
27.	Do you enjoy getting up in the morning?	yes / no
28.	Do you prefer to avoid social gatherings?	yes / no
29.	Is it easy for you to make decisions?	yes / no
30.	Is your mind as clear as it used to be?	yes / no

Choose the best answer for how you felt over the past week

42 J. A. YESAVAGE, T. L. BRINK, T. L. ROSE, O. LUM, V. HUANG, M. ADEY and VON O. LEIRER

Although twelve of the 100 original items assessed somatic complaints (e.g. sleep disturbance, anorexia, weight loss, cardiac or gastrointestinal symptoms), none of these were among the 30 items which correlated strongest with the total score. The median correlation between the somatic items and the total score was 0.33 (range = 0.02-0.45). Thus, these items were excluded from the final scale, because they did not meet the purely empirical criterion adopted as a basis for an item's inclusion.

Of the 30 questions selected for inclusion in the GDS, 20 indicated the presence of depression when answered positively while ten others (Nos 1, 5, 7, 9, 15, 19, 21, 27, 29 and 30) indicated depression when answered negatively. The questions were arranged in a 30 item, one-page format and ordered so as to maximize patient acceptance of the questionnaire. Having arrived at a final version of the GDS, a validation study was implemented.

STUDY TWO: VALIDATION

Method

Two groups of geriatric subjects were chosen for the validation phase. The first of these (n = 40) consisted of normal elderly persons recruited at local senior centers and housing projects. These subjects had no histories of mental illness and were functioning well in the community. The second group (n = 60) consisted of subjects under treatment for depression. These subjects were both inpatients and outpatients, male and female, and in Veterans Administration, county and private treatment settings.

The subjects under treatment were further differentiated into mild and severe depression groups. The frequently used criteria of outpatient vs inpatient groups was not used because in some settings, such as the county mental health service, many severe depressives were outpatients while in other settings, such as the Veterans Administration, many mild depressives were inpatients. Instead, it was decided to divide our group of clinically depressed subjects into mild and severe groups on the basis of whether or not they met Research Diagnostic Criteria (RDC) for a major affective disorder (depressed) (SPITZER *et al.*, 1978). These criteria, elicited during a clinical interview, involve eight symptoms: weight loss, sleep difficulty, loss of energy, psychomotor retardation, loss of interest or pleasure in usual activities, feelings of self-reproach or guilt, complaints of diminished ability to concentrate and recurrent thoughts of death or suicide. Five are required to make the diagnosis. Using these criteria it was possible to separate the depressives into a "mild" group (n = 26), having an average of 3.4 RDC criteria symptoms, and a "severe" group (n = 34) with an average of 5.9 RDC criteria symptoms. These two groups then became our second and third subject groups, respectively.

The subjects in all groups were given a clinical interview lasting 30–60 min which involved a rating of the HRS-D and the administration of the two self-rating scales, the SDS and our GDS. The interviews were conducted by trained observers, the authors. Interrater reliability on the HRS-D was 0.9. For those subjects who were unable to complete the self-rating scales without assistance, the examiner read the questions orally, elicited answers from the subject, and recorded his or her responses. The order in which the scales were administered was randomly determined for each subject.

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A GERIATRIC DEPRESSION SCREENING SCALE

Results

Internal consistency and reliability

Four measures of internal consistency were computed for each of the three depression scales. These included: (1) the median correlation between the individual items comprising a scale and the corrected-item total score (total score minus score on the particular time involved); (2) the average intercorrelation among the scale's individual items; (3) CHRONBACH'S (1951) alpha coefficient; and (4) the split-half reliability coefficient. Each of these measures or indices of interanl consistency provides a basis for judging the extent to which the scale's items all measure the same underlying construct. In addition to computing these various indices of internal consistency, test-retest data are reported for the GDS. These data provide information regarding the reliability, i.e. stability, of GDS scores over time.

The results of the internal consistency analyses are displayed in Table 2. Each of the indices computed for the depression scales are discussed in turn below.

Index	GDS	Scale SDS	HRS-D	
Median correlation with total score	0.56	0.44	0.56	
Mean interitem correlation	0.36	0.25	0.34	
Alpha coefficient	0.94	0.87	0.90	
Split-half reliability	0.94	0.81	0.82	

TABLE 2. COMPUTED INDICES OF INTERNAL CONSISTENCY FOR THE GDS, SDS AND HRS-D

Correlation with total score. The median correlation between the items of the GDS and the corrected-item total scores was 0.56 (range = 0.32-0.83), suggesting that all of the items on this scale do, in fact, measure a common latent variable. The comparable values for the SDS and HRS-D were 0.44 (range = 0.24-0.71) and 0.56 (range = 0.16-0.81), respectively. Based on these data it would appear that the GDS, HRS-D and SDS are all internally consistent measures.

Inter-item correlations. The mean intercorrelation among items from the GDS was 0.36; the computed values for the SDS and HRS-D were 0.25 and 0.34, respectively. These values are in a range necessary for a high degree of internal consistency for each scale as a whole, as confirmed by the analyses which follow.

Alpha coefficient. CHRONBACH's (1951) alpha coefficient was utilized in order to provide an overall measure of the internal consistency of the GDS. The computed value of the alpha coefficient was 0.94, suggesting a high degree of internal consistency for the GDS. Computed values of the alpha coefficient for the SDS and HRS-D were 0.87 and 0.90, respectively.

44 J. A. YESAVAGE, T. L. BRINK, T. L. ROSE, O. LUM, V. HUANG, M. ADEY and VON O. LEIRER

Split-half reliability. An alternative index of internal consistency is the split-half reliability coefficient. This measure is typically derived by splitting a scale into two equivalent forms, calculating their intercorrelation, and then estimating the reliability of the composite scale using the Spearman-Brown formula (NUNNALLY, 1967). Employing this procedure, the reliability coefficients for the GDS, SDS, and HRS-D were found to be 0.94, 0.81, and 0.82, respectively. These values are reported in order to allow comparisons with previous research.

Test-retest reliability. Test-retest reliability was calculated for the GDS by having 20 subjects complete the questionnaire twice, one week apart. A correlation of 0.85 was obtained (p < 0.001), suggesting that, at least within the time frame considered here, scores on the GDS reflect stable individual differences.

Validity

The primary test of the validity of the GDS as a measure of depression was provided by the classification of subjects as normal (i.e. nondepressed), mildly depressed, or severely depressed on the basis of RDC for major affective disorder. If both this classification variable and the GDS are valid indices of depression, one would expect normal subjects to receive the lowest GDS scores whereas severely depressed subjects should score the highest on this measure. As a test of this hypothesis, an analysis of variance was conducted in which the classification variable served as a between-subjects factor while the subjects' total scores on the GDS served as the dependent measure. Similar analyses were also performed on the SDS and HRS-D. The results of these analyses provided evidence for each of the scales' validity. In each analysis the main effect for the classification variable was highly significant [GDS: F(2, 97) = 99.48, p < 0.001; SDS: F(2, 97) = 44.75, p < 0.001; HRS-D: F(2, 97) = 110.63, p < 0.001], and as seen in Table 3, in each case the means were ordered as predicted. t-Tests conducted between each pair of means within the same row of this table showed that subjects classified as normal scored significantly lower on each of the scales compared to the mildly and severely depressed subjects while the severely depressed group scored higher than each of the other two groups (all p < 0.001). These findings, then, provide evidence

Scale	Normal	Group Mildly depressed	Severely depressed	Total sample
GDS	5.75	15.05	22.85	13.98
	(4.34)	(6.50)	(5.07)	(9.02)
SDS	34.31	44.15	52.79	43.15
	(6.66)	(11.39)	(7.51)	(11.53)
HRS	5.43	13.35	25.42	14.29
	(4.98)	(5.98)	(6.45)	(10.35)

Table 3. Means and standard deviations for the GDS, SDS, and HRS as a function of subject classification $\ensuremath{\mathsf{T}}$

*Standard deviations appear in parentheses.

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A GERIATRIC DEPRESSION SCREENING SCALE

45

for the validity of the GDS as a measure of depression as well as validating the SDS and HRS-D.

Given previous findings indicating that the SDS (ZUNG, 1965; HEDLUND and VIEWEG, 1979) and HRS-D (CARROLL *et al.*, 1973; HAMILTON, 1960, 1967; BIGGS *et al.*, 1978; KNESEVICH *et al.*, 1977) are valid measures of depression, positive correlations between these measures and the GDS would provide evidence for the scales' convergent validity. The obtained correlation between the GDS and the SDS was found to be 0.84 while a correlation of 0.83 was found between the GDS and the HRS-D. The correlation between the SDS and the HRS-D was 0.80. All of these correlations were statistically reliable at or beyond the 0.001 level.

These analyses provided additional evidence of the validity of each of these depression scales. However, given the criticism that the SDS often may not adequately distinguish between different levels of depressive symptomatology (CARROLL et al., 1973) a comparison was also made across the three scales to determine the relative strength with which each one was related to the RDC. The correlation of each of the depression scales with the classification variable derived from these criteria was computed, and then, following FERGUSON (1971), the magnitude of each correlation was compared to the other two. The obtained correlations between the classification variable and the GDS, SDS, and HRS-D were 0.82, 0.69, and 0.83, respectively. All of these represented statistically reliable correlations (all p's < 0.001). However, comparing each of these correlations to the others showed that, whereas those associated with the GDS and the HRS-D did not differ significantly from each other, t (97) < 1, both of these were significantly greater in magnitude than that associated with the SDS [GDS vs SDS: t (97) = 3.83, p < 0.001; HRS-D vs SDS: t(97) = 3.85, p < 0.01]. It thus appears that, compared to the other two measures, the SDS discriminates less effectively between the normal, mildly depressed, and severely depressed subjects.

DISCUSSION

These results provide evidence that the GDS is a reliable and valid measure of geriatric depression. A high degree of internal consistency was found for the scale, and total scores on the GDS were reliable over a one-week interval. Evidence for the validity of the scale came from a comparison of the mean scores associated with subjects classified as normal, mildly depressed, or severely depressed based on RDC criteria for depression; the three groups' means were reliably different and ordered as one would expect given their differing RDC scores.

The primary purpose for constructing the GDS was to provide a reliable screening test for depression in elderly populations that would be simple to administer and not require the time or skills of a trained interviewer. The fact that the GDS was found to discriminate between groups of normal, mildly depressed, and severely depressed subjects is encouraging in this regard. However, one would ultimately desire information on the percentage of individuals correctly and incorrectly classified using particular scores on this measure. This can be accomplished by computing indices of *sensitivity* and *specificity* for the measure, where in this case sensitivity refers to the number of depressed persons correctly classified as depressed based on a particular criterion and where specificity refers

46 J. A. YESAVAGE, T. L. BRINK, T. L. ROSE, O. LUM, V. HUANG, M. ADEY and VON O. LEIRER

to the number of nondepressed persons correctly classified as such. Sensitivity is lowered to the extent depressed persons are missed using a criterion and classified incorrectly as nondepressed whereas specificity declines to the extent nondepressed persons are incorrectly labelled as suffering from depression.

Sensitivity and specificity of the GDS was examined in a recent study conducted by our research group (BRINK *et al.*, 1981). It was found that among elderly persons drawn from the same centers as those used in the present study, a cut-off score of 11 on the GDS yielded a 84% sensitivity rate and a 95% specificity rate. A more stringent cut-off score of 14 yields a slightly lower, 80%, sensitivity rate, but results in the complete absence of nondepressed persons being incorrectly classified as depressed, i.e. a 100% specificity rate. Based on these findings BRINK *et al.* (1981) suggested that a score of 0–10 be viewed as within the normal range while 11 or greater being a possible indicator of depression. Criteria for the SDS and HRS-D were also offered; these were scores of 46 and 11, respectively. A score of 46 on the SDS achieves 80% sensitivity and 85% specificity. The three scales, however, are best compared by holding either sensitivity or specificity constant. With specificity held constant at 80%, the sensitivities of the GDS, SDS and HRS-D were found to be 90, 82, and 86%, respectively.

A geriatric depression scale should not only be applicable for screening depression in the physically healthy elderly but should also be useful with the physically ill, and cognitively impaired. There is some evidence that the GDS may fulfill this criterion. Using data from a study by GALLAGHER *et al.* (1981), we found that the GDS differentiated depressed from nondepressed elderly in a sample of subjects who all suffered from physical illness. These subjects were elderly arthritics who had been given the GDS after having been classified as either depressed or nondepressed based on a comprehensive clinical interview. Comparing the GDS scores of these two groups of arthritics it was found that the mean score of the depressed subjects (13.1, s.D. = 7.14) was indeed significantly higher than that of the nondepressed subjects (5.10, s.D. = 4.21), t (47) = 4.94, p < 0.001. These data, then, provide evidence that the validity of the GDS is not limited to elderly subjects who are physically healthy.

In another recent study the GDS was found to differentiate depressed from nondepressed elderly undergoing cognitive treatment for senile dementia. These subjects were classified as demented by criteria of FOLSTEIN *et al.*'s (1975) Mini-Mental Status Exam. It was found that those subjects categorized as depressed by a therapist blind to GDS scores received a mean score of 14.72 (s.d. = 6.13) on the GDS vs a mean of only 7.49 (s.d. = 4.26) for nondepressed subjects, t (41) = 4.4, p < 0.001. Although the results of this study should only be viewed as suggestive since the number of subjects was small (n = 43), this study provides preliminary evidence that the GDS is a valid measure of depression with demented, as well as normal, elderly subjects.

However, despite evidence for each of the three scales' validity, they did not appear to perform equally well with respect to the task of differentiating between various RDC defined degrees of depression. Because the GDS and HRS-D were correlated with the number of RDC symptoms each subject had to a significantly greater extent than the SDS, one could argue that, among the two self-rating scales, the GDS appears to provide a more sensitive screening instrument. Although the SDS was found to correlate more poorly with the RDC than either the GDS or HRS-D, differences in the content and format of the three scales should be considered in making this comparison. It is important to recognize, first of all, the similarity between the three scales and the criterion, the RDC. The HRS-D would be expected to be more strongly related to the RDC, and the group classification variable, than the other two scales simply because the RDC are heavily represented on the HRS-D. Thus, the GDS and SDS are at a disadvantage in the analyses undertaken in the present study, because they do not measure all of the symptoms comprising the RDC while measuring others (e.g. diurnal symptom variation) which are not reflected in these criteria. Moreover, the poorer performance of the SDS may have been due partly to the fact that the RDC measure the severity of depression while the SDS measures the frequency of symptoms, and the two may not correspond closely (CARROLL et al., 1973).

The RDC were chosen as the basis for classifying the level of depression in subjects because of a consensus among researchers that it appears to capture the essential aspects of depressive disorders. Given its wide acceptance, and the lack of a better set of criteria, the failure of a scale to correlate well with the RDC probably reflects more upon the scale in question than the RDC. However, despite the differences in content between the RDC and the GDS, the GDS total score was found to still correlate as strongly with the number of RDC symptoms as the HRS-D whose content corresponds more closely with these criteria. Thus, emphasizing the subjective aspects of depression rather than the somatic and behavior aspects does not seem to have detracted from the validity of the GDS as it may have in the case of the SDS. Despite the differences in content betwen the GDS and HRS-D, the former scale did nevertheless appear to be as valid as the HRS-D in the present research. This finding is somewhat surprising given the absence of somatic symptoms on the former and reliance upon them in the latter. This may be explained in part by the fact that both scales assay mood dysphoria and other psychological symptoms of depression, which seem to best discriminate between the depressed and nondepressed aged.

The issue of how well somatic items measure depression in the elderly and discriminate the depressed from nondepressed is one which deserves further attention. In the first study of the present series, the somatic items' median correlation with the total score was only 0.33, compared to 0.68 for the selected questions. A similar pattern emerged for both the SDS and HRS-D in the second study. On the SDS the items most highly correlated with the corrected-item total score were those concerned with the subjective, psychological aspects of depression while the items most poorly correlated with the total score were those dealing with the somatic aspects of depression. The four lowest correlations were those measuring constipation, decreased libido, appetite decrease, and somatic anxiety while the four highest correlations were those measuring personal devaluation, emptiness, depressed mood, and dissatisfaction. Nearly identical findings have been obtained by STEUER *et al.* (1980). They found total scores on the SDS to be most highly correlated with those items measuring dissatisfaction, depressed mood, emptiness and personal devaluation whereas the lowest correlations occurred with those items measuring constipation, somatic anxiety, decreased libido, and agitation. Moreover, they found

48 J. A. YESAVAGE, T. L. BRINK, T. L. ROSE, O. LUM, V. HUANG, M. ADEY and VON O. LEIRER

further evidence that the somatic items of the SDS may measure depression more poorly than subjective states in elderly patients by computing four sets of factor scores labelled well being, depressed mood, optimism, and somatic symptoms. Not only was the somatic factor correlated the least strongly with the SDS total score, but this factor was the only one found to be significantly correlated with physician health ratings. Thus, this study demonstrates how, even among individuals screened for serious illness, the poorer health of the aged may undermine the power of somatic symptoms to detect depression.

Of course it is possible that the SDS simply does not contain good measures of those somatic symptoms accompanying depressive illness. But this interpretation does not explain the findings in which other measures of depression have been utilized. For example, although less marked than the results found with the SDS, a similar pattern of results was found in the present research when the items from the HRS-D were correlated with the total score: the somatic items generally correlated less strongly than the items measuring loss of interests, depressed mood and anxiety. Similarly, DESSONVILLE *et al.* (1981) using the Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia (SADS) have found that, even though the somatic aspects of depression differentiated depressed from nondepressed elderly, the mean differences between the two groups were smaller on the somatic items than those measuring the subjective states of depression.

Clearly more research is needed on the expression of depression within elderly subjects. The fact that the subjects in the present research were all relatively healthy, as were subjects in these additional studies, may have preserved the discriminability of some somatic questions. It remains to be determined whether the somatic items on these scales adequately measure depression in elderly persons who are less healthy. The GDS appears to avoid many of these problems by focusing on the psychological aspects of depression. This is not meant to imply that somatic symptoms should not be measured in cases of depressive illness. Such symptoms need to be assessed when one is concerned with formal diagnosis or when there is the desire to examine changes in the expression of depressive illness. However, when screening is the goal, discrimination between levels of depression is of primary important and somatic questions may be less powerful in this regard than items chosen empirically for their ability to differentiate the nondepressed from the depressed.

Finally, it is important to distinguish instruments to be used for screening, diagnosis and assessment of change. As the above data indicate, all three may find use as screening instruments, even if this was not their original intent. None, however, is a diagnostic tool. Positive results on any of the three scales on screening should be followed up by a clinical interview if significant levels of depressive symptomatology are found and treatment is being considered. On the other hand, the HRS-D has also been shown to be quite sensitive to changes in the level of symptomatology over time (KNESEVICH *et al.*, 1977), and thus, may serve well, as it was originally intended, as a means of gauging changes in the severity of depression. The use of the SDS in outcome research is more controversial (CARROLL *et al.*, 1973; CARROLL, 1978). It remains to be determined if the GDS may be useful for measuring changes in the severity of depression following treatment.

In conclusion, though not a substitute for observer-rated scales or indepth diagnostic interviews, and not yet shown to be treatment sensitive, the GDS appears to be a promising and simple screening instrument which may find other applications through further research.

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A GERIATRIC DEPRESSION SCREENING SCALE

Acknowledgement—This research was supported by the Medical Research Service of the Veteran's Administration.

REFERENCES

- BIGGS, J. T., WYLIE, L. T. and ZIEGLER, V. E. (1978) Validity of the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale. Br. J. Psychiat. 132, 381-385.
- BLUMENTAL, M. D. (1975) Measuring depressive symptomatology in a general population. Archs gen. Psychiat. 32, 971–978.
- BRINK, T. A., YESAVAGE, J. A., LUM, O., HEERSEMA, P., ADEY, M. and Rose, T. L. (1982) Screening tests for geriatric depression. *Clin. Gerontologist* 1, 37-44.
- CARROLL, B. J. (1978) Validity of the Zung Self-Rating Scale (letter to the editor). Br. J. Psychiat. 133, 379.
- CARROLL, B. J., FIELDING, J. M. and BLASHKI, T. G. (1973) Depression rating scales: a critical review. Archs gen. Psychiat. 28, 361-366.
- CHRONBACH, L. J. (1951) Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika* 16, 297-334. COLEMAN, R. M., MILES, L. E., GUILLEMINAULT, C., ZARCONE, V. P., VAN DER HOED, J. and DEMENT, W. C.
- (1981) Sleep-wake disorders in the elderly: a polysomnographic analysis. J. Am. Geriat. Soc. 29, 289-296. DESSONVILLE, C. L., GALLAGHER, D., THOMPSON, L., FINNELL, K. and LEWINSOHN, P. (1982) Relationship of age, health status, and depressive symptoms in normal and depressed older adults. Essence 5, 99-117.
- FERGUSON, G. A. (1971) Statistical Analysis in Psychology and Education, 3rd edn., pp. 171-172. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- FOLSTEIN, M. F., FOLSTEIN, S. E. and MCHUGH, P. R. (1975) Mini-mental state: a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J. psychiat. Res. 12, 189-198.
- GALLAGHER, D., SLIFE, B. and YESAVAGE, J. A. (1983) Impact of physical health status on scores of older adults on the Hamilton rating scale for depression. Under Editorial review.
- GURLAND, B. J. (1976) The comparative frequency of depression in various adult age groups. J. Geront. 31, 283-292.
- HAMILTON, M. (1960) A rating scale for depression. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 23, 56-62.
- HAMILTON, M. (1967) Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. Br. J. Soc. Clin. Psychol. 6, 278-296.
- HEDLUND, J. L. and VIEWEG, B. W. (1979) The Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale: a comprehensive review. J. opl Psychiat. 10, 51-64.
- JARVIK, L. F. (1976) Aging and depression: some unanswered questions. J. Geront. 31, 324-326.
- KAHN, R. L., ZARIT, S. H., HILBERT, N. M. and NIEDEREHE, G. (1975) Memory complaint and impairment in the aged: the effect of depression and altered brain function. *Archs gen. Psychiat.* 32, 1569–1573.
- KNESEVICH, J. W., BIGGS, J. T., CLAYTON, P. J. and ZIEGLER, V. E. (1977) Validity of the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression. Br. J. Psychiat. 131, 49-52.
- KOCHANSKY, G. E. (1979) Psychiatric rating scales for assessing psychopathology in the elderly: a critical review. In *Psychiatric Symptoms and Cognitive Loss in the Elderly: Evaluation of Assessment Techniques* (Edited by RASKIN, A. and JARVIK, L. F.), pp. 125–156. Wiley, New York.
- LYERLY, S. B. (1978) Handbook of Psychiatric Rating Scales, 2nd edn. National Institute of Mental Health, Rockville, Maryland.
- MCNAIR, D. M. (1979) Self-rating scales for assessing psychopathology in the elderly. In *Psychiatric Symptoms* and Cognitive Loss in the Elderly: Evaluation and Assessment Techniques (Edited by RASKIN, A. and JARVIK, L. F.), pp. 157-167. Wiley, New York.
- NUNNALLY, J. (1967) Psychometric Theory, p. 194. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- SALZMAN, C. and SHADER, R. I. (1978) Depression in the elderly: relationship between depression, psychologic defense mechanisms and physical illness. J. Am. Geriat. Soc. 26, 253-259.
- SCHNURR, R., HOAKEN, P. C. S. and JARRETT, F. J. (1976) Comparison of depression inventories in a clinical population. *Can. psychiat. Ass. J.* 21, 473-476.
- SPITZER, R. L., ENDICOTT, J. and ROBINS, E. (1978) Research Diagnostic Criteria: rationale and reliability. Archs gen. Psychiat. 35, 773-782.
- STEUER, J., BANK, L., OLSEN, E. J. and JARVIK, L. F. (1980) Depression, physical health and somatic complaints in the elderly: a study of the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale. J. Geront. 35, 683-688.

WELLS, C. E. (1979) Pseudodementia. Am. J. Psychiat. 136, 895-900.

ZUNG, W. W. K. (1965) A self-rating depression scale. Archs gen. Psychiat. 12, 63-70.

ZUNG, W. W. K. and GREEN, R. L., JR. (1973) Detection of affective orders in the aged. In *Psychopharmacology* and Aging (Edited by EISDORFER, C. and FANN, W. E.), pp. 213-223. Plenum Press, New York.



Cantab Mobile

12. Substantial Equivalence Discussion

This section is not applicable. This material is covered in the Executive Summary of this submission (Section 10).

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

CAMBRIDGE COGNITION

(b) (4)

Document Historv



Cantab Mobile

14. Sterilization and Shelf Life

Sterilization and shelf-life regulations are not applicable to Cantab Mobile. Therefore, this section is not applicable.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.



Cantab Mobile

15. Biocompatibility

This section is not applicable.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

Cantab Mobile Traditional 510(k)

CAMBRIDGE COGNITION

Cantab Mobile

16. Software

This report outlines Cambridge Cognition's software development lifecycle and procedures relevant to medical device software development with respect to the requirements of *IEC 62304:2006 Medical device software – Software life cycle processes* for class A software systems. Documents referenced in the report are available upon request.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

CONFIDENTIAL Page 1 of 1 Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118 (b) (4)


Cantab Mobile

17. Electromagnetic Compatibility and Electrical Safety

Cantab Mobile's device design does not include an electronic component in which an evaluation of its electromagnetic compatibility (EMC) is applicable. Therefore, this section is not applicable.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.



Cantab Mobile

18. Performance Testing - Bench

No bench tests were conducted as a part of this 510(k) submission. Therefore, this section is not applicable.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.



Cantab Mobile

19. Performance Testing - Animal

Animal performance testing is not applicable to Cantab Mobile's testing and development. Therefore, this section is not applicable.

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.
Appendix D: Cognitive impairment in depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis

The referenced article is shown below

Rock, P. L., Roiser, J. P., Riedel, W. J., & Blackwell, A. D. (2013). Cognitive impairment in depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychological medicine, 1-12.

Psychological Medicine (2014), 44, 2029–2040. © Cambridge University Press 2013 doi:10.1017/S0033291713002535

Cognitive impairment in depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis

P. L. Rock^{1,2}*, J. P. Roiser³, W. J. Riedel^{1,4,5} and A. D. Blackwell^{1,4}

 $^{1}\mathit{Cambridge}$ Cognition, Bottisham, Cambridge, UK

²Department of Psychiatry, University of Oxford, UK

³ UCL Institute of Cognitive Neuroscience, London, UK

⁴Department of Psychiatry, University of Cambridge, UK

⁵ Faculty of Psychology and Neuroscience, Maastricht University, The Netherlands

Background. This review aimed to address the question of whether cognitive impairment should be considered a core feature of depression that may be a valuable target for treatment.

Method. We conducted a systematic review and meta analysis of cognitive function, assessed with a single neuro psychological test battery, the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB), in patients with depression during symptomatic and remitted states. Inclusion of studies comparing patients remitted from depression and controls enabled us to investigate whether cognitive impairment persists beyond episodes of low mood in depression.

Results. Our meta analysis revealed significant moderate cognitive deficits in executive function, memory and attention in patients with depression relative to controls (Cohen's *d* effect sizes ranging from 0.34 to 0.65). Significant moderate deficits in executive function and attention (Cohen's *d* ranging from 0.52 to 0.61) and non significant small/moderate deficits in memory (Cohen's *d* ranging from 0.22 to 0.54) were found to persist in patients whose depressive symp toms had remitted, indicating that cognitive impairment occurs separately from episodes of low mood in depression.

Conclusions. Both low mood and cognitive impairment are associated with poor psychosocial functioning. Therefore, we argue that remediation of cognitive impairment and alleviation of depressive symptoms each play an important role in improving outcome for patients with depression. In conclusion, this systematic review and meta analysis demonstrates that cognitive impairment represents a core feature of depression that cannot be considered an epiphenomenon that is entirely secondary to symptoms of low mood and that may be a valuable target for future interventions.

Received 16 June 2013; Revised 16 September 2013; Accepted 17 September 2013; First published online 29 October 2013

Key words: Attention, CANTAB, cognition, depression, executive function, memory.

Introduction

Cognitive impairment is frequently observed in patients suffering from depression and is associated with poor response to treatment (Potter *et al.* 2004; Story *et al.* 2008; Roiser *et al.* 2012). Impaired cognition has been estimated to occur in around two-thirds of depressed patients (Abas *et al.* 1990; Butters *et al.* 2004; Afridi *et al.* 2011). Impaired ability to think, concentrate or make decisions is a DSM-IV-TR (APA, 2000) diagnostic criterion for major depressive episode. Consistent with this, several systematic reviews have demonstrated cognitive deficits in patients suffering from depression (Burt *et al.* 1995; Veiel, 1997;

Zakzanis *et al.* 1998; Stefanopoulou *et al.* 2009; Snyder 2013), including first-episode patients (Lee *et al.* 2012).

Impairments in cognition have been found to persist beyond acute episodes of depression, and between one-third and one-half of remitted depressed patients are thought to be affected by cognitive deficits (Abas *et al.* 1990; Bhalla *et al.* 2006; Reppermund *et al.* 2009). Furthermore, one study revealed that 94% of patients who had cognitive impairment while depressed continued to experience deficits in cognition when remitted from depression (Bhalla *et al.* 2006).

To our knowledge, to date, only two groups have reviewed cognitive function in patients remitted from depression (Hasselbalch *et al.* 2011; Bora *et al.* 2013). The review by Hasselbalch *et al.* (2011) included 500 remitted patients (and 472 controls) and revealed impaired cognitive performance in nine of the 11 included studies. Their review also assessed the association between cognitive function and other clinical

^{*} Address for correspondence: P. L. Rock, D.Phil., Cambridge Cognition, Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane, Bottisham, Cambridge CB25 9TU, UK.

⁽Email: philippa.rock@gmail.com)

2030 P. L. Rock et al.

features such as residual depressive symptoms and current medication status. However, drawbacks of this review relate to the large number of different cognitive tests that were used across studies and the lack of implementation of standardized effect sizes to reflect magnitude of impairment. Meanwhile, the review by Bora et al. (2013) included 895 remitted patients (and 997 controls) from 27 studies and, using standardized effect sizes, revealed cognitive deficits in a composite measure of global cognition, in individual cognitive domain composites and in a subset of specific tasks. The review also separately assessed cognitive function in early-onset and late-onset patients and included a meta-regression to uncover the influence of other clinical and demographic factors on cognitive performance. Again, a minor drawback of this review is that task-specific analyses were limited to a subgroup of cognitive tests for which there were sufficient data; therefore, cognitive domain and global cognition meta-analyses necessarily included results from a variety of cognitive tests. A review of the longitudinal course of cognitive function in depression revealed that improvements in mood were most closely related to improvements in verbal memory, verbal fluency and psychomotor speed, whereas attention and executive function remained impaired across treatment (Douglas & Porter, 2009).

Our aim was to conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis to investigate the degree of cognitive impairment in patients with depression during symptomatic and remitted states, focusing on studies that used a single neuropsychological test battery, the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB). Our rationale for including only CANTAB studies was to enable assessment of a broad range of cognitive domains but with consistent tasks implemented across reviewed studies, thereby ensuring interstudy homogeneity. We predicted that cognitive deficits would be observable in both depressed and remitted states.

Method

Systematic review

Studies were identified by searching PubMed and Google Scholar using the following search terms: 'Cambridge neuropsychological test automated battery' or 'CANTAB' and any CANTAB test name (e.g. 'Spatial Span') or its acronym ('SSP') and 'depression' or 'depressed' during the period from 1980 to December 2012. The CANTAB neuropsychological tests included in the search involved the domains of executive function, memory, attention and reaction time, as follows.

Executive function

(One Touch) Stockings of Cambridge (OTS/SOC; Owen et al. 1990). This task was derived from the Tower of London test and assesses visual planning, reasoning and impulsivity. Outcome measures analysed were the number/percentage correct or number of moves above the minimum [for all problems or difficult (four/five-move) problems].

Spatial Working Memory (SWM; Owen et al. 1995). This self-ordered search task is based on foraging behaviour and assesses working memory and strategy use. Participants search for tokens without returning to previous token locations. Outcome measure analysed was between-search errors.

Intra Extra Dimensional Set Shift (IED; Rogers et al. 1999). This test of cognitive flexibility, analogous to the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), has multiple stages segregating cognitive processes that assess rule learning, rule reversal and attentional set-shifting. Outcome measures analysed were total errors, extradimensional shift errors (adjusted) or stages completed.

Spatial Span (SSP; Kempton et al. 1999). This is a task of spatial short-term memory based on the Corsi block-tapping task. Outcome measure analysed was spatial span.

Memory

Delayed Matching to Sample (DMS; Robbins et al. 1994). In this test participants remember the visual features of a complex, abstract target stimulus and select it from a choice of four target patterns after a variable delay. Outcome measures analysed were total/percentage correct (for all trials or 12-s delay trials).

Paired Associates Learning (PAL; Sahakian et al. 1988). In this test participants learn the locations of a progress-ively increasing number of abstract stimuli. Outcome measures analysed were total errors (adjusted) or first trials correct.

Pattern Recognition Memory (PRM; Owen et al. 1995). This is a two-forced-choice test of abstract visual pattern recognition memory. Outcome measures analysed were total/percentage correct.

Spatial Recognition Memory (SRM; Owen et al. 1995). This two-forced-choice discrimination paradigm tests spatial recognition memory. Outcome measures analysed were total/percentage correct.

Attention

Rapid Visual Information Processing (RVP; Sahakian et al. 1989). This is a continuous performance test that assesses sustained attention, signal detection and impulsivity. Participants monitor a stream of single digits for three-digit target sequences. Outcome measures analysed were target sensitivity or total hits/omissions.

Reaction time

Reaction Time (RTI; Sahakian et al. 1993). This is a test of simple and five-choice reaction time. Outcome measure analysed was five-choice reaction time.

Inclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria for studies were: (1) used DSM or ICD criteria to diagnose major depressive disorder; (2) included a healthy control group; (3) used CANTAB to assess cognitive function in currently depressed patients and/or remitted depressed patients; and (4) reported sufficient data to estimate Cohen's d effect sizes, that is the group mean and either standard deviation or standard error data (and number of subjects in each group) were available for both patients and controls.

Our search revealed 24 studies including 784 currently depressed patients (and 727 controls) and six studies including 168 remitted depressed patients (and 178 controls) that met our inclusion criteria (see Table 1). The criteria for remitted depression varied across studies and are shown in Table 1.

Meta-analysis

Meta-analysis was performed using Review Manager (RevMan, 2011). For each study, Cohen's d effect sizes (Cohen, 1988) were calculated as the mean difference between test performance scores for patients compared to controls divided by the pooled standard deviation; negative effect sizes reflected deficits compared to controls. Subsequently, for each test, effect sizes were weighted using the inverse variance method within a random-effects model and pooled across all studies with available data. Pooled effect sizes were reported for tests only when data from three or more studies were available. In addition to meta-analyses for currently depressed patients versus controls and remitted depressed patients versus controls, a separate subanalysis was conducted for currently depressed patients who were unmedicated at the time of assessment versus controls. There were insufficient studies of unmedicated remitted depressed patients to include a subanalysis of this population. Influenced by Cohen's convention regarding the magnitude of effect sizes (Cohen, 1988), a Cohen's d effect size in

the range 0.2 0.35 was considered small, in the range 0.35 0.65 moderate and >0.65 large. Statistical inferences were made based upon analysis of 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

Cognitive impairment in depression 2031

Results

Profile of cognitive deficits in currently depressed patients

Cohen's *d* effect sizes were calculated based on data from 24 studies that used CANTAB tests in 784 currently depressed patients and 727 controls. Fig. 1 shows the weighted, pooled Cohen's *d* effect sizes for the comparison between depressed patients and healthy controls (black bars), and Table 2 presents detailed meta-analysis results.

Currently depressed patients showed significant moderate deficits compared to healthy controls across the cognitive domains of executive function (Cohen's d ranged from 0.34 to 0.54), memory (Cohen's d ranged from 0.41 to 0.50) and attention (Cohen's *d* was 0.65), and there was no significant deficit in reaction time (Cohen's d was 0.07). The non-significant finding for reaction time should be treated with caution because the results seem to have been affected by one study for which depressed patients showed significantly superior performance to controls. Indeed, when this study was excluded, currently depressed patients showed a nearly significant small deficit in reaction time compared to controls (d = 0.32, 95% CIs 0.59 to 0.05). Supplementary Fig. S1 (available online) presents forest plots depicting performance of currently depressed patients relative to controls.

Subanalysis: profile of cognitive deficits in unmedicated currently depressed patients

Cohen's *d* effect sizes were calculated based on data from eight studies that used CANTAB tests in 271 currently depressed patients who were unmedicated at the time of assessment and 267 controls. There were sufficient data to calculate weighted, pooled effect sizes for all executive function tasks, all memory tasks, and for the task of attention; insufficient data were available to calculate a weighted, pooled effect size for the reaction time task. Table 2 presents detailed meta-analysis results.

Unmedicated currently depressed patients showed significant moderate deficits compared to healthy controls on one executive function task (SWM; Cohen's d was 0.46), two memory tasks (DMS and PRM; Cohen's d ranged from 0.33 to 0.36) and the attention task (RVP; Cohen's d was 0.59). Although negative Cohen's d effect sizes (ranging from 0.06 to 0.49) were recorded for all remaining tasks, the

		Currently d	epressed patier	nts			Controls		
author	Year	n (female)	Age (years)	Diagnostic criteria	Depression symptoms	Medication status	n (female)	Age (years)	Notes
Beats	1996	24 (12)	72.0±5.9	DSM III R	HAMD x 29.6±5.1; MADRS 40.3±7.2	Twenty one medicated, three medication free	15 (9)	69.3±6.6	Minimum age of 60
Boeker	2012	28 (13)	39.7±11.4	DSM x; HAMD 21 ≥24; BDI ≥24	HAMD 21 28.5±7.0; BDI 25.9±8.2	Nineteen medicated, nine medication free	28 (13)	35.0±7.4	
Braw	2011	25 (14)	54.0±0.9	DSM IV; HAMD 17>14	HAMD 17 31.3±1.3; BDI 30.8±1.4	All unmedicated for 1 month prior to testing	25 (17)	54.2±0.9	Late adulthood group aged 46 65
		30 (16)	35.0±1.0	DSM IV; HAMD 17>14	HAMD 17 32.5±1.1; BDI 33.5±1.4	All unmedicated for 1 month prior to testing	30 (16)	34.5±1.1	Middle adulthood group aged 25 45
		30 (20)	17.1±0.5	DSM IV; CDRS ≥40	CDRS R 67.5±2.0; BDI 32.6±1.3	All unmedicated for 1 month prior to testing	30 (18)	17.5 ± 0.6	Young adult group aged <25
Cannon	2009	18 (11)	31±11	DSM IV	MADRS 22±5.3; IDS C 27±6.5	All unmedicated (of whom 11 treatment naïve)	19 (11)	31 ± 8.5	Aged 18 55
Elliott	1996	28 (19)	49.9±1.7	DSM III R	HAMD x 22.4±0.8; MADRS 34.0±1.1	All medicated	22 (15)	48.1 ± 1.2	Aged 40 70
Elliott	1997	6 (1)	34.7 (21 48)	DSM IV	HAMD x 23.8 (20 29); MADRS 35.3 (x 39)	Five medicated, one unmedicated	6 (1)	31.0 (18 55)	
Erickson	2005	20 (10)	37.2±11.9	DSM IV	MADRS 25.4±7.1	All unmedicated for 3 weeks prior to testing (of whom four medication naïve)	Matched (not stated)	Matched (not stated)	All had illness onset before age 40
Grant	2001	48	39.0±10.4	DSM IV	HAMD 17 16.7±5.4	All unmedicated patients for 28 days prior to testing	31	40.2±9.7	Demographics are for a larger sample from which these subjects were drawn
Heinzel	2010	20 (11)	40.0±9.9	DSM IV; HAMD 21 ≥24	HAMD 21 33.1±7.1; BDI 29.9±4.9	All unmedicated for 1 week prior to testing	29 (21)	35.3±7.3	
Kyte	2005	30 (18)	15.3±2.5	K SADS PL	HAMD x 10.9±6.8	Medicated and unmedicated adolescents	49 (29)	15.2±2.1	
Lyche	2010	37 (23)	44.2±12.3	DSM IV	BDI 21.4±11.1	Thirteen medicated, 24 unmedicated	91 (63)	35.8 ± 12.0	
Maalouf	2010	20 (16)	34.2±9.4	DSM IV; HAMD 25 ≥17	HAMD 5 24.8±5.8	All medicated	28 (19)	31.9±9.4	
Maalouf	2011	20 (17)	15.3±1.6	DSM IV; K SADS PL	CDRS 58.6±10.9	Thirteen medicated, seven unmedicated	17 (9)	15.2 ± 1.8	
Matthews	2008	14 (14)	14.5±1.2	ICD 10; CAPA C	MFQ 41.3±10.4	All medication naïve	14 (14)	14.4 ± 1.0	
Michopoulos	2008	40 (40)	52.7 ± 10.8	DSM IV TR	HAMD 17 20.0±4.0	All medicated	20 (20)	49.8 ± 12.7	

Table 1. Study characteristics and patient demographics for currently depressed and remitted depressed comparisons

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Michopoulos	2006	11 (11)	50.9 ± 10.5	DSM IV	HAMD x 20.8±3.1	All medicated	11 (11)	52.8 ± 14.1	Melancholic subgroup
		11 (11)	47.8±12.3	DSM IV	HAMD x 18.7±4.2	All medicated			Non melancholic subgroup
Murphy	2003	27 (14)	38.9±9.7	DSM IV	HAMD x 23.6±4.2; MADRS 34.3±5.4	Twenty six medicated, one unmedicated	23 (12)	39.1±10.8	
O'Brien	2004	61 (48)	73.9±6.7	DSM IV; MADRS ≥20	MADRS 30.7±7.1	Mostly medicated (numbers not stated)	40 (30)	73.3±6.7	Aged over 60
Porter	2003	44 (29)	32.9±10.6	DSM IV	HAMD 17 21.1±4.4; MADRS 28.9±5.5; BDI 27.9±10.2	All unmedicated (of whom 26 medication naïve) for 6 weeks prior to testing	44 (29)	32.3±11.4	
Purcell	1997	20 (12)	37.5 (18 52)	DSM IV	HAMD 24 22.6±5.6	Twelve medicated, eight unmedicated for 2 months prior to testing	20 (12)	37.2 (21 60)	
Reppermund	2009	53 (28)	43.5±8.0	DSM IV	HAMD x 25.1±5.1	Fifty medicated, three unmedicated	13 (7)	46.4±9.5	
Swainson	2001	37	60.8 ± 8.6	DSM IV	HAMD x 21.4±6.2	Not stated	39	64.4 ± 8.5	
Sweeney	2000	58 (39)	32.3 ± 9.1	DSM IV	HAMD 17 21.6±4.3	Medicated patients	51 (39)	36.3±9.7	
Taylor Tavares	2007	22 (17)	38.6±8.1	DSM IV	MADRS 25.5±7.5	Unmedicated patients	25 (18)	34.8 ± 8.8	
Tsaltas	2010	15 (15)	47.8 ± 11.7	DSM IV TR	HAMD 24 27.6±5.6	All medicated	15 (15)	49.3±11.6	Non referred subgroup
		15 (15)	48.5 ± 11.2	DSM IV TR	HAMD 24 31.9±6.5	All medicated			Referred subgroup

		Remitted p	atients					Controls		
First author	Year	n (female)	Age (years)	Diagnostic criteria	Euthymia definition	Depression symptoms	Medication status	<i>n</i> (female)	Age (years)	Notes
Beats	1996	19 (10)	73.6±5.4	DSM III R	MADRS <10	HAM D 4.7±2.6; MADRS 6.5±4.5	Mostly medicated	15 (9)	69.3±6.6	
Clark Clark	2005a 2005b	15 (11)	45.2±10.9	DSM IV	HAMD x <9	HAMD x 2.1±2.9	Six medicated, nine unmedicated	46 (23)	39.2±12.2	
Herrera Guzman	2010	60	20 50	DSM IV	HAMD 17 <6	HAMD 17 0.7±0.2	All unmedicated	37	20 50	
Maalouf	2011	20 (15)	15.4±1.3	DSM IV; K SADS PL	CDRS ≤28	CDRS 23.7 ±10.9	Thirteen medicated, seven	17 (9)	15.2±1.8	

unmedicated

irst uthor	Year	n (female)	Age (years)	Diagnostic criteria	Euthymia definition	Depression symptoms	Medication status	n (female)	Age (years)	Notes
'Brien	2004	26	Not stated	DSM-IV	MADRS <8	Not stated	Not stated	40	78 3±6 7	Aged over 60
/eiland-	2004	28 (18)	378 ± 122	DSM-IV	MADRS <6	MADRS	All unmedicated	23 (11)	$35 7 \pm 10 4$	
Fiedler						21 ± 23	for 3 months			
							prior to testing			

 Table 1 (cont)

Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children - Present and Lifetime Version (Kaufman et al. 1997); CDRS, Children's Depression Rating Scale (Poznanski et al. 1979); CAPA-C, Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Assessment – Child Version (Angold & Costello, 1995); MFQ, Mood and Feelings Questionnaire (Angold et al. 2002) Values given as mean±standard deviation or mean (range

95% CIs crossed zero in all cases. Supplementary Fig. S2 presents forest plots depicting performance of unmedicated currently depressed patients relative to controls.

Profile of cognitive deficits in remitted depressed patients

Cohen's d effect sizes were based on data from six studies that used CANTAB tests in 168 remitted depressed patients and 178 controls. There were sufficient data to calculate weighted, pooled effect sizes for three (out of four) tasks in the domain of executive function, two (out of four) tasks in the domain of memory, and for the task of attention; insufficient data were available to calculate a weighted, pooled effect size for the reaction time task. Fig. 1 shows the weighted, pooled Cohen's d effect sizes for the comparison between depressed patients and healthy controls (grey bars), and Table 2 presents detailed meta-analysis results.

Patients remitted from depression showed significant moderate deficits compared to healthy controls across the cognitive domains of executive function (Cohen's *d* ranged from 0.53 to 0.61) and attention (Cohen's *d* was 0.52). There was a tendency towards moderate deficits in the domain of memory (Cohen's d ranged from 0.22 to 0.54). Although the 95% CIs crossed zero in both cases, they only just crossed zero for PRM (95% CIs were from 1.08 to 0.01). Supplementary Fig. S3 presents forest plots depicting performance of currently depressed patients relative to controls.

Discussion

Our systematic review and meta-analysis revealed that impairments in cognitive function, assessed with a single neuropsychological test battery (CANTAB), were exhibited by currently depressed patients and by patients remitted from depression. Current depression was associated with significant moderate deficits across all tasks within the domains of executive function, memory and attention, with the exception of the SSP task of executive function, for which there was a tendency towards a moderate deficit. Although the systematic review and meta-analysis revealed no reaction time deficit in currently depressed patients, exploratory reanalysis excluding one anomalous study (in which depressed patients showed significantly superior performance relative to controls) revealed a tendency towards a small deficit in reaction time. Analysis of only unmedicated currently depressed patients showed a significant moderate deficit in the domain of attention and significant small and moderate deficits in some, but not all, tasks within the



Fig. 1. Pooled, weighted Cohen's *d* effect sizes reflecting the performance of currently depressed patients (black bars) and remitted depressed patients (grey bars) compared to healthy controls on tasks of executive function [OTS/SOC, (One Touch) Stockings of Cambridge; SWM, Spatial Working Memory; IED, Intra Extra Dimensional Set Shift; SSP, Spatial Span], memory (DMS, Delayed Matching to Sample; PAL, Paired Associates Learning; PRM, Pattern Recognition Memory; SRM, Spatial Recognition Memory), attention (RVP, Rapid Visual Information Processing) and reaction time (RTI, Reaction Time). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

domains of executive function and memory. Meanwhile, remitted depressed patients showed significant moderate deficits within the domains of executive function and attention. However, in the domain of memory, remitted depressed patients showed only a tendency towards small/moderate deficits. In summary, our systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated that cognitive impairment, particularly affecting the domains of executive function and attention, is a core feature of depression that persists during remission in the absence of clinically relevant symptoms of low mood.

The present systematic review and meta-analysis included only studies that had used CANTAB tasks to assess cognitive function in symptomatic or remitted depressed patients relative to controls. To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review and metaanalysis that has focused on studies using a single neuropsychological test battery. The magnitudes of cognitive deficits recorded in the current investigation are broadly in line with those that have been recorded previously. However, our finding of a non-significant deficit in reaction time in currently depressed patients relative to controls contrasted notably with the literature. Nevertheless, following exclusion of one anomalous result, a tendency towards a small deficit on the RTI task was recorded, and the size of this deficit (Cohen's d=0.32) was similar to the deficit recorded on the psychomotor speed composite (Cohen's d=0.33) in the Snyder (2012) meta-analysis.

Impaired cognitive functioning has been linked with poor response to antidepressant treatment (Potter *et al.* 2004; Story *et al.* 2008). However, the potential clinical relevance of cognitive deficits in depression also depends upon their impact on psychosocial functioning. Impaired psychosocial functioning is a core feature of depression (Weissman et al. 2010). It persists in up to 60% of individuals with depression even after mood symptoms of depression have remitted (Jaeger et al. 2006), indicating that severity of depressive symptoms cannot fully account for impaired functional ability. For example, patients with subsyndromal depressive symptoms have been found to manifest similar levels of psychosocial dysfunction to those of patients with clinically relevant symptoms (Judd et al. 1996). One possible explanation is that persisting cognitive impairments may contribute to poor quality of life and psychosocial functioning in patients whose depressive symptoms have remitted. In support of this, psychosocial functioning has been shown to be associated with performance on measures of attention, executive function, paired associates learning and visuospatial ability in depression (Jaeger et al. 2006). Importantly, the association between cognitive deficits and poor psychosocial functioning has been shown to remain significant even when taking into account residual, subclinical depressive symptoms (Jaeger et al. 2006).

Another study revealed that severity of cognitive impairment and severity of low mood associate independently with different measures of psychosocial functioning (McCall & Dunn, 2003). Furthermore, in bipolar disorder, psychosocial functioning has been shown to be predicted by both cognition and residual depressive symptoms (Mur *et al.* 2009; Solé *et al.* 2012).

Overall, these findings suggest that remediation of cognitive impairment and alleviation of depressive symptoms may both be involved in improving psychosocial functioning in depression. We therefore argue that cognitive impairment in depression is clinically relevant and may be a valuable target for intervention. 2036 P. L. Rock et al.

Table 2. Meta analysis results

Task	No. patients	No. controls	No. studies	d	95% CI	Ζ	p	Q	I ² (%)
Currently dep	pressed patients								
OTS/SOC	557	484	16	0.43	0.63 to 0.24	4.32	< 0.0001	43.33	56
SWM	567	521	15	0.54	0.75 to 0.33	4.98	< 0.00001	43.92	64
IED	578	566	16	0.44	0.65 to 0.23	4.07	< 0.0001	52.97	64
SSP	273	217	8	0.34	0.70 to0.01	1.92	0.06	24.19	71
DMS	423	342	12	0.46	0.62 to 0.29	5.37	< 0.00001	13.52	19
PAL	321	279	9	0.50	0.73 to 0.26	4.17	< 0.0001	18.43	46
PRM	402	347	12	0.46	0.69 to 0.23	3.89	0.0001	25.55	57
SRM	445	371	13	0.41	0.61 to 0.22	4.19	< 0.0001	24.38	43
RVP	228	236	7	0.65	0.83 to 0.46	6.75	< 0.00001	3.90	0
RTI	157	135	4	0.07	0.61 to 0.46	0.27	0.79	14.33	79
Unmedicated	currently depres	ssed patients							
OTS/SOC	191	174	4	0.28	0.68 to 0.11	1.40	0.16	17.21	71
SWM	231	218	6	0.46	0.84 to 0.09	2.43	0.02	25.85	73
IED	171	166	4	0.09	0.46 to 0.28	0.49	0.62	14.00	64
SSP	82	69	3	0.06	0.66 to 0.54	0.20	0.84	6.18	68
DMS	126	112	4	0.36	0.62 to 0.10	2.71	0.007	2.67	0
PAL	106	89	3	0.49	1.22 to 0.23	1.33	0.18	11.02	82
PRM	146	132	5	0.33	0.61 to 0.04	2.23	0.03	5.42	26
SRM	125	112	4	0.29	0.75 to 0.17	1.22	0.22	8.62	65
RVP	123	124	3	0.59	0.84 to 0.33	4.50	< 0.00001	1.38	0
Remitted dep	ressed patients								
OTS/SOC	125	109	4	0.61	0.88 to 0.34	4.47	< 0.00001	2.80	0
SWM	114	100	3	0.53	0.98 to 0.07	2.28	0.02	5.00	60
IED	62	84	3	0.53	0.88 to 0.18	2.95	0.003	1.51	0
DMS	74	80	3	0.22	0.60 to 0.15	1.16	0.24	2.69	26
PRM	73	78	3	0.54	1.08 to 0.01	1.92	0.05	5.24	62
RVP	123	123	4	0.52	0.83 to 0.21	3.31	0.0009	3.87	22

d, Weighted, pooled Cohen's *d* effect size; CI, confidence interval; *Q*, heterogeneity; *I*², percentage of total variability due to heterogeneity; OTS/SOC, (One Touch) Stockings of Cambridge; SWM, Spatial Working Memory; IED, Intra Extra Dimensional Set Shift; SSP, Spatial Span; DMS, Delayed Matching to Sample; PAL, Paired Associates Learning; PRM, Pattern Recognition Memory; SRM, Spatial Recognition Memory; RVP, Rapid Visual Information Processing; RTI, Reaction Time.

Although there are relatively few published studies assessing the cognitive enhancing effects of pharmacological treatments in depression, one potential augmentation therapy is the wakefulness-promoting agent modafinil. Indeed, 4-week adjunctive treatment with modafinil was shown to improve performance on a task of executive function in currently depressed patients with only partial response to antidepressant therapy (DeBattista *et al.* 2004). However, further research is required to delineate coincidental improvements in mood and fatigue from true improvements in cognitive function.

Limitations

One limitation of the current systematic review and meta-analysis relates to lack of assessment of the association between cognitive deficits and depressive symptoms. The importance of consideration of this association was highlighted in a meta-analysis that revealed that severity of depressive symptoms correlated significantly with impairment across domains of cognition including executive function, episodic memory and processing speed (McDermott & Ebmeier, 2009). However, only a small portion (at most around 10%) of the variability in cognitive function is accounted for by variability in depressive symptom severity (McDermott & Ebmeier, 2009). Therefore, there remains considerable separation between symptoms of depressive mood and cognitive impairment in patients suffering from depression, indicating that cognitive impairment cannot be considered entirely as a secondary feature of low mood in depression. Overall, although there is some evidence of an association between depressive symptomatology and cognitive function, this association does not account for the majority of variability in cognitive performance in depressed patients.

A further limitation of this study relates to most patients in the included studies being medicated. However, our subanalysis demonstrated significant cognitive deficits in unmedicated currently depressed patients on the SWM, DMS, PRM and RVP tasks, which span the domains of executive function, memory and attention. These findings support the idea that cognitive impairment is at least in part separable from medication effects in currently depressed patients.

The final limitation relates to the range of criteria used to define remission from depression within the remitted samples. Therefore, it is possible that our results may have been affected by the presence of low levels of persisting depressive symptoms in the remitted depressed group.

Conclusions

This review has demonstrated that cognitive impairment across the domains of executive function and attention, and to an extent memory, represents a core and clinically relevant feature of depression that persists beyond symptoms of low mood. Cognitive impairment is exhibited by depressed patients during current and remitted states, including in unmedicated samples. Previous research has demonstrated that cognitive impairment cannot be fully accounted for by severity of depressive symptoms and, along with symptoms of low mood, is associated with poor psychosocial function. We argue that cognitive impairment may represent a valuable target for new therapies for depression because remediation of cognitive impairment in addition to depressive symptoms will be important in improving functional outcome for patients with depression.

Supplementary material

For supplementary material accompanying this paper visit http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713002535.

Declaration of Interest

Drs Rock, Riedel and Blackwell are full-time employees of Cambridge Cognition, and Dr Blackwell holds shares in Cambridge Cognition. Dr Roiser is a paid consultant for Cambridge Cognition.

References

Abas M, Sahakian BJ, Levy R (1990). Neuropsychological deficits and CT scan changes in elderly depressives. *Psychological Medicine* **20**, 507 520.

- Afridi M, Hina M, Qureshi I, Hussein M (2011). Cognitive disturbance comparison among drug naïve depressed cases and healthy controls. *Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan* **21**, 351 355.
- Angold A, Costello EJ (1995). A test retest reliability study of child reported psychiatric symptoms and diagnoses using the Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Assessment (CAPA C). *Psychological Medicine* 25, 755 762.
- Angold A, Erkanli A, Silberg J, Eaves L, Costello EJ (2002). Depression scale scores in 8 17 year olds: effects of age and gender. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines* 43, 1052 1063.
- APA (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders Text Revision. American Psychiatric Association: Washington, DC.
- Beats BC, Sahakian BJ, Levy R (1996). Cognitive performance in tests sensitive to frontal lobe dysfunction in the elderly depressed. *Psychological Medicine* **26**, 591 603.
- **Beck A** (1961). A systematic investigation of depression. *Comprehensive Psychiatry* **2**, 163–170.
- Bhalla RK, Butters MA, Mulsant BH, Begley AE,
 Zmuda MD, Schoderbek B, Pollock BG, Reynolds CF 3rd,
 Becker JT (2006). Persistence of neuropsychologic deficits in the remitted state of late life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 14, 419–427.
- Boeker H, Schulze J, Richter A, Nikisch G, Schuepbach D, Grimm S (2012). Sustained cognitive impairments after clinical recovery of severe depression. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease* 200, 773–776.
- Bora E, Harrison BJ, Yücel M, Pantelis C (2013). Cognitive impairment in euthymic major depressive disorder: a meta analysis. *Psychological Medicine* **43**, 2017 2026.
- Braw Y, Aviram S, Bloch Y, Levkovitz Y (2011). The effect of age on frontal lobe related cognitive functions of unmedicated depressed patients. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 129, 342–347.
- Burt DB, Zembar MJ, Niederehe G (1995). Depression and memory impairment: a meta analysis of the association, its pattern, and specificity. *Psychological Bulletin* 117, 285 305.
- Butters MA, Whyte EM, Nebes RD, Begley AE, Dew MA, Mulsant BH, Zmuda MD, Bhalla R, Meltzer CC, Pollock BG, Reynolds CF 3rd, Becker JT (2004). The nature and determinants of neuropsychological functioning in late life depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 61, 587 595.
- Cannon DM, Klaver JM, Peck SA, Rallis Voak D, Erickson K, Drevets WC (2009). Dopamine type 1 receptor binding in major depressive disorder assessed using positron emission tomography and [11C]NNC 112. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **34**, 1277 1287.
- Clark L, Kempton MJ, Scarnà A, Grasby PM, Goodwin GM (2005*a*). Sustained attention deficit confirmed in euthymic bipolar disorder but not in first degree relatives of bipolar patients or euthymic unipolar depression. *Biological Psychiatry* **57**, 183–187.
- **Clark L, Sarna A, Goodwin GM** (2005*b*). Impairment of executive function but not memory in first degree relatives of patients with bipolar I disorder and in euthymic patients

2038 P. L. Rock et al.

with unipolar depression. *Journal of Medical Genetics* **162**, 1980 1982.

Cohen J (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, 2nd edn. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates: Mahwah, NJ.

DeBattista C, Lembke A, Solvason HB, Ghebremichael R, Poirier J (2004). A prospective trial of modafinil as an adjunctive treatment of major depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology* **24**, 87 90.

Douglas KM, Porter RJ (2009). Longitudinal assessment of neuropsychological function in major depression. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* **43**, 1105 1017.

Elliott R, Baker SC, Rogers RD, O'Leary DA, Paykel ES, Frith CD, Dolan RJ, Sahakian BJ (1997). Prefrontal dysfunction in depressed patients performing a complex planning task: a study using positron emission tomography. *Psychological Medicine* **27**, 931 942.

Elliott R, Sahakian BJ, McKay AP, Herrod JJ, Robbins TW, Paykel ES (1996). Neuropsychological impairments in unipolar depression: the influence of perceived failure on subsequent performance. *Psychological Medicine* **26**, 975 989.

Erickson K, Drevets WC, Clark L, Cannon DM, Bain EE,
Zarate CA Jr., Charney DS, Sahakian BJ (2005).
Mood congruent bias in affective go/no go performance of unmedicated patients with major depressive disorder.
American Journal of Psychiatry 162, 2171 2173.

Grant MM, Thase ME, Sweeney JA (2001). Cognitive disturbance in outpatient depressed younger adults: evidence of modest impairment. *Biological Psychiatry* 50, 35–43.

Hamilton M (1960). A rating scale for depression. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry 23, 56 62.

Hasselbalch BJ, Knorr U, Kessing LV (2011). Cognitive impairment in the remitted state of unipolar depressive disorder: a systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 134, 20 31.

Heinzel A, Northoff G, Boeker H, Boesiger P, Grimm S (2010). Emotional processing and executive functions in major depressive disorder: dorsal prefrontal activity correlates with performance in the intra extra dimensional set shift. *Acta Neuropsychiatrica* 22, 269 279.

Herrera Guzmán I, Gudayol Ferré E, Herrera Abarca JE, Herrera Guzmán D, Montelongo Pedraza P, Padrós Blázquez F, Peró Cebollero M, Guàrdia Olmos J (2010). Major depressive disorder in recovery and neuropsychological functioning: effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor and dual inhibitor depression treatments on residual cognitive deficits in patients with major depressive disorder in recovery. *Journal of Affective Disorders* **123**, 341 350.

Jaeger J, Berns S, Uzelac S, Davis Conway S (2006). Neurocognitive deficits and disability in major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Research* 145, 39–48.

Judd LL, Paulus MP, Wells KB, Rapaport MH (1996). Socioeconomic burden of subsyndromal depressive symptoms and major depression in a sample of the general population. *American Journal of Psychiatry* **153**, 1411 1417.

Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao U, Flynn C, Moreci P,
Williamson D, Ryan N (1997). Schedule for Affective
Disorders and Schizophrenia for School Age
Children Present and Lifetime Version (K SADS PL):
initial reliability and validity data. *Journal of the American*Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 36, 980 988.

Kempton S, Vance A, Maruff P, Luk E, Costin J, Pantelis C (1999). Executive function and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: stimulant medication and better executive function performance in children. *Psychological Medicine* **29**, 527 538.

Kyte A, Goodyer IM, Sahakian BJ (2005). Selected executive skills in adolescents with recent first episode major depression. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 9, 995 1005.

Lee RSC, Hermens DF, Porter MA, Redoblado Hodge MA (2012). A meta analysis of cognitive deficits in first episode major depressive disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 140, 113 124.

Lyche P, Jonassen R, Stiles TC, Ulleberg P, Landrø NI (2010). Cognitive control functions in unipolar major depression with and without co morbid anxiety disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry* **1**, 149.

Maalouf FT, Brent D, Clark L, Tavitian L, McHugh RM, Sahakian BJ, Phillips ML (2011). Neurocognitive impairment in adolescent major depressive disorder: state vs. trait illness markers. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 133, 625–632.

Maalouf FT, Klein C, Clark L, Sahakian BJ, Labarbara EJ, Versace A, Hassel S, Almeida JRC, Phillips ML (2010). Impaired sustained attention and executive dysfunction: bipolar disorder versus depression specific markers of affective disorders. *Neuropsychologia* **48**, 1862–1868.

Matthews K, Coghill D, Rhodes S (2008). Neuropsychological functioning in depressed adolescent girls. *Journal of Affective Disorders* **111**, 113–118.

McCall W, Dunn A (2003). Cognitive deficits are associated with functional impairment in severely depressed patients. *Psychiatry Research* **121**, 179 184.

McDermott LM, Ebmeier KP (2009). A meta analysis of depression severity and cognitive function. *Journal of Affective Disorders* **119**, 1 8.

Michopoulos I, Zervas IM, Pantelis C, Tsaltas E, Papakosta V M, Boufidou F, Nikolaou C, Papageorgiou C, Soldatos CR, Lykouras L (2008). Neuropsychological and hypothalamic pituitary axis function in female patients with melancholic and non melancholic depression. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience* 258, 217 225.

Michopoulos I, Zervas IM, Papakosta VM, Tsaltas E, Papageorgiou C, Manessi T, Papakostas YG, Lykouras L, Soldatos CR (2006). Set shifting deficits in melancholic vs. non melancholic depression: preliminary findings. *European Psychiatry* **21**, 361 363.

Montgomery SA, Asberg M (1979). A new depression scale designed to be sensitive to change. *British Journal of Psychiatry* **134**, 382 389.

Cognitive impairment in depression 2039

Mur M, Portella MJ, Martinez Aran A, Pifarre J, Vieta E (2009). Influence of clinical and neuropsychological variables on the psychosocial and occupational outcome of remitted bipolar patients. *Psychopathology* **42**, 148 156.

Murphy FC, Michael A, Robbins TW, Sahakian BJ (2003). Neuropsychological impairment in patients with major depressive disorder: the effects of feedback on task performance. *Psychological Medicine* **33**, 455 467.

O'Brien JT, Lloyd A, McKeith I, Gholkar A, Ferrier IN (2004). A longitudinal study of hippocampal volume, cortisol levels, and cognition in older depressed subjects. *American Journal of Psychiatry* **161**, 2081 2090.

Owen AM, Downes JJ, Sahakian BJ, Polkey CE, Robbins TW (1990). Planning and spatial working memory following frontal lobe lesions in man. *Neuropsychologia* 28, 1021 1034.

Owen AM, Sahakian BJ, Semple J, Polkey CE, Robbins TW (1995). Visuo spatial short term recognition memory and learning after temporal lobe excisions, frontal lobe excisions or amygdalo hippocampectomy in man. *Neuropsychologia* **33**, 1 24.

Porter RJ, Gallagher P, Thompson JM, Young AH (2003). Neurocognitive impairment in drug free patients with major depressive disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatry* **182**, 214 220.

Potter GG, Kittinger JD, Wagner HR, Steffens DC, Krishnan KRR (2004). Prefrontal neuropsychological predictors of treatment remission in late life depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **29**, 2266 2271.

Poznanski EO, Cook SC, Carroll BJ (1979). A depression rating scale for children. *Pediatrics* **64**, 442 450.

Purcell R, Maruff P, Kyrios M, Pantelis C (1997). Neuropsychological function in young patients with unipolar major depression. *Psychological Medicine* 27, 1277 1285.

Reppermund S, Ising M, Lucae S, Zihl J (2009). Cognitive impairment in unipolar depression is persistent and non specific: further evidence for the final common pathway disorder hypothesis. *Psychological Medicine* **39**, 603 614.

RevMan (2011). Review Manager (RevMan), Version 5.1. The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration: Copenhagen.

Robbins TW, James M, Owen AM, Sahakian BJ, McInes L, Rabbitt PMA (1994). Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB): a factor analytic study of a large sample of normal elderly volunteers. *Dementia* 5, 266–281.

Rogers RD, Blackshaw AJ, Middleton HC, Matthews K, Hawtin K, Crowley C, Hopwood A, Wallace C, Deakin JFW, Sahakian BJ, Robbins TW (1999). Tryptophan depletion impairs stimulus reward learning while methylphenidate disrupts attentional control in healthy young adults: implications for the monoaminergic. *Psychopharmacology* **146**, 482–491.

Roiser JP, Elliott R, Sahakian BJ (2012). Cognitive mechanisms of treatment in depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **37**, 117 136. Sahakian BJ, Jones G, Levy R, Gray J, Warburton DM (1989). The effects of nicotine on attention, information processing, and short term memory in patients with dementia of the Alzheimer type. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 154, 797–800.

Sahakian BJ, Morris RG, Evenden JL, Heald A,
Levy R, Philpot M, Robbins TW (1988). A comparative study of visuospatial memory and learning in
Alzheimer type dementia and Parkinson's disease.
Brain 111, 695 718.

Sahakian BJ, Owen AM, Morant NJ, Eagger SA, Boddington S, Crayton L, Crockford HA, Crooks M, Hill K, Levy R (1993). Further analysis of the cognitive effects of tetrahydroaminoacridine (THA) in Alzheimer's disease: assessment of attentional and mnemonic function using CANTAB. *Psychopharmacology* **110**, 395–401.

Snyder HR (2013). Major depressive disorder is associated with broad impairments on neuropsychological measures of executive function: a meta analysis and review. *Psychological Bulletin* **139**, 81 132.

Solé B, Bonnin C, Torrent C, Balanzá Martinez V, Tabarés Seisdedos R, Popovic D, Martinez Arán A, Vieta E (2012). Neurocognitive impairment and psychosocial functioning in bipolar II disorder. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* **125**, 309 317.

Stefanopoulou E, Manoharan A, Landau S, Geddes JR, Goodwin G, Frangou S (2009). Cognitive functioning in patients with affective disorders and schizophrenia: a meta analysis. *International Review of Psychiatry* 21, 336 356.

Story TJ, Potter GG, Attix DK, Welsh Bohmer KA, Steffens DC (2008). Neurocognitive correlates of response to treatment in late life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* **16**, 752 759.

Swainson R, Hodges JR, Galton CJ, Paykel ES, Semple J, Michael A, Dunn BD, Iddon JL,
Robbins TW, Sahakian BJ (2001). Early detection and differential diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease and depression with neuropsychological tasks.
Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders 12, 265 280.

Sweeney JA, Kmiec JA, Kupfer DJ (2000). Neuropsychologic impairments in bipolar and unipolar mood disorders on the CANTAB neurocognitive battery. *Biological Psychiatry* **48**, 674 684.

 Taylor Tavares JV, Clark L, Cannon DM, Erickson K,
 Drevets WC, Sahakian BJ (2007). Distinct profiles of neurocognitive function in unmedicated unipolar depression and bipolar II depression. *Biological Psychiatry* 62, 917 924.

Tsaltas E, Kalogerakou S, Papakosta V M, Kontis D, Theochari E, Koutroumpi M, Anyfandi E,
Michopoulos I, Poulopoulou C, Papadimitriou G, Oulis P (2010). Contrasting patterns of deficits in visuospatial memory and executive function in patients with major depression with and without ECT referral. *Psychological Medicine* 41, 983 995.

Veiel HO (1997). A preliminary profile of neuropsychological deficits associated with major depression.

2040 P. L. Rock et al.

Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology **19**, 587–603.

- Weiland Fiedler P, Erickson K, Waldeck T, Luckenbaugh DA, Pike D, Bonne O, Charney DS, Neumeister A (2004). Evidence for continuing neuropsychological impairments in depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 82, 253 258.
- Weissman MM, Bland RC, Canino GJ, Faravelli C, Greenwald S, Hwu H, Joyce PR, Karam EG, Lee C,

Lellouch J, Newman SC, Rubio Stipec M, Wells JE, Wickramaratne PJ, Wittchen H, Yeh E (2010). Cross national epidemiology of major depression and bipolar disorder. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 276, 293 299.

Zakzanis KK, Leach L, Kaplan E (1998). On the nature and pattern of neurocognitive function in major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychiatry, Neuropsychology, and Behavioral Neurology* **11**, 111 119.

101328 1900 1 FDA/CDRH/DCC



CLEMENTI & Associates, Ltd.

Medical and Regulatory Consulting

DEC **21 2016** Received

919 Conestoga Road, Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010

> T (610) 527-2600 www.regulatoryaffairs.com

December 21, 2016

Traditional 510(k) Submission Deficiency Letter Response K161328

Food and Drug Administration Center for Devices and Radiological Health Document Control Center - WO66-G609 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Silver Spring, Maryland 20993-0002

RE: Original 510(k) – CANTAB Mobile, K161328 Deficiency Letter Response – Additional Information Amendment

ATTN: Binoy Mathews

Dear Sir or Madam:

Reference is made to the Division's Deficiency Letter dated July 15, 2016, which describes the Division's queries and concerns with CANTAB Mobile's original 510(k) submission dated May 10, 2016. Cambridge Cognition Ltd. responds to the request for additional information by submitting updated versions of previously submitted documents as well as new content. For ease of review, each deficiency list item is listed directly below in the Contents of Submission and also in tabular format listing each deficiency item and the corresponding Sponsor response.

CANTAB Mobile is a software application intended to be used to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test, there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression (Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire [GDS]), and

1

problems with performing regular activities of daily living (Activities of Daily Life Questionnaire [ADL]).

CANTAB Mobile is <u>not</u> a diagnostic test. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria. The option to test or not to test is a decision that rests with the medical professional.

The content in this 510(k) submission has been amended to support the claim that CANTAB Mobile is substantially equivalent to the previously approved predicate device, Cognivue (manufactured by Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.; DEN130033). CANTAB Mobile and Cognivue are both categorized as Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid and both are used by healthcare professionals to measure aspects of patients' cognition. In addition, CANTAB Mobile and Cognivue are similar in terms of technological characteristics as both electronically record objective performance measurements when the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen. Differences in the design and performance of CANTAB Mobile and Cognivue do not affect either the safety or effectiveness of CANTAB Mobile for its intended use.

The documents included in this submission (both paper and electronic formats) have been formatted in accordance with the *Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Format for Traditional and Abbreviated* 510(k) and listed on the attached page entitled "Contents of Submission". The eCopy submission is an exact duplicate of the paper copy except for the electronic-only content specified in the Contents of Submission footnotes. For ease of review, these format-specific statements are consolidated here and present in both the eCopy and paper copy.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at the telephone or email address listed directly below:

Sincerely,

ancy Clemente

Nancy D. Clémenti, MD Chief Medical Officer US Agent for Cambridge Cognition Ltd.

Encl: FDA Form 3514, Contents of Submission

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018



Medical and Regulatory Consulting

919 Conestoga Road, Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010

> T (610) 527-2600 www.regulatoryaffairs.com

December 21, 2016

Traditional 510(k) Submission Deficiency Letter Response K161328

Food and Drug Administration Center for Devices and Radiological Health Document Control Center - WO66-G609 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Silver Spring, Maryland 20993-0002

RE: Original 510(k) – CANTAB Mobile, K161328 Deficiency Letter Response – Additional Information Amendment

ATTN: Binoy Mathews

Dear Sir or Madam:

Reference is made to the Division's Deficiency Letter dated July 15, 2016, which describes the Division's queries and concerns with CANTAB Mobile's original 510(k) submission dated May 10, 2016. Cambridge Cognition Ltd. responds to the request for additional information by submitting updated versions of previously submitted documents as well as new content. For ease of review, each deficiency list item is listed directly below in the Contents of Submission and also in tabular format listing each deficiency item and the corresponding Sponsor response.

CANTAB Mobile is a software application intended to be used to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test, there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression (Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire [GDS]), and

1

problems with performing regular activities of daily living (Activities of Daily Life Questionnaire [ADL]).

CANTAB Mobile is <u>not</u> a diagnostic test. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria. The option to test or not to test is a decision that rests with the medical professional.

The content in this 510(k) submission has been amended to support the claim that CANTAB Mobile is substantially equivalent to the previously approved predicate device, Cognivue (manufactured by Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.; DEN130033). CANTAB Mobile and Cognivue are both categorized as Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid and both are used by healthcare professionals to measure aspects of patients' cognition. In addition, CANTAB Mobile and Cognivue are similar in terms of technological characteristics as both electronically record objective performance measurements when the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen. Differences in the design and performance of CANTAB Mobile and Cognivue do not affect either the safety or effectiveness of CANTAB Mobile for its intended use.

The documents included in this submission (both paper and electronic formats) have been formatted in accordance with the *Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Format for Traditional and Abbreviated* 510(k) and listed on the attached page entitled "Contents of Submission". The eCopy submission is an exact duplicate of the paper copy except for the electronic-only content specified in the Contents of Submission footnotes. For ease of review, these format-specific statements are consolidated here and present in both the eCopy and paper copy.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at the telephone or email address listed directly below:

Sincerely,

ancy Clemente

Nancy D. Clementi, MD Chief Medical Officer US Agent for Cambridge Cognition Ltd.

Encl: FDA Form 3514, Contents of Submission

2

Contents of Submission: 510(k) CANTAB Mobile¹

Deficiency Letter Response – Additional Information Amendment 1	
	Page
Cover Letter	
CORH Premarket Review Submission Cover Sheet EDA Form 351/ ²	
FDA Form 3674 ²	
Tabular Listing of Deficiency Letter Item and Corresponding Sponsor Response ³	
Deficiency List Item and Corresponding Sponsor Response and Documentation:	
Item #1 – Substantial Equivalence Discussion	
Executive Summary ^{2, 4}	1-1
Item #2 – Indications for Use	
Indications for Use /Statement (FDA Form 3881) ²	2-1
Items #3 & 4 – Device Description Device Description ^{2,4}	
CANTAB Mobile Technical Wireframes ²	3-1
	3-26
Item #5 - Proposed Labeling	
Instructions for Use (INMI-013) ^{2, 3}	4-1
Item #6 – Data and Reporting	
Item #6a	
Relevant Correspondence: Sponsor's Request for Clarification ^{3,4}	5-1
Item #6b	
Demographic Adjustment of Scores (NMI-020) ^{2, 6}	5-4
Mobile Analysis Data Set ^{3, 7}	5-40
Itom #6c	
CANTAB Mobile Verification and Validation Data ^{3, 4}	5-14
Item #7 – Software (introductory tables list documents submitted and their location)	
Lable 1: Documentation Provided for Cantab Mobile, Designated Minor Level of Concern ³	6-1
Table 2: Documents by Development and Verification Stage ³	6-3

¹ Document signature pages are available upon request.

⁴ Only newly submitted key references are included in the electronic submission. Please refer to the Original CANTAB Mobile 510(k) submission (10-May-2016) for other references listed.

- ⁵ The majority of references present in the IFU are included electronically in either the Executive Summary (Section 10 of original submission) or Device Description (Section 11 of original submission). All other references are available upon request.
- ⁶ References are available upon request.
- ⁷ This document is available in the electronic version of the submission. It resides in the statistical data folder in its native.xml format (zipped). A PDF version is present in Volume 5 (Item 6 Response).

² Updated or amended document

³ New Document



Tabular Listing of Deficiency Letter Item and Corresponding Sponsor Response

Product Name: Indication: Cantab Mobile (K161328) Assess Memory by Testing Visuospatial Associative Learning in Patients Aged 50 to 90 Years

Sponsor

© Cambridge Cognition Limited Tunbridge Court Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridge, CB25 9TU UK Tel: +44 (0) 1223 810 700 Fax: +44 (0) 1223 810 701

Authorized US Agent

Clementi and Associates Ltd. 919 Conestoga Road Rosemont, PA 19010 Tel: 610 527-2600

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

Item #	FDA Deficiency Description and Sponsor Response
Substantial	FDA Comment:
Equivalence	"You have identified the AnthroTronix – DANA (K141865) as the primary predicate device for comparison to the
Discussion	Cantab Mobile for the purposes of establishing substantial equivalence. The DANA indications for use state that it
#1	individual's medical or psychological state. DANA also delivers and scores standardized psychological
	questionnaires"). In comparison, the Cantab Mobile seeks to be indicated "for the assessment of memory in adult
	individuals aged 50 to 90 years of age." The device also specific in that it is "indicated to provide clinicians with
	objective measurements of visuospatial episodic memory and mood."
	Reaction Time and Memory are two distinct cognitive processes which are used to assess different aspects of cognition. Therefore, the predicate device you have chosen is not appropriate. Please select a predicate device whose intended use is similar to the Cantab Mobile and revise your application accordingly. We believe it is appropriate for you to consider using DEN130033 (Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc. – Cognivue) or K150154 (Vista Lifesciences – ANAM Test System) as potential predicate devices as these devices are indicated as computerized adjunctive assessments of memory. However, please note that you will need to provide a detailed comparison to the new predicate device, and where differences exist, information to support how Cantab Mobile can be considered equivalent. For example, while considering these predicates please keep in mind that these testing systems use multiple tests to produce an outcome; you would need to support the use of the PAL as a single test used to assess memory in comparison to these predicates which test memory in multiple domains. Additionally, it is important to provide evidence that the PAL may be used without an assessment of baseling function in the proposed use and that decrements cited as severe are outside the
	without an assessment of baseline function in the proposed use and that decrements cited as severe are outside the range that could attributed to normal aging."
	Sponsor Response: Per the Division's recommendation above, the Sponsor has updated the predicate device for comparison to Cognivue. The Executive Summary (Section 5.1 and Appendix A) as well as CDRH Premarket Review Submission Cover Sheet, FDA Form 3514 have been updated to reflect this change and are submitted herein.

Indications for Use #2	"Your Indications for Use Statement states that the Cantab Mobile will be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years. The assessment of memory is a broad term and your Indications for Use should specify the type of memory that is being assessed in order to provide the user with an accurate description of the purpose of the device. Since the Cantab Mobile will use the PAL test to make its assessment of visuospatial learning, please revise your Indications for Use Statement to "assess visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years." Sponsor Response: The Indications for Use statement (FDA Form 3881) has been revised in accordance with the Division's recommendations. All documents containing this statement have been updated and are resubmitted in this amendment.
Device Description #3	FDA Comment: "Within your Executive Summary and Device Labeling, you make multiple references to specific conditions such as Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia and state that the Cantab Mobile can detect memory impairment in such individuals. Please note that indicating your device for "assessment of memory in adult individuals aged 50 to 90 years of age" is different from making claims related to specific disease states; test scores resulting in this outcome may be attributed to other causes and patients should be referred for clinical evaluation. Indicating your device for MCI or Dementia would constitute a new intended use which would need to be reviewed via the DeNovo pathway due to lack of a suitable predicate. Therefore, please revise your Executive Summary, Device Results, and labeling by removing the reference to MCI or Dementia. In addition, please include a statement that the results of the Cantab Mobile should only be interpreted by a qualified professional."
	Sponsor Response: The Sponsor has ensured that any references to Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia are contained only in reference to peer-reviewed publications where PAL has been used to assess these conditions in a research context. It is not claimed that Cantab Mobile can detect memory impairments in specific disease states. The Sponsor includes a statement in the Executive Summary (Section 2) and ^{(b) (4)} "CANTAB Mobile is not a diagnostic test. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria."

#4	FDA Comment:"You state that the Cantab Mobile includes the optional administration of the Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire (GDS) and the Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire (ADL). If administered, you mention that scores will be presented to the clinician. Please address the following items related to these questionnaires:"FDA 4a Comment:
	(b)(4)
	Sponsor 4a Response: (b)(4)
	FDA 4b Comment: "4b. In addition, please verify if the GDS and ADL Questionnaires are consistent with the published, validated versions. If not, please cite the versions used and provide literature to support their clinical use."
	Sponsor 4b Response: Device Description Section 1.3 provides references to the validation of the versions of GDS and ADL used in Cantab Mobile.

	FDA 4c Comment:
	(b)(4)
	Sponsor 4c Response:
#5	FDA Comment: (b)(4)
	Sponsor Response:
	(b)(4)
#6 ^a	FDA Comment:
	(b)(4)
	FDA 6a Comment:

(b) (4)
Sponsor 6a Response:
(b)(4)
(b)(4)
Sponsor 6b Response: (b)(4)
(b)(4)

	FDA 6c Comment:
	(b)(4)
	Sponsor 6c Response: Verification and Validation testing
(b) (4) Testing
	Additional information is provided in Response to Deficiency Item 6c: Cantab Mobile Verification and
	Validation.
	Test-retest reliability
(b) (4	4) Testing


Please wait...

If this message is not eventually replaced by the proper contents of the document, your PDF viewer may not be able to display this type of document.

You can upgrade to the latest version of Adobe Reader for Windows®, Mac, or Linux® by visiting http://www.adobe.com/go/reader_download.

For more assistance with Adobe Reader visit http://www.adobe.com/go/acrreader.

Windows is either a registered trademark or a trademark of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. Mac is a trademark of Apple Inc., registered in the United States and other countries. Linux is the registered trademark of Linus Torvalds in the U.S. and other countries.

Form Approved: OMB No. 0910-0616. Expiration Date: 2/28/2018. See PRA Statement on page 2.



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Food and Drug Administration

Certification of Compliance

Under 42 U.S.C. § 282(j)(5)(B), with Requirements of ClinicalTrials.gov Data Bank (42 U.S.C. § 282(j))

(For submission with an application/submission, including amendments, supplements, and resubmissions, under §§ 505, 515, 520(m), or 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act or § 351 of the Public Health Service Act.)

	f Sponsor/Applicant/Submitter				2. Date of the Application/Submission	
Camb	Cambridge Cognition Ltd. US Agent: Clementi Associates Ltd.				Which This Certification Accompanies 12/21/2016	
3. Address	3		al an	4	. Telephone and Fax Numbers	
Addre Tunbr	Address 1 (Street address, P.O. box, company name c/o) Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane				(Include country code if applicable and area code)	
Addre	ss 2 (Apartment, suite, unit, build	ing, floor, etc.)			(Tel): (610) 527-2600	
City S Bottisham		State/Prov Cambridge	State/Province/Region Cambridgeshire		(Fax):698	
Count UK	try		ZIP or Postal Code CB25 9TU			
11	A CARLES ALL MARKED	PF	ODUCT INFORMATI	ON		
Name(s For Dev CAN	s). vices: Include Any/All Common (ITAB Mobile	or Usual Name(s), C	Classification, Trade or F	Proprietary or M	odel Name(s) and/or Model Number(s)	
		NAMES OF A DESCRIPTION OF				
			Continuation Page for	#5		
	and the second		ON / SUBMISSION IN	EORMATION		
6. Type of	Application/Submission Which T	his Certification Ac	companies	onantion		
			PMA 🗌 HDE	🛛 510(k)	PDP Other	
7. Include (If numb 161328	IND/NDA/ANDA/BLA/PMA/HDE ber previously assigned)	/510(k)/PDP/ Other	PMA HDE	S10(k) BLA was select	PDP Other	
IN Include (If numb 161328 8. Serial N 00001	IND/NDA/ANDA/BLA/PMA/HDE ber previously assigned) Jumber Assigned to Application/S	/510(k)/PDP/ Other	PMA HDE Number If his Certification Accom	S10(k) BLA was select	PDP Other othe	
IN IN Include (If numb 161328 B. Serial N 00001	IND/NDA/ANDA/BLA/PMA/HDE ber previously assigned) lumber Assigned to Application/S	510(k)/PDP/ Other	PMA HDE Number If his Certification Accom	S10(k) BLA was select panies	PDP Other othe	
IN IN Include (If numb 161328 Serial N 00001 9. Check c	IND/NDA/ANDA/BLA/PMA/HDE ber previously assigned) lumber Assigned to Application/S	UBLA L /510(k)/PDP/ Other Submission Which T CERTIFICAT See instructions for	PMA HDE Number If This Certification Accomp	510(k) BLA was select panies IFORMATION ad explanation)	PDP Other othe	
☐ IN 7. Include (<i>If numb</i> 161328 8. Serial N 00001 9. Check (○ A.	IND/NDA/ANDA/BLA/PMA/HDE ber previously assigned) Jumber Assigned to Application/S only one of the following boxes (S I certify that the requirements of application/submission which the	/510(k)/PDP/ Other Submission Which T CERTIFICAT See instructions for of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j) his certification acco	PMA HDE Number If his Certification Accom ION STATEMENT / II additional information ai , Section 402(j) of the F ompanies does not refer	S10(k) BLA was select panies IFORMATION ad explanation) ublic Health Se ence any clinica	PDP Other din item 6, provide Supplement Number vice Act do not apply because the I trial.	
□ IN 7. Include (If numb 161328 8. Serial N 00001 9. Check (□ A. □ B.	IND/NDA/ANDA/BLA/PMA/HDE ber previously assigned) lumber Assigned to Application/S only one of the following boxes (I certify that the requirements of application/submission which the I certify that the requirements of trial referenced in the application	CERTIFICAT CERTIFICAT See instructions for of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j) nis certification acco of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j) on/submission which	PMA HDE Number If Number If Chis Certification Accomp TON STATEMENT / II additional information au Section 402(j) of the F ompanies does not refer Section 402(j) of the F on this certification accomp	S10(k) BLA was select panies IFORMATION ad explanation) ublic Health Se ence any clinica ublic Health Se panies.	PDP Other din item 6, provide Supplement Number vice Act do not apply because the I trial. rvice Act do not apply to any clinical	
□ IN 7. Include (If numb 161328 8. Serial N 00001 9. Check (□ A. □ B. □ C.	IND/NDA/ANDA/BLA/PMA/HDE ber previously assigned) Iumber Assigned to Application/S only one of the following boxes (S I certify that the requirements of application/submission which the I certify that the requirements of trial referenced in the application I certify that the requirements of clinical trials referenced in the application been met.	CERTIFICAT CERTIFICAT Submission Which T CERTIFICAT See instructions for of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j) on/submission which of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j) on/submission which of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j) on/submission which of 42 U.S.C. § 282(j)	PMA HDE Number If This Certification Accomp HON STATEMENT / II additional information at b, Section 402(j) of the F mpanies does not refer b, Section 402(j) of the F this certification accom b, Section 402(j) of the F this certification accom b, Section 402(j) of the F this certification accom	S10(k) BLA was select banies IFORMATION ad <i>explanation</i>) ublic Health Se ence any clinical ublic Health Se panies. ublic Health Se panies.	PDP Other din item 6, provide Supplement Number vice Act do not apply because the I trial. rvice Act do not apply to any clinical rvice Act apply to one or more of the and that those requirements have	

	CERTIFICATION	STATEMENT	/ INFORMATIO	N (Continued)	
 If you checked box C, in number 9, p § 282(J)(1)(a)(i), section 402(j)(1)(a)(accompanies. (Add continuation page 	rovide the National (i) of the Public Healt e as necessary.)	Clinical Trial (NC th Service Act, r	CT) Number(s) for referenced in the a	any "applicable clinica pplication/ submission	I trial(s)," under 42 U.S.C. which this Certification
NCT Number(s):					
					Continuation Page for #10
The undersigned declares, to the be I understand that the failure to subm Service Act, and the knowing submit 301 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Warning: A willfully a	ist of her/his knowle it the certification r ssion of a false cer Cosmetic Act. and knowingly false	ledge, that this required by 42 rtification under e statement is a	is an accurate, tr U.S.C. § 282(j)(5 r such section are a criminal offense	ue, and complete sub)(B), section 402(j)(5 e prohibited acts unde , U.S. Code, title 18,	omission of information. (B) of the Public Health er 21 U.S.C. § 331, section section 1001.
11. Name and Title of the Person who S	igns Number 15				
Name		1	itle		
Nancy D. Clementi, M.D.		0	Chief Medical Officer, Clementi Associates Ltd.		
12. Address Address 1 (Street address, P.O. box, company name c/o) 919 Conestoga Road)		13. Telephone a (Include cou area code)	nd Fax Numbers Intry code if applicable and
Address 2 (Apartment, suite, unit, but Building 3, Suite 312	ilding, floor, etc.)			(Tel): (610)	527-2600
City Rosemont	State/Province/Region PA		(Fax): 215-7	17-4698	
Country USA	······	ZIP or Posta 19010	I Code		
14. Date of Certification 12/21/2016	*	1	5. Signature of Sp Representative	ionsor/Applicant/Subm (Sign) accy AC	itter or an Authorized Sign
This se	ction applies only to	requirements o	f the Paperwork R	eduction Act of 1995	

DO NOT SEND YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE PRA STAFF EMAIL ADDRESS BELOW.

The burden time for this collection of information is estimated to average 15 minutes and 45 minutes (depending on the type of application/ submission) per response, including the time to review instructions, search existing data sources, gather and maintain the data needed and complete and review the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this information collection, including suggestions for reducing this burden to:

> Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Office of Chief Information Officer Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA) Staff PRAStaff@fda.hhs.gov

"An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB number."

10. Executive Summary

Product Name: Indication: Cantab Mobile (K161328) Assess Memory by Testing Visuospatial Associative Learning in Patients Aged 50 to 90 Years



© Cambridge Cognition Limited Tunbridge Court Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridge, CB25 9TU UK Tel: +44 (0) 1223 810 700 Fax: +44 (0) 1223 810 701

Sponsor

Authorized US Agent

Clementi and Associates Ltd. 919 Conestoga Road Rosemont, PA 19010 Tel: 610 527-2600

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIS	ST OF I	IN-TEXT TABLES	2
LIS	ST OF A	ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS OF TERMS	3
1	BAC	KGROUND	4
	1.1	Information on Dementia and Relevancy of Testing	4
2	INDI	CATION(S) AND INTENDED USE	6
	2.1	Instructions for Use	6
3	DEV	ICE DESCRIPTION	7
4	VER	IFICATION, VALIDATION AND TRACEABILITY	8
5	SUB	STANTIAL EQUIVALENCE	9
	5.1	Predicate Device	9
6	CLIN	NICAL EVALUATION	11
	6.1	Introduction	11
	6.2	Objectives	11
7	RISK	S TO HEALTH	13
	7.1	Summary	13
	7.2	Determination of Level of Concern	13
8	OVE	RALL CONCLUSIONS	14
9	LITE	RATURE CITED	15
10	APPI	ENDICES	17
	Appen	dix A. Predicate Device Comparison (Cantab Mobile and Cognivue)	17
11	REFI	ERENCED DOCUMENTS	20

LIST OF IN-TEXT TABLES

Table 1.	Indications for Use	6
Table 2.	Device Comparison Summary (Proposed Device vs. Predicate Device)	10

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADAS-cog	Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale – Cognition
ADHD ADL CANTAB	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire Cambridge Neuropsychology Test Automated Battery
CAPA	Corrective and Preventative Action
DLB	Dementia with Lewy Bodies
FDS	Functional Design Specification
GDS	Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire
HD	Huntington's disease
ID IFU MCI	Identification Instructions for Use Mild Cognitive Impairment
MEDDEV NINCDS- ADRDA PAL	Medical Device guidance document National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke - Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association Paired Associates Learning
PIN	Personal Identification Number
RS	Requirements Specification
SCM	Software Configuration Management
SDLC	Software Development Life Cycle
SDS	Software Design Specification
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
SOUP	Software Of Unknown Provenance
QD	Questionable dementia
QMS	Quality Management System
VMP	Validation Master Plan

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 Information on Dementia and Relevancy of Testing

It is estimated that dementia currently affects approximately 37 million people worldwide and, as the population ages, these prevalence rates can be expected to increase substantially. In addition to the devastating personal impact that a diagnosis of dementia may have upon the lives of patients and their caregivers, there is also a financial burden. The total monetary cost of dementia in 2010 was between \$157 billion and \$215 billion (Hurd et al., 2013).

Current criteria for the diagnosis of probable AD stipulates deterioration in two or more areas of cognition including memory of sufficient magnitude to interfere with work or social function. Critically however, substantial neuropathological change may have occurred before clinically significant symptoms (Jack et al. 2010; Jansen et al. 2015) appear. Thus, commencing treatment of AD at the time of clinical diagnosis (whether with cholinergic / glutamatergic drugs, anti-amyloid deposit agents or other putative disease modifying agents) may be sub-optimal or even ineffective because of the advanced stage of neurodegeneration at that time. The identification of cognitive tests that are sensitive to early pathological changes would facilitate the diagnosis of patients in a 'prodromal' state (i.e., those in whom the pathological process is present but whose symptoms are currently sub-clinical). Such early detection would serve to maximize the potential therapeutic benefit of treatment, enhance patient quality of life and, in so doing, reduce the burden on residential and nursing care services. Consequently, a very high therapeutic and economic premium is placed on the early detection and diagnosis of AD.

The CANTAB (Cambridge Neuropsychology Test Automated Battery) PAL (Paired Associates Learning) requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on a touch sensitive computer screen. See Device Description Section 1.2 for additional detail.

A series of independent studies have demonstrated that Cantab PAL measures of visuospatial associative learning and semantic memory are sensitive in detecting the earliest signs of prodromal Alzheimer's disease (up to 32 months prior to clinical diagnosis) both in memory clinic attendees (Fowler et al., 1995, Fowler et al., 1997; Fowler et al., 2002; Swainson et al., 2001; Blackwell et al., 2004) and in community dwelling cohorts of individuals classified as asymptomatic using current clinical measures (De Jager et al., 2002); De Jager et al., 2005).

Further studies using Cantab PAL have confirmed it to be of utility in early and differential diagnosis in AD on a case-by-case basis. The Cantab PAL performance of patients with mild AD was impaired relative to both demographically-matched healthy controls (Sahakian et al., 1988) and to individuals with Frontal Variant Fronto-Temporal Dementia (Lee et al, 2003). Of critical importance, Cantab PAL was also found to be relatively insensitive to major unipolar depression (only 7 percent of scores of patients with Depression and Alzheimer's disease fell within an overlapping range) (Swainson et al., 2001). This result suggests that Cantab PAL is of utility in the differential diagnosis of early AD and depression (unlike word recall tests – see O'Carroll et al., 1997). Unlike ADAS-COG, performance on Cantab PAL

was also found to correlate significantly with subsequent deterioration in global cognitive function. Furthermore, in a group of individuals with 'questionable dementia', baseline Cantab PAL results revealed an apparent subgroup of patients who performed like AD patients. In a follow up study, Blackwell et al. (2004) showed that by taking into account age and performance on one other neuropsychological test (The Graded Naming Test [McKenna & Warrington, 1980]), Cantab PAL gave a 100% distinction between patients with questionable dementia who either did or did not convert to probable AD (NINCDS-ADRDA criteria) 32 months after baseline testing (see also De Jager et al., 2002). These studies also revealed that the sensitivity (in detecting prodromal AD in a QD group) and specificity (in differentiating AD from depression) of Cantab PAL was considerably better than that of all other frequently-used tests included in the study (including ADAS-cog and Wechsler Logical Memory Delayed Passage Recall).

The accumulating evidence demonstrates the sensitivity and specificity of Cantab PAL as a tool for operationalizing the criteria for objective memory impairment in mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

2 INDICATION(S) AND INTENDED USE

The application is designed to detect episodic memory impairments in patients aged 50 to 90 years by testing visuospatial associative learning (Table 1). Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression (Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire [GDS]), and problems with performing regular activities of daily living (Activities of Daily Life Questionnaire [ADL]). Additional information on questionnaires is provided in the amended Device Description (Vol. 3).

Table 1.Indications for U	se
---------------------------	----

Indications for Use	The device is intended to be used to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years.
Contraindications	Patients with severe visual impairment Patients outside the indicated age range

The results of Cantab Mobile should be interpreted only by qualified professionals. The application provides test results that are interpretive, however, Cantab Mobile is not a diagnostic test. The output provided by the device is not diagnostic. A diagnosis can only be made by a qualified physician using consensus diagnostic criteria. The option to test or not to test is a decision that rests with the medical professional.

2.1 Instructions for Use

The Instructions for Use (IFU) is included as a separate document in this submission. Please see **NMI-013** for the full Instructions for Use for Cantab Mobile.

3 DEVICE DESCRIPTION

A full **Device Description** is included as a separate document in this submission

3.1 Summary

Cantab Mobile is software to be loaded and run on Apple iPad hardware and operating system. The software is intended to be administered by a healthcare professional to test the cognitive function of a patient. The Cantab Mobile memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test, which requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on a touch-sensitive computer screen. Two optional questionnaires are included to assess a patient's mood and ability to perform daily living activities. At the conclusion of the test, a 'thank you' screen is displayed with no information on test outcome. The healthcare professional will then be able to read or export a report, which summarizes the memory test results and also displays information on the patient's responses in the questionnaires, if these have been administered.

Cantab Mobile has been classified as a Class I Medical Device in accordance with:

- MEDDEV 2.1/6 July 2016
- 93/42/EEC on Medical Devices, Classification Criteria, Annex IX, Rule 12.

The proposed regulatory classification, made under this 510(k) submission, is Class I. It is a Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid (Product Code PKQ) and the classification regulation number is CFR 882.1470. Appendix A presents supportive information for this classification designation.

4 VERIFICATION, VALIDATION AND TRACEABILITY

Software development is carried out under a controlled Software Development Life Cycle within a Quality Management System. A summary of the current version of these procedures in relation to IEC 62304:2006 for Class A software systems is provided in **QA-IEC62304Analysis.** The Software Section of this submission provides additional supportive information.

Version 1.4 is the current version of the application. The history of prior application changes and verification is reflected in the **Summary Table in the Software Section.**

In addition to the traceability of verification records and risk control activities provided in the above documents, traceability between requirements, functional design and software testing specifications is summarized in **NMI-018**.

Functional testing is conducted against controlled software versions using a defined test specification, which documents the criteria required for each test case to pass; the pass/fail outcome for each case is recorded in records of testing for the software version.

A revision history log of external software releases with version identification is maintained under the control of the software configuration management system.

5 SUBSTANTIAL EQUIVALENCE

5.1 **Predicate Device**

Cantab Mobile is substantially equivalent to Cognivue (manufactured by Cerebral Assessment Systems; DEN130033). Cantab Mobile and Cognivue are both categorized as Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aids. The tests use different devices; Cantab Mobile uses an Apple iPad and Cognivue uses a personal computer on a cart. Cantab Mobile and Cognivue are both used by healthcare professionals to measure aspects of patients' cognition. Cantab Mobile and Cognivue differ in the areas of cognition measured in that Cantab Mobile specifically assesses memory using a test of visuospatial associative learning (PAL) that is known to be correlated with hippocampal function, whereas the Cognivue software gives an overview of brain health, including memory, using ten short tests.

The results of the PAL test in Cantab Mobile are automatically compared to the results in the built-in normative dataset, accounting for age, gender and level of education, to indicate when a patient's memory is outside the range that could be attributed to normal aging. This is designed to be a triage test for people with concerns about their memory, to determine whether a patient should be tested further or their memory is normal for their age. Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living. Cognivue is designed to be used to regularly monitor a patient's broad cognitive health, using 10 short tests to indicate decline, and potentially dementia, through comparison to baseline test performance of other age-normal adults.

Cantab Mobile and Cognivue are similar in terms of technological characteristics as both electronically record objective performance measurements when the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen. Differences in the design and performance of Cantab Mobile and Cognivue do not affect either the safety or effectiveness of Cantab Mobile for its intended use.

Table 2 presents a summary of each device for comparison. A complete comparison table is provided in Appendix A.

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	Cognivue – Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc. (Submitted June 26, 2013)
510(k) Number	K161328	DEN130033
Trade Name	Cantab Mobile	Cognivue
Regulation Name:	Computerized Co	ognitive Assessment Aid
Intended Use	Cantab Mobile is intended to be used to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living.	Cognivue testing is indicated as an adjunctive tool for evaluating perceptual and memory function in individuals aged 55 to 95 years old.
	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals. The device is not intended to be used as a stand-alone diagnostic device. The device is not intended to identify the presence or absence of clinical diagnoses.	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals. The device is not intended to be used as a stand-alone diagnostic device. The device is not intended to identify the presence or absence of clinical diagnoses.

 Table 2.
 Device Comparison Summary (Proposed Device vs. Predicate Device)

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

7 RISKS TO HEALTH

7.1 Summary

Risk management for the device is handled under controlled procedures within a Quality Management System. These procedures are designed to meet applicable requirements of EN ISO 13485:2012 and EN ISO 14971:2012.

A summary of the risk analysis and other document references are provided in the **Device Description (Section 2.2)**.

7.2 Determination of Level of Concern

Cantab Mobile's level of concern is classified as minor based upon the parameters and recommendations outlined in FDA's *Guidance for the Content of Premarket Submissions for Software Contained in Medical Devices* (2005), with negative responses to all questions in Tables 1 and 2. Regarding question 3 in Table 2, the app is a screening device for use by a learned intermediary in conjunction with other investigations; its operation does not lead directly to diagnosis or choice of appropriate medical care.

8 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

Cantab Mobile is an app that runs on an iPad. It detects memory impairments by testing visuospatial associative learning, in patients aged 50 to 90 years, and includes optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression and problems with performing regular activities of daily living. The Cantab tests have a 30-year history of use in a range of clinical populations, supported by over 1500 published papers. Cantab Mobile includes the Cantab PAL test, which has been developed as a way of assessing episodic memory without language barriers. A series of independent studies have demonstrated that PAL is sensitive in detecting the earliest signs of prodromal Alzheimer's disease, up to 32 months prior to clinical diagnosis, and that it is relatively insensitive to major unipolar depression. The accumulating evidence demonstrates the sensitivity and specificity of PAL as a tool for operationalizing the criteria for objective memory impairment in mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

Cantab Mobile is not a diagnostic test. The results for a patient's PAL memory test are presented to the healthcare professional as one of three traffic-light coded categories. In conjunction with other investigations, these provide information to assist the professional in their assessment of the patient.

Cantab Mobile is substantially equivalent to Cerebral Assessment Systems' Cognivue software in that they share the intended use of providing clinicians with objective measurements of cognition. Both are applications that electronically record objective performance measurements as the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen. Differences in the design and performance of Cantab Mobile from Cognivue, the predicate device, do not affect either the safety or effectiveness of Cantab Mobile for its intended use.

9 LITERATURE CITED

Blackwell AD, Sahakian BJ, Vesey R, Semple J, Robbins TW, Hodges JR. Detecting dementia: novel neuropsychological markers of preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2004;17:42-8.

de Jager CA, Milwain E, Budge MM. Early detection of isolated memory deficits in the elderly: the need for more sensitive neuropsychological tests. Psychol Med. 2002 Apr;32(3):483-91.

de Jager CA, Blackwell AD, Budge MM, Sahakian BJ. Predicting cognitive decline in healthy older adults. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2005; 13(8):735-40.

Fowler KS, Saling MM, Conway EL, Semple J, Louis WJ. Computerized delayed matching to sample and paired associate performance in the early detection of dementia. Appl Neuropsychol. 1995;2(2):72-8.

Fowler KS, Saling MM, Conway EL, Semple J, Louis WJ. Computerized neuropsychological tests in the early detection of dementia: prospective findings. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 1997;3(2):139-46.

Fowler KS, Saling MM, Conway EL, Semple J, Louis WJ. Paired associate performance in the early detection of DAT. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2002;8:58-71.

Hurd MD, Martorell P, Delavande A, Mullen KJ, Langa KM. Monetary Costs of Dementia in the United States. N Engl J Med 2013;368:1326-34.

Jack Jr CR, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, Shaw LM, Aisen PS, Weiner W, et al. Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. Lancet Neurol. 2010; Jan9(1): 119-28.

Jansen WJ, Ossenkoppele R, Knol DL, Tijms BM, Scheltens P, Verhey FR, et al. Prevalence of cerebral amyloid pathology in persons without dementia: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2015;313(19):1924-38.

Lee AC, Rahman S, Hodges JR, Sahakian BJ, Graham KS. Associative and recognition memory for novel objects in dementia: implications for diagnosis. Eur J Neurosci. 2003;18(6):1660-70.

McKenna P, Warrington EK. Testing for nominal dysphasia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1980;43(9):781-8.

O'Carroll RE, Conway S, Ryman A, Prentice N. Performance on the delayed word recall test (DWR) fails to differentiate clearly between depression and Alzheimer's disease in the elderly. Psychol Med. 1997;27(4):967-71.

Sahakian BJ, Morris RG, Evenden JL, Heald A, Levy R, Philpot MP, et al. A comparative study of visuospatial memory and learning in Alzheimer-type dementia and Parkinson's disease, Brain 1988;111:695-718.

Swainson R, Hodges JR, Galton CJ, Paykel ES, Semple J, Michael A, et al. Early detection and differential diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease and depression with neuropsychological tasks. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 200;12(4):265-80.

10 APPENDICES

Appendix A. Predicate Device Comparison (Cantab Mobile and Cognivue)

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	Cognivue – Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.
510(k) Number	K161328	DEN130033
Device Information: Trade Name	Cantab Mobile	Cognivue
Regulation Name:	Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid	Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid
Product Code	Classification Regulation # CFR 882.1470 PKQ	Classification Regulation # CFR 882.1470 PKQ
Device Information: Device Class:	Unclassified or Proposed Class I The device has the same intended use, and relies on technology that does not raise new safety and effectiveness questions to Cognivue.	Class II
Predicate Device:	Cognivue (DEN130033)	De novo submission
Type of Use	Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801.109)	Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801.109)
Submission Date:	May 12, 2016	June 26, 2013
Submitter Information: Company:	Cambridge Cognition Limited. Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridgeshire, CB25 9TU UK	Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc. 2850 Clover Street Pittsford, NY 14534 USA
Design and Intended Use	Cantab Mobile is intended to be used to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living.	Cognivue testing is indicated as an adjunctive tool for evaluating perceptual and memory function in individuals aged 55 to 95 years old.
	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals. The device is not intended to be used as a stand-alone diagnostic device. The device is not intended to identify the presence or absence of clinical diagnoses.	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals. The device is not intended to be used as a stand-alone diagnostic device. The device is not intended to identify the presence or absence of clinical diagnoses.

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	Cognivue – Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.
Target population	Patients aged 50 to 90 years with concerns about their memory. Results are automatically adjusted for age, gender, education.	Patients aged 55 to 95 years for the purpose of identifying a potential decline in cognitive function relative to baseline test performance of other age-normal adults.
Anatomical site	The brain: cognitive function	The brain: cognitive function
Test duration	The test takes approximately 10 minutes to complete.	The test takes approximately 10 minutes to complete.
Scoring and reports	Automatic scoring and instant reports	Automatic scoring and instant reports
Where used	Cantab Mobile is software used on a tablet, therefore it can be administered in any suitable setting, e.g. a clinic or home.	The Cognivue software is used on a personal computer, situated on a cart to provide mobility within the healthcare setting.
Energy used	 Cantab Mobile software runs on an Apple iPad, which has the following features: built-in 25-watt-hour rechargeable lithium-polymer battery; charging via power adapter or USB to computer system; up to 10 hours of use when charged. 	The Cognivue software runs on a personal computer – the energy used is hardware- dependent.
Human factors	 Any healthcare professional can administer the test. To ensure reliable results, the iPad should be placed on a stand and the assessment should be administered in a quiet room, without disturbance. The voiceover and questionnaire texts are provided in a choice of languages. 	Any healthcare professional can administer the test. The battery is organized into three sub-batteries, with each sub-test preceded by transitional guidance that facilitates the test subject's engagement with minimal supervision.
To whom is the product marketed /target audience?	Healthcare Rehabilitation	Healthcare
Materials	N/A	N/A
Biocompatibility	N/A	N/A
Compatibility with the environment and other devices	N/A	N/A
Sterility	Based on the device function there is no sterilization testing required for this device.	Based on the device function there is no sterilization testing required for this device.

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	Cognivue – Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.
Safety: electrical; mechanical; chemical; thermal; radiation.	These safety issues are not applicable to this software-only device.	Electrical safety testing was performed by Canadian Standards Association. The sponsor provides a letter of attestation stating the device passed IEC 60601-1:2005. Electromagnetic compatibility was not tested.
How the device differs from Predicate device	Cantab Mobile is similar to Cognivue in terms of technological characteristics, as both electronically record objective performance as the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen. Both tests take about 10 minutes.	
	Cantab Mobile differs from Cognivue in that it provides an assessment of memory using one staged cognitive assessment – the Paired Associates Learning task - compared to Cognivue which includes ten short brain function tests, measuring: adaptive motor control; dynamic visual contrast sensitivity; letter, word, shape, and motion processing ability; and memory.	
	Cantab Mobile also presents assessments of depression and activities of daily living, which are not included in Cognivue.	

11 REFERENCED DOCUMENTS

Traceability Matrix (NMI-018)¹

Change Control and Validation Report (CR-NMI-004)

(b) (4)

Please wait...

If this message is not eventually replaced by the proper contents of the document, your PDF viewer may not be able to display this type of document.

You can upgrade to the latest version of Adobe Reader for Windows®, Mac, or Linux® by visiting http://www.adobe.com/go/reader_download.

For more assistance with Adobe Reader visit http://www.adobe.com/go/acrreader.

Windows is either a registered trademark or a trademark of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. Mac is a trademark of Apple Inc., registered in the United States and other countries. Linux is the registered trademark of Linus Torvalds in the U.S. and other countries.

11. DEVICE DESCRIPTION

Product Name:	Cantab Mobile (K161328))
Indication:	Assess Memory by Testing Visuospatial Associative
	Learning in Patients Aged 50 to 90 Years



Sponsor

© Cambridge Cognition Limited Tunbridge Court Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridge, CB25 9TU UK Tel: +44 (0) 1223 810 700 Fax: +44 (0) 1223 810 701

<u>United States Agent</u> Clementi and Associates Ltd. 919 Conestoga Road Rosemont, PA 19010

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LI	ST OF IN-TE	EXT TABLES	2
LI	ST OF IN-TE	XT FIGURES	2
1	DEVICE I	DESCRIPTION	3
	1.1 Patie	ent Data Entry	4
	1.2 Men	nory Test	4
	1.3 Ques	stionnaire(s)	6
	1.4 Repo	ort Manager	8
	1.4.1	Description	8
	1.4.2	What Is Reported	9
	1.5 Devi	ce Classification	10
2	SPECIFIC	ATIONS	11
	2.1 Fund	ctional Requirements	11
	2.2 Devi	ce Safety Characteristics and Risks	13
3	LITERAT	URE CITED	14
4	APPENDI	CES	15
	Appendix A	Cantab Mobile Self Assessment Scale	15
	Appendix B	. Examples of Cantab Mobile PAL Test Patterns and Layout	16
	Appendix C	. Mood Assessment (GDS)	17
	Appendix D	Functional Assessment (ADL)	19
	Appendix E	. Example Reports	22
5	REFEREN	CED DOCUMENTS	25

LIST OF IN-TEXT TABLES

Table 1.	Cantab Mobile's End-User Roles and Requirements Specifications	11
Table 2.	Description of Cantab Mobile's Functional Specifications	12

LIST OF IN-TEXT FIGURES

Figure 1.	iPad with App Icon at Top Left	.3
Figure 2.	Data Entry Screen	.4
Figure 3.	Pattern Appears in Box	.5
Figure 4.	Patient Chooses Box	.6
Figure 5.	GDS Rating Scale and Format	.7
Figure 6.	Report Manager	.8

Cantab Mobile (K161328) Traditional 510(k): Additional Information Amendment 1 Cambridge Cognition Limited 2016 All Rights Reserved

1 DEVICE DESCRIPTION

Cantab Mobile is software to be loaded and run on Apple iPad hardware and operating system (Figure 1). Below is a list of possible device accessories:

- The iPad¹ is an essential accessory
- Disposable iPad Sleeve (see also **Instructions for Use**) for cleaning recommendations)
- iPad stand
- A iPad battery charger is also supplied with the iPad

Figure 1. iPad with App Icon at Top Left



Cantab Mobile does not have a restricted shelf-life. Ongoing support of the manufacturer is required, however, and is detailed below.

The medical device software must be updated when new releases are made available. The iPad operating system should also be kept up to date. Both may be achieved automatically. The iPad battery should be charged as required. No calibration is necessary.

Ongoing support by the manufacturer is required. The app must be able to confirm periodically with the manufacturer that it is licensed, and be updated as required over time.

¹ Cantab Mobile is not authorized for use on the iPad mini or the iPad 1 (the first generation iPad). Do not install the app on these devices.

The test is not susceptible to environmental influences within the defined environment for its administration. We instruct that physicians must always administer the tests in a quiet, peaceful environment, with the iPad volume level set so that the patient can clearly hear instructions being given. For patients with impaired hearing, additional support may need to be provided to ensure they can correctly hear and understand the instructions during the test, e.g. use headphones.

A technical wireframe, or mobile app screen blueprint, of Cantab Mobile is a supportive document that presents the skeletal framework, interface elements, and navigational flow (See Cantab Mobile Wireframes).

1.1 Patient Data Entry

Prior to the PAL test itself, the healthcare professional administering the test enters patient data (patient ID, date of birth, gender, educational background etc.).² This is used in assessing the patient's performance against a set of normative data.

Figure 2. Data Entry Screen

Patient Detai	days, up to ruu uses remaining nu sync.	
Patient I.D.:	Full name or identifier	
D.O.B.:	dd/mm/yyyy	
Gender:	Female Male	Run Test
Education:	Select Education	
Language:	English (UK)	
Self Assess:	On Off	

1.2 Memory Test

Cantab Mobile provides an optional patient self assessment of memory (Self Assess enabled on the data entry screen). If this assessment is enabled, the patient will rate his/her memory prior to taking Cantab PAL. The patient is presented a rating scale against which they rate their memory as above average (left of center), average (center), or below average (right of center) (See Appendix A). Comparing self-rated memory with the objective

2 Patient details must be entered correctly. Incorrect patient details can lead to incorrect reporting of patient impairment.

measure of memory, provided by Cantab PAL, can reveal any discrepancies between actual and perceived memory ability.

The Cantab Mobile memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test previously used on other hardware platforms. The Cantab PAL requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on a touch-sensitive computer screen. The patterns were all created to be bold, brightly colored, abstract and with no cultural context See Appendix B for examples of patterns used.

Patterns are presented in six boxes around the edge of the screen (See Figure 3). The patterns disappear from the screen, leaving empty boxes and, after a brief delay, the same patterns are presented sequentially in the middle of the screen and the patient is required to touch the box in which they previously saw that pattern appear. (Figure 4)





Cantab Mobile (K161328) Traditional 510(k): Additional Information Amendment 1 Cambridge Cognition Limited 2016 All Rights Reserved

Figure 4. Patient Chooses Box



If the patterns' locations are not recalled correctly, this is identified to the patient via audio prompts and pattern presentation and recall is repeated. This process continues until the task is completed successfully, at which point the next task is started, or repeated failures by the patient to recall the locations correctly cause the test to end. The whole test consists of a series of such tasks with increasing levels of difficulty.

The patient's responses are recorded by screen touches. The number of errors that they make are recorded and their performance is graded using algorithms derived from a normative database^(b) (4)

1.3 Questionnaire(s)

Cantab Mobile additionally includes optional questionnaires. Questionnaires operate by presenting a series of questions to the patient, with clearly labeled response boxes that the patient may touch in order to answer each question (Figure 5). Ratings scales administered (depending on patient performance – see Appendix D – and if not disabled by the healthcare professional) comprise:

- 1. GDS Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire (See Appendix C)
- 2. ADL Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire (See Appendix D)

The GDS rating scale in the app is the shorter version of GDS including 15 questions, the GDS-15 (validated by Almeida and Almeida 1999), which is based on the GDS described by Yesavage and colleagues (Yesavage et al 1983): The GDS rating scale comprises a series of questions, each presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force, two buttons below to allow the patient to respond 'yes' and 'no' (or equivalent in the language in force). A progress bar gives an approximate indication of progress through the questions and

a button with a backward arrow allows the user to return to the preceding question (if any) and choose again. See Figure 5 below for an example of a GDS-15 rating scale question and its format, as it is presented in the app.





The ADL rating scale in the app was developed and validated by Galasko and colleagues (Galasko et al 2006) with the goal of simplifying the assessment of this domain for primary prevention trials of Alzheimer's disease. The 15 items they selected for the questionnaire cover a broad range of activities, which are performed regularly by elderly individuals. Administration of the ADL rating scale comprises a series of questions, each presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force³, with the introductory text given above the question and buttons below to allow the patient to choose from the responses permitted for the questions. A progress bar gives an approximate indication of progress through the questions and a button with a backward arrow allows (except on questions 1 and 11) the user to return to the preceding question and choose again.

³ The entire user interface respects the text direction (left-to-right or right-to-left) of the language in force including the backward arrow button and progress bar



1.5 Device Classification

Cantab Mobile is classified as a Class I Medical Device under EU directive 93/42/EEC. It is standalone software that could be regarded as allowing monitoring of vital physiological processes (MEDDEV 2.1/6 section 3.1.1).

The proposed regulatory classification for Cantab Mobile under US regulation is Class II (21 CFR 882.1470). It is a Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid (Product Code PKQ). Device classification is covered in greater detail, in the **Executive Summary**.

(b) (4) Device Description

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018
2.2 Device Safety Characteristics and Risks⁴

Risk management for the device is handled under controlled procedures within a Quality Management System. These procedures are designed to meet applicable requirements of EN ISO 13485:2012 and EN ISO 14971:2012.

Identification of characteristics of the device that could impact on safety are documented in **QRM-01-001**. Risk analysis was conducted according to a risk analysis plan referencing controlled procedures, namely **QRM-02-002**, and the conclusion of the risk analysis process is documented in report **QRM-02-003**.

The summary of all points of the risk analysis is provided in QRM-02-001.

⁴ Risk Analysis documentation, cross referenced here, was previously submitted in the original 510(k) submission (dated May 11, 2016).

3 LITERATURE CITED

Almeida OP, Almeida SA. Short versions of the geriatric depression scale: a study of their validity for the diagnosis of a major depressive episode according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 1999;14(10):858-65.

Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL, Lum O, Huang V, Adey MB, et al. Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: A preliminary report. Journal of Psychiatric Research 1983;17:37-49.

Galasko D, Bennett DA, Sano M, Marson D, Kaye J, Edland SD for the Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study. ADCS Prevention Instrument Project: Assessment of Instrumental Activities of Daily Living for Community-dwelling Elderly Individuals in Dementia Prevention Clinical Trials. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2006;20(Supp3):S152-69.⁵

⁵ This reference was added to support the Sponsor's Response to the Division's Request for Additional Information.

Appendix C. Mood Assessment (GDS)

The Mood Assessment (GDS) is automatically administered. Cantab PAL performance is not a conditional factor in administering the Mood Assessment.

Choose the best answer for how you felt over the past week.⁶

Are you basically satisfied with your life?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Have you dropped many of your activities and interests?

 \Box Yes

 \Box No

Do you feel that your life is empty?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you often get bored?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Are you in good spirits most of the time?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Are you afraid that something bad is going to happen to you?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you feel happy most of the time?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you often feel helpless?

□ Yes □ No

⁶ The GDS introductory statement precedes each GDS question listed in Appendix C.

Do you prefer to stay at home, rather than going out and doing new things?

 \Box Yes

□ No

Do you feel you have more problems with memory than most?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you think it is wonderful to be alive now?

 \Box Yes \Box No

Do you feel pretty worthless the way you are now?

□ Yes □ No

Do you feel full of energy?

□ Yes □ No

Do you feel that your situation is hopeless?

□ Yes □ No

Do you think that most people are better off than you are?

 \Box Yes

 \Box No

Appendix D. Functional Assessment (ADL)

This test is automatically administered after Cantab PAL if the patient's Cantab PAL performance has indicated that they fall in the "Investigate" category

<u>Part 1:</u>

In the past 3 months, were you able to:

Do your own shopping?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Prepare meals?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Write checks, pay bills, or use an ATM case machine?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Travel by car or public transport?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Carry out housework, laundry or home repairs?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Do hobbies such as a card games or crosswords?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Follow the story of a TV program, book or movie?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Keep track of current events in the news or the media?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Remember appointments or important dates such as birthdays?

Yes
Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help
No, I could not do it
I did not try

Remember to take your medication?

 \Box Yes

 \Box Yes, but I had some problems or needed some help

 \Box No, I could not do it

 \Box I did not try

Part 2:

Can you:

See well enough to recognize someone across the street (wearing glasses or contact lenses if necessary?)

 \Box Yes

 \Box No

Hear what people are saying when they are speaking at a normal volume?

□ Yes □ No

Walk up and down a set of stairs without help?

□ Yes □ No

5 REFERENCED DOCUMENTS

Cantab Mobile Technical Wireframes⁷

Cantab Mobile Managing Reports Quick Reference Guide⁸

Demographic Adjustment of Scores (NMI-020)⁷

Identification of Characteristics (QRM-01-001)⁸

PALD Risk Management Plan (QRM-02-002)⁸

Risk Summary Report (QRM-02-003)⁸

Risk Analysis (QRM-02-001)⁸

(b) (4)

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

ADCS Prevention Instrument Project: Assessment of Instrumental Activities of Daily Living for Community-dwelling Elderly Individuals in Dementia Prevention Clinical Trials

Douglas Galasko, MD,* David A. Bennett, MD,† Mary Sano, PhD,‡§ Daniel Marson, PhD, Jeff Kaye, MD,¶ and Steven D. Edland, PhD,*; for the Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study

Background: In primary prevention trials for Alzheimer disease, the inception cohort typically has normal or minimally impaired complex activities of daily living (ADL). ADL change during a trial could trigger detailed evaluation or serve as an outcome measure. A brief, easily administered, and reliable ADL rating scale would assist prevention studies.

Objectives: To develop an ADL scale for prevention trials that allows self rating or completion by informants.

Methods: The Activities of Daily Living Prevention Instrument (ADL PI) was developed, comprising 15 ADL and 5 physical function questions. Six hundred forty four elderly subjects participating in the Prevention Instrument Project completed a self rated version of the ADL PI, and informants for 632 subjects completed an informant version. Informants also completed a Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) ADL questionnaire to allow comparisons.

Results: Subjects performed well on all ADL scales at baseline. Completion of the ADL PI questionnaires at home or in clinic yielded comparable information. Scores from baseline to 3 months had good reliability. The ADL PI, obtained from either self report or informants, discriminated between subjects rated as CDR 0 and CDR 0.5. Subjects with worse baseline cognitive performance also had slightly worse ADL PI scores. Preliminary analysis indicates that subjects who triggered cognitive evaluations had slightly lower baseline ADL PI scores by both self and informant reports.

From the *Department of Neurosciences, University of California, San Diego; †Department of Neurology, Rush Medical School, Chicago, IL; ‡Department of Neurology, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York; §VA Medical Center, Bronx, NY; IDepartment of Psychiatry, University of Alabama School of Medicine, Birmingham, AL; and ¶Department of Neurology, Oregon Health and Sciences University, Portland, OR.

Supported by NIA grant AG10483.

Reprints: Douglas Galasko, MD, Department of Neurosciences, University of California, San Diego, 9500 Gilman Drive No. 0624, La Jolla, CA 92093-0624 (e-mail: dgalasko@ucsd.edu).
Copyright © 2006 by Lippincott Williams & Wilkins **Conclusions:** The ADL PI can be completed at home or in clinic, and has adequate reliability. The utility of self administered and informant versions and predictive value of reported deficits requires further follow up.

Key Words: activities of daily living, Alzheimer disease, clinical trial

(Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2006:20:S152 S169) b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

S152

Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord • Volume 20, Supplement 3, October December 2006


Relevant Correspondence

Sponsor's Request for Clarification

K161328: Request for Clarification of "Deficiency List" Response Letter Item #6a (dated August 11, 2016)

"6. Within your device description you provide information on the summary report (b)(4)

a. (b)(4)

(b)(4)

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

Page 1 of 10

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Cantab Mobile (K161328) Traditional 510(k): Additional Information Amendment 1 Cambridge Cognition Limited 2016 All Rights Reserved



Response to Deficiency Item 6c: CANTAB Mobile Verification and Validation

SENSITIVITY TO DISEASE

(b)(4)



This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2016. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 1 of 9

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH OISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

Cantab Mobile (K161328) Traditional 510(k): Additional Information Amendment 1 Cambridge Cognition Limited 2016 All Rights Reserved



CONFIDENTIAL

Page 3 of 9

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH OISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018



(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 6 of 9

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Cantab Mobile (K161328) Traditional 510(k): Additional Information Amendment 1 Cambridge Cognition Limited 2016 All Rights Reserved

Exclusion Criteria:

- Other prior or current neurologic or medical disorder which may currently or during the course of the study impair cognition or psychiatric functioning
- · A history of stroke
- · A documented history of transient ischemic attack within the last 12 months
- · History of schizophrenia, schizoaffective or bipolar disorder
- · Currently meets criteria for major depression
- Within the last 2 years, unstable or clinical significant cardiovascular disease (myocardial infarction, angina pectoris)

Study C:

Inclusion criteria:

- presence of cognitive complaints (e.g. memory, attention) as reported by the participant and/or informant; preserved general cognition;
- independent daily functioning (confirmed by an informant);

Exclusion criteria:

- history of major medical, neurological or psychiatric illness (DSM-IV Axis I or II);
- history of major risk factors for vascular disease;
- history of sensory impairment or impairment to hand mobility

ASSOCIATION WITH IMAGING OF THE HIPPOCAMPUS

As a measure of episodic memory, we expect performance on this task to be associated with the integrity and function of the hippocampus, a key brain area known to subserve memory. We review some published papers describing these associations in NMI-054. Additional data has been reported from the EU ADNI project, showing an association both with hippocampal volumes and other markers of neurodegenerative change in patients with Mild Cognitive Impairment, such as the presence abnormal proteins in cerebro-spinal fluid (Nathan et al., 2015). Together these data support the dependence of the task on the hippocampus, consistent with episodic memory, and its sensitivity to pathological memory impairment such as that seen in Mild Cognitive Impairment.





NIH Public Access Author Manuscript

zheimers Dement. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2012 March 25.

Published in final edited form as:

Alzheimers Dement. 2011 May ; 7(3): 270–279. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.008.

The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease

Marilyn S. Albert^{a,*}, Steven T. DeKosky^{b,c}, Dennis Dickson^d, Bruno Dubois^e, Howard H. Feldman^f, Nick C. Fox^g, Anthony Gamst^h, David M. Holtzman^{i,j}, William J. Jagust^k, Ronald C. Petersen^I, Peter J. Snyder^{m,n}, Maria C. Carrillo^o, Bill Thies^o, and Creighton H. Phelps^p ^aDepartment of Neurology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

^bOffice of the Dean, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, USA

^cDepartment of Neurology, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, USA

^dDepartment of Pathology, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, USA

^eInstitute for Memory and Alzheimer's Disease, INSERM Unit Cognition, Neuro-imagerie et maladies due Cerveau, Groupe Hospitalier Pitie-Salpetriere, Paris, France

^fBristol-Myers Squibb Neuroscience, Wallingford, CT, USA

^gInstitute of Neurology, University College London, London, United Kingdom

^hDepartment of Neuroscience, University of California, San Diego, CA, USA

Department of Neurology, Washington University, St, Louis, MO, USA

^jKnight Alzheimer's Disease Research Center, Washington University, St. Louis, MO, USA

^kHelen Wills Neuroscience Institute, University of California, Berkeley, CA, USA

^IDepartment of Neurology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

^mRhode Island Hospital, Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

ⁿDepartment of Neurology, Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA

^{© 2011} The Alzheimer's Association. All rights reserved.

^{*}Corresponding author. Tel.: 410-614-3040; Fax: 410-502-2189. malbert9@jhmi.edu.

With regard to potential conflicts of interest, Marilyn Albert serves as a consultant to Genentech and Eli Lilly and receives grants to her institution from GE Healthcare. Steven DeKosky serves as a consultant to Eisai, Merck, Elan/Wyeth, Novartis, he serves on the advisory board of Pfizer and provides clinical services to United Healthcare. Dennis Dickson report no conflicts. Bruno Dubois serves as a consultant to Affiris, Pierre Fabre, and Eisai, serving on a scientific advisory board for Bristol-Meyers Squibb, Roche, Pfizer, Eli Lilly, and GE Healthcare, and receives grants to his institution from Novartis, Roche, and Eisai. Howard Feldman is an employee of Bristol Meyers Squibb (BMS) and holds stock in BMS; he serves as a consultant to Servier, Glia Scientific, and Pfizer, and serves on a scientific advisory board for Elan, Janssen, Canada, and Wyeth. Nick Fox serves as a consultant (payment to Institute of Neurology) for BMS, Elan/Janssen, Eli Lilly, GE, Lundbeck, and Pfizer/Wyeth. The Institute of Neurology (Nick Fox) has conducted image analysis for Elan/Janssen, Lundbeck, and Pfizer/Wyeth. Anthony Gamst reports no conflicts. David Holtzman serves as a consultant for Bristol-Myers Squibb, Pfizer, and Innogenetics; he serves on a scientific advisory board for En Vivo, Satori, and C2N Diagnostics; and receives grants to his institution from Pfizer, Eli Lilly, and Astra Zeneca. William Jagust serves as a consultant to Genentech, Bayer Healthcare, GE Healthcare. Synarc, Otsuka Pharmaceuticals, Janssen Alzheimer Immunotherapy, Merck, and Tau Rx. Ronald Petersen serves as a consultant for Elan Pharmaceuticals and GE Healthcare and serves on data monitoring committees for Pfizer, Inc., Janssen Alzheimer Immunotherapy. Peter Snyder serves as a consultant to CogState Ltd. Maria Carrillo is an employee of the Alzheimer's Association and reports no conflicts. Bill Thies is an employee of the Alzheimer's Association and reports no conflicts. Creighton Phelps is an employee of the U.S. Government and reports no conflicts.
°Alzheimer's Association, Chicago, IL, USA

PNational Institute on Aging, Bethesda, MD, USA

Abstract

The National Institute on Aging and the Alzheimer's Association charged a workgroup with the task of developing criteria for the symptomatic predementia phase of Alzheimer's disease (AD), referred to in this article as mild cognitive impairment due to AD. The workgroup developed the following two sets of criteria: (1) core clinical criteria that could be used by healthcare providers without access to advanced imaging techniques or cerebrospinal fluid analysis, and (2) research criteria that could be used in clinical research settings, including clinical trials. The second set of criteria incorporate the use of biomarkers based on imaging and cerebrospinal fluid measures. The final set of criteria for mild cognitive impairment due to AD has four levels of certainty, depending on the presence and nature of the biomarker findings. Considerable work is needed to validate the criteria that use biomarkers and to standardize biomarker analysis for use in community settings.

Keywords

Mild cognitive impairment; AD dementia; Diagnosis

1. Introduction

The National Institute on Aging and the Alzheimer's Association convened a working group to revise the diagnostic criteria for the symptomatic predementia phase of Alzheimer's disease (AD). Details of the selection and the charge to the working group are outlined in the Introduction to the revised criteria for AD that accompanies this article [1]. The present article summarizes the recommendations of the working group.

The working group was assembled because of growing consensus in the field that there is a phase of AD when individuals experience a gradually progressive cognitive decline that results from the accumulation of AD pathology in the brain. When the cognitive impairment is sufficiently great, such that there is interference with daily function, the patient is diagnosed with AD dementia. The dementia phase of AD is the topic of a separate working group report [2]. It is important to note that, as AD is a slow, progressive disorder, with no fixed events that define its onset, it is particularly challenging for clinicians to identify transition points for individual patients. Thus, the point at which an individual transitions from the asymptomatic phase to the symptomatic predementia phase [3], or from the symptomatic predementia phase to dementia onset, is difficult to identify [2]. Moreover, there is greater diagnostic uncertainty earlier in the disease process. It is, nevertheless, important to incorporate this continuum of impairment into clinical and research practice.

Two general principles underlie the recommendations presented in this report: (1) The *Core Clinical Criteria* outlined later in the text are designed to be used in all clinical settings. The working group believes that it is essential to have clinical criteria that can be applied broadly, in any setting, without the need of highly specialized tests and/or procedures. (2) The *Clinical Research Criteria* outlined later in the text, which incorporate the use of biomarkers, are currently intended to be used only in research settings, including academic centers and clinical trials. There are several reasons for this limitation: (1) more research needs to be done to ensure that the criteria that include the use of biomarkers have been appropriately designed, (2) there is limited standardization of biomarkers from one locale to

Alzheimers Dement. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2012 March 25.

NIH-PA Author Manuscript

Page 3

another, and limited experience with cut-points for diagnosis, and (3) access to biomarkers may be limited in different settings.

As a result, some aspects of the clinical research criteria may need to be revised, as these criteria are put into practice and new findings emerge. The clinical research criteria include an outline of additional data that need to be acquired so as to refine and improve their application. From that perspective, the clinical research criteria are designed to be a work-in-progress that will be updated regularly, as new information becomes available.

In these recommendations, we use the term "mild cognitive impairment (MCI) due to AD" to refer to the symptomatic predementia phase of AD. This degree of cognitive impairment is not normal for age and, thus, constructs such as age-associated memory impairment and age-associated cognitive decline do not apply. From this perspective, MCI due to AD can be considered as a subset of the many causes of cognitive impairment that are not dementia (CIND), including impairments resulting from head trauma, substance abuse, or metabolic disturbance [4].

Thus, the concept of "*MCI due to AD*" is used throughout this article to reflect the fact that the ultimate focus of these criteria is to identify those symptomatic but nondemented individuals whose primary underlying pathophysiology is AD. Similar to AD dementia, MCI due to AD cannot be currently diagnosed by a laboratory test, but requires the judgment of a clinician. Thus, MCI is a syndrome defined by clinical, cognitive, and functional criteria [5,6]. Also, similar to AD dementia, etiologies in addition to AD pathophysiological processes may coexist in an individual who meets the criteria for MCI due to AD. Nevertheless, similar to the criteria proposed by the International Working Group of Dubois et al [7], these criteria assume that it is possible to identify those individuals with AD pathophysiological processes as the likely *primary* cause of their progressive cognitive dysfunction [8–10].

2. Core clinical criteria for the diagnosis of MCI

In this section, we outline the core clinical criteria for individuals with MCI. In considering the specifics of this clinical and cognitive syndrome, it is important to emphasize, as noted earlier in the text, that sharp demarcations between normal cognition and MCI and between MCI and dementia are difficult, and clinical judgment must be used to make these distinctions.

2.1. MCI—Criteria for the clinical and cognitive syndrome

2.1.1. Concern regarding a change in cognition—There should be evidence of concern about a change in cognition, in comparison with the person's previous level. This concern can be obtained from the patient, from an informant who knows the patient well, or from a skilled clinician observing the patient.

2.1.2. Impairment in one or more cognitive domains—There should be evidence of lower performance in one or more cognitive domains that is greater than would be expected for the patient's age and educational background. If repeated assessments are available, then a decline in performance should be evident over time. This change can occur in a variety of cognitive domains, including memory, executive function, attention, language, and visuospatial skills. An impairment in episodic memory (i.e., the ability to learn and retain new information) is seen most commonly in MCI patients who subsequently progress to a diagnosis of AD dementia. (See the section on the cognitive characteristics later in the text for further details).

2.1.3. Preservation of independence in functional abilities—Persons with MCI commonly have mild problems performing complex functional tasks which they used to perform previously, such as paying bills, preparing a meal, or shopping. They may take more time, be less efficient, and make more errors at performing such activities than in the past. Nevertheless, they generally maintain their independence of function in daily life, with minimal aids or assistance. It is recognized that the application of this criterion is challenging, as it requires knowledge about an individual's level of function at the current phase of their life. However, it is noteworthy that this type of information is also necessary for the determination of whether a person is demented.

2.1.4. Not demented—These cognitive changes should be sufficiently mild that there is no evidence of a significant impairment in social or occupational functioning. It should be emphasized that the diagnosis of MCI requires evidence of intraindividual change. If an individual has only been evaluated once, change will need to be inferred from the history and/or evidence that cognitive performance is impaired beyond what would have been expected for that individual. Serial evaluations are of course optimal, but may not be feasible in a particular circumstance.

2.2. Cognitive characteristics of MCI

It is important to determine whether there is objective evidence of cognitive decline, and if so, the degree of this decline in the reports by the individual and/or an informant. Cognitive testing is optimal for objectively assessing the degree of cognitive impairment for an individual. Scores on cognitive tests for individuals with MCI are typically 1 to 1.5 standard deviations below the mean for their age and education matched peers on culturally appropriate normative data (i.e., for the impaired domain(s), when available). It is emphasized that these ranges are guidelines and not cutoff scores.

2.2.1. Cognitive assessment—As noted earlier in the text, impairment in episodic memory (i.e., the ability to learn and retain new information) is most commonly seen in MCI patients who subsequently progress to a diagnosis of AD dementia. Research studies have shown that there are a variety of episodic memory tests that are useful for identifying those MCI patients who have a high likelihood of progressing to AD dementia within a few years. These tests share the characteristic that they assess both immediate and delayed recall, so that it is possible to determine retention over a delay. Many, although not all, of the tests that have proven useful in this regard are word-list learning tests with multiple trials. Such tests reveal the rate of learning over time, as well as the maximum amount acquired over the course of the learning trials. They are also useful for demonstrating that the individual is, in fact, paying attention to the task on immediate recall, which then can be used as a baseline to assess the relative amount of material retained on delayed recall. Examples of such tests include (but are not limited to): the Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test, the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, and the California Verbal Learning Test. Other episodic memory measures include: immediate and delayed recall of a paragraph such as the Logical Memory I and II of the Wechsler Memory Scale Revised (or other versions) and immediate and delayed recall of nonverbal materials, such as the Visual Reproduction subtests of the Wechsler Memory Scale-Revised I and II.

Because other cognitive domains can be impaired among individuals with MCI, it is important to examine domains in addition to memory. These include: executive functions (e.g., set-shifting, reasoning, problem-solving, planning), language (e.g., naming, fluency, expressive speech, and comprehension), visuospatial skills, and attentional control (e.g., simple and divided attention). Many validated clinical neuropsychological measures are available to assess these cognitive domains, including (but not limited to): the Trail Making

Page 5

Test (executive function), the Boston Naming Test, letter and category fluency (language), figure copying (spatial skills), and digit span forward (attention).

If formal cognitive testing is not feasible, then cognitive function can be assessed using a variety of simple, informal techniques. For example, the clinician can ask a patient to learn a street address and to recall it after a delay interval of a few minutes (e.g., John Brown, 42 Market Street, Chicago). Alternatively, the clinician can ask the patient to name three objects (e.g., a pen, a paper clip, and a dollar bill), place them in different locations around the room and subsequently ask the patient to recall the names of the objects and their locations, again after a brief delay. These types of approaches are relatively easy to perform during an office visit, and will yield informative results. It is important, however, for clinicians to recognize that these informal tests will likely be insensitive to subtle cognitive dysfunction during the early stages of MCI, and will often yield normal performance. In addition, these approaches typically do not assess cognitive domains beyond memory.

Finally, it must be recognized that atypical clinical presentations of AD may arise, such as the visual variant of AD (involving posterior cortical atrophy) or the language variant (sometimes called logopenic aphasia), and these clinical profiles are also consistent with MCI due to AD.

2.2.2. Summary of clinical and cognitive evaluation—The initiation of a clinical and cognitive evaluation typically includes a cognitive concern expressed by the patient, an informant, or a clinician observing the patient's performance. Cognitive decline can be documented by means of the history from the patient, preferably corroborated by an informant, or on the basis of observation by the clinician. Ideally, if serial assessments are available, they would be preferable, but in the setting of a single evaluation, this information is inferred from the history. The patient's cognition is assessed and found to be outside the normal range of function for the patient's age and educational background, but not sufficiently impaired to constitute dementia. The impairment can involve one or more cognitive domains. The clinician determines whether memory is prominently impaired, or whether the impairments in other cognitive domains predominate, such as spatial or language impairment. Typically, memory is the most common domain involved among patients who subsequently progress to AD dementia, as noted earlier in the text. There is generally mild functional impairment for complex tasks, but basic activities of daily living should be preserved, and the person should not meet criteria for dementia. It should be noted that the clinical syndrome, as summarized in this section and Table 1, is almost identical to the one previously described by Petersen et al [5,6,11].

2.2.3. Longitudinal cognitive evaluation—Evidence of progressive decline in cognition provides additional evidence that the individual has "MCI due to AD," as noted earlier in the text. Thus, it is important to obtain longitudinal assessments of cognition, whenever possible. It is recognized that a diagnosis will likely need to be given without the benefit of this information; however, obtaining objective evidence of progressive declines in cognition over time is important for establishing the accuracy of the diagnosis, as well as for assessing any potential treatment response.

2.2.4. Cautionary issues pertaining to cognitive assessment—It is important to emphasize that virtually all cognitive tests are sensitive to differences in age, education (i.e., literacy), and/or cultural variation among individuals. Age and educational norms are available for some tests, but few have norms that pertain to the oldest old (individuals aged \geq 90 years). Moreover, considerable work remains to establish the reliability of cognitive tests across populations with wide cultural variation.

2.3. Etiology of the MCI clinical and cognitive syndrome consistent with AD

Once it has been determined that the clinical and cognitive syndrome of the individual is consistent with that associated with AD, but that the individual is not demented, the clinician must determine the likely primary cause, for example, degenerative, vascular, depressive, traumatic, medical comorbidities, or mixed disease. Typically, this information is derived from further historical information and ancillary testing (e.g., neuroimaging, laboratory studies, and neuropsychological assessment) that may prove informative.

To meet the core clinical criteria for MCI, it is necessary to rule out other systemic or brain diseases that could account for the decline in cognition (e.g., vascular, traumatic, medical). The goal of such an evaluation is to increase the likelihood that the underlying disease is a neurodegenerative disorder with characteristics consistent with AD. This diagnostic strategy is similar to the one that is used to diagnose "dementia due to AD." This may include seeking evidence for: (1) Parkinsonism, including prominent visual hallucinations, and rapid eye movement sleep abnormalities, often seen in dementia with Lewy bodies, (2) multiple vascular risk factors and/or the presence of extensive cerebrovascular disease on structural brain images, which is suggestive of vascular cognitive impairment, (3) prominent behavioral or language disorders early in the course of disease that may reflect frontotemporal lobar degeneration, or (4) very rapid cognitive decline that occurs over weeks or months, typically indicative of prion disease, neoplasm, or metabolic disorders. It should be noted that the pathological features of some of these disorders can exist in combination with AD (e.g., Lewy bodies and vascular disease), particularly among individuals at an advanced age.

The presence of vascular pathology, in the setting of MCI, is particularly challenging from a diagnostic perspective. Because AD pathology frequently coexists with vascular pathology, particularly at older ages, both may contribute to cognitive dysfunction. Thus, during life, it may be difficult to determine which pathological feature is the primary cause of the cognitive impairment.

Among the oldest old (i.e., those aged \geq 90 years), there are additional difficulties in determining the etiology of the cognitive decline. For example, the pathological criteria for AD remain unclear for the oldest old.

2.3.1. Role of autosomal genetic mutations for AD—An additional issue is the role of genetics in the diagnosis. If an autosomal dominant form of AD is known to be present (i.e., mutation in APP, PS1, PS2), then the development of MCI is most likely the prodrome to AD dementia. The large majority of these cases develop early onset AD (i.e., onset below 65 years of age). There remains, however, variable certainty about the time course over which the progression from MCI to AD dementia will evolve in these individuals [12].

2.3.2. Role of genes that increase risk for AD—In addition, there are genetic influences on the development of late onset AD dementia. To date, the presence of one or two ε 4 alleles in the apolipoprotein E (APOE) gene is the only genetic variant broadly accepted as increasing risk for late-onset AD dementia, whereas the e2 allele decreases risk. Evidence suggests that an individual who meets the clinical, cognitive, and etiologic criteria for MCI, and is also APOE £4 positive, is more likely to progress to AD dementia within a few years than an individual without this genetic characteristic. It has been hypothesized that many additional genes play an important, but smaller role than APOE, these additional genes will also confer changes in risk for progression to AD dementia [13].

Alzheimers Dement. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2012 March 25.

NIH-PA Author Manuscript

3. MCI—Research criteria incorporating biomarkers

In this section, we discuss the use of biomarkers in the diagnosis of "MCI due to AD." Much has been learned about the application of biomarkers to individuals with MCI. Thus, it seems important to incorporate this knowledge into the diagnostic framework outlined in these recommendations, recognizing as noted earlier in the text, that as new information emerges, it may be necessary to revise the way in which these recommendations incorporate biomarkers.

Two fundamental issues about individuals with MCI may be answered by the use of biomarkers: (1) To establish support for the underlying etiology of the clinical syndrome in an individual with MCI, which will have major importance for choosing the correct therapy, when effective treatments are available. (2) To determine the likelihood of cognitive and functional progression for an individual MCI patient to a more severe stage of MCI or to dementia, and the likelihood that this progression will occur within a defined period.

These questions are clearly interdependent, as different underlying etiologies can confer different prognoses for progression. However, a biomarker that is useful for defining an etiology may or may not be useful for prognostication, and vice versa. The different properties of biomarkers will ultimately drive their use in clinical situations, such as deciding whom to treat, as well as research situations that might include selection of subjects for clinical trials or for inclusion in longitudinal research studies. In addition, because the timing of progression to dementia is important, different biomarkers may have differential utility over the short- and long-term.

Biomarkers may be divided into several different classes. Some biomarkers directly reflect the pathology of AD by providing evidence of the presence of key proteins deposited in the brain during the course of AD, such as the beta-amyloid protein (A β) and tau [14]. Other biomarkers provide less direct or nonspecific evidence of AD by tracking a variety of indices of neuronal injury. These biomarkers may also have some specificity for AD, by virtue of the regional pattern of abnormalities. Conversely, other biomarker patterns can be useful in providing evidence of an alternative non-AD underlying cause.

The current pathological criteria for AD require evidence of $A\beta$ deposition in plaques, along with evidence of tau deposition in neurofibrillary tangles. Evidence suggests that together the buildup of these two proteins in the brain is associated with neuronal injury. Thus, for the clinical research criteria proposed in this report to be based on the established pathological criteria, we have defined biomarkers in terms of whether they reflect $A\beta$ deposition, tau deposition, or signs of neuronal injury.

Markers of A β deposition include both cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) measures of lower A β_{42} levels [14–16] and positron-emission tomography (PET) evidence of A β deposition, using a variety of specific ligands [17]. Markers of tau accumulation include CSF measures of increased total tau or phosphorylated-tau (p-tau) [14–16].

It should be noted that increased $A\beta$ deposition is seen in disorders other than AD (e.g., amyloid angiopathy). Likewise, although elevated levels of tau are clearly associated with AD, this finding may also occur in other neurodegenerative disorders (e.g., prion diseases). However, evidence of damage to neurons and synapses may also derive from direct measurement of tau (both total tau and p-tau) in the CSF, thus alterations in tau appear to be more nonspecific than the alterations in A β . Therefore, in these recommendations, CSF tau is considered to be a strong marker of the neuronal injury associated with AD. However, the two biomarkers in combination are extremely informative. Together with low CSF A β_{42} , elevated CSF tau provides a high likelihood of progression to AD in patients with MCI.

Measures of downstream neuronal injury include a number of structural and functional measures, including brain atrophy, and hypometabolism or hypoperfusion obtained with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), PET, and single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) imaging [18–20].

A third group of biomarkers reflect biochemical changes related to processes such as cell death, synaptic damage, oxidative stress, or inflammation that may be part of the cascade of events that mediate damage, or the response to damage, in AD.

The major biomarkers in each of these categories are discussed later in the text and listed in Table 2.

3.1. Biomarkers reflecting Aß

The amyloid plaques that are a hallmark feature of a pathological diagnosis of AD are reflected in biomarkers that can detect and quantify the A β protein that accumulates in the brain, as noted earlier in the text. This protein can be measured directly in CSF and plasma, however, the levels in CSF directly reflect the presence/amount of cerebral A β deposits (e.g., lower A β_{42}). PET scanning with a variety of ligands, some of which are still under development, can also detect fibrillar A β . CSF A β_{42} and PET measures of fibrillar A β are strongly and inversely correlated with one another, and appear to reflect A β deposition in the brain [17].

Current evidence suggests that markers of amyloid pathology (i.e., CSF and PET) precede evidence of neuronal injury. This does not prove that $A\beta$ is the initiating factor for the disease. However, it does suggest that these different categories of biomarkers seem to provide different sorts of information about the progress of disease in the brain.

3.2. Biomarkers reflecting neuronal injury

Elevated levels of tau are clearly associated with AD pathophysiological processes, as noted earlier in the text. However, changes in tau and phosphorylated-tau can also reflect general damage to neurons and synapses. In addition, AD also results in a wide range of structural and functional changes in the brain that have diagnostic and prognostic value in dementia and MCI, which appear to reflect damage to neurons and synapses. Many of these changes have topographic specificity for the neural damage or dysfunction that occurs in AD. Particular patterns of sequential involvement are characteristic of AD as well. Examples include loss of hippocampal volume seen on MRI, and reduction of glucose metabolism or perfusion in temporoparietal cortex that may be detected with PET or SPECT scanning. Although these biomarkers have been associated with the neuropathology of AD, regional atrophy, global atrophy, and regional hypometabolism and hypoperfusion are not specific for AD. These measures appear to provide evidence about the stage or severity of disease that may not be provided by A β biomarkers [21].

Other approaches to detection of downstream neuronal injury include the use of structural and functional measures that reflect more complex patterns of tissue loss or metabolic loss obtained with imaging procedures. These measures may be derived from data-driven statistical approaches in which many different brain regions are evaluated simultaneously. In these cases, replication and generalizability of findings must be demonstrated to develop data that can be used at the level of individual subject prediction.

Other techniques for which less data are currently available include diffusion tensor imaging, magnetic resonance spectroscopy, functional MRI, and resting BOLD functional connectivity. MRI perfusion has shown results similar to both SPECT/PET perfusion and PET metabolism, but available data are more limited.

Page 9

3.3. Associated biochemical change

AD is characterized by numerous biochemical events, including oxidative stress (e.g., isoprostanes) and inflammation (e.g., cytokines). CSF, plasma, and imaging markers of these processes may provide information about specific pathways that are abnormal and could also provide information suggestive of underlying pathology. Additional work in this area is needed to know how useful these markers will be.

3.4. Limitations of current state of knowledge regarding biomarkers for AD

Many studies have used biomarkers to predict cognitive decline or progression to dementia among MCI patients, and most of the biomarkers in Table 2 are reported to be valuable in this situation. By contrast, there are several important limitations to current knowledge [22].

Few biomarkers have been compared with one another in multivariate studies, few have been validated with postmortem studies, and the use of combinations of biomarkers in studies has been limited. Therefore, it is currently difficult to understand the relative importance of different biomarkers when used together, and to interpret results when biomarker data conflict with one another.

Equally important, there is a dearth of truly predictive studies at the individual subject level or in unselected populations. Many biomarker studies report differences between "converters" and "stable" groups of subjects analyzed retrospectively (i.e., with subsequent knowledge of which subjects progressed to dementia).

Few studies define a specific cutoff value for a biomarker or biomarkers and then prospectively test its predictive accuracy. Effective use of biomarkers in the clinical arena will require the ability to assign a likelihood of decline or progression to dementia in an individual person over a specific time interval through the use of a single or multiple biomarkers.

Another major limitation is knowledge about the timing of decline or progression to dementia because the ability to detect change is dependent on the period of observation or prediction. Some biomarkers seem to have utility in predicting change over relatively short periods of observation, such as over 1 to 3 years. It seems likely that other types of biomarkers would be useful in predicting change over longer periods, such as many years or even decades. A complete understanding of the role of biomarkers in prediction of decline in MCI will require both short and long-term periods of observation.

Finally, little is known about outcome when biomarkers provide conflicting results, as noted earlier in the text. When a panel of biomarkers is used, it is possible that for some individuals, one biomarker will be positive, one negative, and one equivocal. This is complicated further by the fact that the biomarkers examined to date are not always clearly positive or clearly negative, but vary in degree. The long-term significance of such findings may also vary with the length of follow-up.

From a clinical perspective, it is important to emphasize, as noted earlier in the text, that although substantial deposits of $A\beta$ and tau are required for a pathological diagnosis of AD, changes in these molecular markers in CSF are seen in other disorders (e.g., amyloid angiopathy, dementia with Lewy bodies, prion disease). Thus, the application of biomarkers as part of the clinical evaluation should consider other potential disorders, based on the overall clinical presentation of the patient.

3.5. Application of biomarkers to the clinical research diagnosis of MCI due to AD

In this section, we discuss the way in which biomarkers increase the likelihood that the MCI syndrome is due to the pathophysiological processes of AD. This diagnostic scheme is based on the wealth of biomarker and clinicopathological studies available. These data suggest that the conjoint application of clinical criteria and biomarkers can result in various levels of certainty that the MCI syndrome is due to AD pathophysiological processes.

For the purposes of the diagnostic approach we propose in these recommendations, two categories of biomarkers have been the most studied and applied to clinical outcomes. In this article, they are referred to as "A β " (which includes CSF A β_{42} or PET amyloid imaging) and "biomarkers of neuronal injury" (which refers to CSF tau/p-tau, hippocampal, or medial temporal lobe atrophy on MRI, and temporoparietal/precuneus hypometabolism or hypoperfusion on PET or SPECT).

The criteria outlined later in the text are aimed at defining the level of certainty that the AD pathophysiological process is the underlying cause of the MCI syndrome in a given patient. The hypothesis underlying this classification scheme is that the evidence of both $A\beta$, and neuronal injury (either an increase in tau/p-tau or imaging biomarkers in a topographical pattern characteristic of AD), together confers the highest probability that the AD pathophysiological process is present. Conversely, if these biomarkers are negative, this may provide information concerning the likelihood of an alternate diagnosis. It is recognized that biomarker findings may be contradictory and that much remains to be learned about the outcome in these situations.

Currently, CSF $A\beta_{42}$ and tau measures, the ratio of CSF tau/ $A\beta_{42}$, PET amyloid measures, and other biomarkers of neuronal injury such as hippocampal atrophy and temporoparietal hypometabolism have all been shown to predict progression of MCI to dementia. Whether one of these measures or a combination of them is more sensitive than the other, and whether quantitative values provide more information than a dichotomous rating are yet to be determined conclusively. It is also not yet known whether the best predictions of the actual rate of progression depend on the degree to which an individual expresses biomarkers of neuronal injury.

It is important to emphasize that standardization of these biomarkers is currently limited, and results often vary from laboratory to laboratory. Ultimately, it will be necessary to interpret biomarker data in the context of well-established normative values. "Positive" or abnormal values should fall within reliable and valid pathological ranges. Moreover, procedures for acquisition and analysis of samples need to be established to implement these biomarker criteria on a broad scale. Finally, although we consider biomarkers as "negative" or "positive" for purposes of classification, it is recognized that varying severities of an abnormality may confer different likelihoods or prognoses, which is currently difficult to quantify accurately for broad application.

In the coming years, when many of the unknown issues have been resolved, biomarkers reflecting AD pathophysiological processes in an individual with MCI will have two implications, depending on whether their levels fall within a range that supports the diagnosis of "MCI due to AD." First, if therapies directed at one or both of these two pathological proteins are being tested, or are effective for AD, then their detection with these biomarkers should indicate appropriate patient selection in terms of those most likely to derive therapeutic benefit. Second, detection of these biomarkers will predict a higher rate of cognitive and functional progression in patients with MCI whose biomarkers are positive as compared with MCI patients whose biomarkers are negative.

3.6. Biomarkers and levels of certainty for the diagnosis of MCI due to AD

In this section, we outline a probabilistic framework for the way in which biomarkers may be used to provide increasing levels of certainty that AD pathology is the cause of an individual's cognitive decline. That is, for those MCI subjects whose clinical and cognitive MCI syndrome is consistent with AD as the etiology, the addition of biomarkers would affect levels of certainty in the diagnosis.

In the most typical example in which the clinical and cognitive syndrome of MCI has been established, including evidence of an episodic memory disorder and a presumed degenerative etiology, the most likely cause is the neurodegenerative process of AD. However, the eventual outcome still has variable degrees of certainty. The likelihood of progression to AD dementia will vary with the severity of the cognitive decline and the nature of the evidence suggesting that AD pathophysiology is the underlying cause. Using the probabilistic framework proposed in these recommendations, positive biomarkers reflecting neuronal injury would increase the likelihood that progression to dementia will occur within a few years; however, positive findings reflecting both A β accumulation and neuronal injury together would confer the highest likelihood that the diagnosis is MCI due to AD.

In the example of the MCI patient who presents with an executive, spatial, or language impairment, it is still possible for such an individual to progress to AD dementia, although with a lower frequency. Thus, these presentations of MCI need to be recognized. The role of biomarkers may be particularly useful in this setting. For example, if a patient presents with a prominent visuospatial deficit and has significant atrophy in the parieto-occipital region on MRI, one might suspect a degenerative etiology likely leading to posterior cortical atrophy or the visual variant form of AD. If positive evidence of A β accumulation were also obtained on the basis of amyloid imaging or CSF measures, then the diagnosis of "MCI due to AD" would have a high likelihood.

In the following sections, we describe this hypothetical framework by which biomarkers may be used to increase diagnostic accuracy. As emphasized earlier, **this hypothetical framework will need to be tested by future studies and revised, as future data are generated.**

3.6.1. Biomarkers indicating a high likelihood that the MCI syndrome is due to AD

a. A positive $A\beta$ biomarker and a positive biomarker of neuronal injury. The evidence to date indicates that this confers the highest likelihood that AD pathophysiological processes are the cause of the cognitive dysfunction. In addition, individuals with this biomarker profile are more likely to decline or progress to dementia due to AD in relatively short periods.

3.6.2. Biomarkers indicating an intermediate likelihood that the MCI syndrome is due to AD

a A positive $A\beta$ biomarker in a situation in which neuronal injury biomarkers have not been or cannot be tested.

Or

b A positive biomarker of neuronal injury in a situation in which $A\beta$ biomarkers have not been or cannot be tested.

Individuals falling within either of these categories show a major aspect of the AD pathological process, but without full evidence of both A β deposition and the downstream neuronal damage that characterize AD. Such individuals are considered to have a somewhat lower likelihood of underlying AD than individuals in whom both categories of biomarkers are positive. Note that this category does not include individuals in whom the two types of biomarkers provide conflicting information. This category accounts for situations in which one group of biomarkers cannot be tested because of access to technology, cost, or other reasons.

3.6.3. Situations in which biomarker information is uninformative

a. Results fall within ambiguous ranges (neither clearly positive nor negative) or biomarkers conflict with one another. In this category are also individuals in whom biomarkers have NOT been obtained.

There are many situations in which our current understanding of biomarkers limits the utility of biomarker testing. Clearly, there are many situations in which no biomarker testing can be or will be performed. This is likely to be the case in many routine clinical applications of the MCI criteria. Furthermore, there are many potential situations in which biomarkers could offer conflicting results (i.e., a positive $A\beta$ biomarker and a negative biomarker of neuronal injury or the reverse). There is little available evidence to interpret the importance of the many different possible combinations of such biomarker outcomes; thus, these situations are classified together as uninformative. Finally, we recognize that results do not always fall into clearly "positive" and "negative" ranges but may be ambiguous, and the importance of such findings is unknown.

3.6.4. Biomarkers that suggest that the MCI syndrome is unlikely to be due to AD

a. Negative biomarkers for both $A\beta$ and neuronal injury. The definitive absence of evidence of either AB deposition or neuronal injury strongly suggests that the MCI syndrome is not due to AD. In such situations, search for biomarkers that reflect alternative pathological processes should be considered. Such biomarkers are not as well established as those for AD. They may include: (1) prominent frontal or frontotemporal hypometabolism, hypoperfusion, or atrophy that often reflects frontotemporal lobar degeneration, (2) loss of dopamine transporters seen with SPECT imaging, often seen in dementia with Lewy bodies, (3) a periodic electroencephalogram, diffusion-weighted imaging changes on MRI, or an extremely high CSF tau protein in someone with very rapid dementia progression (progression from normal to moderate or severe dementia in ≤ 6 months) is typically indicative of prion disease, or (4) the presence of extensive cerebrovascular disease on structural brain images, without any biomarkers characteristic of AD, which is suggestive that the syndrome reflects vascular cognitive impairment. In all of these cases, the risk of subsequent decline is related to the most likely underlying pathology and the potential treatments that may be available.

Proposed terminology for classifying individuals with "MCI due to AD" with varying levels of certainty

We propose the terminology for "MCI due to AD" in the following sections, incorporating the use of biomarkers. It is fully recognized that there are limitations in our knowledge about these biomarkers, as noted earlier. These criteria are designed to stimulate the application of biomarkers in clinical research settings, thus permitting refinements in these criteria over time (Table 3).

Page 13

4.1. MCI—Core clinical criteria

Individuals in this category meet the Core Clinical Criteria for MCI, based on the characteristics of the clinical syndrome and an examination of potential etiologic causes for the cognitive decline, as outlined earlier in the text. This evaluation process is designed to increase the likelihood that the underlying disease responsible for the cognitive dysfunction is a neurodegenerative disorder with characteristics consistent with AD. However, if biomarkers have been obtained, but the aggregate information is considered uninformative, this diagnosis will also apply. This would occur in situations in which biomarker results conflict with one another, or in situations in which results fall in an indeterminate range that is neither clearly negative nor positive. Patients in this category have the typical presentation of individuals who are at an increased risk of progressing to AD dementia. As noted earlier in the text, these individuals typically have a prominent impairment in episodic memory, but other patterns of cognitive impairment can also progress to AD dementia over time (e.g., visuospatial impairments). Note that this category also applies to situations in which biomarkers have NOT been tested. This category is still consistent with the possibility that the patient with MCI has underlying AD pathology

4.2. MCI due to AD—Intermediate likelihood

If the subject meets the Core Clinical Criteria for MCI, but in addition has either a positive biomarker reflecting A β deposition with an untested biomarker of neuronal injury, or a positive biomarker reflecting neuronal injury with an untested biomarker of A β , then there is increased likelihood that the outcome will be AD dementia. Thus, in the absence of one of these categories of biomarker information, the situation is still consistent with an *intermediate level of certainty* that the individual will progress to AD dementia over time. Therefore, patients who meet the criteria for this diagnosis have an intermediate level of certainty that they have "MCI due to AD."

4.3. MCI due to AD—High likelihood

If the subject meets the Core Clinical Criteria for MCI, and in addition has positive biomarkers for both A β and neuronal injury, this provides *the highest level of certainty* that over time the individual will progress to AD dementia. Thus, patients who meet the criteria for this diagnosis have the highest level of certainty that they have "MCI due to AD," and that they will progress to AD dementia over time.

4.4. MCI—Unlikely due to AD

Patients who have negative biomarkers for both $A\beta$ and neuronal injury are considered to have the lowest likelihood of underlying AD pathophysiology. Although such individuals may still have AD, a search for an alternate cause of the MCI syndrome is warranted.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Dr. Cerise Elliott for her assistance with many of the organizational activities related to the preparation of this manuscript.

References

- Jack CR Jr, Albert MS, Knopman DS, McKhann GM, Sperling RA, Carrillo MC, et al. Introduction to the recommendations from the National Institute on Aging–Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2011; 7:257–62. [PubMed: 21514247]
- 2. McKhann GM, Knopman DS, Chertkow H, Hyman BT, Jack CR Jr, Kawas CH, et al. The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-

Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2011; 7:263–9. [PubMed: 21514250]

- Sperling RA, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, Bennett DA, Craft S, Fagan AM, et al. Towards defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging– Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2011; 7:280–92. [PubMed: 21514248]
- Lyketsos C, Colenda C, Beck C, Blank K, Doraiswamy M, Kalunian D, et al. Position statement of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry regarding principles of care for patients with dementia resulting from Alzheimer's disease. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2006; 14:561–72. [PubMed: 16816009]
- Petersen RC, Smith G, Waring S, Ivnik R, Tangalos E, Kokmen E, et al. Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. Arch Neurol. 1999; 56:303–8. [PubMed: 10190820]
- 6. Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment. J Int Med. 2004; 256:183-94.
- Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, DeKosky ST, Barberger-Gateau P, Cummings J, et al. Research criteria for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: revising the NINCDS-ADRDA criteria. Lancet Neurol. 2007; 6:734–46. [PubMed: 17616482]
- 8. Bennett D, Schneider J, Bienias J, Evans D, Wilson R. Mild cognitive impairment is related to Alzheimer pathology and cerebral infarctions. Neurol. 2005; 64:834–41.
- Markesbery WR, Schmitt RA, Kryscio RJ, Davis D, Smith C, Wekstein D. Neuropathologic substrate of mild cognitive impairment. Arch Neurol. 2006; 63:38–46. [PubMed: 16401735]
- Petersen RC, Parisi JE, Dickson DW, Johnson K, Knopman D, Boeve B, et al. Neuropathologic features of amnestic mild cognitive impairment. Arch Neurol. 2006; 63:665–72. [PubMed: 16682536]
- Winblad B, Palmer K, Kivipelto M, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L, Nordberg A, et al. Mild cognitive impairment—beyond controversies, towards a consensus: report of the International Working Group on Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Intern Med. 2004; 256:240–6. [PubMed: 15324367]
- Schellenberg G. Early Alzheimer's disease genetics. J Alzheimers Dis. 2006; 9:367–72. [PubMed: 16914874]
- Bertram L, Lill C, Tanzi R. The genetics of Alzheimer disease: back to the future. Neuron. 2010; 21:270–81. [PubMed: 20955934]
- Selkoe D. Defining molecular targets to prevent Alzheimer's disease. Arch Neurol. 2005; 62:192– 5. [PubMed: 15710846]
- Blennow K, Hampel H. Cerebrospinal fluid markers for incipient Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2003; 2:605–13. [PubMed: 14505582]
- Shaw L, Vanderstichele H, Knapik-Czajka M, Clark C, Aisen P, Petersen R, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker signature in Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative subjects. Ann Neurol. 2009; 65:403–13. [PubMed: 19296504]
- Fagan AM, Mintun MA, Mach RH, Lee S, Dence C, Shah A, et al. Inverse relation between in vivo amyloid imaging load and cerebrospinal fluid Abeta42 in humans. Ann Neurol. 2006; 59:512–9. [PubMed: 16372280]
- Atiya M, Hyman B, Albert M, Killiany R. Structural magnetic resonance imaging in established and prodromal Alzheimer's disease: a review. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2003; 17:177–95. [PubMed: 14512832]
- Kantarci K, Jack C. Neuroimaging in Alzheimer's disease: an evidenced-based review. Neuroimaging Clin North Am. 2003; 13:197–209.
- 20. Jagust W. Positron emission tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis and prediction of dementia. Alzheimers Dement. 2006; 2:36–42. [PubMed: 19595854]
- Jack C, Lowe V, Senjem M, Weigand S, Kemp B, Shiung M, et al. 11C PiB and structural MRI provide complementary information in imaging of Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment. Brain. 2008; 131:665–80. [PubMed: 18263627]
- Hampel H, Frank R, Broich K, Teipel S, Katz R, Herholtz K, et al. Biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: academic, industry and regulatory perspectives. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2010; 9:560–74. [PubMed: 20592748]

Table 1

Summary of clinical and cognitive evaluation for MCI due to AD

Establish clinical and cognitive criteria

Cognitive concern reflecting a change in cognition reported by patient or informant or clinician (i.e., historical or observed evidence of decline over time)

Objective evidence of Impairment in one or more cognitive domains, typically including memory (i.e., formal or bedside testing to establish level of cognitive function in multiple domains)

Preservation of independence in functional abilities

Not demented

Examine etiology of MCI consistent with AD pathophysiological process

Rule out vascular, traumatic, medical causes of cognitive decline, where possible

Provide evidence of longitudinal decline in cognition, when feasible

Report history consistent with AD genetic factors, where relevant

Abbreviations: AD, Alzheimer's disease; MCI, mild cognitive impairment.

Page 16

Table 2

Biomarkers under examination for AD

	_
Biomarkers of Aβ deposition	
$CSF A\beta_{42}$	
PET amyloid imaging	
Biomarkers of neuronal injury	
CSF tau/phosphorylated-tau	
Hippocampal volume or medial temporal atrophy by volumetric measures or visual rating	
Rate of brain atrophy	
FDG-PET imaging	
SPECT perfusion imaging	
Less well validated biomarkers: fMRI activation studies, resting BOLD functional connectivity, MRI perfusion, MR spectroscopy, diffusion tensor imaging, voxel-based and multivariate measures	
Associated biochemical change	
Inflammatory biomarkers (cytokines)	
Oxidative stress (isoprostanes)	
Other markers of synaptic damage and neurodegeneration such as cell death	

Abbreviations: Aβ, beta-amyloid protein; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; PET, positron emission tomography; FDG, fluorodeoxyglucose; SPECT, single photon emission tomography; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; BOLD, blood oxygen level-dependent; MR, magnetic resonance.

Page 17

Table 3

MCI criteria incorporating biomarkers

Diagnostic category	Biomarker probability of AD etiology	Aβ (PET or CSF)	Neuronal injury (tau, FDG, sMRI)
MCI-core clinical criteria	Uninformative	Conflicting/indeterminant/untested	Conflicting/indeterminant/untested
MCI due to AD—intermediate likelihood	Intermediate	Positive	Untested
		Untested	Positive
MCI due to AD—high likelihood	Highest	Positive	Positive
MCI—unlikely due to AD	Lowest	Negative	Negative

Abbreviations: AD, Alzheimer's disease; $A\beta$, amyloid beta peptide; PET, positron emission tomography; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; FDG. fluorodeoxyglucose; sMRI, structural magnetic resonance imaging.

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018
Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018
Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018



Applied Neuropsychology: Adult

ISSN: 2327-9095 (Print) 2327-9109 (Online) Journal homepage: http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/hapn21

Test-retest reliability analysis of the Cambridge Neuropsychological Automated Tests for the assessment of dementia in older people living in retirement homes

Marta Matos Gonçalves, Maria Salomé Pinho & Mário R. Simões

To cite this article: Marta Matos Gonçalves, Maria Salomé Pinho & Mário R. Simões (2015): Test-retest reliability analysis of the Cambridge Neuropsychological Automated Tests for the assessment of dementia in older people living in retirement homes, Applied Neuropsychology: Adult

To link to this article: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2015.1053889



Published online: 17 Nov 2015.

	C,
ت	ા

ubmit your article to this journal 🖸

Article views: 2



Q View related articles 🖸



View Crossmark data

Full Terms & Conditions of access and use can be found at http://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=hapn21

Download by: [Laura Cotton]

Date: 24 November 2015, At: 04:07

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDBH150ISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118



Test-retest reliability analysis of the Cambridge Neuropsychological Automated Tests for the assessment of dementia in older people living in retirement homes

Marta Matos Gonçalves^a, Maria Salomé Pinho^a and Mário R. Simões^b

^aFaculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal; ^bCognitive and Behavioral Center for Research, Psychological Assessment and Psychometrics Lab, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

ABSTRACT

The validity of the Cambridge Neuropsychological Automated Tests has been widely studied, but their reliability has not. This study aimed to estimate the test-retest reliability of these tests in a sample of 34 older adults, aged 69 to 90 years old, without neuropsychiatric diagnoses and living in retirement homes in the district of Lisbon, Portugal. The battery was administered twice, with a 4-week interval between sessions. The Paired Associates Learning (PAL), Spatial Working Memory (SWM), Rapid Visual Information Processing, and Reaction Time tests revealed measures with high-to-adequate test-retest correlations (.71–.89), although several PAL and SWM measures showed susceptibility to practice effects. Two estimated standardized regression-based methods were found to be more efficient at correcting for practice effects than a method of fixed correction. We also found weak test-retest correlations (.56–.68) for several measures. These results suggest that some, but not all, measures are suitable for cognitive assessment and monitoring in this population.

KEYWORDS

Alzheimer disease; CANTAB; practice effects; reliable change index; standardized regression-based models

	(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials	
Introduction		
b) (4) Copyrighted Materials		
CONTACT Marta Matos Gonçalves 🖾 marta.m.goncalves@gmail.com 🗊 Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Coimbra, Rua do		

CONTACT Marta Matos Gonçalves 🥹 marta.m.goncalves@gmail.com 🕒 Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Coimbra, Rua do Colégio Novo, 3000-115, Coimbra, Portugal. © 2016 Taylor & Francis


PII: S0028-3932(98)00036-0

Neuropsychologia, Vol. 36, No. 9, pp. 915–923, 1998 © 1998 Published by Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved Printed in Great Britain 0028–3932/98 \$19.00+0.00

Test/re-test reliability of the CANTAB and ISPOCD neuropsychological batteries: theoretical and practical issues

CHRISTINE LOWE* and PATRICK RABBITT

Age and Cognitive Performance Research Centre, University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester, U.K.

(Received 13 October 1997; accepted 26 January 1998)

Abstract—Neuropsychological test batteries are repeatedly administered to evaluate changes over time or the effects of clinical interventions. Relationships between scores on different tests within batteries are also examined to test models for associations between functional deficits. These comparisons may be misleading unless Test/Re-test reliability for individual tests is satisfactory. Interpretations of repeated measurements also depend on the extent to which improvement with practice varies between tasks and between more and less able individuals. Test/Re-test correlations and practice effects for two neuropsychological test batteries (CANTAB, ISPOCD) and from laboratory tasks commonly used in cognitive assessments of older people were obtained from large groups of healthy elderly. Tests in neuropsychological batteries varied markedly in test/re-test reliability which, in some cases, fell below levels considered methodologically acceptable. Putative measures of 'frontal' or 'executive' function, in which performance may be markedly improved by abrupt discovery of an appropriate strategy, were especially likely to show low reliability. Most tests showed significant practice effects, and on some these are substantial enough to compromise comparisons on repeated testing. On a minority of tests practice effects were counter-intuitive, in that less able showed significantly more gains than more able individuals. © 1998 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved.

Key Words: executive; strategy; change; frontal; memory; practice.

Introduction



*Address for correspondence: Phone:0161 265 2873; Fax: 0161 275 2873; E-mail: lowe@psy.man.ac.uk

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials	



Characterization of cognitive function with the CANTAB in individuals with amnestic MCI in relation to hippocampal volume, amyloid and tau status: Preliminary baseline results from the PharmaCog/European-ADNI Study

inVentiv Health

Pradeep J Nathan^{1,2}, Rosemary Abbott²⁸, Samantha Galluzzi³, Moira Marizzoni⁴, Maria Cotelli⁴, Cristina Bagnoli⁴, Claudio Babiloni⁵, David Bartres-Faz⁶, Joëlle Micallef⁷, Catherine Casse-Perrot⁷, Laura lanteaume⁷, Regis Bordet⁸, Beatriz Bosch⁹, Francesca de Anna¹⁰, Mira Didic¹¹, Lucia Farotti¹², Gianluigi Forlon¹¹³, Jorge Jovicich¹⁴, Camillo Marra¹⁵, Nicola Marzano⁵, Jose Luis Molinuevo¹⁶, Flavio Nobili¹⁷ Jeremie Pariente¹⁸, Lucilla Parnetti¹², Pierre Payoux¹⁹, Agnese Picco¹⁷, Jean-Philippe Ranjeva²⁰, Luca Roccatagliata²¹, Paolo Maria Rossini¹⁵, Nicola Salvadori¹², Peter Schonknecht²², Martin Berwig²², Tilman Hensch²², Andrea Soricelli²³, Magda Tsolaki²⁴, Fabrizio Vecchio²⁵, Pieter Jelle Visser²⁶, Jens Wiltfang²⁷, Daniele Orlandi³, Andrew Blackwell²⁸, Olivier Blin⁷, Giovanni Frisoni²⁹

Introduction

- Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) is a heterogeneous condition with differential underlying pathophysiologies.
- Accumulation of beta amyloid (Abeta) and/or Tau in the brain is associated with greater neurodegeneration and cognitive decline and a prelude to Alzheimer's disease (AD).
- Understanding MCI populations for hippocampal and fronto-striatal dependent memory deficits and biomarker abnormalities will help identify a more homogeneous population with a greater risk of developing AD.
- · The objective of this study was to examine the relationship between performance on the CANTAB tasks probing hippocampal and fronto-striatal function, hippocampal volume and CSF biomarkers.

Methods

- · Participants (aged 50-84) were recruited from the PharmaCog (E-ADNI; work package 5), European multicentre study (Table 1).
- Inclusion criteria: 1) subjective memory complaint, 2) 1SD deficit in memory (Logical memory II subscale delayed paragraph recall), 3) MMSE between 24 and 30; 4) CDI=0.5 (Memory box at least 0.5); 5) diagnosis of amnestic MCI.
- 145 individuals underwent clinical and cognitive evaluation using the CANTAB tests, high resolution 3T MRI with MPRAGE and lumbar punctures for the assessment of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of Ab42, tau and p-tau. Individuals were divided into Amyloid+ (CSF-POS) and Amyloid- (CSF-NEG) based on CSF Ab42 levels (CSF-POS: >550 pg/ml); CSF-NEG: <550 pg/ml).
- The relationships between biomarkers and cognitive task performance were assessed through a series of linear regression models using LM in R software. All models were adjusted for age and years of education. Differences between CSF-POS and CSF-NEG group were assessed using t-tests or Chi squared tests.

	CSF Abeta (+ve) N=55		CSF Abeta (-ve) N=90		Overall N=145		Range	Significance
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
	69.8	6.7	68.8	7.7	68.2	7.3	50-84	T=-0.8 p=0.40
	26.0	1.8	27.0	1.8	26.6	1.9	23-30	T=3.1 p>=0.01
	Percent (%)		Percent (%)					
Gender (% male)	43.6	-	42.2	-	42.8	-		0.3 (df=1) p= .87
Education (% <=10y)	45.5	-	56.8	-	53.1	-		2.1 (df=1) p=.15

ble 1. Baseline characteristics by CSF Amyloid Status

Results

- At baseline, CSF-POS individuals showed worse performance relative to CSF-NEG individuals on frontostriatal dependent recognition and working memory tasks (i.e. SRM, DMS and SWM) (Table 2), with effect sizes ranging from -0.12 to -0.66.
- · Worse performance on the paired associate learning (PAL) task of episodic memory was associated with reduced hippocampal volume, higher CSF levels of tau and p-tau and increased Tau/Abeta42 ratio (Table 3). Worse performance on the pattern recognition memory (PRM) task (immediate and delayed) was also associated with reduced hippocampal volume. Both PAL and PRM were also associated with a functional outcome measure (i.e. FAQ)(Table 3). Worse performance on the spatial recognition memory (SRM) task was associated with low CSF levels of Abeta42, higher CSF levels of tau and p-tau and increased Tau/Abeta42 ratio (Table 3).
- Significant associations were also found between hippocampal volume, CSF biomarkers and spatial working memory (SWM), delayed matching to sample (DMS) and sustained attention (RVP) (Table 3).

			CSF Amyloid		CSF Amyloid		CANTAB TH	
	Ove	rall	(+ve)			e)	CANTAD Ta	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	~ <u>~</u> ~	
RTI Five choice reaction time (median)	417.9	96.4	414.5	97.7	420.5	96.0		
DMS % correct all delays	67.9	16.3	62.5***	16.6	72.0	14.9	Reaction Time	
	70.5	40.1	73.3	38.3	68.5	41.6	F	
	42.4	21.3	47.4**	21.3	38.7	20.6		
WM Strategy	27.2	9.2	28.0	8.9	26.6	9.4	Delaused Matchi	
	0.8	0.1	0.8	0.1	0.8	0.1	Sample (D)	
	77.6	15.2	/5.5	14.5	79.2	15.6		
	65.3	17.9	63.5	17.4	66.6	18.3		
	63.7	13.5	58.7***	13.6	67.3	12.3	Paired Associ	
	8.8	10.3	9.6	11.1	8.3	9.7		
	2.5	2.3	2.6	2.5	2.5	2.3	Spatial Work	
	2.6	1.9	2.7	1.9	2.6	1.9	Hemory (5W	
beta42 (pg/mL)	693.0	293.5	419.1***	86.9	860.4	245.1	e :::	
-tau (pg/mL)	67.6	34.8	79.1***	37.6	60.6	31.1	Rentel Visco	
au (pg/mL)	475.5	346.4	556.4**	334.5	426.1	346.0	Information Proc	
							(1007)	
	3176.6	688.9	3131.8	682.2	3207.6	696.9	88	
	3310.6	662.7	3176.1"	606.7	3403.6	687.8	Pattern Recog Mermany (PR	
ntraCranialVol (mm ³)	1338396.2	177864.9	1323908.3	186939.6	1348409.9	172006.4		
beta (Positive) <550mL	37.9							
POE e4 (%)							63	
APOE e4 allele (1 copy)	37.3		52.7***		27.8		Spatial Recogn	
APOE e4 allele (2 copies)	8.3		20.0***		1.1		Memory (58	

. Cognition and Biomarker data; ***p<0.01 , **p<0.05 and *p<0.1 compared to CSF Amyloid (-ve)

Episodic Memory	Working Memory	Recognition /Working Memory	Recognition Memory	Recognition Memory	Recognition Memory			
PAL Errors	SWM Errors	DMS	SRM	PRM Immediate	PRM Delayed	SWM Strategy	RVP	RTI
		**	•				***	
••	•	•	••				•••	
	***	***	**			**	*	
			•		••		••	
		•		••	•		•••	
						•••		
	•••	•••	•••				•••	
***					***	**		
	**					***		

tionship between cognitive function and biomarkers. *p <= 0.10, ** p<=0.05, *** p<0.01. Paired Associates Learning (PAL) Total Errors Adjusted, Spatial Working Memory (SWM) Between Errors, Strategy Score, Delaye

Matching to Sample (DMS), Spatial Recognition Memory (SRM), Pattern Recognition Memor correct), Rapid Visual Processing (RVP) A Prime, Reaction Time (RTI), Median 5 Choice Unstitionated (EdO)/Sectificity Depresentation (CDS), Memory Mathematical Interaction (MID), L on Memory (PRM), Immediate and Delayed (% Reaction Time, Functional Asse Questions Contact PDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118 5-148

Discussion

- CSF Amyloid+ individuals showed greater deficits in CANTAB tasks measuring fronto-striatal function compared to CSF Amyloid- individuals. These findings suggest that despite both groups having amnestic MCI with subjective and objective memory deficits at screening, Amyloid+ amnestic MCI individuals also show additional fronto-striatal deficits.
- CANTAB tasks measuring recognition and working memory and sustained attention were significantly associated with, 1) CSF Abeta42, tau, p-tau, Tau/Abeta42 and 2) hippocampal volume, with worse performance on these tasks associated with higher CSF tau, p-tau and tau/Abeta42 and lower Abeta42 and hippocampal volume (Figure 1).
- Hippocampal dependent tasks including PAL and PRM were associated with hippocampal volume. Performance on the PAL task of episodic memory was highly correlated with hippocampal volume (accounting for 26% of the variance) suggesting that it may a useful diagnostic marker for use alone or in combination with other biomarkers (i.e. hippocampal volume or CSF biomarkers) in identifying patients at risk of MCI.
- Hippocampal dependent memory (i.e. PAL and PRM) and fronto-striatal executive function (i.e. SWM strategy) were also associated with functional outcome.
- The findings have implications for identifying MCI patients at risk of developing AD and enriching a more homogenous population for clinical trials with fronto-striatal and hippocampal dependent attention and memory deficits, neurodegeneration and CSE biomarker abnormalities consistent with prodromal AD populations.



harkers and hippocampal volume

Pradeep Nathan@inventivhealth.com



CANTAB Mobile

16. Software

Table of Documents

The following table summarizes documentation provided, based on the guidance in Table 3 of *Guidance for the Content of Premarket Submissions for Software Contained in Medical Devices* (May 11, 2005) for software designated Minor level of concern.

 Table 1. Documentation Provided for Cantab Mobile, Designated Minor Level of Concern

(b)(4)



Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

Management Approval : Owner

Management Approval : Additional

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA) indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the document is approved for use.

Quality Assurance Approval

(b)(4)
Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Title: PALD Operational Qualification Specification

Document ID: NMI-010 v14.0



Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.





Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)



(b)(4)

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the document is approved for use.

(b)(4)

RELEASE LOG





Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Title: PALD - Validation Master Plan

Docment ID (b)(4)



Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

Management Approval : Owner

Management	Approval.	: Additional
------------	-----------	--------------

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

Name:	Andrew Blackwell	Role:	Commercial Representative
Signature:		Date:	

Management Approval : Additional

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the document is approved for use.

Quality Assurance Approval

Name:	Holger Reusch	Role:	Quality Manager
Signature:		Date:	

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.

© Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2011. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118
PALD Development Review 001

Record ID: NMI-PALD-DEV-001 Release for approval: (b)(4)

Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the record is approved for use.



(b)(4)

Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the record is approved for use.



(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2011. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

Page 1 of 2

Title: PALD validation Report	e: PALD Validation	on Report
-------------------------------	--------------------	-----------



Docment ID: (b)(4)

Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

Management Approva	1 :	Owner
--------------------	-----	-------

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2011. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

cambridge cognition ()

TQRT-06 Change Control Form v6.0

CHANGE CONTROL (b)(4) OWNER: IC

Date raised	Raised by	Project	Туре	Priority
(b)(4)	C	PALD(b)(4)	Planned	project-deadline

(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.





Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

Management Approval : Owner

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the document is approved for use.

Quality Assurance Approval

(b)(4)



(b)(4)



Record ID: NMI-PALD-(b)(4) Release for approval: (b)(4)

Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the record is approved for use.



QA Approval

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2012. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

Page 1 of 4

PALD Development Review 002

Record ID: NMI-PALD(b)(4) Release for approval: 14/Mar/2012

Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the record is approved for use.



(b)(4)

Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the record is approved for use.

QA Approval

(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2012. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

Page 1 of 2
Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

PALD Development Review(b)(4)

Record ID: NMI-PALD-(b)(4) Release for approval: (b)(4)

Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the record is approved for use.

Approval : Owner

Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the record is approved for use.

QA Approval

(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2012. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

Page 1 of 2





Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

Management Approval : Owner

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

Name:	Nick Taptiklis	Role:	Technical Lead
Signature:		Date:	

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)			

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

	Date raised	Raised by	Project	Туре	Priority
	(b)(4)	IC	PALD (b) (4)	Emergency	target-date: (b)(4)
(1-)					
(b)	(4)				

Approval for change to proceed.

Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the change is approved to proceed.

Name	Role	Date	Signature	
(b)(4)				

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Docment ID: (b)(4)



Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the document is approved for use.

	Management Approval : Owner
(b)(4)	
	Management Approval : Additional
(b)(4)	
	Management Approval : Additional
(b)(4)	
	Management Approval : Additional
(b)(4)	

Management Approval : Additional

(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2013. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.
cambridge cognition ()

TQRT-06 Change Control Form v6.0

CHANGE CONTROL (b)(4) OWNER: IC

Date raised	Raised by	Project	Туре	Priority
(b)(4)	IC	PALD (b)(4)	Emergency	target-date: (b)(4)

(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.

cambridge cognition ()

TQRT-06 Change Control Form v6.0

CHANGE CONTROL CR-NMI-008 OWNER: IC

Date raised	Raised by	Project	Туре	Priority
(b)(4)	IC	PALD (b) (4)	Emergency	target-date: (b)(4)

(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.

Date raised	Raised by	Project	Туре	Priority
(b)(4)	(PALD (b)(4)	(b) (4)	(b) (4)

(b) (4) Copyrighted Materials

(b)(4)

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

(b)(4)

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018
Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018
PALD Development Review(b)
Record ID: (b)(4) Release for approval: (b)(4)
Approval by the following personnel signifies agreement that the content, rationale and approach are consistent with requirements, that a review for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance has been completed, and the record is approved for use.
Approval : Owner
b)(4)
Approval : Additional
b)(4)
Approval by the Quality Manager (QA), indicates that a review has been completed for clarity, accuracy, completeness and compliance with company standards and regulatory requirements and that the record is approved for use.
QA Approval
(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2013. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

It is the responsibility of the user to ensure the current version is used. Printed copies are uncontrolled.

Page 1 of 2



CHANGE CONTROL CR-NMI-017 OWNER: IC

PART 1 - CHANGE APPROVAL

Date raised	Raised by	Project	Туре	Target resolution date
16/Jul/2015	NT	NMI	Emergency	TBC

(b)(4)

Confidentiality: This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorisation by Cambridge Cognition.

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Cantab Mobile (K161328) Traditional 510(k): Additional Information Amendment 1

Cambridge Cognition Limited 2016 All Rights Reserved

11. DEVICE DESCRIPTION

Product Name: Cantal Indication: Assess

Cantab Mobile (K161328)) Assess Memory by Testing Visuospatial Associative Learning in Patients Aged 50 to 90 Years



© Cambridge Cognition Limited Tunbridge Court Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridge, CB25 9TU UK Tel: +44 (0) 1223 810 700 Fax: +44 (0) 1223 810 701

Sponsor

<u>United States Agent</u> Clementi and Associates Ltd. 919 Conestoga Road Rosemont, PA 19010

Confidentiality and Copyright:

This document is confidential and property of Cambridge Cognition Ltd. It may not be copied, disclosed, used or destroyed without written authorization by Cambridge Cognition. © Copyright Cambridge Cognition 2017. All rights reserved. All trademarks acknowledged.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE USER TO ENSURE THE CURRENT VERSION IS USED. PRINTED COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

Confidential

Page 1 of 25

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118
Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Sent: Thursday, August 11, 2016 12:36 PM
To: 'Binoy Mathews'
<binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov<mailto:binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov>>
Subject: RE: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

Dear Mr. Matthews,

Cambridge Cognition has reviewed the detailed comments on the above referenced submission, provided in the "Deficiency List" dated July 15, 2016, and is preparing to submit the additional requested information. We do however request your clarification and guidance on one question, #6, which is restated below for your convenience. If the Sponsor's attached comments do not resolve the concern, we request a teleconference to discuss this aspect of the application further, in order to submit a complete response.



. "

We look forward to your follow up response. If we need to submit this in an alternative format we are happy to do so, but will await your guidance.

Regards,

Nancy Clementi

Nancy Durst Clementi, M.D. Clementi and Associates, Ltd 919 Conestoga Road Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010 610-527-2600 CONFIDENTIALITY: This e-mail and the documents attached are confidential and intended solely for the addressee. It may also be a privileged document and contain copyright information. If you receive this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately, delete and destroy all copies of it. The unauthorised use, dissemination, forwarding, printing or copying of this e-mail or attachments is strictly prohibited.

From: Binoy Mathews [mailto:binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov]
Sent: Friday, July 15, 2016 11:05 AM
To: Nancy Clementi
<Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net<mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net>>
Cc: Binoy Mathews
<binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov<mailto:binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov>>
Subject: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

July 15, 2016

We have reviewed your submission K161328 and have determined that additional information is required. Your file is being placed on hold pending a complete response to the attached deficiencies.

Please submit your response, referencing the submission number K161328 to:

U.S. Food and Drug Administration Center for Devices and Radiological Health Document Control Center - WO66-G609 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002

Please refer to the eCopy guidance at http://www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/G uidanceDocuments/UCM313794.pdf for current information on the number of copies and the format (paper versus eCopy) you must submit.

Your response is due within 180 days from the date of this request, which is January 11, 2017. If a complete response is not received in CDRH's Document Control Center within 180 days, we will consider this submission to be withdrawn, and we will delete it from our review system.

You may not market this device until you have received a letter from FDA allowing you to do so. If you market the device without FDA clearance, you will be in violation of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

If you would like a meeting or teleconference with the review team and management to discuss your planned approach for responding to the attached deficiencies, please submit your request for feedback as a Submission Issue Q-Submission (Q-Sub). Please note that a Submission Issue Q-Sub does not take the place of a formal response to this email notification. As noted above, FDA will consider this submission to be withdrawn if FDA does not receive, in a submission to the Document Control Center, a complete response to all of the attached deficiencies within 180 calendar days of the date of this request.

Should you have questions about this email, you may contact Binoy Mathews, the lead reviewer assigned to your submission.

*** This is a system-generated email notification ***

From: Nancy Clementi [mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net] Sent: Thursday, September 08, 2016 8:41 AM To: Mathews, Binoy Subject: RE: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

Hi Binoy,

Thanks for your follow up on our query. I have spoken to the Sponsor this morning and we will move forward with your suggestions. Based upon the work already completed on the response submission I believe we will be submitting our official response in about 6 weeks' time (allowing for internal sign-offs at the Sponsor). I will let you know if there is going to be any significant change in that timeline.

Thanks again for your help!

Best,

Nancy

From: Mathews, Binoy [mailto:Binoy.Mathews@fda.hhs.gov] Sent: Wednesday, September 07, 2016 3:42 PM To: Nancy Clementi <<u>Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net</u>> Subject: RE: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

Hi Nancy,

Hope you are well. The review team had a chance to meet and discuss your proposed response to question #6 from FDA's deficiency list dated July 15, 2016. (b)(4)

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

I hope this information proves useful. Please do contact me if you have any further questions or concerns.

Regarding your new submission. The assignment of submissions is normally done based on reviewer workload. At times it may go to the same reviewer however this is not guaranteed. You may make this request within your cover letter.

Regarding K161328, it would be helpful if you could kindly let me know when you plan on submitting your official response to FDA.

Many thanks!

--Binoy

From: Nancy Clementi [mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net] Sent: Monday, August 29, 2016 11:36 AM To: Mathews, Binoy Subject: RE: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

Dear Binoy,

Please don't apologize. It is summer and everyone is busy, covering for vacationing colleagues and hopefully getting in some vacation time as well! Later this week or after the holiday weekend is absolutely fine. We have been very pleased with the responsiveness and quality of the response from your team, and appreciate your help.

While I remember to askOnce we resolve the questions on this application, Cambridge Cognition wants to submit another closely related application. Is there some way to ensure that the same review team is assigned? We think it would save work on the FDA side.

2/27/2018

Best,

Nancy

From: Mathews, Binoy [mailto:Binoy.Mathews@fda.hhs.gov] Sent: Monday, August 29, 2016 10:45 AM To: Nancy Clementi <<u>Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net</u>> Subject: RE: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

Hi Nancy,

Many thanks for your email. I apologize for the delay in getting back to you. I am scheduled to meet with the clinical reviewer this week regarding your response. I apologize for the time taken, but everyone has been very busy and hence the difficulty. Would it be alright if I could provide you with our feedback by Wednesday or Thursday of this week? I hope that would be acceptable. Kindly let me know. Many thanks!

Regards,

Binoy

From: Nancy Clementi [<u>mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net</u>] Sent: Monday, August 29, 2016 10:37 AM To: Mathews, Binoy Subject: FW: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

Mr. Matthews,

Can you please advise if we should submit this request for clarification and guidance via some other mechanism? Many thanks in advance.

Nancy Clementi, M.D. US Agent for Cambridge Cognition 610-627-2600

From: Nancy Clementi Sent: Thursday, August 11, 2016 12:36 PM To: 'Binoy Mathews' <<u>binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov</u>> Subject: RE: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

Dear Mr. Matthews,

(b)(4)

the Sponsor's attached comments do not resolve the concern, we request a teleconference to discuss this aspect of the application further, in order to submit a complete response.

If



Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118 file:///C:/Users/LDT/AppData/Local/Temp/1/Temp1_Archive.zip/K161328/Interactive%2... 2/27/2018 We look forward to your follow up response. If we need to submit this in an alternative format we are happy to do so, but will await your guidance.

Regards,

Nancy Clementi

Nancy Durst Clementi, M.D. Clementi and Associates, Ltd 919 Conestoga Road Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010 610-527-2600

CONFIDENTIALITY: This e-mail and the documents attached are confidential and intended solely for the addressee. It may also be a privileged document and contain copyright information. If you receive this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately, delete and destroy all copies of it. The unauthorised use, dissemination, forwarding, printing or copying of this e-mail or attachments is strictly prohibited.

From: Binoy Mathews [mailto:binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov] Sent: Friday, July 15, 2016 11:05 AM To: Nancy Clementi <<u>Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net</u>> Cc: Binoy Mathews <<u>binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov</u>> Subject: K161328 is on Hold Pending Your Response

July 15, 2016

We have reviewed your submission K161328 and have determined that additional information is required. Your file is being placed on hold pending a complete response to the attached deficiencies.

Please submit your response, referencing the submission number K161328 to:

U.S. Food and Drug Administration Center for Devices and Radiological Health Document Control Center - WO66-G609 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002

Please refer to the eCopy guidance at <u>http://www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/UCM313794.pdf</u> for current information on the number of copies and the format (paper versus eCopy) you must submit.

Your response is due within 180 days from the date of this request, which is January 11, 2017. If a complete response is not received in CDRH's Document Control Center within 180 days, we will consider this submission to be withdrawn, and we will delete it from our review system.

You may not market this device until you have received a letter from FDA allowing you to do so. If you market the device without FDA clearance, you will be in violation of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

If you would like a meeting or teleconference with the review team and management to discuss your planned approach for responding to the attached deficiencies, please submit your request for feedback as a Submission Issue Q-Submission (Q-Sub). Please note that a Submission Issue Q-Sub does not take the place of a formal response to this email notification. As noted above, FDA will consider this submission to be withdrawn if FDA does not receive, in a submission to the Document Control Center, a complete response to all of the attached deficiencies within 180 calendar days of the date of this request.

Should you have questions about this email, you may contact Binoy Mathews, the lead reviewer assigned to your submission.

*** This is a system-generated email notification ***

FYI...

From: Nancy Clementi [mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net]
Sent: Wednesday, January 11, 2017 11:49 AM
To: Mathews, Binoy
Subject: RE: K161328/S001

Good morning Binoy,

(b)(4)

Thank for your help.

Best,

Nancy

From: Mathews, Binoy [mailto:Binoy.Mathews@fda.hhs.gov]
Sent: Wednesday, January 11, 2017 11:24 AM
To: Nancy Clementi
<Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net<mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net>>
Subject: RE: K161328/S001

Hi Nancy,

Thanks for sending us the revisions. I just wanted to clarify one thing with you. Will the new language regarding mood scores be included on the electronic report made available to the clinician. Kindly let me know. Thanks!

Regards,

Binoy

From: Nancy Clementi [mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net]
Sent: Monday, January 09, 2017 9:57 AM
To: Mathews, Binoy
Subject: RE: K161328/S001

Good morning Binoy,

I wanted to send a quick note to ask if you have what you need from Cambridge Cognition. . . . we are prepared to make any additional changes you may wish, so just let me know.

Best,

Nancy

From: Mathews, Binoy [mailto:Binoy.Mathews@fda.hhs.gov] Sent: Thursday, January 05, 2017 11:25 AM To: Nancy Clementi <Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net<mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net>> Subject: K161328/S001

Hi Nancy,

Happy New Year! Your 510k Supplement is currently under review. We have a few concerns which we believe can be interactively resolved. Please see our concerns below:



Please reply to this email confirming that you have received this request. Kindly provide your responses no later than 10am Monday, January 9, 2017. Please feel free to call or email with any questions or concerns. Many thanks!

Regards,

Binoy

Binoy Mathews Biomedical Engineer/Lead Reviewer Neurostimulation Devices Psychiatry Branch Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices Center for Devices and Radiological Health Office of Device Evaluation U.S. Food and Drug Administration Tel: 301-796-6475 binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov<mailto:binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov> [cid:image001.png@01D1C57E.DFA022A0] < http://www.fda.gov/> [cid:image002.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0]<https://www.facebook.com/FDA> [cid:image003.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0] <https://twitter.com/US_FDA> [cid:image004.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0] <http://www.youtube.com/user/USFoodandDrugAdmin> [cid:image005.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0] <http://www.flickr.com/photos/fdaphotos/> [cid:image006.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0]

<http://www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/ContactFDA/StayInformed/RSSFeeds/default.htm
>

Excellent customer service is important to us. Please take a moment to provide feedback regarding the customer service you have received: click here<https://www.research.net/s/cdrhcustomerservice?O=400&D=460&B=462&E=& S=E>

Official Response Attached.

From: Nancy Clementi [mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net] Sent: Friday, January 06, 2017 10:36 AM To: Mathews, Binoy Subject: RE: K161328/S001

Good Morning Ben,

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

Please let me know if this response is satisfactory and if you need any additional information. As always, thanks for your help!

Best,

Nancy

Nancy Durst Clementi, M.D. Clementi and Associates, Ltd 919 Conestoga Road Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010 610-527-2600 www.regulatoryaffairs.com

CONFIDENTIALITY: This e-mail and the documents attached are confidential and intended solely for the addressee. It may also be a privileged document and contain copyright information. If you receive this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately, delete and destroy all copies of it. The unauthorised use, dissemination, forwarding, printing or copying of this e-mail or attachments is strictly prohibited.

From: Mathews, Binoy [mailto:Binoy.Mathews@fda.hhs.gov] Sent: Thursday, January 05, 2017 11:25 AM To: Nancy Clementi <<u>Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net</u>> Subject: K161328/S001

Hi Nancy,

Happy New Year! Your 510k Supplement is currently under review. We have a few concerns which we believe can be interactively resolved. Please see our concerns below:



Please reply to this email confirming that you have received this request. Kindly provide your responses no later than 10am Monday, January 9, 2017. Please feel free to call or email with any questions or concerns. Many thanks!

Regards,

Binoy

Binoy Mathews

Biomedical Engineer/Lead Reviewer **Neurostimulation Devices Psychiatry Branch Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices** Center for Devices and Radiological Health Office of Device Evaluation U.S. Food and Drug Administration Tel: 301-796-6475 binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov



cid:image001.png@01D1C 57E.DFA022A0

Excellent customer service is important to us. Please take a moment to provide feedback regarding the customer service you have received: click here

FYI...

From: Nancy Clementi [mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net] Sent: Wednesday, January 11, 2017 11:49 AM To: Mathews, Binoy Subject: RE: K161328/S001

Good morning Binoy,

Yes,(b)(4)

(b)(4) At the moment Cambridge Cognition has all of the various changes which are needed in production

Thank for your help.

Best,

Nancy

From: Mathews, Binoy [mailto:Binoy.Mathews@fda.hhs.gov] Sent: Wednesday, January 11, 2017 11:24 AM To: Nancy Clementi <<u>Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net</u>> Subject: RE: K161328/S001

Hi Nancy,

Thanks for sending us the revisions. I just wanted to clarify one thing with you. (b)(4) (b)(4) Kindly let me

know. Thanks!

Regards,

Binoy

From: Nancy Clementi [mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net] Sent: Monday, January 09, 2017 9:57 AM To: Mathews, Binoy Subject: RE: K161328/S001

Good morning Binoy,

I wanted to send a quick note to ask if you have what you need from Cambridge Cognition.... we are prepared to make any additional changes you may wish, so just let me know.

Best,

Nancy

From: Mathews, Binoy [mailto:Binoy.Mathews@fda.hhs.gov] Sent: Thursday, January 05, 2017 11:25 AM

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118 file:///C:/Users/LDT/AppData/Local/Temp/1/Temp1_Archive.zip/K161328/Interactive%2... 2/27/2018 To: Nancy Clementi <<u>Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net</u>> Subject: K161328/S001

Hi Nancy,

Happy New Year! Your 510k Supplement is currently under review. We have a few concerns which we believe can be interactively resolved. Please see our concerns below:

1	(b)(4)
2.	(b)(4)

Please reply to this email confirming that you have received this request. Kindly provide your responses no later than 10am Monday, January 9, 2017. Please feel free to call or email with any questions or concerns. Many thanks!

Regards,

Binoy

Binoy Mathews Biomedical Engineer/Lead Reviewer **Neurostimulation Devices Psychiatry Branch Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices** Center for Devices and Radiological Health Office of Device Evaluation U.S. Food and Drug Administration Tel: 301-796-6475 binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov



cid:image001.png@01D1C 57E.DFA022A0

Excellent customer service is important to us. Please take a moment to provide feedback regarding the customer service you have received: click here

Official Response Attached.

From: Nancy Clementi [mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net]
Sent: Friday, January 06, 2017 10:36 AM
To: Mathews, Binoy
Subject: RE: K161328/S001

Good Morning Ben,

(b)(4)		
(b)(4)		

Please let me know if this response is satisfactory and if you need any additional information. As always, thanks for your help!

Best,

Nancy

Nancy Durst Clementi, M.D. Clementi and Associates, Ltd 919 Conestoga Road Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, PA 19010 610-527-2600 www.regulatoryaffairs.com<http://www.regulatoryaffairs.com>

CONFIDENTIALITY: This e-mail and the documents attached are confidential and intended solely for the addressee. It may also be a privileged document and contain copyright information. If you receive this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately, delete and destroy all copies of it. The unauthorised use, dissemination, forwarding, printing or copying of this e-mail or attachments is strictly prohibited.

From: Mathews, Binoy [mailto:Binoy.Mathews@fda.hhs.gov]
Sent: Thursday, January 05, 2017 11:25 AM
To: Nancy Clementi
<Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net<mailto:Nancy.Clementi@clempharma.net>>
Subject: K161328/S001

Hi Nancy,

Happy New Year! Your 510k Supplement is currently under review. We have a few concerns which we believe can be interactively resolved. Please see our concerns below:



Please reply to this email confirming that you have received this request. Kindly provide your responses no later than 10am Monday, January 9, 2017. Please feel free to call or email with any questions or concerns. Many thanks!

Regards,

Binoy

```
Binoy Mathews
Biomedical Engineer/Lead Reviewer
Neurostimulation Devices Psychiatry Branch
Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices
Center for Devices and Radiological Health
Office of Device Evaluation
U.S. Food and Drug Administration
Tel: 301-796-6475
binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov<mailto:binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov>
[cid:image001.png@01D1C57E.DFA022A0]<http://www.fda.gov/>
[cid:image002.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0] < https://www.facebook.com/FDA>
[cid:image003.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0] <https://twitter.com/US FDA>
[cid:image004.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0]
<http://www.youtube.com/user/USFoodandDrugAdmin>
[cid:image005.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0]
<http://www.flickr.com/photos/fdaphotos/>
[cid:image006.jpg@01D1C57E.DFA022A0]
<http://www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/ContactFDA/StayInformed/RSSFeeds/default.htm
Excellent customer service is important to us. Please take a moment to
provide feedback regarding the customer service you have received: click
here<https://www.research.net/s/cdrhcustomerservice?O=400&D=460&B=462&E=&
S=E>
```

Please submit your response, referencing the submission number K161328 to:

U.S. Food and Drug Administration

Center for Devices and Radiological Health

Document Control Center - W066-G609

10903 New Hampshire Avenue

Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002

Please refer to the eCopy guidance at http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Medica lDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/UCM313794.pdf for current information on the number of copies and the format (paper versus eCopy) you must submit.

Your response is due within 180 days from the date of this request, which is January 11, 2017. If a complete response is not received in CDRH's Document Control Center within 180 days, we will consider this submission to be withdrawn, and we will delete it from our review system.

You may not market this device until you have received a letter from FDA allowing you to do so. If you market the device without FDA clearance, you will be in violation of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

If you would like a meeting or teleconference with the review team and management to discuss your planned approach for responding to the attached deficiencies, please submit your request for feedback as a Submission Issue Q-Submission (Q-Sub). Please note that a Submission Issue Q-Sub does not take the place of a formal response to this email notification. As noted above, FDA will consider this submission to be withdrawn if FDA does not receive, in a submission to the Document Control Center, a complete response to all of the attached deficiencies within 180 calendar days of the date of this request.

Should you have questions about this email, you may contact Binoy Mathews, the lead reviewer assigned to your submission. br>

>cbr>
<cp>*** This is a system-generated email notification *** May 26, 2016</br>
 Acceptance Review Notification - Accepted

January 13, 2017</br></br>We have completed our review. Please refer to the attached letter for details.

If you have any questions, please contact the lead reviewer assigned to your submission, Binoy Mathews.

*** This is a system-generated email notification ***



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Public Health Service

Food and Drug Administration 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Document Control Center - WO66-G609 Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002

K161328 Cambridge Cognition Ltd., Us Agent: Clementi Associates Ltd. Device Trade Name: Cantab Mobile Contact Name: Nancy Clementi

DEFICIENCY LIST

Substantial Equivalence Discussion

 You have identified the AnthroTronix – DANA (K141865) as the primary predicate device for comparison to the Cantab Mobile for the purposes of establishing substantial equivalence. The DANA indications for use state that it "provides clinicians with objective measurements of reaction time (speed and accuracy) to aid in the assessment of an individual's medical or psychological state. DANA also delivers and scores standardized psychological questionnaires"). In comparison, the Cantab Mobile seeks to be indicated "for the assessment of memory in adult individuals aged 50 to 90 years of age." The device also specific in that it is "indicated to provide clinicians with objective measurements of visuospatial episodic memory and mood."

Reaction Time and Memory are two distinct cognitive processes which are used to assess different aspects of cognition. Therefore, the predicate device you have chosen is not appropriate. Please select a predicate device whose intended use is similar to the Cantab Mobile and revise your application accordingly. We believe it is appropriate for you to consider using DEN130033 (Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc. – Cognivue) or K150154 (Vista Lifesciences – ANAM Test System) as potential predicate devices as these devices are indicated as computerized adjunctive assessments of memory. However, please note that you will need to provide a detailed comparison to the new predicate device, and where differences exist, information to support how Cantab Mobile can be considered equivalent. For example, while considering these predicates please keep in mind that these testing systems use multiple tests to produce an outcome; you would need to support the use of the PAL as a single test used to assess memory in comparison to these predicates which test memory in multiple domains. Additionally, it is important to provide evidence that the PAL may be used without an assessment of baseline function in the proposed use and that decrements cited as severe are outside the range that could attributed to normal aging.

Indications for Use

2. Your Indications for Use Statement states that the Cantab Mobile will be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years. The assessment of memory is a broad term and your Indications for Use should specify the type of memory that is being assessed in order to provide the user with an accurate description of the purpose of the device. Since the Cantab Mobile will use the PAL test to make its assessment of visuospatial learning, please revise your Indications for Use Statement to "assess visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years."

Page 2 - Nancy Clementi

Device Description

- 3. Within your Executive Summary and Device Labeling, you make multiple references to specific conditions such as Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia and state that the Cantab Mobile can detect memory impairment in such individuals. Please note that indicating your device for "assessment of memory in adult individuals aged 50 to 90 years of age" is different from making claims related to specific disease states; test scores resulting in this outcome may be attributed to other causes and patients should be referred for clinical evaluation. Indicating your device for MCI or Dementia would constitute a new intended use which would need to be reviewed via the DeNovo pathway due to lack of a suitable predicate. Therefore, please revise your Executive Summary, Device Results, and labeling by removing the reference to MCI or Dementia. In addition, please include a statement that the results of the Cantab Mobile should only be interpreted by a qualified professional.
- 4. You state that the Cantab Mobile includes the optional administration of the Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire (GDS) and the Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire (ADL). If administered, you mention that scores will be presented to the clinician. Please address the following items related to these questionnaires:
 - a. (b) (4)
 - b. In addition, please verify if the GDS and ADL Questionnaires are consistent with the published, validated versions. If not, please cite the versions used and provide literature to support their clinical use.
 - c. ^{(b) (4)}

(b) (4)

Page 3 - Nancy Clementi



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Food and Drug Administration

Indications for Use

Form Approved: OMB No. 0910-0120 Expiration Date: January 31, 2017 See PRA Statement below.

510(k) Number (if known) K161328

Device Name CANTAB Mobile

Indications for Use (Describe)

The CANTAB Mobile is intended to be used as an adjunctive tool to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years.

Type of Use (Select one or both, as applicable)

Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801 Subpart D)

Over-The-Counter Use (21 CFR 801 Subpart C)

CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE PAGE IF NEEDED.

This section applies only to requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995.

DO NOT SEND YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE PRA STAFF EMAIL ADDRESS BELOW.

The burden time for this collection of information is estimated to average 79 hours per response, including the time to review instructions, search existing data sources, gather and maintain the data needed and complete and review the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this information collection, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to:

Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Office of Chief Information Officer Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA) Staff PRAStaff@fda.hhs.gov

"An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB number."



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Public Health Service

Food and Drug Administration 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Document Control Center - WO66-G609 Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002

January 13, 2017

Cambridge Cognition Ltd., % Nancy Clementi, MD Chief Medical Officer, Clementi Associates Ltd. Clementi Associates Ltd 919 Conestoga Rd, Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, Pennsylvania 19010

Re: K161328

Trade/Device Name: Cantab Mobile Regulation Number: 21 CFR 882.1470 Regulation Name: Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid Regulatory Class: Class II Product Code: PKQ Dated: December 21, 2016 Received: December 21, 2016

Dear Dr. Clementi:

We have reviewed your Section 510(k) premarket notification of intent to market the device referenced above and have determined the device is substantially equivalent (for the indications for use stated in the enclosure) to legally marketed predicate devices marketed in interstate commerce prior to May 28, 1976, the enactment date of the Medical Device Amendments, or to devices that have been reclassified in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (Act) that do not require approval of a premarket approval application (PMA). You may, therefore, market the device, subject to the general controls provisions of the Act. The general controls provisions of the Act include requirements for annual registration, listing of devices, good manufacturing practice, labeling, and prohibitions against misbranding and adulteration. Please note: CDRH does not evaluate information related to contract liability warranties. We remind you, however, that device labeling must be truthful and not misleading.

If your device is classified (see above) into either class II (Special Controls) or class III (PMA), it may be subject to additional controls. Existing major regulations affecting your device can be found in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Parts 800 to 898. In addition, FDA may publish further announcements concerning your device in the <u>Federal Register</u>.

Please be advised that FDA's issuance of a substantial equivalence determination does not mean that FDA has made a determination that your device complies with other requirements of the Act or any Federal statutes and regulations administered by other Federal agencies. You must comply with all the Act's requirements, including, but not limited to: registration and listing (21 CFR Part 807); labeling (21 CFR Part 801); medical device reporting (reporting of medical device-related adverse events) (21 CFR 803); good manufacturing practice requirements as set forth in

Page 2 - Nancy Clementi, MD

the quality systems (QS) regulation (21 CFR Part 820); and if applicable, the electronic product radiation control provisions (Sections 531-542 of the Act); 21 CFR 1000-1050.

If you desire specific advice for your device on our labeling regulation (21 CFR Part 801), please contact the Division of Industry and Consumer Education at its toll-free number (800) 638-2041 or (301) 796-7100 or at its Internet address

<u>http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/ResourcesforYou/Industry/default.htm</u>. Also, please note the regulation entitled, "Misbranding by reference to premarket notification" (21 CFR Part 807.97). For questions regarding the reporting of adverse events under the MDR regulation (21 CFR Part 803), please go to

http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/Safety/ReportaProblem/default.htm for the CDRH's Office of Surveillance and Biometrics/Division of Postmarket Surveillance.

You may obtain other general information on your responsibilities under the Act from the Division of Industry and Consumer Education at its toll-free number (800) 638-2041 or (301) 796-7100 or at its Internet address

http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/ResourcesforYou/Industry/default.htm.

Sincerely yours,

Michael J. Hoffmann -S

for Carlos L. Peña, PhD, MS Director Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices Office of Device Evaluation Center for Devices and Radiological Health

Enclosure

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Public Health Service

Food and Drug Administration 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Document Control Center - WO66-G609 Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002

January 13, 2017

Cambridge Cognition Ltd., % Nancy Clementi, MD Chief Medical Officer, Clementi Associates Ltd. Clementi Associates Ltd 919 Conestoga Rd, Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, Pennsylvania 19010

Re: K161328

Trade/Device Name: Cantab Mobile Regulation Number: 21 CFR 882.1470 Regulation Name: Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid Regulatory Class: Class II Product Code: PKQ Dated: December 21, 2016 Received: December 21, 2016

Dear Dr. Clementi:

We have reviewed your Section 510(k) premarket notification of intent to market the device referenced above and have determined the device is substantially equivalent (for the indications for use stated in the enclosure) to legally marketed predicate devices marketed in interstate commerce prior to May 28, 1976, the enactment date of the Medical Device Amendments, or to devices that have been reclassified in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (Act) that do not require approval of a premarket approval application (PMA). You may, therefore, market the device, subject to the general controls provisions of the Act. The general controls provisions of the Act include requirements for annual registration, listing of devices, good manufacturing practice, labeling, and prohibitions against misbranding and adulteration. Please note: CDRH does not evaluate information related to contract liability warranties. We remind you, however, that device labeling must be truthful and not misleading.

If your device is classified (see above) into either class II (Special Controls) or class III (PMA), it may be subject to additional controls. Existing major regulations affecting your device can be found in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Parts 800 to 898. In addition, FDA may publish further announcements concerning your device in the <u>Federal Register</u>.

Please be advised that FDA's issuance of a substantial equivalence determination does not mean that FDA has made a determination that your device complies with other requirements of the Act or any Federal statutes and regulations administered by other Federal agencies. You must comply with all the Act's requirements, including, but not limited to: registration and listing (21 CFR Part 807); labeling (21 CFR Part 801); medical device reporting (reporting of medical device-related adverse events) (21 CFR 803); good manufacturing practice requirements as set forth in

Page 2 - Nancy Clementi, MD

the quality systems (QS) regulation (21 CFR Part 820); and if applicable, the electronic product radiation control provisions (Sections 531-542 of the Act); 21 CFR 1000-1050.

If you desire specific advice for your device on our labeling regulation (21 CFR Part 801), please contact the Division of Industry and Consumer Education at its toll-free number (800) 638-2041 or (301) 796-7100 or at its Internet address

http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/ResourcesforYou/Industry/default.htm. Also, please note the regulation entitled, "Misbranding by reference to premarket notification" (21 CFR Part 807.97). For questions regarding the reporting of adverse events under the MDR regulation (21 CFR Part 803), please go to

<u>http://www.fda.gov/McdicalDevices/Safety/ReportaProblem/default.htm</u> for the CDRH's Office of Surveillance and Biometrics/Division of Postmarket Surveillance.

You may obtain other general information on your responsibilities under the Act from the Division of Industry and Consumer Education at its toll-free number (800) 638-2041 or (301) 796-7100 or at its Internet address

http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/ResourcesforYou/Industry/default.htm.

Sincerely yours,

Michael J. Hoffmann -S

for Carlos L. Peña, PhD, MS Director Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices Office of Device Evaluation Center for Devices and Radiological Health

Enclosure
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Food and Drug Administration

Indications for Use

510(k) Number (if known) K161328

Device Name CANTAB Mobile

Indications for Use (Describe)

The CANTAB Mobile is intended to be used as an adjunctive tool to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years.

Type of Use (Select one or both, as applicable)

Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801 Subpart D)

Over-The-Counter Use (21 CFR 801 Subpart C)

CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE PAGE IF NEEDED.

This section applies only to requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995.

DO NOT SEND YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE PRA STAFF EMAIL ADDRESS BELOW.

The burden time for this collection of information is estimated to average 79 hours per response, including the time to review instructions, search existing data sources, gather and maintain the data needed and complete and review the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this information collection, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to:

Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Office of Chief Information Officer Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA) Staff *PRAStaff@fda.hhs.gov*

"An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB number."

Page 1 of 1

Form Approved: OMB No. 0910-0120 Expiration Date: January 31, 2017 See PRA Statement below.



April 08, 2016

Premarket Notification 510(k) Statement As Required by 21 CFR 807.93]

Original 510(k) Submission Cantab Mobile

(As Required By 21 CFR 807.93)

I certify that, in my capacity as Director of Technical Operations of Cambridge Cognition Ltd., I will make available all information included in this premarket notification on safety and effectiveness within 30 days of request by any person if the device described in the premarket notification submission is determined to be substantially equivalent. The information I agree to make available will be a duplicate of the premarket notification submission, including any adverse safety and effectiveness information, but excluding all patient identifiers, and trade secret and confidential commercial information, as defined in 21 CFR 20.61.

(Signature of Certifier)

Ricky Dolphin

(Typed Name)

08-APR-2016

(Date)

Cambridge Cognition Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane, Bottisham, Cambridge, CB25 9TU, UK t: +44 (0)1223 810700 f: +44 (0)1223 810701 info@camcog.com www.cambridgecognition.com

Cambridge Cognition Holdings plc, a company registered in England and Wales, Registered Number 04338746



Food and Drug Administration 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Document Control Center - WO66-G609 Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002

K161328 Cambridge Cognition Ltd., Us Agent: Clementi Associates Ltd. Device Trade Name: Cantab Mobile Contact Name: Nancy Clementi

DEFICIENCY LIST

Substantial Equivalence Discussion

 You have identified the AnthroTronix – DANA (K141865) as the primary predicate device for comparison to the Cantab Mobile for the purposes of establishing substantial equivalence. The DANA indications for use state that it "provides clinicians with objective measurements of reaction time (speed and accuracy) to aid in the assessment of an individual's medical or psychological state. DANA also delivers and scores standardized psychological questionnaires"). In comparison, the Cantab Mobile seeks to be indicated "for the assessment of memory in adult individuals aged 50 to 90 years of age." The device also specific in that it is "indicated to provide clinicians with objective measurements of visuospatial episodic memory and mood."

Reaction Time and Memory are two distinct cognitive processes which are used to assess different aspects of cognition. Therefore, the predicate device you have chosen is not appropriate. Please select a predicate device whose intended use is similar to the Cantab Mobile and revise your application accordingly. We believe it is appropriate for you to consider using DEN130033 (Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc. – Cognivue) or K150154 (Vista Lifesciences – ANAM Test System) as potential predicate devices as these devices are indicated as computerized adjunctive assessments of memory. However, please note that you will need to provide a detailed comparison to the new predicate device, and where differences exist, information to support how Cantab Mobile can be considered equivalent. For example, while considering these predicates please keep in mind that these testing systems use multiple tests to produce an outcome; you would need to support the use of the PAL as a single test used to assess memory in comparison to these predicates which test memory in multiple domains. Additionally, it is important to provide evidence that the PAL may be used without an assessment of baseline function in the proposed use and that decrements cited as severe are outside the range that could attributed to normal aging.

Indications for Use

2. Your Indications for Use Statement states that the Cantab Mobile will be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years. The assessment of memory is a broad term and your Indications for Use should specify the type of memory that is being assessed in order to provide the user with an accurate description of the purpose of the device. Since the Cantab Mobile will use the PAL test to make its assessment of visuospatial learning, please revise your Indications for Use Statement to "assess visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years."

Page 2 - Nancy Clementi

Device Description

- 3. Within your Executive Summary and Device Labeling, you make multiple references to specific conditions such as Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia and state that the Cantab Mobile can detect memory impairment in such individuals. Please note that indicating your device for "assessment of memory in adult individuals aged 50 to 90 years of age" is different from making claims related to specific disease states; test scores resulting in this outcome may be attributed to other causes and patients should be referred for clinical evaluation. Indicating your device for MCI or Dementia would constitute a new intended use which would need to be reviewed via the DeNovo pathway due to lack of a suitable predicate. Therefore, please revise your Executive Summary, Device Results, and labeling by removing the reference to MCI or Dementia. In addition, please include a statement that the results of the Cantab Mobile should only be interpreted by a qualified professional.
- 4. You state that the Cantab Mobile includes the optional administration of the Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire (GDS) and the Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire (ADL). If administered, you mention that scores will be presented to the clinician. Please address the following items related to these questionnaires:
 - a. ^{(b) (4)}
 - b. In addition, please verify if the GDS and ADL Questionnaires are consistent with the published, validated versions. If not, please cite the versions used and provide literature to support their clinical use.
 - c. ^{(b) (4)}

(b) (4)

Page 3 - Nancy Clementi



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Food and Drug Administration

Indications for Use

510(k) Number (if known) K161328

Device Name CANTAB Mobile

Indications for Use (Describe)

The CANTAB Mobile is intended to be used as an adjunctive tool to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years.

Type of Use (Select one or both, as applicable)

Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801 Subpart D)

Over-The-Counter Use (21 CFR 801 Subpart C)

CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE PAGE IF NEEDED.

This section applies only to requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995.

DO NOT SEND YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE PRA STAFF EMAIL ADDRESS BELOW.

The burden time for this collection of information is estimated to average 79 hours per response, including the time to review instructions, search existing data sources, gather and maintain the data needed and complete and review the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this information collection, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to:

Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Office of Chief Information Officer Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA) Staff *PRAStaff@fda.hhs.gov*

"An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB number."

Page 1 of 1

Form Approved: OMB No. 0910-0120 Expiration Date: January 31, 2017 See PRA Statement below



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Public Health Service

Food and Drug Administration 10903 New Hampshire Avenue Document Control Center - WO66-G609 Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002

January 13, 2017

Cambridge Cognition Ltd., % Nancy Clementi, MD Chief Medical Officer, Clementi Associates Ltd. Clementi Associates Ltd 919 Conestoga Rd, Building 3, Suite 312 Rosemont, Pennsylvania 19010

Re: K161328

Trade/Device Name: Cantab Mobile Regulation Number: 21 CFR 882.1470 Regulation Name: Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid Regulatory Class: Class II Product Code: PKQ Dated: December 21, 2016 Received: December 21, 2016

Dear Dr. Clementi:

We have reviewed your Section 510(k) premarket notification of intent to market the device referenced above and have determined the device is substantially equivalent (for the indications for use stated in the enclosure) to legally marketed predicate devices marketed in interstate commerce prior to May 28, 1976, the enactment date of the Medical Device Amendments, or to devices that have been reclassified in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (Act) that do not require approval of a premarket approval application (PMA). You may, therefore, market the device, subject to the general controls provisions of the Act. The general controls provisions of the Act include requirements for annual registration, listing of devices, good manufacturing practice, labeling, and prohibitions against misbranding and adulteration. Please note: CDRH does not evaluate information related to contract liability warranties. We remind you, however, that device labeling must be truthful and not misleading.

If your device is classified (see above) into either class II (Special Controls) or class III (PMA), it may be subject to additional controls. Existing major regulations affecting your device can be found in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Parts 800 to 898. In addition, FDA may publish further announcements concerning your device in the <u>Federal Register</u>.

Please be advised that FDA's issuance of a substantial equivalence determination does not mean that FDA has made a determination that your device complies with other requirements of the Act or any Federal statutes and regulations administered by other Federal agencies. You must comply with all the Act's requirements, including, but not limited to: registration and listing (21 CFR Part 807); labeling (21 CFR Part 801); medical device reporting (reporting of medical device-related adverse events) (21 CFR 803); good manufacturing practice requirements as set forth in

Page 2 - Nancy Clementi, MD

the quality systems (QS) regulation (21 CFR Part 820); and if applicable, the electronic product radiation control provisions (Sections 531-542 of the Act); 21 CFR 1000-1050.

If you desire specific advice for your device on our labeling regulation (21 CFR Part 801), please contact the Division of Industry and Consumer Education at its toll-free number (800) 638-2041 or (301) 796-7100 or at its Internet address

http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/ResourcesforYou/Industry/default.htm. Also, please note the regulation entitled, "Misbranding by reference to premarket notification" (21 CFR Part 807.97). For questions regarding the reporting of adverse events under the MDR regulation (21 CFR Part 803), please go to

http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/Safety/ReportaProblem/default.htm for the CDRH's Office of Surveillance and Biometrics/Division of Postmarket Surveillance.

You may obtain other general information on your responsibilities under the Act from the Division of Industry and Consumer Education at its toll-free number (800) 638-2041 or (301) 796-7100 or at its Internet address

http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/ResourcesforYou/Industry/default.htm.

Sincerely yours,

Michael J. Hoffmann -S

for Carlos L. Peña, PhD, MS Director Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices Office of Device Evaluation Center for Devices and Radiological Health

Enclosure

Department of Health & Human Services Food and Drug Administration



Center for Devices and Radiological Health Office of Device Evaluation & Office of In-Vitro Diagnostics and Radiological Health

Contains Nonbinding Recommendations

Print Form

Acceptance Checklist for Traditional 510(k)s

(Should be completed within 15 days of DCC receipt)

The following information is not intended to serve as a comprehensive review. FDA recommends that the submitter include this completed checklist as part of the submission.

510(k) #: K161328 Date Received by DCC: May 12, 2016

Lead Reviewer: Binoy Mathews

Branch: NSDB Division: DNPMD Center/Office: CDRH/ODE

Note: If an element is left blank on the checklist, it does not mean the checklist is incomplete; it means the reviewer did not assess the element during the RTA review and that the element will be assessed during substantive review.

IMPORTANT - Many checklist elements include additional details regarding information to address the element that can be seen by hovering over the element (Example - Element 4 in Section A of the checklist).

Preliminary Questions			and the second
Answers in the shaded blocks indicate consultation with a Center advisor is needed. (Boxes checked in this section represent FDAs preliminary assessment of these questions at the time of administrative review.)	Yes	No	N/A
1) Is the product a device (per section 201(h) of the FD&C Act) or a combination product (per <u>21 CFR</u> <u>3.2(e)</u>) with a device constituent part subject to review in a 510(k)?			
If it appears not to be a device (per section 201(h) of the FD&C Act) or such a combination product, or you are unsure, consult with the CDRH Jurisdictional Officer or the CBER Product Jurisdiction Liaison to determine the appropriate action, and inform division management. <i>Provide a summary of the Jurisdictional Officer's/Liaison's determination</i> . If the product does not appear to be a device or such a combination product, mark "No."	×		
Comments:			
2. Is the submission with the appropriate Center?			
If the product is a device or a combination product with a device constituent part, is it subject to review by the Center in which the submission was received? If you believe the submission is not with the appropriate Center or you are unsure, consult with the CDRH Jurisdictional Officer or CBER Product Jurisdiction Liaison to determine the appropriate action and inform your division management. <i>Provide a summary of the Jurisdictional Officer's/Liaison's determination.</i> If submission should not be reviewed by your Center mark "No."	×		
Comments:			
3) If a Request for Designation (RFD) was submitted for the device or combination product with a device constituent part and assigned to your center, identify the RFD # and confirm the following:			
 a) Is the device or combination product the same (e.g., design, formulation) as that presented in the RFD submission? b) Are the indications for use for the device or combination product identified in the 510(k) the same as those identified in the RFD submission? 			×
If you believe the product or the indications presented in the 510(k) have changed from the RFD, or you are unsure, consult with the CDRH Jurisdictional Officer or the CBER Product Jurisdiction Liaison to determine the appropriate action and inform your division management. <i>Provide summary of Jurisdictional Officer's/Liaison's determination</i> .			
If the answer to either question above is no, mark "No." If there was no RFD, mark "N/A."			
Comments:			

4) Is this device type eligible for a 510(k) submission?			
If a 510(k) does not appear to be appropriate (e.g., Class III type and PMA required, or Class I or II type and 510(k)-exempt), you should consult with the CDRH 510(k) Program Director or appropriate CBER staff during the acceptance review. If 510(k) is not the appropriate regulatory submission, mark "No."			
Comments:			
5) Is there a pending PMA for the same device with the same indications for use?			
If yes, consult division management and the CDRH 510(k) Program Director or appropriate CBER staff to determine the appropriate action.		×	
Comments:			
6) If clinical studies have been submitted, is the submitter the subject of an Application Integrity Policy (AIP)?			
If yes, consult with the CDRH Office of Compliance/Division of Bioresearch Monitoring (OC/DBM) or CBER Office of Compliance and Biologics Quality/Division of Inspections and Surveillance/Bioresearch Monitoring Branch (OCBQ/DIS/BMB) to determine the appropriate action. Check on web at <u>http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/ApplicationIntegrityPolicy/ucm134453.htm</u>		×	
If no clinical studies have been submitted, mark "N/A."			
Comments:		10	
the Management of the Break Study of the Management of the Andrew Statement of the Andrew Study of the Andrew St			

- If the answer to 1 or 2 appears to be "No," then stop review of the 510(k) and issue the "Original Jurisdictional Product" letter.

- If the answer to 3a or 3b appears to be "No," then stop the review and contact the CDRH Jurisdictional Officer or CBER Office of Jurisdiction Liaison.

- If the answer to 4 is "No," the lead reviewer should consult division management and other Center resources to determine the appropriate action.

- If the answer to 5 is "Yes," then stop review of the 510(k), contact the CDRH 510(k) Staff and PMA Staff, or appropriate CBER staff.

- If the answer to 6 is "Yes," then contact CDRH/OC/DBM or CBER/OCBQ/DIS/BMB, provide a summary of the discussion with DBM or BMB Staff, and indicate their recommendation/action.

Organizational Elements Failure to include these items should not result in an RTA designation.			
*Submitters including the checklist with their submission should identify the page numbers where requested information located. Use the comments section for an element if additional space is needed to identify the location of supporting information.	Yes	No	*Page #
1) Submission contains a Table of Contents	×		
2) Each section is labeled (e.g., headings or tabs designating Device Description section, Labeling section, etc.)	×		
3) All pages of the submission are numbered.	×	21	-
4) Type of 510(k) is identified (i.e., Traditional, Abbreviated, or Special).	×		1
Comments:		1	

Elements of a Complete Submission (RTA Items) (21 CFR 807.87 unless otherwise indicated)

Submission should be designated RTA if not addressed.

Any "No" answer will result in a "Refuse to Accept" decision; however, FDA staff has discretion to determine whether missing items
are needed to ensure that the submission is administratively complete to allow the submission to be accepted or to request missing
checklist items interactively from submitters during RTA review.

- Each element on the checklist should be addressed within the submission. The submitter may provide a rationale for omission for any criteria that are deemed not applicable. If a rationale is provided, the criterion is considered present (Yes). An assessment of the rationale will be considered during the review of the submission.

Check "Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is not included but needed. *Submitters including the checklist with their submission should identify the page numbers where requested information is located. Use the comments section for an element if additional space is needed to identify the location of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	Comment	*Page #
A. Administrative					
1) All content used to support the submission is written in English (including translations of test reports, literature articles, etc.)	×		Rect.		
 Submission identifies the following (FDA recommends use of the CDRH Premarket Review Submission Cover Sheet form [Form 3514]): 		an Isl	int lipe ge		
a) Device trade/proprietary name	X	p ^{al} spin	Han B'	(ique ice	
b) Device class and panel or Classification regulation or Statement that device has not been classified with rationale for that conclusion	×				
b) Submission contains an Indication for Use Statement with Rx and/or OTC designated (see also 21 CFR 801.109, and FDA's guidance <u>"Alternative to Certain Prescription</u> <u>Devices Labeling Requirements</u> .") See recommended format. (http://www.fda.gov/downloads/AboutFDA/ReportsManualsForms/Forms/ UCM360431.pdf).					
4) Submission contains a 510(k) Summary or 510(k) Statement.		100			1.2.4.4
5) Submission contains a Truthful and Accuracy Statement per <u>21 CFR 807.87(k)</u> See recommended <u>format</u> . <u>(http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/</u> <u>HowtoMarketYourDevice/PremarketSubmissions/PremarketNotification510k/</u> <u>ucm142707.htm</u>).					
6) Submission is a Class III 510(k) device.			×		
7) Submission contains clinical data	×				
a) Submission includes completed Financial Certification (FDA Form 3454) or Disclosure (FDA Form 3455) information for each covered clinical study included in the submission. Select "N/A" if the submitted clinical data is not a "covered clinical study" as defined in the Guidance for Industry- Financial Disclosures by Clinical Investigators.			×		
b) Submission includes completed Certification of Compliance with requirements of ClinicalTrials.gov Data Bank (FDA Form 3674) (42 U.S.C. 282(j)(5)(B)) for each applicable device clinical trial included in the submission. Select "N/A" if the submitted clinical data is not an "applicable device clinical trial" as defined in <u>Title VIII of FDAAA, Sec. 801(j)</u>		×			
 8) The submission identifies prior submissions for the same device included in the current submission (e.g., submission numbers for a prior not substantially equivalent [NSE] determination, prior deleted or withdrawn 510(k), Pre-Submission, IDE, PMA, etc.). <u>OR</u> States that there were no prior submissions for the subject device. 	×				
 a) If there were prior submissions, the submitter has identified where in the current submission any issues related to a determination of substantial equivalence from prior submissions for this device are addressed. 			×		
B. Device Description					
9) The device has a device-specific guidance document, special controls document, and/or requirements in a device-specific regulation regarding device description that is applicable to the subject device.	×				

Check "Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is not included but needed.					
*Submitters including the checklist with their submission should identify the page numbers where requested information is located. Use the comments section for an element if additional space is needed to identify the location of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	Comment	*Page #
 a) The submission addresses device description recommendations outlined in the device-specific guidance. <u>OR</u> The submission provides an alternative approach intended to address the applicable statutory and/or regulatory criteria. 			×		
 b) The submission includes device description information that addresses relevant mitigation measures set forth in a special controls document or device-specific regulation applicable to the device. <u>OR</u> The submission uses alternative mitigation measures and provides rationale why the alternative measures provide an equivalent assurance of safety and effectiveness. 		1. 9	×		
10) Descriptive information is present and consistent within the submission (e.g., the device description section is consistent with the device description in the labeling).	×				
11) The submission includes descriptive information for the device, including the following:					
a) A description of the principle of operation or mechanism of action for achieving the intended effect.	×				
b) A description of proposed conditions of use, such as surgical technique for implants; anatomical location of use; user interface; how the device interacts with other devices; and/or how the device interacts with the patient.	×				
c) A list and description of each device for which clearance is requested.	×				
d) Submission contains representative engineering drawing(s), schematics, illustrations, photos and/or figures of the device. <u>OR</u> Submission includes a statement that engineering drawings, schematics, etc. are not applicable to the device (e.g., device is a reagent and figures are not pertinent to describe the device).					
12) Device is intended to be marketed with multiple components, accessories, and/or as part of a system.			×		
C. Substantial Equivalence Discussion		1.1	1		
13) Submitter has identified a predicate device(s), including the following information:			1		
a) Predicate device identifier provided (e.g., 510(k) number, de novo number, reclassified PMA number, regulation number if exempt or statement that the predicate is a preamendment device).					
For predicates that are preamendments devices, information is provided to document preamendments status.	×				
Information regarding <u>documenting preamendment status</u> is available online. (<u>http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/</u> <u>MedicalDeviceQualityandCompliance/ucm379552.htm</u>).					
b) The identified predicate(s) is consistent throughout the submission (e.g., the predicate(s) identified in the Substantial Equivalence section is the same as that listed in the 510(k) Summary (if applicable) and that used in comparative performance testing).	×				

Check "Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is not included but needed. *Submitters including the checklist with their submission should identify the page numbers where requested information is located. Use the comments section for an	Yes	No	N/A	Comment	*Page #
 element if additional space is needed to identify the location of supporting information. 14) Submission includes a comparison of the following for the predicate(s) and subject device and a discussion why any differences between the subject and predicate(s) do not impact safety and effectiveness [see section 513(i)(1)(A) of the FD&C Act and 21 CFR 807.87(f)] See "The 510(k) Program: Evaluating Substantial Equivalence in Premarket Notifications [510(k)]" guidance document for more information on comparing intended use and technological characteristics. 					
a) Indications for Use	×	nidepile		5 1945-0	
b) Technology, including features, materials, and principles of operation	\times			76 <u>0</u>	
D. Proposed Labeling (see also 21 CFR part 801 and 809 as applicable)	idiaatu ni mi	s en das			
15) Submission includes proposed package labels and labeling (e.g., instructions for use, package insert, operator's manual).	×				
a) Indications for use are stated in labeling and are identical to Indications for Use form and 510(k) Summary (if 510(k) Summary provided).	×		1-1258 1-1-1-1	ina na si Indra	
 b) Labeling includes: Statements of conditions, purposes or uses for which the device is intended (e.g., hazards, warnings, precautions, contraindications) (21 CFR 801.5) AND Includes adequate directions for use (see 21 CFR 801.5) OR Submission states that device qualifies for exemption per 21 CFR 801 Subpart D 	×	×		Au *	
16) Labeling includes name and place of business of the manufacturer, packer, or distributor (<u>21 CFR 801.1</u>).	×	6 20 G	5 - 22 - 54 5 - 72 - 52 - 54 5 - 72 - 52 - 52		
7) Labeling includes the prescription statement [see 21 CFR 801.109(b)(1)] or Rx Only symbol (see also Section 502(a) of the FD&C Act and FDA's guidance "Alternative to Certain Prescription Device Labeling Requirements").					
18) The device has a device-specific guidance document, special controls document, and/ or requirements in a device-specific regulation regarding labeling that is applicable to the subject device.	for the		×		
19) If the device is an in vitro diagnostic device, provided labeling includes all applicable information required per <u>21 CFR 809.10</u> .	ap d G	o nala	×	in Astro	Aug I.
E. Sterilization			0.16 9.992		
If an <i>in vitro</i> diagnostic (IVD) device and sterilization is not applicable, select "N/A." The criteria in this section will be omitted from the checklist if "N/A" is selected.		a nata dentra de nota const	×		
F. Shelf Life	1.0.10	98 m):	- 14: 45:	a)	
 24) Proposed shelf life/expiration date stated <u>OR</u> Statement that shelf-life is not applicable because of low likelihood of time-dependent product degradation 	×				
25) For a sterile device, submission includes summary of methods used to establish that device packaging will maintain a sterile barrier for the entirety of the proposed shelf life.			×		

Check "Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is not included but needed.					
*Submitters including the checklist with their submission should identify the page numbers where requested information is located. Use the comments section for an element if additional space is needed to identify the location of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	Comment	*Page #
 26) Submission includes summary of methods used to establish that device performance is maintained for the entirety of the proposed shelf-life (e.g., mechanical properties, coating integrity, pH, osmolality, etc.). <u>OR</u> Statement why performance data is not needed to establish maintenance of device performance characteristics over the shelf-life period. 	×				
G. Biocompatibility		1			
If an vitro diagnostic (IVD) device, select "N/A." The criteria in this section will be omitted from the checklist if "N/A" is selected.					
Submission states that there: (one of the below must be checked)					
Are direct or indirect patient-contacting components.					
X Are no direct or indirect patient-contacting components.					
Information regarding patient contact status of the device is not provided (if this box checked, please also check one of the two boxes below).					
Patient contact information not needed for this device (e.g., software-	-only dev	vice)			
Patient contact information needed or need unclear					
This information will determine whether and what type of additional information may be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination.	E.	I E			
H. Software		550) -			
Submission states that the device: (one of the below must be checked)					
X Does contain software/firmware					
Does not contain software/firmware				Sec. 1	
Information on whether device contains software/firmware is not provided. (If this box is checked, please also check one of the two boxes below.)					
Software/firmware information not needed for this device (e.g., surgio	cal suture	e, condo	m)		
Software/firmware information is needed or need unclear		- (-)			
This information will determine whether and what type of additional information may be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination.		8			
30) Submission includes a statement of software level of concern and rationale for the software level of concern.	×				
31) All applicable software documentation provided based on level of concern identified by the submitter, as described in <u>Guidance for the Content of Premarket Submissions</u> for Software Contained in Medical Devices, or the submission includes information to establish that the submitter has otherwise met the applicable statutory or regulatory criteria through an alternative approach (i.e., the submitter has identified an alternate approach with a rationale).					
Comments: You have not provided software documentation per the mentioned Guidance Document according to the level of concern of your software. Please include all required documents per the designated level of concern. WILL INTERACTIVELY REQUEST THIS INFORMATION.					
I. Electrical Safety and EMC					

Check "Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is not included but needed.	Yes	No	N/A	Comment	*Page #
*Submitters including the checklist with their submission should identify the page numbers where requested information is located. Use the comments section for an element if additional space is needed to identify the location of supporting information.					
Electrical Safety Submission states that the device: (one of the below must be checked)	a comesa a comesa a co		mes (b) a nilî n		
Does require electrical safety evaluation	in the second		100	A PARTY OF A	
X Does not require electrical safety evaluation	ng she sul	a es pre-re	- N	2011 - 1	
Information on whether device requires electrical safety evaluation is not provided. (If this box is checked, please also check one of the two boxes below.)	-		yanh l	r Alfelorito -	an a
Electrical safety information not needed for this device (e.g., surgical	suture, co	ondom)	align in B	an heisis	, W.
Electrical safety information is needed or need unclear	et adrilla	tina. 380	والبوديات	State We	1997 - 1 - 3 1997 - 1 - 3
This information will determine whether and what type of additional information may be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination.	96 L. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.		N. 3 77-		
EMC Submission states that the device: (one of the below must be checked)		9.04	0.000		
Does require EMC evaluation					
Construction Does not require EMC evaluation	ter a service				
Information on whether device requires EMC evaluation is not provided. (If this box is checked, please also check one of the two boxes below.)			in s lite	ne ne se	
EMC information not needed for this device (e.g., surgical suture, co	ndom)				
EMC information is needed or need unclear		- 1 		and the second	5.00.0
This information will determine whether and what type of additional information may be necessary for a substantial equivalence determination.		1	5 1 - 5 M		
J. Performance Data - General	e where	1.11	et peri	1	
If an in vitro diagnostic (IVD) device, select "N/A." The criteria in this section will be omitted from checklist if "N/A" is selected. Performance data criteria relating to IVD devices is addressed in Section K.	anagan Selapin Selapin	a dana Araba			
34) Full test report is provided for each completed test. A full test report includes: objective of the test, description of the test methods and procedures, study endpoint(s), pre- defined pass/fail criteria, results summary, conclusions.	×				
a) Submission includes an explanation of how the data generated from each test report supports a finding of substantial equivalence (e.g., comparison to predicate device testing, dimensional analysis, etc.).	×				
35) The device has a device-specific guidance document, special controls document, and/ or requirements in a device-specific regulation regarding performance data that is applicable to the subject device.			×	i () A ideo I A ideo I A ideo ideo ideo ideo ideo ideo ideo ideo	
36) If literature is referenced in the submission, submission includes:	ad subject	ion <u>di</u> ,	1.	1.1.1.1	
a) Legible reprints or a summary of each article.	×	in the second	22349 m	da estas State	
 b) Discussion of how each article is applicable to support the substantial equivalence of the subject device to the predicate. 	×		000294		
37) For each completed animal study, the submission provides the following:		199	X		
K. Performance Characteristics - In Vitro Diagnostic Devices Only (Also see <u>21 CFR 809.10(b)(12))</u> Traditional RTA Checklist (10/02) Highs Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hr Page 8 of 10	s.gov or	301-79	6-8118		

Check "Yes" if item is present, "N/A" if it is not needed and "No" if it is not included but needed.			As a		
*Submitters including the checklist with their submission should identify the page numbers where requested information is located. Use the comments section for an element if additional space is needed to identify the location of supporting information.	Yes	No	N/A	Comment	*Page #
Submission states that the device: (one of the below must be checked)					
is an in vitro diagnostic device.					45
X is not an in vitro diagnostic device.					
If "is not" is selected, the performance data-related criteria below are omitted from the checklist.					

Decision:
 Accept
 Refuse to Accept

If Accept, notify applicant.

If Refuse to Accept, notify applicant electronically and include a copy of this checklist.

Dig	Digital Signature Concurrence Table				
Reviewer Sign-Off	Binoy J. Mathews -S 2016.05.26 09:57:45 -04'00'				
Branch Chief Sign-Off (digital signature optional)*					
Division Sign-Off (digital signature optional)*					
* Branch and Division Branch and Division d	review of checklist and concurrence with decision required. igital signature optional.				

Tinch, Latroy D

From:	Marjenin, Timothy
Sent:	Friday, July 15, 2016 10:46 AM
To:	Mathews, Binoy; Shenouda, Christian; Gupta, Jay
Subject:	RE: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11]

Thanks to all of you for the edits and clarifications. I'll be logging this out shortly, and uploading this email chain to DocMan to serve as documentation of the additional discussion that has transpired.

Aside from some additional grammatical and formatting revisions I'll be making to the deficiencies, the most substantive change will be to the following deficiency:



Tim

Tim Marjenin Branch Chief, Neurostimulation Devices Branch Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices [FDA/CDRH/ODE/DNPMD/NSDB]

Would you like to provide feedback on my customer service? Click here!



From: Mathews, Binoy Sent: Thursday, July 14, 2016 9:43 AM To: Shenouda, Christian; Gupta, Jay; Marjenin, Timothy Subject: RE: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11] Importance: High

Hi All,

Added some language and an additional deficiency to our AINN Letter. Kindly review and let me know if there are concerns. Thanks!

--Binoy

From: Shenouda, Christian Sent: Wednesday, July 13, 2016 4:07 PM To: Gupta, Jay; Marjenin, Timothy Cc: Mathews, Binoy Subject: RE: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11]

Hi Jay,

We have reviewed the CANTAB submission and your comments below. (b)(4)

> Thanks, Christian

From: Gupta, Jay Sent: Tuesday, July 12, 2016 6:13 PM To: Marjenin, Timothy; Mathews, Binoy; Shenouda, Christian Subject: RE: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11]

Hello folks!

I have some additional high-level context regarding Tim's points below that may be helpful:

(b)(4)

b)(4)

Let me know if additional clarification/discussion is needed. I will be available via email late-night tomorrow and potentially by phone (631-335-8708) at spotty/unknown times on Thursday and Friday. If you are trying to reach me by phone, please just leave a message or a text and I'll get back to you if/when I can.

Thanks, Jay

Jay Gupta, M.S.E.

Senior Reviewer (Detail) Neurostimulation Devices Branch (NSDB) Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine (DNPMD) FDA/CDRH/ODE Phone #: (301) 796-2795 E-mail: jay.gupta@fda.hhs.gov

Excellent customer service is important to us. Please take a moment to provide feedback regarding the customer service you have received: <u>https://www.research.net/s/cdrhcustomerservice?O=400&D=460&B=462&E=&S=E</u>

THIS MESSAGE IS INTENDED ONLY FOR THE USE OF THE PARTY TO WHOM IT IS ADDRESSED AND MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS PRIVILEGED, CONFIDENTIAL, AND PROTECTED FROM DISCLOSURE UNDER LAW. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, dissemination, distribution, copying, or other action based on the content of this communication is NOT AUTHORIZED. If you have received this document in error, please immediately notify Jay Gupta by email at jay.gupta@fda.hhs.gov or telephone at (301) 796-2795.

From: Marjenin, Timothy Sent: Tuesday, July 12, 2016 5:06 PM

To: Mathews, Binoy; Shenouda, Christian; Gupta, Jay Subject: RE: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11]

Thanks for the updates! I took some more time to go through the memos and the deficiencies again, and I still have a few questions. This includes a couple that I hadn't identified at first since I hadn't gone over the memos as thoroughly.

For the attached deficiencies, I've accepted everything that is good to go. I've included Jay on this email due to his familiarity with these devices; he can provide some high-level input, though not after tomorrow. The additional questions revolve primarily around the following:

(b)(4)

Tim

Tim Marjenin Branch Chief, Neurostimulation Devices Branch Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices [FDA/CDRH/ODE/DNPMD/NSDB]

Would you like to provide feedback on my customer service? Click here!



From: Mathews, Binoy Sent: Tuesday, July 12, 2016 2:27 PM To: Shenouda, Christian; Marjenin, Timothy Subject: RE: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11]

Hi Tim,

We have addressed your comments and they are attached. Please Let me know if you have any questions.

Christian – Did I forget to convey any of your deficiencies? I did not think Tim's point below was meant to convey as a deficiency, but if it did please let me know. I would need to better understand what you wanted to convey.

Thanks!

--Binoy

From: Shenouda, Christian Sent: Monday, July 11, 2016 5:23 PM To: Mathews, Binoy Subject: FW: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11] Importance: High

Hi,

Attached are my edits.

(b)(4)

Thanks, Christian

From: Marjenin, Timothy Sent: Monday, July 11, 2016 3:13 PM To: Mathews, Binoy; Shenouda, Christian Subject: RE: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11] Importance: High

In addition to the edits to the deficiencies, some additional comments:

(b)(4)

Tim

Tim Marjenin

Branch Chief, Neurostimulation Devices Branch Division of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices [FDA/CDRH/ODE/DNPMD/NSDB]

Would you like to provide feedback on my customer service? Click here!



From: Mathews, Binoy Sent: Monday, July 11, 2016 1:53 PM To: Marjenin, Timothy

Subject: FW: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11] Importance: High

Hi Tim,

I just wanted to remind you about this SI goal. Let me know if you have any questions. Thanks!

--Binoy

From: Mathews, Binoy Sent: Friday, July 08, 2016 1:20 PM To: Marjenin, Timothy Cc: Shenouda, Christian Subject: K161328 AINN [SI goal - 7/11]

Hi Tim,

SI review of K161328 is complete. The subject device is a software based memory assessment tool called the Cantab Mobile. We are recommending AINN requesting the sponsor to select a more appropriate predicate device and provide the necessary information to support substantial equivalence to the new predicate. Kindly review our deficiencies and edit where necessary. Thanks!

Documents:

http://docs.fda.gov/share/page/site/submissions/documentlibrary#filter=path%7C%2FReviews%2F510%2528k%2529s% 2F2016%2F1201%2520-%25201400%2FK161328%2FReviewer%2520Documents%7C&page=1

--Binoy

Binoy Mathews Biomedical Engineer | Neurostimulation Devices Branch DNPMD/CDRH/FDA | WO66 Room 2622 10903 New Hampshire Avenue | Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 Phone: 301-796-6475 e-mail: <u>binoy.mathews@fda.hhs.gov</u>

Excellent customer service is important to us. Please take a moment to provide feedback regarding the customer service you have received: <u>https://www.research.net/s/cdrhcustomerservice?0=400&D=460&B=462&E=&S=E</u>

THIS MESSAGE IS INTENDED FOR THE USE OF THE PARTY TO WHOM IT IS ADDRESSED AND MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS PRIVILEGED, CONFIDENTIAL, AND PROTECTED FROM DISCLOSURE UNDER LAW. If you are not the addressee, or a person authorized to deliver the document to the addressee, you are hereby notified that any review disclosure, dissemination, copying, or other action based on the content of this communication is not authorized. If you have received this document in error, please immediately notify us by email or telephone found above.



FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION MEMORANDUM

Food and Drug Administration Office of Device Evaluation 10903 New Hampshire Avenue White Oak, MD 20993

Office: ODE

510(k) MEMORANDUM Medical Officer Review

Date: June 20, 2016

To: Binoy Mathews, PhD - DNPMD

From: Christian Shenouda, MD - DNPMD

Device Name: Cantab Mobile

Sponsor: CAMBRIDGE COGNITION LTD

RECOMMENDATION

There are questions regarding Substantial Equivalance (SE) to the listed predicate device given that the devices measure disparate cognitive domains.

Additionally, proposed IFU should be revised to reflect the specific memory domain assessed.

SUMMARY

This is a consult for a clinical review of a 510(k) submission K161328, the CANTAB Mobile Device intented to assess memory in adults age 50 - 90. The specific memory domain tested is visuospatial memory via usage of the CANTAB PAL test. This test has been used with other tests to identify early cognitive decline but is presented here as the sole assessment. The sponsor has identified a predicate device which assesses a separate cognitive domain, raising concern that the devices are NSE. The sponsor may wish to cite an alternate device such as the ANAM or Cognivue which also assess memory. Should the sponsor choose this option, they should be mindful that these devices utilize multiple tests to formulate output in the assessment of the cognitive domain.

REVIEW

Clinical Background

Current criteria for the diagnosis of probable AD stipulates deterioration in two or more areas of cognition including memory of sufficient magnitude to interfere with work or social function. Critically however, substantial neuropathological change may have occurred before clinically significant symptoms (Jack et al. 2010; Jansen et al. 2015) appear. Thus, commencing treatment of AD at the time of clinical diagnosis (whether with cholinergic / glutamatergic drugs, anti-amyloid deposit agents or other putative disease modifying agents) may be sub-optimal or even ineffective because of the advanced stage of neurodegeneration at that time. The identification of cognitive tests that are sensitive to early pathological changes would facilitate the diagnosis of patients in a 'prodromal' state (i.e., those in whom the pathological process is present but whose symptoms are currently sub-clinical). Such early detection would serve to maximize the potential therapeutic benefit of treatment, enhance patient quality of life and, in so doing, reduce the burden on residential and nursing care services.

The CANTAB (Cambridge Neuropsychology Test Automated Battery) PAL (Paired Associates Learning) requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on a touch sensitive computer screen.

A series of independent studies have demonstrated that Cantab PAL measures of visuospatial associative learning and semantic memory are sensitive in detecting the earliest signs of prodromal Alzheimer's disease (up to 32 months prior to clinical diagnosis) both in memory clinic attendees (Fowler et al., 1995, Fowler et al., 1997; Fowler et al., 2002; Swainson et al., 2001; Blackwell et al., 2004) and in community dwelling cohorts of individuals classified as asymptomatic using current clinical measures (De Jager et al., 2002); De Jager et al., 2005).

Reviewer's comments:

The rationale for the device is adequate. (b)(4) (b)(4)

Device Description

Cantab Mobile provides an optional patient self-assessment of memory (Self Assess - enabled on the data entry screen). If this assessment is enabled, the patient will rate his/her memory prior to taking Cantab PAL. The patient is presented a rating scale against which they rate their memory as above average (left of center), average (center), or below average (right of center). Comparing self-rated memory with the objective measure of memory, provided by Cantab PAL, can reveal any discrepancies between actual and perceived memory ability.

The Cantab Mobile memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test previously used on other hardware platforms. The Cantab PAL requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on a touch-sensitive computer screen. The patterns were all created to be bold, brightly colored, abstract and with no cultural context.

Patterns are presented in six boxes around the edge of the screen (See Figure 3). The patterns disappear from the screen, leaving empty boxes and, after a brief delay, the same patterns are presented sequentially in the middle of the screen and the patient is required to touch the box in which they previously saw that pattern appear.

If the patterns' locations are not recalled correctly, this is identified to the patient via audio prompts and pattern presentation and recall is repeated. This process continues until the task is completed successfully, at which point the next task is started, or repeated failures by the patient to recall the locations correctly cause the test to end. The whole test consists of a series of such tasks with increasing levels of difficulty.

The patient's responses are recorded by screen touches. The number of errors that they make are recorded and their performance is graded using algorithms derived from a normative database of around 4,000 individuals collected during academic research in the UK, taking into account their age, gender and level of education.

Cantab Mobile additionally includes optional questionnaires. Questionnaires operate by presenting a series of questions to the patient, with clearly labeled response boxes that the patient may touch in order to answer each question. Ratings scales administered (depending on patient performance, and if not disabled by the healthcare professional) comprise:

1.GDS – Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire 2.ADL – Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire

The GDS rating scale in the app is the shorter version of GDS including 15 questions, the GDS-15 (Almeida and Almeida 1999), which is based on the GDS described by Yesavage and colleagues

Page 2 of 9

(Yesavage et al 1983): The GDS rating scale comprises a series of questions, each presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force, two buttons below to allow the patient to respond 'yes' and 'no' (or equivalent in the language in force). A progress bar gives an approximate indication of progress through the questions and a button with a backward arrow allows the user to return to the preceding question (if any) and choose again. See Figure 5 below for an example of a GDS-15 rating scale question and its format, as it is presented in the app.

Administration of the ADL rating scale comprises a series of questions, each presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in forces, with the introductory text given above the question and buttons below to allow the patient to choose from the responses permitted for the question. A progress bar gives an approximate indication of progress through the questions and a button with a backward arrow allows (except on questions 1 and 11)the user to return to the preceding question and choose again.

At the conclusion of the test, a 'thank you' screen is displayed with no information on test outcome. The device holds patient report data, prior to its transfer to the practitioner's systems. It is accessible to the healthcare professional via the Report Manager.

Memory test results are presented as one of three categories, based on a combination of neuropsychological best practice and the known sensitivity and specificity of the test in detecting early Alzheimer's disease. The patient's memory test outcome takes into account the performance of individuals closely matched to the patient for age, gender and education level. It may reflect the test's ending early in order to prevent undue distress to patients making a high number of errors. The following outcome categories are reported:

Investigate or *Red* means that patient performance may indicate a clinically-significant memory impairment (MCI or dementia). A patient will receive a red score if:

- Their test score was more than 1.5 standard deviations below the mean for people of their age, sex and educational level

- They made more than 20 errors in the 6-pattern stage,

- Or they made several errors in the easier stages of the test



Page 3 of 9

Monitor or Amber means that the patient's memory is in the lower end of the normal range. This patient may benefit from additional assessment or monitoring over time.

- A patient will receive an orange score if they score between 1 and 1.5 standard deviations below the expected level for someone of their age, sex and educational level.

No Present Concern or Green means that the patient's memory appears normal at present. - A patient will receive a green score if they score no more than one standard deviation below the expected level for someone of their age, sex and educational level.

If the patient falls in the Monitor or No Present Concern category then the results will also show the number of errors made at the six-pattern stage.

The report also includes information on the patient's responses in the questionnaires, if these have been administered.

Reviewer's comments:

The testing algorithm was reviewed.

(b)(4)

Proposed Indications for Use

Cantab Mobile is intended to be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years.

The application is designed to detect episodic memory impairments in patients aged 50 to 90 years who may be experiencing MCI or dementia (Table 1). Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression (Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire [GDS]), and problems with performing regular activities of daily living (Activities of Daily Life Questionnaire [ADL]). Additional

Page 4 of 9

information on questionnaires is provided in the Device Description document, Section 11 of this submission.

Indended Use (page 16)

Cantab Mobile's level of concern is classified as minor based upon the parameters and recommendations outlined in FDA's *Guidance for the Content of Premarket Submissions for Software Contained in Medical Devices* (2005), with negative responses to all questions in Tables 1 and 2. Regarding question 3 in Table 2, the app is a screening device for use by a learned intermediary in conjunction with other investigations; its operation does not lead directly to diagnosis or choice of appropriate medical care.

The predicate IFU is:

Cantab Mobile is substantially equivalent to DANA (manufactured by AnthroTronix; K141865).

Other predicate device: QbTest, Qbtech AB (K122149)

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	DANA – AnthroTronix (Submitted September 18, 2014)			
510(k) Number	Not Yet Assigned	K141865			
Trade Name	Cantab Mobile	DANA			
Common Name:	Mobile Based Task Performance Recorder				
Classification Name:	Recorder, Attention Task Performance				
Regulatory Class:	Unclassified				
Indications for Use	Cantab Mobile is intended to be used to assess memory in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living.	DANA provides clinicians with objective measurements of reaction time (speed and accuracy) to aid in the assessment of an individual's medical or psychological state. DANA also delivers and scores standardized psychological questionnaires.			

Table 3. Device Comparison Summary (Proposed Device vs. Predicate Device)

Reviewer's comments:



Page 5 of 9

	(b)(4)
1	<u>Clinical Performance Testing</u> (b)(4)
	Inclusion Criteria: Not provided Exlcusion Criteria: Not Provided Reviewer's comments: (b)(4)
	Methods Reviewer's comments: (b)(4)
	RISKS (b)(4)

Page 6 of 9

(b)(4)

SUMMARY

The submission raises concern of NSE based on the information provided (please see item #6 below). This and other points to be addressed are listed below:

1.	(b)(4)
2.	(b)(4)
3.	(b)(4)
4.	(b)(4)
5.	(b)(4)
6.	(b)(4)

Page 7 of 9



Reviewer Sign-Off:	Christian N. Shenouda -S (Affiliate)	Digitally signed by Christian N. Shenouda -S (Affiliate) DN: c=US, o=U.S. Government, ou=HHS, ou=NIH, ou=People, 0.9.2342.19200300.100.1.1=2000945946, cn=Christian N. Shenouda -S (Affiliate) Date: 2016.07.07 14:14:37 -04'00'

\$107/17/01

9 to 9 age 9

K161328- Clinical Review

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Public Health Service

Food and Drug Administration CDRH/ODE/DNPMD/NSDB W066 RM2622 10903 New Hampshire Ave Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 301-796-6475

Premarket Notification 510(k) Review

Reviewer: Binoy Mathews							
Subject: Traditional 510(k)# K161328							
Device Trade Name: Cantab Mobile							
Contact Title: Chief Medical Officer, Clementi Associates Ltd.							
Phone: (610) 527-2600 Email: nancy.clementi@clempharma.net							
Due Date: August 10, 2016							
Reg Name:							
Owner							
Anthrotronix, Inc							
Review Summary							
Recommendation I recommend that the Cantab Mobile is/are in need of Additional Information (AINN)							

Review Team

Lead Reviewer Clinical Reviewer Binoy Mathews (CDRH/ODE/DNPMD/NSDB) Christian Schenouda ,MD

I. <u>Purpose and History</u>

TPLC Information Recall Information Historyfalls

II. 510(k) Summary/Statement

510(k) Summary/Statement			
Was a 510(k) Summary or Statement provided?	Undo	Statement	
The 510(k) Statement was prepared account	ording to 21 CFR 807.93.		

Reviewer Recommendation

The 510(k) Statement is acceptable.

III. Device/System Description

Device Ch	aracteristics				Inadequate Or Marked		
Is the inten	Is the intended use or fundamental technology new? No						
Is the devic	Is the device <u>life-supporting or life sustaining</u> ?						
Are there a	Are there any direct or indirect patient contacting components?						
Does the de	Does the device use software/firmware? Y						
• Is the de	Is the device, or does it contain, a <u>Mobile Medical App</u> ?						
Does the de	Does the device or a component need sterilization (by manufacturer or user)?						
The device	The device/system uses or is a reusable multi-patient use device(s)						
The environ	The environment for use of the device/system includes Home, Hospital						
Is the devic	Is the device a <u>combination product</u> ? N - Not a Part 3 Combination Product						
Is the device/system electrical (battery or wall powered)? Yes, it is battery and mains powered							
Check the attributes that are applicable to this submission.							
	Nanotechnology	Reprocessed SUD	Companion Diagnostic	Medical Counter	Measures		
Yes			\boxtimes				
No	\square	\boxtimes		\boxtimes			
Unknown							
Device Description Table: Summary of important device characteristics							

The Cantab Mobile is software which is loaded and run on Apple iPad. The software is intended to be administered by a healthcare professional to test the cognitive function of a patient. The Cantab Mobile memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test, which requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various

K161328 Lead Memo

Cambridge Cognition ...

Cantab Mobile

Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

locations on a touch sensitive computer screen. The Software also contains two additional (optional) questionnaires to assess a patient's mood and ability to perform daily living activities. At the end of the test, the software generates a report which summarizes the memory test results and also displays responses to the questionnaires.





The basic components of the device are the same as those of a standard iPad. Some of these are:

- The iPad .
- iPad sleeve •
- iPad stand .
- iPad battery charger. .

No prior calibration of this device is needed. Maintenance is limited to updating the software when new releases are made available and charging the device when needed. Support from the manufacturer will be required and periodic updates will be necessary.

The Cantab Mobile is indicated as an adjunct to assess memory in adults age 50 - 90. Specifically the subject device will assess visuospatial memory via usage of the Cantab PAL test. The Cantab PAL requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on an iPad. Patterns are presented in six boxes around the edge of the screen and the patient is required to touch the box in which they previously saw the pattern appear. If the locations are not recalled correctly, this is identified to the patient via audio prompts and pattern presentation and recall is repeated. The process continues until the task is completed. At this point, the next task is started. The whole test consists of a series of such tasks with increasing levels of difficulty. The patients responses are recorded by screen touches. The number of errors are recorded and their performance is graded using algorithms derived from a normative database of around 4000 individuals collected during academic research in the UK, taking in account their age, gender, and level of education.

Memory Tests

The memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test and requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual pattersns associated with various locations on a touch sensitive computer screen. The patterns were all created to be bold, brightly colored, abstract with no cultural context.

Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile K161328 Lead Memo
Patterns are presented in six boxes around the edge of the screen. The patterns disapprea from the screen, leaving empty boxes and after a brief delay the same patterns are presented sequentially in the middle of the screen and the patient is required to touch the box in which they previously saw that pattern appear.





Figure 4. Patient Chooses Box



Clinical studies have demonstrated that the Cantab PAL measures of visuospatial associative learning and semantic memory are sensitive in detecting the earliest signs of prodromal Alzheimer's disease both in memory clinic attendees and in community dwelling cohorts of individuals classified as asymptomatic using current clinical measures.

Cantab Mobile additionally includes optional questionaires. These include:

- GDS Geriatric Depression Screening Questionaire
- ADL Activities for Daily Living Questionaire

These questionnaires will be used to compare self-assessed memory to that compared to the normative database. Questionnaires operate by presenting a series of questions to the patient with clearly labeled response boxes that the

K161328 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Page 4 of 16

patient may touch in order to answer each question. The GDS rating scale in the app is the shorter version of GDS described by Yesavage et al, 1983 and comprises a series of questions each presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force, two buttons to allow the patient to respond "yes" or "no" and a progress bar to give an approximate indication of progress.

Figure 5. GDS Rating Scale and Format

an a	
No	,

The ADL rating scale comprises a series of questions, earch presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force, with introductory text given above the question and buttons below to allow the patients to choose from the responses permitted for the question. A progress bar is also present which gives an approximate indication of progress.

Results from the Cantab Mobile will be presented through the Report Manager. The following categories are reported:

1. Investigate or Red:

This means that patient performance may indicate a clinically significant memory impairment (MCI or dementia). A red score is attained if

- Test score was more than 1.5 standard deviations below the mean for people of their age, sex, and educational level.
- Made more than 20 errors in the 6 pattern stage
- Made several errors in the easier stages of the test.
- 2. Monitor or amber:

This means that the patient's memory is in the lower end of the normal range. The patient may benefit from additional assessment or monitoring over time. An amber score is attained when:

- A patient receives a score between 1 and 1.5 standard deviations below the expected level from someone of their age, sex, and educational level.
- 3. No Present Concern or Green:

This means that the patient's memory appears normal at present. A green score is attained if:

• They score no more than one standard deviation below the expected level for someone of their age, sex, and educational level.

<u>Reviewer Comments:</u> The sponsor seeks to implement the Cantab PAL test on a mobile device as an adjunct test when assessing a patients memory. From an engineering perspective, the device description does not raise specific concerns. Dr. Christian Schenouda performed the clinical review for this device and provides the following comments regarding the device description:



For a table of device characteristics, see "Comparison of Technology to Predicate Devices" below.

Third-party Components and Accessories:

Reviewer Recommendation
The Device Description is not acceptable. The sponsor will need to address concerns stated above.

Comparison of Indications for Use to Predicate Devices IV.

Comparison	n of Indie	ations for Use						
Subject								
510(k) #: K	161328					Rx/	OTC: R	x
Intended	Adults	Adults and	Transitional	Transitional	Adolescent	Child	Infant	Neonate/
Population		Pediatrics	Adolescent A	Adolescent B			F-1	Newborn
No	-8-		X	X		X		
Unknown	ā			Ö	<u> </u>	Ö		
Indications f	or Use: C	antab Mobile	is intended to be	used to assess me	emory in patie	nts aged	50 to 90 y	ears.
Predicate(s)								
Submission#	: K14186	55				R	K/OTC: I	Rx
Intended Pop	oulation:							
Indications for accuracy) to measurement stress disorded dementia, de variety of ps	or Use: D aid in the t of reaction er (PTSD) lirium, pro- ychologics	ANA provide assessment of on time includ depression, a escription and al states (e.g. f	s clinicians with an individual's n e, but are not lim ttention deficit h non-prescription atigue and stress	objective measur nedical or psycho ited to concussio yperactivity diso medication, som	ements of reac ological state. I n, head injury, rder (ADHD), e nutritional su	tion time factors m insomnia memory upplemen	(speed a ay affect a, post-tra impairments, as we	nd the aumatic ent, II as a

K161328 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Comparison of Indications for Use

DANA also delivers and scores standardized psychological questionnaires. DANA results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals.

Indications for Use Table: Compares the indications for use of the subject and predicate devices.

The subject device includes the following additional statement within the IFU comparison provided within Table 3 – Device Comparison Summary:

Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living.

Reviewer Comment:

(b)(4)

The sponsor may wish to consider the following devices as potential predicates:

- DEN130033 CogniView
- K150154 ANAM

(b)(4)

Per Dr. Shenoudah's clinical review memo:

•	(b)(4)	r s chincar review	inemo.		
	(b)(4)				
•	(b)(4)				

<u>Reviewer Recommendation</u> The Comparison of the Indications for Use is not acceptable. (b)(4) (b)(4)

K161328 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Comparison of Technology to Predicate Devices V.

K161328 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

Page 8 of 16





Reviewer Comments: (b)(4)

Reviewer Recommendation

The Comparison of the Technology to Predicate Devices is not acceptable since the choice of predicate is not appropriate.

VI. Labeling

Labeling Review Needed?	Yes	Undb
Usability Consult Needed?	Undo	No

<u>Reviewer Comment:</u> Labeling will be reviewed in greater detail once the sponsor provides an appropriate predicate device for comparison. Certain labeling changes have been suggested based on claims made within the labeling.

A General Labeling Requirements

General Labeling Requirements		Inadequate or Marked
Is the prescription statement (or "Rx only") included?	Yes	
The indications for use are consistent with the IFU page?	No	\boxtimes

Appropriate contraindications, warnings, precautions and adverse events provided?	No	\boxtimes
Instructions are in accordance with the guidance (if applicable)?	Inapplicable	
Appropriate labeling <u>inside device</u> ?	Inapplicable	
Appropriate label/indicator outside device?	Inapplicable	
Appropriate Manual labeling?	No	
Is appropriate <u>home use</u> information included in the labeling?	Inapplicable	
What <u>MRI safety</u> information does the labeling contain?	MR Unsafe	
Labeling Table: A summary of the adequacy of several labeling requirements.		

Reviewer Recommendation

The provided labeling is not appropriate and may need to be revised after selection of an appropriate predicate device. In addition, a number of other concerns have been raised with regard to language used within the labeling which will need to be revised.

VII. Reprocessing, Sterilization, and Shelf-Life

Reviewer Recommendation

Cleaning, Sterilization, Shelf-Life and Reuse descriptions are not applicable to this Device since it is software which runs on the Apple iPad tablet that is commercially available.

VIII. **Biocompatibility**

Reviewer Recommendation

Biocompatibility is not applicable to this device since it is software which runs on a commercially available tablet computer.

IX. Software/Firmware

Software Review Needed?	Yes	Undo
Software Consult Needed?	Undo	No

Software Documentation	Present	Absent	Inadequate
Software/Firmware Version: 1.3			allos - Calify
Level of Concern (LOC): Identified as Minor			
Software/Firmware description:		\boxtimes	

K161328 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 11 of 16

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

Software Documentation	Present	Absent	Inadequate
Device Hazard Analysis:			
Software Requirements Specifications:			
Traceability Analysis/Matrix:			
Verification & Validation Testing: Adequacy Comments: Inadequate - Testing reports were not provided.			
Revision level history:			
Software Table: Demonstrates the adequacy of the software docum Document.	nentation accordin	ng to the <u>Guid</u>	ance

Reviewer Comment: The sponsor has appropriately designated the Software Level of Concern as Minor. (b)(4)

(b)(4)

The sponsor will be

requested to provide all sections which have been labelled inadequate above.

Reviewer Recommendation

The Software is not acceptable.

X. EMC & Electrical, Mechanical and Thermal Safety & Risk Analysis

EMC Review Needed?	Undo	No
EMC Consult Needed?	Undo	No

Reviewer Recommendation

The software is run off of an Apple iPad. Therefore, EMC and EMT are not needed. The sponsor will be requested to provide a Risk Analysis to support the safety of the device.

XI. Performance Testing

A Bench Testing

None Provided

<u>Reviewer Comment:</u> The subject device is software which runs on the commercially available Apple iPad. Performance testing will be limited to the Software Verification and Validation testing and will be reviewed within the Software Section of this memo.

B Animal Testing

None Provided

C Clinical Testing

The following evidence was provided to support the clinical utility of the PAL:

K161328 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Page 12 of 16

- Case-control studies reported in published or unpublished meta analysis
- · Narrative review of additional papers to support the performance of the tests.

(b)(4)		
(b)(4)		

Reviewer Recommendation

The Clinical Performance Testing is not acceptable.

XII. Kit Certification

This section is not usually needed. See the help text by clicking the heading.

XIII. Manufacturing Information

This section is not usually needed. See the help text by clicking the heading.

XIV. <u>References</u>

XV. SE Flowchart Questions

Substantial Equivalence Determination	Yes	No
Is the predicate device legally marketed?		
Do the devices have the same intended use?		
Please explain how the intended use of the subject device is similar to or different The subject device is indicated to assess memory while the chosen predicate was of Memory and Reaction Time are two different cognitive processes and therefore ar	from the predicate eleared to assess re e not equivalent.	e device: faction time.

XVI. Original Deficiencies

Administrative Information

K161328 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile



5.	(b)(4)	
La	eling	
6.	b)(4)	
7.	b)(4)	
Sot	ware	
8.	b)(4)	
	a. (b)(4)	
	p. (b)(4)	
	b)(4)	
	d. ^{(b)(4)}	
	e. (b)(4)	
	f. ^{(b)(4)}	

These documents are necessary to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the device through adequate design and documentation. Please provide these documents.

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018



XVII. Contact History

Digital Signature Concurrence Table		
Reviewer Sign-Off	Binoy J. Mathews -S 2016.07.08 13:07:45 -04'00'	

K161328 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Page 16 of 16



FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION MEMORANDUM

Food and Drug Administration Office of Device Evaluation 10903 New Hampshire Avenue White Oak, MD 20993

510(k) MEMORANDUM Medical Officer Review

Date:January 9rd, 2017To:Binoy Mathews, PhD.From:Christian Shenouda, MD - DNPMDDevice Name:CANTAB Mobile

Sponsor: Cambridge Cognition Limited

RECOMMENDATION: SE

The sponsor has submitted a 510k for approval of the CANTAB Mobile device to assess visuospatial memory in adults aged 50 to 90 years of age. In the most recently submitted supplement, the sponsor has presented responses to concerns and deficiencies identified by FDA. I have reviewed the responses as well as the supporting material. Via interactive communication with FDA the sponsor has provided adequate responses and the product appears to be substantially equivalent to the identified predicate.

SUMMARY

This is a consult for a clinical review of a 510(k) submission K161328_S001 for the CANTAB Mobile device. The device is used to assess visuospatial memory in adults aged 50 to 90 years of age. The sponsor previously provided literature to support the examination of the visuospatial cognitive domain as an early indicator of cognitive decline. The device is indicated for clinician use to help identify individuals with early cognitive impairments and does not replace a clinical examination. The testing is administered via an iPad which has a computerized version of the CANTAB PAL test. The sponsor has also included tests for mood disturbance and ADL function. Results are provided for clinician interpretation and the user interface has been modified based on previous FDA comments.

I have reviewed the sponsor's responses and find them adequate to address the identified concerns. Additionally, I do not believe that usage as described poses danger to the public and therefore recommend that the mission of SE for this product.

<u>REVIEW</u> <u>Device Description</u>

Cantab Mobile is software to be loaded and run on Apple iPad hardware and operating system (Figure 1). Below is a list of possible device accessories:

• The iPad1 is an essential accessory

- Disposable iPad Sleeve (see also Instructions for Use) for cleaning recommendations)
- iPad stand
- A iPad battery charger is also supplied with the iPad



Other Tests

Cantab Mobile additionally includes optional questionnaires.

1.GDS – Geriatric Depression Screening Questionnaire (See Appendix C) 2.ADL – Activities for Daily Living Questionnaire (See Appendix D)

Reporting

Figure 6. Report Manager

New Test				¢ 🗊 (
Demo: Investigate Nov 20, 2016, 11:57 AM				
Demo: Monitor Nav 20, 2016, 2.21 PM	Name Assessment date: Age: Geoder	Demo: Manitar Nav 20, 2016, 2:21:23 PM 62 Exempte		CAMBRIDGE COGNITION
Demo: No present conce Nov 20, 2016, 1:09 PM	Education: Self-rated memory	10 years or less (up to 9th grade) 17/20 (1=poor, 20=good)		
	Memory Test			
	MONITOR			
	batween 1 and 1.5 and educators leve firms of patterns th	standard deviations below the expected like 1. She may benefit from additional assessment (c. a.2 patients) fill of a patients (fill)	el for serverne et he ent or monitoring o	r age, sex er time
		serve a nut al bie	on restan	$[\bigcirc]$
	Mood]
	NO PRESENT CO Score: 0 Irange 0	NCERN -151		
	This score DOES N	Of indicate that mood is a present concern		
Sort by ID Sort by Date				

(b)(4)

Proposed Indications for Use

Page 3 of 11

The device is intended to be used to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years.

Contraindications

Patients with severe visual impairment Patients outside the indicated age range

The predicate IFU is:

Reviewer's comments: The sponsor has modified the IFU as requested (see item #2 below). No additional information is requested at this time.

(b)(4) **FDA** Comment:

(b)(4)

Sponsor Response: (b)(4)

5.1 Predicate Device

Cantab Mobile is substantially equivalent to Cognivue (manufactured by Cerebral Assessment Systems; DEN130033). Cantab Mobile and Cognivue are both categorized as Computerized

Page 4 of 11

Cognitive Assessment Aids. The tests use different devices; Cantab Mobile uses an Apple iPad and Cognivue uses a personal computer on a cart. Cantab Mobile and Cognivue are both used by healthcare professionals to measure aspects of patients' cognition. Cantab Mobile and Cognivue differ in the areas of cognition measured in that Cantab Mobile specifically assesses memory using a test of visuospatial associative learning (PAL) that is known to be correlated with hippocampal function, whereas the Cognivue software gives an overview of brain health, including memory, using ten short tests.

Cognivue is designed to be used to regularly monitor a patient's broad cognitive health, using 10 short tests to indicate decline, and potentially dementia, through comparison to baseline test performance of other age-normal adults.

Cantab Mobile and Cognivue are similar in terms of technological characteristics as both electronically record objective performance measurements when the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen. Differences in the design and performance of Cantab Mobile and Cognivue do not affect either the safety or effectiveness of Cantab Mobile for its intended use.

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	<u>Cognivue</u> – Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc. (Submitted June 26, 2013)
510(k) Number	K161328	DEN 130033
Trade Name	Cantab Mobile	Cognivue
Regulation Name:	Computerized Co	gnitive Assessment Aid
Intended Use	Cantab Mobile is intended to be used to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living. Results should be interpreted only by	<u>Cognivue</u> testing is indicated as an adjunctive tool for evaluating perceptual and memory function in individuals aged 55 to 95 years old. Results should be interpreted only by qualified
	qualified professionals. The device is not intended to be used as a stand-alone diagnostic device. The device is not intended to identify the presence or absence of clinical diagnoses.	professionals. The device is not intended to be used as a stand-alone diagnostic device. The device is not intended to identify the presence or absence of clinical diagnoses.

Table 2. Device Comparison Summary (Proposed Device vs. Predicate Device)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT:^{(b)(4)}

(b)(4)

2. FDA Comment:

Page 5 of 11

(b)(4)

Sponsor Response: (b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The revised IFU is noted and adequate. No further information is requested.

3. FDA Comment:

(b)(4)

Sponsor Response: (b)(4)

(b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT:(b)(4) (b)(4)

(b)(4)

(b)(4) No further information is needed.

4. FDA Comment:

(b)(4)

Page 6 of 11

Records Processed under FOI request 2017-2012; Released by CDRH on 07/13/2018

K161328-S002 - Clinical Review

(b)(4)		
EDA 4a Comment: (b)(4)		

Sponsor 4a Response: (b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

Page 7 of 11

FDA 4b Comment: (b)(4)

Sponsor 4b Response: (b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

FDA 4c Comment: (b)(4)

Sponsor 4c Response: (b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

5. FDA Comment: (b)(4)

Sponsor Response: (b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: Additional information is needed. Although the sponsor has (b)(4)

(b)(4)

6. FDA Comment:

Page 8 of 11

(b)(4)

FDA 6a Comment: "6a. (b)(4) (b)(4) Sponsor 6a Response: (b)(4)

(b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

FDA 6b Comment: (b)(4)

Sponsor 6b Response: (b)(4)

(b)(4)

Page 9 of 11

(b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

FDA 6c Comment: 6c. ^{(b)(4)} (b)(4)

Sponsor 6c Response: Verification and Validation testing (b)(4)

Additional information is provided in **Response to Deficiency Item 6c: Cantab Mobile** Verification and Validation.

Test-retest reliability (b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

SUMMARY

The sponsor has adequately addressed FDA concerns via this supplement and interactive communication with the lead reviewer. The device description, IFU, and user interface appear safe and effective for its stated usage. I support the SE designation of this device.

Reviewer Sign-Off:	Christian N. Shenouda -S (Affiliate)	Digitally signed by Christian N. Shenouda -S (Affiliate) DN: c=US, 0=U.S. Government, ou=HHS, ou=NiH, ou=People, 0.9.2342.19200300.100.1.1=2000945946, cn=Christian N. Shenouda -S (Affiliate) Date: 2017.01.09 08:36:44 -05'00'

Page 10 of 11

II to II age I

K161328-S002 - Clinical Review



Public Health Service

Food and Drug Administration CDRH/ODE/DNPMD/NSDB WO66 RM2622 10903 New Hampshire Ave Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 301-796-6475

Premarket Notification 510(k) Review

Date: Januar	ry 12, 2017		
Reviewer: Bi	i noy Mathe	ews	
Subject: Tra	ditional 51	10(k)# K161328/S00)1
Applicant: Cam Clementi Associa	bridge Cognitates Ltd.	tion Ltd., Us Agent:	Device Trade Name: Cantab Mobile
Contact Name:	Nancy Cleme	enti	Contact Title: Chief Medical Officer, Clementi Associates Ltd.
Correspondent	Firm: Cleme	nti Associates Ltd	Phone: (610) 527-2600 Email: nancy.clementi@clempharma.net
Received Date:	December 21	, 2016	Due Date: January 16, 2017
Pro Code(s): PK	Q Class: II	Reg #: 882.1470	Reg Name: Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid
Predicate Device	ès:		
Submission #	Pro Code	Device Trade Name	Owner
DEN130033	PKQ	Cognivue	Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.
Review Sumn	nary		

The subject device is a Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid with the following Indications for Use: "The device is intended to be used to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years." It is for Rx use.

Recommendation

I recommend that the Cantab Mobile is/are Substantially Equivalent (SESE)

Review Team

Lead Reviewer Clinical Reviewer Binoy Mathews (ODE/DNPMD/NSDP) Christian Shenouda ,MD (ODE/DNPMD)

I. <u>Purpose and History</u>

TPLC Information Recall Information Historyfalls

II. <u>510(k) Summary/Statement</u>

510(k) Summary/Statement		
Was a 510(k) Summary or Statement provided?	Undo	Statement
The 510(k) Statement was prepared according to	o 21 CFR 807.93.	

Reviewer Recommendation

The 510(k) Statement is acceptable.

III. Device/System Description

Device Cha	macteristics				Inadequate Or Marked
Is the intend	led use or fundamen	tal technology new?		No	
Is the devic	e life-supporting or l	life sustaining?		No	
Are there ar	ny direct or indirect	patient contacting com	ponents?	No	
Does the de	vice use software/fir	rmware?		Yes	
• Is the dev	vice, or does it conta	in, a <u>Mobile Medical</u>	<u>App</u> ?	No	
Does the de	vice or a component	t need sterilization (by	manufacturer or user)?	No	
The device/	system uses or is		a teusable multi-pa	utient use device(s)	
The environ	ment for use of the	device/system include:	5	Home, Hospital	
Is the device	e a <u>combination pro</u>	duct?	N - Not a Part 3 Co	mbination Product	
Is the device	e/system electrical (battery or wall powere	d)? Yes, it is battery a	nd mains powered	
Check the a	ttributes that are app	licable to this submiss	ion.		
	Nanotechnology	Reprocessed SUD	Companion Diagnostic	Medical Counter	Measures
Yes					
No	\boxtimes	\boxtimes		\boxtimes	
Unknown					•
Device Desc	cription Table: Sum	mary of important dev	rice characteristics	·	

The Cantab Mobile is software which is loaded and run on Apple iPad. The software is intended to be administered by a healthcare professional to test the cognitive function of a patient. The Cantab Mobile memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test, which requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various

K161328/S001 Lead Memo

Cambridge Cognition ...

Cantab Mobile

locations on a touch sensitive computer screen. The Software also contains two additional (optional) questionnaires to assess a patient's mood and ability to perform daily living activities. At the end of the test, the software generates a report which summarizes the memory test results and also displays responses to the questionnaires.



Figure 1. iPad with App Icon at Top Left

The basic components of the device are the same as those of a standard iPad. Some of these are:

- The iPad
- iPad sleeve
- iPad stand
- iPad battery charger.

No prior calibration of this device is needed. Maintenance is limited to updating the software when new releases are made available and charging the device when needed. Support from the manufacturer will be required and periodic updates will be necessary.

The Cantab Mobile is indicated as an adjunct to assess memory in adults age 50 – 90. Specifically the subject device will assess visuospatial memory via usage of the Cantab PAL test. The Cantab PAL requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual patterns associated with various locations on an iPad. Patterns are presented in six boxes around the edge of the screen and the patient is required to touch the box in which they previously saw the pattern appear. If the locations are not recalled correctly, this is identified to the patient via audio prompts and pattern presentation and recall is repeated. The process continues until the task is completed. At this point, the next task is started. The whole test consists of a series of such tasks with increasing levels of difficulty. The patients responses are recorded by screen touches. The number of errors are recorded and their performance is graded using algorithms derived from a normative database of around 4000 individuals collected during academic research in the UK, taking in account their age, gender, and level of education.

Memory Tests

The memory test is based on the Cantab PAL test and requires patients to learn and remember abstract visual pattersns associated with various locations on a touch sensitive computer screen. The patterns were all created to be bold, brightly colored, abstract with no cultural context.

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Patterns are presented in six boxes around the edge of the screen. The patterns disapprea from the screen, leaving empty boxes and after a brief delay the same patterns are presented sequentially in the middle of the screen and the patient is required to touch the box in which they previously saw that pattern appear.





Figure 4. Patient Chooses Box



Clinical studies have demonstrated that the Cantab PAL measures of visuospatial associative learning and semantic memory are sensitive in detecting the earliest signs of prodromal Alzheimer's disease both in memory clinic attendees and in community dwelling cohorts of individuals classified as asymptomatic using current clinical measures.

Cantab Mobile additionally includes optional questionaires. These include:

- GDS Geriatric Depression Screening Questionaire
- ADL Activities for Daily Living Questionaire

These questionnaires will be used to compare self-assessed memory to that compared to the normative database. Questionnaires operate by presenting a series of questions to the patient with clearly labeled response boxes that the

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Page 4 of 30

patient may touch in order to answer each question. The GDS rating scale in the app is the shorter version of GDS described by Yesavage et al, 1983 and comprises a series of questions each presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force, two buttons to allow the patient to respond "yes" or "no" and a progress bar to give an approximate indication of progress.



Yes	na Na sana ang katalang katalang Na sana katalang kata	a standar a s	n An the state of the
No			
		·	

The ADL rating scale comprises a series of questions, earch presented in turn textually on the screen using the language in force, with introductory text given above the question and buttons below to allow the patients to choose from the responses permitted for the question. A progress bar is also present which gives an approximate indication of progress.

Results from the Cantab Mobile will be presented through the Report Manager. The following categories are reported:

1. Investigate or Red:

This means that patient performance may indicate a clinically significant memory impairment (MCI or dementia). A red score is attained if

- Test score was more than 1.5 standard deviations below the mean for people of their age, sex, and educational level.
- Made more than 20 errors in the 6 pattern stage
- Made several errors in the easier stages of the test.
- 2. Monitor or amber:

This means that the patient's memory is in the lower end of the normal range. The patient may benefit from additional assessment or monitoring over time. An amber score is attained when:

- A patient receives a score between 1 and 1.5 standard deviations below the expected level from someone of their age, sex, and educational level.
- 3. No Present Concern or Green:

This means that the patient's memory appears normal at present. A green score is attained if:

• They score no more than one standard deviation below the expected level for someone of their age, sex, and educational level.

Original Reviewer Comments: The sponsor seeks to implement the Cantab PAL test on a mobile device as an adjunct test when assessing a patients memory. From an engineering perspective, the device description does not raise specific concerns. Dr. Christian Schenouda performed the clinical review for this device and provides the following comments regarding the device description:



S001 Reviewer Comments:

With respect to these concerns the following deficiencies were communicated to the sponsor:



Sponsor's Response: Taken from Dr. Shenouda's Clinical Review: (b)(4)

(b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: (b)(4) (b)(4)

ADDENDUM 1/9/16 - The sponsor has communicated with FDA and removed the identified wording. No further information is needed.

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile



FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

Lead Reviewer Comment:

The sponsor has included additional information within their response addressing how results from the ADL and GDS will be presented to the physician. This information can be found within

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

K161328/S001 – Device Description Section 1.4.2 What is reported. The sponsor provides a detailed description of how the results from these two optional tests are presented within the Test Results.

	(h)	$M \Delta$
h	(N)	~,
υ.		

Sponsor 4b Response: (b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

Lead Reviewer Comment:

Clarification provided by the sponsor states that the version of the GDS being used is the GDS-15 which was validated by Almeida and Almeida 1999

The version of the ADL included in the App was developed and validated by Galasko et all 2006.

Lead	Reviewer	Comment:
------	----------	----------

c. (b)(4)

Sponsor 4c Response: (b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

3. (b)(4)

Sponsor Response:

(b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: (b)(4) (b)(4)

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Page 8 of 30

ADDENDUM 1/9/16- The sponsor has provided confirmation that changes will be made to the software. The sponsor provided a revised Device Description. No further information is needed at this time.

For a table of device characteristics, see "Comparison of Technology to Predicate Devices" below.

Third-party Components and Accessories:

Reviewer Recommendation

The Device Description is acceptable.

IV. Comparison of Indications for Use to Predicate Devices

Comparison of Indications for Use								
Subject								
510(k) #: K	161328					Rx/	OTC: R	ĸ
Intended Population	Adults Only	Adults and Pediatrics	Transitional Adolescent A	Transitional Adolescent B	Adolescent	<u>Child</u>	<u>Infant</u>	Neonate/ Newborn
Yes	\square							
No			\square	\square	\square	\boxtimes	\square	\boxtimes
<u>Unknown</u>								
Indications for Use: The device is intended to be used as an adjunctive tool to assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years.								
Predicate(s)								
Submission#: DEN130033 Rx/OTC: Rx					: Rx			
Intended Population:								
Indications for Use: Cognivue testing is indicated as an adjunctive tool for evaluating perceptual and memory function in individuals aged 55-95 years old.								
Indications for Use Table: Compares the indications for use of the subject and predicate devices.								

The subject device includes the following additional statement within the IFU comparison provided within Table 3 – Device Comparison Summary:

Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living.

Original Reviewer Comment:

(b)(4)

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

The sponsor may wish to consider the following devices as potential predicates:

- DEN130033 CogniView
- K150154 ANAM

(b)(4)

Per Dr. Shenoudah's clinical review memo:

- (b)(4)
- (D)(4)
- (b)(4)

(b)(4)

S001 Reviewer Comment:

The following deficiency was communicated to the sponsor during the original review:



K161328/S001 Lead MemoCambridge Cognition ...Cantab MobilePage 10 of 30Questions Contact FDA/CDRH/DID at CDRH-FOISTATUS@fda.hhs.gov or 301-796-8118

Per the Division's recommendation above, the Sponsor has updated the predicate device for comparison to Cognivue. The Executive Summary (Section 5.1 and Appendix A) as well as CDRH Premarket Review Submission Cover Sheet, FDA Form 3514 have been updated to reflect this change and are submitted herein.

Reviewer Comment:

The sponsor has changed their predicate to the Cognivue System. Dr. Shenouda and I both agree that the Cognivue is more suitable as a predicate for the Cantab Mobile device than the ANAM Test System.

Per Dr. Shenouda:

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

No further information is required.

Reviewer Recommendation

The Comparison of the Indications for Use is acceptable. The sponsor has chosen the Cognivue System as a new predicate.

V. <u>Comparison of Technology to Predicate Devices</u>

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	DANA - AnthroTronix
510(k) Number	Not Yet Assigned	K141865
Device Information: Trade Name	Cantab Mobile	DANA
Device Information: Common Name:	Mobile Based Task Performance Recorder	Mobile Based Task Performance Recorder
Device Information: Classification Name:	Recorder, Attention Task Performance	Recorder, Attention Task Performance
Device Information	Unclassified	Unclassified
Device Class:	The device has the same intended use, indications for use, and relies on technology that does not raise new safety and effectiveness questions to DANA.	http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pd f14/k141814.pdf
Predicate Device	DANA (K141865)	QbTest, Qbtech AB (K122149)
Type of Use	Prescription Use (Part 21 CRF 801 Subpart D	Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801 Subpart D)
Submission Date:	TBD	September 18, 2014
Submitter Information: Company:	Cambridge Cognition Limited. Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane Bottisham Cambridgeshire, CB25 9TU UK	AnthroTronix, Inc. 8737 Colesville Road, Suite L203 Silver Spring, MD 20910 USA
Design and Intended Use	Cantab Mobile is a mobile application indicated to provide clinicians with objective measurements of visuospatial episodic memory and mood to aid in the assessment of an individual's medical or psychological state.	DANA is a mobile application indicated to provide clinicians with objective measurements of reaction time (speed and accuracy) and standardized health assessments to aid in the assessment of an individual's medical or psychological state.
	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals.	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals.
	Cantab Mobile was developed on a mobile platform to improve the access and availability of assessments.	DANA was developed on a mobile platform to improve the access and availability of assessments.

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile
		i
Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	DANA - AnthroTronix
Target population	Patients aged 50 to 90 years with concerns about their memory. Results are automatically adjusted for age, gender, education.	A wide age range from high school students to older patients with dementia.
Anatomical site	The brain: cognitive function	The brain: cognitive function
Test duration	The test takes approximately 10 minutes to complete.	Spectrum of tests: 5-Minute Rapid; 15- Minute Brief; 45-Minute Standard.
Scoring and reports	Automatic scoring and instant reports	Automatic scoring and instant reports
Where used	Cantab Mobile is software used on a tablet, therefore it can be administered in any suitable setting, e.g. a clinic or home.	DANA is software on a tablet or smartphone, therefore it can be administered anywhere.
Energy used	 Cantab Mobile software runs on an Apple iPad, which has the following features: built-in 25-watt-hour rechargeable lithium-polymer battery; charging via power adapter or USB to computer system; up to 10 hours of use when charged. 	The DANA software runs on Android tablets and smartphones, containing a rechargeable battery, charged via power adapter or USB to computer system. The energy used is hardware-dependent.
Human factors	Any healthcare professional can administer the test. To ensure reliable results, the iPad should be placed on a stand and the assessment should be administered in a quiet room, without disturbance. The voiceover and questionnaire texts are provided in a choice of languages.	DANA software can be self-administered by patients or administered by a health aide.
To whom is the product marketed /target audience?	Healthcare Rehabilitation	Healthcare Education Pharmaceutical Rehabilitation Government
Materials	N/A	N/A
Biocompatibility	N/A	N/A
Compatibility with the environment and other devices	N/A	N/A
Sterility	Sterility status is not needed for this software-only device	Sterility status is not needed for this software-only device
Safety: electrical; mechanical; chemical;	These safety issues are not applicable to this software-only device.	These safety issues are not applicable to this software-only device.

Cantab Mobile

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	DANA - AnthroTronix
thermal; radiation.		
To whom is the	Healthcare	Healthcare
product	Rehabilitation	Education
marketed /target		Pharmaceutical
audience?		Rehabilitation
		Government
How the device differs from Predicate device	Cantab Mobile is similar to DANA in terms of technological characteristics, as both electronically record objective performance accuracy as the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen by touching the screen. Cantab Mobile differs from DANA in that it provides an assessment of episodic memory, compared to DANA which assesses attention. Cantab Mobile also presents assessments of depression and activities of daily living,	-

Original Reviewer Comments: (b)(4)

<u>S001 Reviewer Comment:</u> The sponsor has revised their Device Comparison Table to reflect their new primary predicate, Cognivue.

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	Cognivue – Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.
510(k) Number	K161328	DEN130033
Device Information: Trade Name	Cantab Mobile	Cognivue
Regulation Name:	Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid	Computerized Cognitive Assessment Aid
	Classification Regulation # CFR 882.1470	Classification Regulation # CFR 882.1470
Product Code	PKQ	PKQ
Device Information: Device Classe	Unclassified or Proposed Class I	Class II
Device Class.	relies on technology that does not raise new safety and effectiveness questions to Cognitute.	
Predicate Device:	Cognivue (DEN130033)	De novo submission
Type of Use	Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801.109)	Prescription Use (Part 21 CFR 801.109)
Submission Date:	May 12, 2016	June 26, 2013
Submitter	Cambridge Cognition Limited.	Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.
Information:	Tunbridge Court, Tunbridge Lane	2850 Clover Street
Company:	Bottisham Cambridgeshire, CB25 9TU UK	Pintsford, NY 14534 USA
Design and	Cantab Mobile is intended to be used to	Cognivue testing is indicated as an
Intended Use	assess memory by testing visuospatial associative learning in patients aged 50 to 90 years. Along with the memory test there are optional mood and functional assessments which can help detect symptoms of depression, and problems with performing regular activities of daily living.	adjunctive tool for evaluating perceptual and memory function in individuals aged 55 to 95 years old.
	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals. The device is not intended to be used as a stand-alone diagnostic device. The device is not intended to identify the presence or absence of clinical diagnoses.	Results should be interpreted only by qualified professionals. The device is not intended to be used as a stand-alone diagnostic device. The device is not intended to identify the presence or absence of clinical diagnoses.

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	Cognivue – Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.
Target population	Patients aged 50 to 90 years with concerns about their memory. Results are automatically adjusted for age, gender, education.	Patients aged 55 to 95 years for the purpose of identifying a potential decline in cognitive function relative to baseline test performance of other age-normal adults.
Anatomical site	The brain: cognitive function	The brain: cognitive function
Test duration	The test takes approximately 10 minutes to complete.	The test takes approximately 10 minutes to complete.
Scoring and reports	Automatic scoring and instant reports	Automatic scoring and instant reports
Where used	Cantab Mobile is software used on a tablet, therefore it can be administered in any suitable setting, e.g. a clinic or home.	The Cognivue software is used on a personal computer, situated on a cart to provide mobility within the healthcare setting.
Energy used	Cantab Mobile software runs on an Apple iPad, which has the following features: • built-in 25-watt-hour rechargeable lithium-polymer battery; • charging via power adapter or USB to computer system; • up to 10 hours of use when charged.	The Cognivue software runs on a personal computer – the energy used is hardware- dependent.
Human factors	Any healthcare professional can administer the test. To ensure reliable results, the iPad should be placed on a stand and the assessment should be administered in a quiet room, without disturbance. The voiceover and questionnaire texts are provided in a choice of languages.	Any healthcare professional can administer the test. The battery is organized into three sub-batteries, with each sub-test preceded by transitional guidance that facilitates the test subject's engagement with minimal supervision.
To whom is the product marketed /target audience?	Healthcare Rehabilitation	Healthcare
Materials	N/A	N/A
Biocompatibility	N/A	N/A
Compatibility with the environment and other devices	N/A	N/A
Sterility	Based on the device function there is no	Based on the device function there is no
	sterilization testing required for this device.	sterilization testing required for this device.

Comparison Items	CANTAB Mobile- Cambridge Cognition Ltd.	Cognivue – Cerebral Assessment Systems, Inc.
Safery: electrical; mechanical; chemical; thermal; radiation.	These safety issues are not applicable to this software-only device.	Electrical safety testing was performed by Canadian Standards Association. The sponsor provides a letter of antestation stating the device passed IEC 60601-1:2005. Electromagnetic compatibility was not tested.
How the device differs from Predicate device	Cantab Mobile is similar to Cognivue in terms of technological characteristics, as both electronically record objective performance as the patient responds to stimuli presented on the screen. Both tests take about 10 minutes. Cantab Mobile differs from Cognivue in that it provides an assessment of memory using one staged cognitive assessment – the Paired Associates Learning task - compared to Cognivue which includes ten short brain function tests, measuring: adaptive motor control; dynamic visual contrast sensitivity; letter, word, shape, and motion processing ability; and memory. Cantab Mobile also presents assessments of depression and activities of daily living, which are not includes for Gomine,	

Reviewer Comment: The revised Comparison Table is adequate. I have no further concerns.

Reviewer Recommendation

The Comparison of the Technology to Predicate Devices is acceptable.

VI. Labeling

Labeling Review Needed?	Yes	Undo
Usability Consult Needed?	Undo	No

<u>Original Reviewer Comment:</u> Labeling will be reviewed in greater detail once the sponsor provides an appropriate predicate device for comparison. Certain labeling changes have been suggested based on claims made within the labeling.

S001 Reviewer Comment: Device Labeling was reviewed and found to be acceptable.

A General Labeling Requirements

General Labeling Requirements		Inadequate or Marked
Is the prescription statement (or "Rx only") included?	Yes	
The indications for use are consistent with the IFU page?	Yes	
Appropriate contraindications, warnings, precautions and adverse events provided?	Yes	
Instructions are in accordance with the guidance (if applicable)?	Inapplicable	

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 17 of 30

Appropriate labeling inside device?	Inapplicable	
Appropriate label/indicator outside device?	Inapplicable	
Appropriate Manual labeling?	Yes	
Is appropriate <u>home use</u> information included in the labeling?	Inapplicable	
What <u>MRI safety</u> information does the labeling contain?	MR Unsafe	
Labeling Table: A summary of the adequacy of several labeling requirements.		

<u>Reviewer Recommendation</u> The provided Labeling is adequate.

VII. <u>Reprocessing, Sterilization, and Shelf-Life</u>

Reviewer Recommendation

Cleaning, Sterilization, Shelf-Life and Reuse descriptions are not applicable to this Device since it is software which runs on the Apple iPad tablet that is commercially available.

VIII. **Biocompatibility**

Reviewer Recommendation

Biocompatibility is not applicable to this device since it is software which runs on a commercially available tablet computer.

IX. Software/Firmware

Software Review Needed?	Yes	Undo
Software Consult Needed?	Undo	No

Software Documentation	Present	Absent	Inadequate
Software/Firmware Version: 1.3			
Level of Concern (LOC): Identified as Minor			
Software/Firmware description: Adequacy Comments: Adequate	\boxtimes		
Device Hazard Analysis: Adequacy Comments: Adequate	\boxtimes		
Software Requirements Specifications: Adequacy Comments: Adequate	\boxtimes		
<u>Traceability Analysis/Matrix:</u> Adequacy Comments: Adequate	\boxtimes		

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 18 of 30

Software Documentation	Present	Absent	Inadequate
Verification & Validation Testing: Adequacy Comments: Adequate			
Revision level history: Adequacy Comments: Adequate			
Software Table: Demonstrates the adequacy of the software <u>Document</u> .	are documentation accordin	ng to the Guid	ance

Original Reviewer Comment: (b)(4)

(b)(4)

The sponsor will be requested to provide all sections

which have been labelled inadequate above.

S001 Reviewer Comment:

The following deficiency was sent to the sponsor regarding Software Review Documentation:

(b)(4)	
a.	(b)(4)
b.	(b)(4)
c.	(b)(4)
d.	(b)(4)
e.	(b)(4)
f.	(b)(4)
(b)(4)	

Sponsor's Response:



K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 19 of 30





K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 2

Page 21 of 30





S001 Reviewer Comment:

The sponsor did not provide the needed software verification and validation testing reports needed to confirm that the specified testing is appropriate. Documentation did not contain testing descriptions, pass/fail criteria, or results. The sponsor was requested to provide this information interactively and did so on January 12, 2017. Submitted testing reports were adequate. I have no further concerns/

Reviewer Recommendation

The Software is acceptable.

X.

<u>EMC & Electrical,</u>	Mechanical a	nd The	<u>ermal Safety</u>	<u>/ &)</u>	<u>Risk</u> 4	<u>Analy</u>	<u>/sis</u>

EMC Review Needed?	Undo	No
EMC Consult Needed?	Undo	No

Reviewer Recommendation

The software is run off of an Apple iPad. Therefore, EMC and EMT are not needed. The sponsor will be requested to provide a Risk Analysis to support the safety of the device.

XI. <u>Performance Testing</u>

A Bench Testing

None Provided

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

<u>Reviewer Comment:</u> The subject device is software which runs on the commercially available Apple iPad. Performance testing will be limited to the Software Verification and Validation testing and will be reviewed within the Software Section of this memo.

B Animal Testing None Provided

C Clinical Testing

(b)(4)			
(b)(4)			
(b)(4)			l
			l

S001 Reviewer Comment:

The following deficiencies were communicated to the sponsor. Review of sponsor responses was performed by Dr. Christian Shenouda and were found to be acceptable. Please see Clinical Review memo for additional details.

(b)(4)			
ponsor's Response tote: (b)(4) h)(4)			
)(4)			
))	(b)(4) onsor's Response ote: (b)(4) (4)	(b)(4) onsor's Response nte: (b)(4) (4)	(b)(4) onsor's Response nte: (b)(4) (4)

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 23 of 30

(b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

 Lead Reviewer Comments:

 (b)(4)

 b.
 (b)(4)

Sponsor's Response:

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

(b)(4)

FDA REVIEWER COMMENT: The sponsor's response is adequate.

Lead Reviewer Comment:

(b)(4)

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 24 of 30



Additional information is provided in Response to Deficiency Item 6c: Cantab Mobile Verification and Validation.

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 25 of 30

Test-retest reliability	·	
(b)(4)		



Lead Reviewer Comments:

Verification and Validation efforts were supported through results from a meta analysis of published papers. These are reported in sponsor report #(b)(4) and was supplied with this submission. The sponsor also cites two particular studies namely:



In addition, on January 13, 2017 Dr. Shenouda provided the following comment via email:

In response to Tim's comment #4 (email 1/13/2017) for the CANTAB device, I reviewed the normative database and we did not obtain a stats consult. The sponsor was asked to provide a description of the normative database with demographic data and to define how cut-offs were determined. The materials provided addressed the deficiency and the sponsor also provided literature supporting use of the test for the proposed indication. The sponsor is using the test consistently with the literature and normative testing standards.

Reviewer Recommendation

The Clinical Performance Testing is acceptable.

XII. <u>Kit Certification</u>

This section is not usually needed. See the help text by clicking the heading.

XIII. Manufacturing Information

This section is not usually needed. See the help text by clicking the heading.

XIV. <u>References</u>

XV. SE Flowchart Questions

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Substantial Equivalence Determination	Yes	No
Is the predicate device legally marketed?		
Do the devices have the same intended use?		
Please explain how the intended use of the subject device is similar to or different free Both devices are computer based questionaires used to assess memory.	om the predicate	e device:
Do the devices have the same technological characteristics?		

XVI. Original Deficiencies





K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 27 of 30

(b)(4)			
• (D)(4)			
• (b)(4)			
Labeling			
• (b)(4)			

• (b)(4)

<u>Software</u>

•	(b)(4)		
	a. (b)(4)		

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 28 of 30



These documents are necessary to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the device through adequate design and documentation. Please provide these documents.

Performance Testing



XVII. S001 Sponsor's Response to Deficiencies

Please see sections above which address various deficiencies. The sponsor has adequately addressed all deficiencies which were communicated during the original review.

XVIII. Contact History

• The sponsor was contacted Via email on 1/5/2017 requesting additional information. The following deficiencies were communicated:

a.	(b)(4)
b.	(b)(4)
The spo	nsor responded to this request on 1/6/2017.
(b)(4)	
(b)(4)	

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile Page 29 of 30

Digital S	ignature Concurren	ce Table	
Reviewer Sign-Off	Binoy J. Mathews -	Digitally signed by Binoy J DN: c=US, o=U.S. Governm ou=HHS, ou=FDA, ou=Peo 0.9.2342.19200300.100.1.1 4, cn=Binoy J. Mathews -S Date: 2017.01.13 14:20:10	. Mathews -S nent, ople, I=001339604 -05'00'
		entistuuren di he	
 A second s			

K161328/S001 Lead Memo Cambridge Cognition ... Cantab Mobile

Page 30 of 30